Availability of health care for older persons in primary care facilities in Uganda

By Benson Droti (MBChB, MSC) Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health

COPSE NELLER RELATIONED

London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine

A thesis submitted in fulfilment for the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Public Health University of London

April 2014

Funding Details: Tuition and student's stipend received from Medical Research Council. Funding for thesis research project received from the World Health Organization

Declaration by Candidate

I have read and understood the School's definition of plagiarism and cheating given in the Research degrees handbook. I declare that this thesis is my own work, and that I have acknowledged all results and quotations from the published or unpublished work of other people. I have read and understood the School's definition and policy on the use of third parties (either paid or unpaid) who have contributed to the preparation of this thesis by providing copy editing and, or, proof reading services. I declare that no changes to the intellectual content or substance of this thesis were made as a result of this advice, and, that I have fully acknowledged all such contributions.

Sign

Date:

BENSON DROTI

Abstract

Background:

This thesis evaluated the health care available and delivered to older persons (≥50years) at primary care facilities in Uganda in order to identify gaps and weaknesses and to suggest potential solutions for improving the quality of their care.

Methods

The study was conducted in 48 primary care facilities across Uganda. It involved structured interviews with the persons in-charge of the facilities to determine what health care was provided at their facility; analysis of the numbers of outpatients attending the clinics to determine the absolute and relative caseloads due to older persons; structured interviews with health workers to determine their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding the care of older persons; and structured exit interviews with older persons and younger adults (35-49 years) to determine their perceptions of the services they had received from the facility. Study participants were selected through a multistage stratified random sampling method designed to give a representative sample of Ugandan government primary care clinics and outpatients. Data were analysed using methods for complex multistage surveys.

Findings

Availability of services: The study found important gaps and weaknesses in the availability of services, equipment and amenities that were considered to be particularly important for the care of older persons and that were enquired about in the study. Availability was particularly low for non-communicable diseases and at lower level (levels II and III) primary care facilities.

Caseload: A total of 11,847 out of 140,338 total visits (8%) were made by older persons. Infectious illnesses (63%), as opposed to chronic non-communicable diseases (32%), were the most commonly diagnosed illnesses among the older persons. *Knowledge, attitudes and practices of health workers:* In total, 145 health workers (92% of target) were interviewed. Using predefined criteria, 32% of them were classified as having poor knowledge of geriatrics and 68% as having at least satisfactory knowledge. Most of them (97%) were classified as having neutral attitudes towards older persons. Although hardly any of them (0.6%) was classified as having bad practices overall; a substantial proportion reported not giving older persons and younger adults autonomy (46-49%), health education (15-35%), prompt attention (19-30%), and or screening for diseases that are common in older persons (14-17%).

Perceptions of older persons and younger adults of the services they had received: In total, 244 older persons (96% of target) and 96 younger adults (100% of target) were interviewed. Although only 16-17% were classified as having received poor treatment overall, a substantial proportion reported not being screened for common diseases found in older persons (65-70%), receiving prompt attention (66-76%), having autonomy (70-80%), or receiving health education (30-39%). Only 1-2% perceived they had received poor service from the primary care facilities. Generally, older persons were not treated differently from younger adults (p=0.52) and their perceptions of the services were similar (p=0.21).

Conclusion

There were important gaps and weaknesses in services important for the care of older persons, and in the knowledge, attitudes and practices of the health workers. The Ministry of Health should therefore investigate how they might improve services for older persons at all levels of primary care facilities.

Acknowledgment

Foremost, I thank God for all his blessings and guidance throughout my life and DrPH. I express my gratitude to individuals and institutions that have supported me scientifically, financially and morally during this research thesis and my entire DrPH programme.

I would like to thank MRC/UVRI for sponsoring me to do DrPH at LSHTM. In a special way, I thank Professor Heiner Grosskurth under whose leadership I was awarded the scholarship to study DrPH. Heiner particularly believed I had the qualities to be a good leader/manager in public health and guided me to do a DrPH instead of a PhD.

I also wish to express my sincere gratitude to the administration of LSHTM for giving me a placement at the school. The serene and conducive academic environment created by the administration and staff of LSHTM, the government and people of Great Britain deserves special appreciation. I am very grateful to the World Health Organization for giving me funds to do the thesis research project. My thanks are also due to Ties Boerma of the World Health Organization for all the scientific advice and moral support and for agreeing to review my grant proposal and submit it to a team within the World Health Organization for possible funding. Ties was also on the advisory committee of my DrPH.

There are no special words to express my gratitude to Francien Scholten for the selfless effort she put in getting funds for me to do the pilot study and the thesis research project. I would also like to thank Francien for introducing me to research in health issues affecting older persons. Thanks to Professor Janet Seeley for accepting to be my co-supervisor and for her scientific input and advice throughout my DrPH. My thanks are also due to Dr Gershim Asiki for the moral and scientific support. Dr Asiki has always been a special person in my life.

I would like to thank all the data collectors: Drajole David, Odoch Geofrey, Edgar Olweny, Max Omara, Rebecca Nagitta, Juliet Nalubega, Ayebazibwe Habakuk, and Nandera Lydia for their tireless efforts to collect data. My thanks are also due to the entire data entry team at MRC/UVRI under the leadership of Gertrude Mutonyi. My thanks are also due to Dr Joseph Mugisha, Dr Asea Godfrey, Dr Pariyo Bonane, and Dr Ayiko Ben and their families for supporting me in one way or another during my DrPH.

I owe a special debt of gratitude to Kathy Baisley for all the statistical guidance she gave me right from the analysis of data for the pilot study to the development of the protocol and analysis of data for the main study. I sometimes felt guilty that I was over disturbing her but she was always happy to give me guidance. I also in a special way, thank Professor Jonathan Levin of MRC/UVRI for providing guidance on the protocol and analysis of both the pilot and main study.

My stay in London was made possible by the support I received from my sister in-law Ms Anne Omala, her husband Richard Wonasolo and children: Shaun John Makwasi, Sheeba Jennny Nabuzale, and Sam Shedrick Womala. Anne was always at hand to give me support including giving me a room in her house to stay in unconditionally. Last but not least, I thank my wife, Ms Mary Namataka for all the support and for giving me my first child, Jonathan Yiki. Mary and Jonathan have had to endure long periods of my absence. I pray that I will have time to play with you Jonathan, as you have always wanted.

Lastly, I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Professor David Ross, for guiding me throughout the DrPH. All that I have done in the DrPH would have been impossible without your guidance and support. I made a number of mistakes along the way but you were patient with me and never got tired of saying "it is alright" whenever I apologised for the mistakes. May God richly bless you and your family.

vi

Integrating statement

The author previously worked as a Medical Superintendent and Assistant District Director of Health Services in a rural district in Northern Uganda. The author later worked as a Project Leader in a research project with Medical Research Council in Uganda. With a long-term goal to assume top leadership of health services in Uganda, the author pursued the Doctor of Public Health to strengthen his leadership and management, and research skills. These skills were acquired through a taught component of the Doctor of Public Health, organisational and policy analysis, and a thesis research project. The taught component had three modules: two modules in evidence based public health practice and one module in leadership, management and professional development.

The evidence based public health practice modules were about public health policy making and examined the stages and processes involved, from evidence through to changes in policy and practice. It entailed critically appraising research evidence and using the evidence to improve public health. The author did two assignments: 1) a systematic review of effectiveness of health warnings on tobacco products in children and young people. The author also used the evidence generated from the systematic review to develop a policy brief intended for the Minister of Health in Uganda. 2) Agenda setting assignment that considered setting the agenda for male medical circumcision in Uganda. The evidence based public health practice module and the assignments enabled the author to develop skills in locating, assessing, synthesising, presenting and using research-based information to improve public health in a range of settings.

The leadership, management and professional development module was about understanding leadership, management and organisations. It focused on organizational management theory, including strategic management, change management and personal leadership development. In an assignment, the author used the organisation and leadership theories to analyse why the medical superintendent he succeeded in the district hospital succeeded in improving the hospital that had nearly collapsed but left most of the staff unhappy. In another assignment, the author used leadership and management theories to analyse some of the problems he faced during his previous leadership/management roles, and to develop a personal professional development plan. The leadership, management and professional development module enabled the author to understand a range of issues and theories relating to management, leadership and organizations and how to apply the theories in public health organizations and in his future leadership/management practice.

Knowledge gained from the two taught courses was used in the organisational and policy analysis project. This involved evaluating a public health organization in order to understand how the organization functions to influence public health policy and/or deliver public health goals. The organisational and policy analysis was undertaken from March to September 2011 at International HIV Alliance in Uganda (Alliance-Uganda) – a country office of International HIV/AIDS Alliance Secretariat in the United Kingdom (IHAA-Secretariat). The IHAA-Secretariat was transitioning Alliance-Uganda to a community-based and nationally owned institution called Community Health Alliance Uganda. The transition however stalled while the author was studying the transition process. The author therefore analysed why this happened. Applying the knowledge and skills gained through the evidence based public health practice, the author conducted a document review to obtain background information about the transition, and a systematic review to understand why transition efforts often fail. The document review also enabled the author to identify the key stakeholders of Alliance-Uganda that had the potential to influence the transition process. The information obtained from the reviews was then used to develop topic guides that were used for in-depth interviews with the key informants drawn from Alliance-Uganda, IHAA-Secretariat, and national and international organisations Alliance-Uganda collaborated with. Informal discussions about the transition were also done with staff of Alliance-Uganda. To get the real picture of the transition-related events unfolding in Alliance-Uganda, and to help verify or nullify some of the information obtained during interviews and literature reviews, the author also used observational methods. Qualitative data were obtained. Applying the knowledge on change management theories and frameworks gained through the leadership, management and professional development course, the author then used the complex model of change management to analyse why the transition process stalled. Within this model, the author used various frameworks learnt from the evidence based public health practice and from the leadership, management and professional development modules to analyse how multiple factors interacted at various levels to stall the transition: a stakeholder analysis, learnt during evidence based public health practice module, was used

viii

to systematically analyse and assess the impact of stakeholders on the transition, the 7Smodel, PEST-analysis, and Kotter's framework, learnt during the leadership, management and professional development modules, were used respectively, to analyse the internal and external organisational factors, and explore inconsistencies in the content and process of change that hindered the transition. The author had never done such a complex analysis before and the experience gained from the organisational and policy analysis enabled the author to understand how an organisation should work or be led/managed in order to achieve its public health goals.

The skills, knowledge and experiences gained during the taught courses and organisational and policy analysis were then used in the thesis research project on health care for older persons in primary care facilities in Uganda. This project has its roots in the author's interest in approaches to improve the quality of care for poor and vulnerable groups. Skills and experiences gained during the organisational and policy analysis project were particularly useful in designing, implementing, and writing up the thesis research project. Knowledge of how to conduct a systematic review obtained during the evidence based public health practice course was particularly useful in conducting the systematic literature review for the study. The thesis research project enabled the author to refine his skills in designing, implementing up a research study. The author aims to use the findings of this study to draw attention to the gaps and weaknesses in the care of older persons in Uganda and improve the quality of their care. The author will therefore publish the findings of this study in international journals, develop policy briefs, hold meetings with key individuals within the Ministry of Health to share the findings of the study and its recommendations, and conduct further research.

The Doctor of Public Health has enabled the author to develop very good knowledge and skills in leadership and management of a public health organisation and in designing, implementing, analysing and writing up a research project. The author has also developed very good skills in critically appraising research studies and using the evidence for action.

Table of Contents

Declaration b	by Candidate	ii
Abstract		iii
Acknowledgr	nent	v
Integrating st	tatement	vii
List of Tables		.xiii
Outline		.xvi
Chapter 1: In	troduction	1
1.1.	Operational definition of an "older person"	1
1.2.	Demographic trends and their implications for the health of older persons	1
1.3.	The minimum health care package for older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa	5
1.4.	Primary care facilities for delivering health care to older persons: The rationale	9
1.5.	Factors that influence the availability of health care for older persons	. 10
1.5.1.	The Conceptual framework	. 10
1.5.2.	Policy frameworks	. 13
1.5.3.	Effectiveness of primary care facilities	. 14
1.5.4.	Services provided at primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa	. 15
1.5.5.	Availability of services for older persons in primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan	
	Africa: Systematic literature review	. 17
1.5.6.	Knowledge, attitudes and practices of health workers regarding the care of older	
	persons in primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic literature review	v 17
1.5.7.	Perceptions of older persons of the services they received from the primary care	
	facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic literature review	. 19
1.6.	Overview of Uganda	. 20
1.6.1.	Geography and demography	. 21
1.6.2.	Socio-economic situation	. 21
1.6.3.	Burden of disease in Uganda	. 21
1.6.4.	Health care financing	. 22
1.6.5.	Health service delivery in Uganda	. 23
1.6.6.	Organisational structure of health services in Uganda	. 24
1.6.7.	The primary health care in Uganda	. 24
1.7.	Older persons in Uganda:	. 26
1.7.1.	Demographic trends:	. 26
1.7.2.	Socio-economic situation of older persons in Uganda	. 26
1.7.3.	Health care of OPs in Uganda	. 26
1.8.	Rationale for the study	. 27
1.8.1.	Why is health care needed for older persons?	. 27
1.8.2.	Why primary health care for older persons	. 28
Chapter 2: Ai	m and Objectives	. 29
2.1.	Aim of the study	. 29
2.2.	Objectives	. 29
Chapter 3: St	udy Methods	. 30

3.1.	The scope	30
3.2.	The pilot study	30
3.3.	Study design	33
3.4.	Study setting	34
3.5.	Study population	35
3.6.	Precision estimates for study samples	35
3.7.	Selection of the study participants	37
3.8.	Questionnaire development and data collection methods	42
3.9.	Recruitment and training of interviewers	47
3.10.	Remuneration of interviewers	49
3.11.	Coordination and Supervision of data collection	49
3.12.	Ethical issues	49
3.13.	Funding	52
3.14.	Data management	52
3.15.	The role of the candidate	53
3.16.	Data analysis	54
Chapter 4: Re	esults	59
<u>л</u> 1	Description of the primary care facilities	59
ч.1. Л Э	Availability of services	60
ч.2. И З	Caseload due to older persons	00 7/
ч. <i>э</i> . Л Л	Knowledge attitudes and practices of health workers regarding provision of hea	/ - alth
4.4.	care to older persons	78
111	Knowledge of the common ailments affecting older persons	70
4.4.1.	Attitudes of health workers towards older persons	رم دە
4.4.2. 1 1 2	Bractices of health workers regarding the care of older persons	02 0E
4.4.3. 1 E	How older persons were treated and their personal of services at primary cal	0J
4.3.	facilities	00
1 5 1	How older persons and younger adults reported that they had been treated	90
4.5.1.	Percentions of older persons of the care they received from primary care facility	92
4.J.Z. Chantar E: Di	receptions of order persons of the care they received from primary care facility	102
Chapter 5: Di	ISCUSSION	103
5.1.	Introduction	103
5.2.	Availability of services	103
5.3.	The caseload and the common diseases diagnosed in older persons	106
5.4.	Knowledge of health workers of common ailments affecting older persons	107
5.5.	Attitudes of health workers towards older persons	110
5.6.	Practices of health workers regarding the care of older persons	114
5.7.	How older persons reported that they had been treated at the primary care faci	lities
		118
5.8.	Perceptions of older persons of the care they received from the PCFs	122
Chapter 6: St	udy limitations	127
Chapter 7: Co	onclusions, policy implications and recommendations	131
7.1.	Conclusions	131
7.2.	Policy implications	131
7.3.	Recommendations	134

8.	References:
9.	Annexes
9.1.	Systematic literature review157
9.1.1.	Key words used for the literature search158
9.1.2.	Prisma flow chart to study selection of studies on common diseases among older
	persons
9.1.3.	Prevalence of the common diseases among older persons
9.1.4.	Services for older persons at primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa
9.1.5.	Studies that evaluated the knowledge, attitudes and practices of Health Workers 178
9.1.6.	Perception of patients of the health care they received from primary care facilities 180
9.2.	Results of the pilot study 182
9.2.1.	Proportion of primary care facilities that reported availability of services
9.2.2.	Proportion of health workers that gave positive response to questions on how they
	treated older persons in primary care facilities183
9.2.3.	Proportion of older persons that gave positive responses to questions related to their
	treatment at the primary care facilities184
9.2.4.	Proportion of older persons that gave positive rating to the primary care facilities 185
9.3.	Selection of the primary care facilities 186
9.4.	Study tools 190
9.4.1.	Form 1: Health unit in charges190
9.4.2.	Form 2: Caseload assessment form 208
9.4.3.	Form 3: Health Workers' knowledge, attitudes and practices
9.4.4.	Form 4: Older persons and younger adults 224
9.5.	Availability of services by urban/rural location and geographical zone
9.6.	Prevalence of diseases diagnosed in older persons
9.7.	Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses given by HWs
	to questions related to how they treated older persons aged 50-59years241
9.8.	Health care access and utilisation by the study participants

List of Tables

Table 1:	Population projections for older persons1
Table 2:	Prevalence of diseases in older persons (aged 50 years and above) in Sub-
	Saharan Africa I obtained during a systematic literature review
Table 3:	The association of age with poor health status in Sub-Saharan Africa4
Table 4:	Comparison of selected indicators across countries in East Africa
Table 5:	Health service delivery structure in Uganda25
Table 6:	Estimate of the precision for the absolute proportion of PCF providing services
	with sample size of 48 PCFs
Table 7:	Precision estimate for absolute proportion of health workers reporting a given
	knowledge, attitude or practice
Table 8:	Precision estimates for the absolute proportion of OPs responding positively to
	questions about health care perception, with a sample size of 256 OPs
Table 9:	How senior medical officials would classify knowledge as poor, satisfactory and
	good had they adminstered the questions themselves57
Table 10:	Characteristics of the primary care facilities
Table 11:	Proportion of primary care facilities that reported availability of services
Table 12:	Proportion of facility with basic comfort amenities and privacy73
Table 13:	Number (%) of outpatient-visits in the period January-March 201374
Table 14:	Sociodemographic characteristics of the health workers
Table 15:	Proportion of health workers with poor, satisfactory and good knowledge by
	characteristics of interest79
Table 16:	Association of factors with the mean knowledge score81
Table 17:	Proportion of health workers with positive, neutral or negative attitude towards
	older persons
Table 18:	Association of factors with the overall mean attitude score
Table 19:	Proportion of health workers classified as having good, neither-good-nor-bad
	and bad practices regarding the care of older persons and younger adults 86
Table 20:	Comparison by age-group of patients of the activities the HWs said they did
	while attending to patients87
Table 21:	Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses related
	to how the health workers said they treated older persons aged 60+ years 88
Table 22:	Sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants91
Table 23:	Proportion of older persons and younger adults classified as having received
	good, neither-good-nor-poor, and poor treatment
Table 24:	Comparison of the treatment the OPs said they received with that of younger
	adults
Table 25:	Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses related
	to how older persons said they were treated at the primary health care facilities

Table 26:	Proportion of patients with poor, neither-poor-nor-good, and good perceptions
Table 27:	Comparison of the domain specific perceptions of older persons with that of
	younger adults
Table 28:	Association of factors with the mean overall perception score for older persons
Table 29:	proportion of HWs with poor, satisfactory and good knowledge found in the
	current study and another study in Uganda108
Table 30:	Proportion of HWs classified as having negative, neutral or positive attitudes
	towards older persons by different studies 111

List of Figures

Figure 1:	Percentage of respondents rating a domain of responsiveness to be important . 7
Figure 2:	Factors that influence availability of healthcare for older persons who require
	care
Figure 3:	Map of Uganda20
Figure 4:	Map of Uganda showing the study districts
Figure 5:	Flow chart of the stratified multistage sampling
Figure 6:	Mean percentage of services offered and the proportion of facilities that
	reported offering all services by facility level, rural/urban and geographical
	location60
Figure 7:	Mean percentage of services offered and the proportion of facilities that
	reported offering services by disease or service
Figure 8:	The mean percentage of services offered and the proportion of facilities that
	reported offering services for all the NCDs that were enquired about
Figure 9:	Percentage of facilities that reported offering services for non-communicable
	diseases and that had the necessary items for offering the services
Figure 10:	The mean of services and the proportion of facilities that reported offering STI
	services by facility level, rural/urban and geographical location
Figure 11:	Percentage of facilities that reported offering STI services and also reported
	availability of items for offering the services
Figure 12:	The mean percentage availability and the proportion of facilities that had
	comfort amenities by facility level, rural/urban and geographical location 66
Figure 13:	Proportion of facilities that had visual and auditory privacy
Figure 14:	Age-specific number of visits to the outpatient department of the primary care
	facilities in the period January to March 201375
Figure 15:	Primary care facility attendance per year of age of patients
Figure 16:	The common diseases that were diagnosed in older persons at the primary care
	facilities (unweighted)77
Figure 17:	Model for improvement; the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

DEFF	Design Effect
HW	Health workers
LQAS	Lot Quality Assurance Sampling
MIPAA	Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing
MoGLSD	Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development
МоН	Ministry of Health
MRC/UVRI	Medical Research Council/Uganda Virus Research Institute
NCDs	Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases
OP	Older Person
PCFs	Primary Care Facilities
PI	Principal investigator
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
STIs	Sexually transmitted infections
UBOS	Uganda Bureau of Statistics
UDHS	Uganda Demographic and Health Survey
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization

Outline

This thesis presents the findings of a quantitative study which was conducted in Uganda from March-June 2013. The study explored the health care services available and delivered to older persons at primary care facilities. The thesis is divided into seven chapters:

Chapter 1 is the introduction of the study. Firstly, it gives the definition of an "older person" and the justification for the age reference used in the thesis. The demographic trends and its implications for the health older persons is then explained. What should be in the minimum health care package for older persons and how the minimum health care package should be delivered to older persons are then explained. Because there is currently no specific recommendation on what the minimum package should be in Sub-Saharan Africa, I have proposed one. Using the socio-ecological model (figure 2), it examines the factors that influence the availability of health care for older persons. Findings of the systematic literature review on services available and delivered to older persons in primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa are then presented. An overview of Uganda and the situation of older persons in Uganda are then described. The chapter ends with the rationale for the study. The study aim and objectives are then presented in **Chapter 2**, methods in **Chapter 3**, results in **Chapter 4**, discussions in **Chapter 5**, Limitations in **Chapter 6**, and conclusions, policy implications and recommendations in **Chapter 7**. The recommendations draw upon the quality improvement approaches¹⁻³.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Operational definition of an "older person"

There is no universal agreement on the age at which someone becomes old. Consequently, the term "old" means different things to different societies. The United Nations and many demographers for example define an older person (OP) as someone aged ≥ 60 years^{4, 5}. Many governments in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA)⁶⁻¹⁰ also use the United Nation's reference point to define "old". In many developed countries, an OP is defined as someone aged ≥ 65 years based on the age at which people become eligible for the old age pension fund¹¹. Unless specified otherwise, an OP in this thesis means someone aged ≥ 50 years. This reference point will align the findings of this study with World Health Organization's (WHO's) "minimum dataset on ageing and OPs in SSA"¹² that uses the cut-off of ≥ 50 years.

1.2. Demographic trends and their implications for the health of older persons

Improvements in public health have led to increases in life expectancy globally. Consequently, there is a rapid increase in the world's population of OPs¹³⁻¹⁵ (Table 1).

		World's population of older persons (in thousands)			
Year	All age-groups (n)	≥50 years n (%)	≥60 years n (%)	≥80 years n (%)	
2006	6,525,521	1,271,311 (19.5%)	683,334 (10.5%)	90,014 (1.4%)	
2015	7,225,878	1,620,873 (22.4%)	895,032 (12.4%)	126,465 (1.8%)	
2030	8,290,288	2,310,781 (27.9%)	1,402,673 (16.9%)	214,680 (2.6%)	
2050 9,401,505		3,146,862 (33.5%)	2,087,597 (22.2%)	466,094 (5.0%)	
Population of older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa					
2006	752,790	73,025 (9.7%)	35,415 (4.7%)	2,524 (0.3%)	
2015	921,181	91,492 (9.9%)	45,056 (4.9%)	3,542 (0.4%)	
2030	1,244,021	140,443 (11.3%)	69,205 (5.6%)	6,330 (0.5%)	
2050	1,754,492	271,643 (15.5%)	139,270 (7.9%)	14,506 (0.8%)	

Table 1: Population projections for older persons

Source: United Nations¹⁵

Because the increase in life expectancy is occurring at a time when there is reduction in fertility rates globally, there is a demographic transition towards an ageing population. Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) is projected to have over 140 million OPs (11% of the total population) by 2030 and this population is projected to double by 2050 – up from 73 million (10% of the total population) in 2006¹⁵.

While longevity is a public health triumph, OPs are at an increased risk of mortality and morbidity associated with chronic non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as cardiovascular diseases (e.g. stroke, hypertension, congestive heart failure, and coronary artery disease), diabetes mellitus, cancers, and chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (e.g. chronic bronchitis and emphysema)¹⁶⁻¹⁹. OPs are also particularly vulnerable to chronic noncommunicable conditions such as vision impairment (resulting commonly from cataracts, trachoma, glaucoma, and macular degeneration); hearing impairment; mental and neuropsychiatric disorders such as depression and dementia; muscle and bone diseases such as osteoporosis and arthritis; frailty; falls and accidents that often lead to bone fractures; immobility; skin conditions such as dryness of the skin and wounds; urinary problems such as urinary incontinence and frequent micturition; loss of teeth; faecal incontinence; and sexual health problems¹⁶⁻¹⁹. Globally, NCDs account for almost two thirds of all deaths^{17, 18} and 54% of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs)²⁰. Three quarters of NCDdeaths occur among OPs \geq 60 years^{17, 18}. Of the 53 million deaths that occurred in the world in 2010 for example, two thirds (68%) were OPs and NCDs were the most common cause of death among the OPs²¹. Nearly 80% of the NCD-deaths occur in low- and middle-income countries¹⁶⁻¹⁸. Additionally, due to a variety of reasons that include frailty and the deterioration of immune function with age (immunosenence), OPs, particularly in low income countries, also face an increased risk of infectious diseases^{13, 22}. The morbidity associated particularly with NCDs is known to have a long-term impact on the ability of OPs to live happy and independent lives and reduce their capacity to engage in income generating activities¹⁶⁻¹⁹.

While the demographic transition to an ageing population in the developed world is occurring at a time when there is an epidemiological transition towards increase in NCDs and a decrease in infectious illnesses; the demographic transition in SSA is occurring at a time when infectious illnesses are still prevalent and prevalence of NCDs is rising rapidly¹⁸. A systematic literature review of the common ailments that affect OPs that I undertook as preliminary work towards the DrPH showed that OPs in SSA suffer a dual burden of both infectious and non-communicable diseases (Table 2). Worryingly, the review showed that a substantial proportion of OPs in SSA (3-8%) were infected with HIV and yet, to the best of

my knowledge, the HIV programmes in SSA do not specifically target OPs. Given that patients on life-long antiretroviral treatment can expect to live an average of at least 27 years longer than their expected time of HIV/AIDS-related death without treatment²³, the prevalence of HIV in OPs in SSA is set to increase rapidly as adults currently on life-long antiretroviral treatment in their 30s or 40s will survive into old age²⁴.

Pre	evalence (%)
Chronic non-communicable diseases	
Chronic pain ²⁵⁻²⁸	36-90
Osteoarthritis ^{25-27, 29-34}	56-86
Oral-dental problem ^{25, 27, 31, 32, 35}	36-79
Visual problems ^{26, 29-32, 34, 36-42}	11-78
Hypertension ^{25, 29, 31, 34-37, 42-47}	22-65
Diabetes ^{44, 48, 49}	4-20
Cancer ⁴⁵	4
Depression ^{26, 33, 35, 42}	7-60
Dementia ^{27, 30, 50-52, 53, 54}	4-12
Hearing impairment ⁵⁵	6
Chronic obstructive airways disease ^{27, 47, 56}	8-39
Infectious illnesses	
Respiratory tract infections ^{25, 31, 32, 46}	14-68
Malaria ^{25, 26, 46, 57}	14-67
HIV ^{24, 58-62}	3-8
Nutritional problems	
Under nutrition (BMI<18.5kg/m ²) ^{25, 63-71}	6-48
Severe malnutrition (BMI<16.0kg/m ²) ^{25,69}	2-22
Overweight (BMI 25-29.9kg/m ²) ^{25, 64, 65, 68, 71}	5-54
Obesity (BMI ≥30kg/m ²) ^{25, 64, 65, 68}	2-55

Table 2: Prevalence of diseases in older persons ≥50 years in Sub-Saharan Africa I obtained
during a systematic literature review

Key: Detailed table presented in annex 9.1.3

The review included 50 primary studies published in English between January 2000 and November 2012 on common ailments that affect OPs in SSA. The studies were obtained through a systematic search of databases in PUBMED MEDLINE, EMBASE, Global Health, and Africa Wide Information using key search terms (Annex 9.1.1). Data were extracted using a checklist provided by "Centres for Reviews and Dissemination"⁷² and a descriptive synthesis was done. However, based on the criteria provided by Cochrane Collaboration's "Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group"⁷³, nearly all of the studies were of fair quality e.g. nine of the studies^{27, 29, 31, 43, 45, 46, 51, 74, 75} might have overestimated the prevalence of diseases among OPs because they were done among OPs at health facilities (high risk of bias). Full texts could also not be obtained for 19 of the studies^{26, 29, 32, 34, 36, 43-47, 51, 53, 54, 57, 66, 67, 69, 74, 76} and their quality could not be properly ascertained. All of the 19 studies were published in local journals in SSA. The abstracts were however considered valid for inclusion because they quantified the burden of health problems in OPs. Quality evidence on health problems in OPs in SSA is now emerging from the INDEPTH¹ WHO-SAGE ² collaborative longitudinal study⁷⁷, with the first set of results revealing declining health status in ageing populations in SSA (Table 3).

Age-group	Odds ratio (OR)				
(years)	Kenya ⁷⁸	Tanzania ⁷⁹	South Africa ⁸⁰	Ghana ⁸¹	
50-59	1	1	1	1	
60-69	2.3	1.6	1.1	1.5	
70-79	3.1	2.6	1.8	2.4**	
80+	9.5	4.5	3.1		

Table 3: The association of age with poor health status in Sub-Saharan Africa

Source: Global Health Action, Supplement 2, 2010^{77} . **OR shown is for age \geq 70 years.

Some older persons have also been found to suffer abuse from members of their families and communities, and from trusted care givers such as health workers (HWs)⁸²⁻⁸⁶. Action on Elder Abuse in the United Kingdom defines elder abuse as: "a single or repeated act, or lack of appropriate action, occurring within any relationship where there is an expectation of trust which causes harm or distress to an older person"⁸⁴. Elder abuse, according to Action on Elder Abuse⁸⁴, takes various forms such as:

- Physical abuse—a deliberate or intentional act of inflicting physical pain or injury through, for example, beating, slapping, or restraining by physical means.
- Sexual abuse—a non-consensual sexual contact of any kind.
- Neglect—the failure or severe delay by those responsible to provide food, shelter, health care, or protection.

¹ INDEPTH (International Network for the Demographic Evaluation of Populations and Their Health) in developing countries.

² WHO-SAGE (World Health Organization (WHO) Study on Global Ageing and Adult Health (SAGE))

- Exploitation—illegally taking, misusing, or concealing funds, property, or assets of an OP for someone else's benefit.
- Emotional abuse—a deliberate or intentional act of inflicting mental pain, anguish, or distress on an OP through verbal or nonverbal acts such as shouting at, making mean comments at, humiliating, intimidating, and threatening.

WHO's world report on violence and health, estimates that 4 – 6% of OPs suffer elder abuse⁸⁵. However, there are suggestions that this may be a considerable underestimate because OPs are afraid of reporting abuse and that many do not have the opportunity to report abuse even if they wanted to⁸⁷. The prevalence of elder abuse in Sub-Saharan Africa is currently unknown, but has been reported to be common in a number of qualitative studies^{82, 83, 88, 89}. Regardless of the type, elder abuse results in unnecessary suffering, injury or pain, the violation of human rights, and a decreased quality of life for the older person⁹⁰.

Findings of this literature review on the common health problems that affect OPs show that OPs have a great need for health care and require special attention. Efforts are therefore urgently needed to provide an enabling environment for OPs to achieve and maintain better health, better functioning, and to live happy and quality lives. Such efforts should include provision of age-appropriate health care at all levels of health service delivery.

1.3. The minimum health care package for older persons in Sub-Saharan Africa

Currently, there is no specific, agreed recommendation on what the minimum or basic health care package for OPs in Sub-Saharan Africa should be. Because OPs are particularly vulnerable to NCDs, WHO has made specific recommendations for governments around the world to prevent and treat NCDs and their consequent disabilities⁹¹. At the core of WHO's recommendation is a life-course approach where healthy behaviours that prevent the risk of occurrence of NCDs are promoted for all ages (right from childhood), and where patients with NCDs are properly managed at a low cost⁹¹. Actions recommended by WHO to promote healthy behaviours include promotion of healthy diets and physical activity (active ageing), and counselling on cessation of smoking and on excessive alcohol use; while the recommendation to treat NCDs focus on early detection and treatment of NCDs, and plans for long-term care including palliative care⁹¹. WHO has also made specific recommendations on the management of the "geriatric giants": memory loss, urinary incontinence, depression, frailty, and falls/immobility⁹². Cognisant of the fact that OPs are vulnerable to HIV, *the Global Forum on Ageing in the 21st Century* recommended inclusion of OPs in HIV/AIDS programmes¹¹. Creation of "age-friendly environments" for OPs at the health facilities has also formed a key component of their recommendations and these focus on prevention of age discrimination and elder abuse, and innovations in housing designs that enable easy mobility for OPs¹¹.

Premised on the fact that an increase in and sustainability of public confidence in a health system depend on the ability of the health system to keep pace with and respond to the social needs of the patients, WHO's recommendations for care of OPs have also focussed on the non-clinical aspects of health care – also referred to as "health system responsiveness" ^{93,94}. Health system responsiveness is "a measure of how the health system responds to non-clinical expectations of the patients and include: dignity, confidentiality, autonomy, prompt attention, social support, basic amenities, and choice of provider" ⁹³. The recommendations on health system responsiveness provide for treatment of patients with respect i.e. ensuring dignity of patients, facilitating their role in decisions about their care (autonomy), communicating with patients in a manner that would enable them to understand their illness and its management, and keeping patients' health information confidential. The recommendations also provide for provision of prompt attention to patients, ensuring inpatients have access to social support, ensuring patients can choose their service providers, and providing basic amenities of adequate quality. Promotion of health system responsiveness was the core of the "World Health Report 2000"⁹⁵.

In general population surveys of health system responsiveness in 41 countries involving 105,806 respondents with previous experience of having received care from a health facility, the respondents (all age-groups) ranked prompt attention as the most important, and access to social support as the least important non-clinical health care they wanted to be provided with (figure 1)⁹⁶. OPs \geq 60 years also ranked prompt attention as the most important most important domain, followed by dignity, communication, choice of provider, autonomy, confidentiality, quality of basic amenities and social support⁹⁶. In Nigeria, the only country in SSA that participated in the study, 44% of respondents (all age-groups) ranked prompt attention (12%), choice of

6

provider (9%), confidentiality (8%), autonomy (4%), quality of amenities (2%) and social support (2%). Interventions aimed at improving health care for OPs should therefore target these specific components of health system responsiveness, and should pay particular attention to the top ranked components⁹⁶.





Source: WHO (pg. 143)⁹⁴: http://www.who.int/responsiveness/papers/MCSS_Analytical_Guidelines.pdf

Therefore based on these global recommendations^{11, 91, 92, 94}, one would expect that all facilities in SSA offer age-appropriate health care that includes, at the minimum, the prevention and treatment of NCDs and of communicable diseases such as HIV. Because most of the health problems in OPs have their origins in unhealthy life-styles in the younger ages⁹⁷, prevention programmes for chronic diseases would be expected to be offered both at facility and community level and target all age-groups. The minimum NCD-prevention package at all facilities would be expected to include health promotion through education on the causes and risk factors such as unhealthy diets, physical inactivity, tobacco and

excessive alcohol use. For the communicable diseases such as HIV and non-HIV sexually transmitted infections (STIs); the prevention package would be expected to include health education programmes about the diseases for all age-groups, including for OPs. All facilities would also be expected to routinely screen patients, through history taking and physical examination, for the presence and risk factors for chronic diseases even if patients present with unrelated complaints. For NCDs, such screening would be expected to include taking history of NCDs in the past and in the family and asking about risky behaviours such as cigarette smoking and excessive alcohol use, and then carrying out physical examinations such as blood pressure measurement, waist and mid-upper arm circumference measurement, and measurement of weight and height followed by calculation of body mass index. Screening in women would be expected to include visual inspection of the cervix and physical examination of the breasts to exclude cancer of the cervix and breast, respectively. Screening for NCDs would also be expected to include assessment for vision, hearing and common mental health problems such as depression and memory loss, and assessment for incontinence, frailty and mobility problems. For communicable diseases such as HIV and non-HIV STIs; one would expect that all facilities specifically target OPs as well as younger ages and screen them for risky sexual behaviour and disease. Lastly, all facilities would be expected to offer treatment, including life-long treatment of chronic diseases/conditions.

Although specific services or programmes for the prevention or treatment of elder abuse are not expected to be found at PCFs, one would expect the HWs to be aware and knowledgeable about elder abuse, think of it in appropriate situations, and be able to screen OPs they suspect of having suffered abuse and appropriately manage them, including referring them to other institutions such as the police for further action.

In order to offer the above services, one would expect that governments have policies for providing health care to OPs and health facilities have basic items that are particularly important for providing the services such as basic equipment, guidelines, medicines, and staff. For them to be useful for offering services to OPs, such basic items would be expected to be found in the patient consultation area. The health facility environment would also be expected to be age-friendly to enable OPs to easily access care without fear of discrimination or abuse from the HWs, have basic amenities such as a waiting area that

8

shields patients from sun or rain, enough seats in the waiting area for OPs to find a place to sit, a ramp to enable OPs with frailty and mobility problems to easily navigate the health facilities, and privacy to ensure the comfort and dignity of OPs while seeking health care. Because knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs are a key determinant of the quality of care they provide to patients and of patient's perceptions and utilisation of health care services⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁷, HWs in the facilities would also be expected to have the awareness, knowledge and skills to care for the common ailments that affect OPs, and have good practices regarding the care of OPs if they routinely screen OPs for the common health problems that affect OPs, promptly attend to OPs, do not extort money from OPs, and treat OPs with respect as discussed in the health system responsiveness above⁹³.

1.4. Primary care facilities for delivering health care to older persons: The rationale In 1978 in Alma-Ata in the then Soviet Union, the World Health Assembly prompted the formation of a global health strategy to achieve health for all called *primary health care*¹⁰⁸. That declaration, commonly known as the Alma-Ata declaration, emphasized health, or well-being, as a fundamental right and a world-wide social goal, to address inequality in the health status of persons in all countries, and to target government responsibility for policy that would promote economic, social, and health development¹⁰⁸. Primary health care was defined as "essential health care based on practical, scientifically sound and socially acceptable methods and technology made universally accessible to individuals and families in the community through their full participation and at a cost that the community and country can afford to maintain at every stage of their development in the spirit of selfreliance and self-determination"¹⁰⁸. Since the Alma-Ata declaration, primary health care has, in many countries, formed an integral part both of the health system, of which it is the central function and main focus, and of the overall social and economic development of the community¹⁰⁹. In other words, primary health care is a broad concept that aims to improve the health and wellbeing of populations as well as individuals through addressing the determinants of health including political, social and economic environments. Promotion of primary health care is a core concept of WHO's goal of "health for all"¹¹⁰.

One of the strategies for achieving primary health care in most countries has been delivery of primary medical care through PCFs – i.e. generalist-led health facilities. Primary care refers to the "delivery of a complex set of services, which include the first contact, delivery of comprehensive care, case management, and maintenance care and disease prevention. It assumes responsibility for referral to distinct services in response to the clients' needs"¹¹¹. As in many developed countries, PCFs in developing countries form the first level of contact of individuals, the family and community with the formal health sectors because they are located closer to where people live¹⁰⁹. Consequently, WHO has recommended PCFs as the model for delivering health care to OPs in developing countries^{112, 113}.

The concept of delivering health care to OPs through PCFs is particularly important for SSA because most individuals (80-94%) in SSA live in rural areas¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁷ and PCFs are the most available source of formal health care for people who live in rural areas in SSA. OPs with ailments are therefore more likely to present to PCFs than to hospitals because hospitals in SSA are often located in urban centres, and distances to them are considerably long and public transport infrastructure is poor and relatively expensive. Studies aimed at improving the quality of health care for OPs should therefore focus on the PCFs. Improving services at PCFs would enable OPs to be treated closer to their homes and potentially reduce the cost of accessing health care for them. For OPs who are on life-long chronic care and treatment, ease of access to health care would improve their adherence to treatment and to appointment schedules.

1.5. Factors that influence the availability of health care for older persons

1.5.1. The Conceptual framework

The conceptual framework (figure 2), based on the socio-ecological model¹¹⁸, shows that a number of factors interacting at multiple levels influence health care availability for OPs. The model considers the complex interplay between factors that influence the availability of health care for OPs at national and international policy level, health system level, family/community (interpersonal) and individual (Intrapersonal) level. The potential gaps and weaknesses in health services for OPs and intervention areas for quality improvement can therefore be understood by evaluating these factors.

The policy level factors look at the national and global laws and policies that recognise OPs as a vulnerable group and support provision of care to them. The health system factors examine the influence of the health system on health care access and utilization by individuals and communities. These include the presence of affordable health care services, the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs, hours of operation, and availability of an environment conducive for providing health care to OPs such as basic amenities, overall responsiveness of the health system, and privacy and confidentiality.

The family, community or societal factors look at how health care access and utilization by individuals can be influenced by social and cultural norms, traditional practices regarding illness, family/community's satisfaction with and perceptions and expectations of health services, level of knowledge and awareness about health problems that affect OPs, and community support to OPs who need health care. It also examines the availability of accessible health care services. The individual level factors identify biological and personal history factors that affect health care access and utilization. These include age, education, income, general knowledge and perception of illness, attitudes and practices regarding illness, perceptions of health services, past experiences with health services, expectations of health services, and financial and geographical barriers.

This thesis focused on the health system, and, some aspects of the individual-level factors of the conceptual model (items marked in asterisks).

Figure 2: Factors that influence availability of healthcare for older persons who require care



*Domains examined in the thesis. **Specific items examined within each domain

1.5.2. Policy frameworks

Owing to their increased vulnerability to diseases, a variety of international documents have articulated the need to address the consequences of demographic trends and particularly deal with the increasing burden of NCDs in OPs^{97, 119-121}. The Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing (MIPAA), developed in April 2002, in particular called on governments to strengthen health care for OPs through health promotion and disease prevention interventions¹²¹. Consequently, in article 14 of the political declaration on the MIPAA, the world's political leaders committed themselves to providing OPs with equal access to health care¹¹⁹. Ratifying the MIPAA¹²¹ and the political declaration¹¹⁹, the African Union developed the "African Union policy framework and plan of action on ageing"^{120, 122} in July 2002 that also called on African governments to strengthen health care for OPs^{83, 85}. Consequently many countries in SSA developed policies for addressing issues affecting OPs¹¹.

The policy frameworks in many SSA countries, developed by the Ministries of Social Development, make specific recommendations on actions to improve the care of OPs, and assign specific responsibilities to the MoH. Despite the existence of the policy frameworks¹¹ , there are proxy indicators to show that OPs have limited access to health care in SSA e.g. high proportions of OPs who were unaware of their hypertensive status and therefore not on treatment were reported by community-based studies in Uganda (50%)⁴², Senegal (50%)⁷⁶, Ghana (96%)¹¹, South Africa (92%)¹¹, and Nigeria (97%)⁷⁵. In fact, the studies in Uganda⁴² and Senegal⁷⁶ may have underestimated the proportions of OPs who were unaware of their hypertensive status because in Uganda, the study was done in a rural population cohort, established by the Medical Research Council/Uganda Virus Research Institute (MRC/UVRI), that has been in existence for nearly 20 years and has access to medical services provided by MRC/UVRI while the one in Senegal⁷⁶ was done in an urban setting where health care services are more widely available. Similarly, another study in Nigeria⁴¹ concluded that OPs had limited access to vision services while a study in Uganda⁴² reported that only 5% and 11% of OPs in Uganda with far and near sightedness, respectively, had glasses.

We do not know the extent to which MoH were involved in the development of the policies. It is possible that ownership of the policies by MoH is limited in SSA. In Uganda for example,

the stewardship role for issues affecting OPs is provided by the Ministry of Gender Labour and Social Development (MoGLSD). There is very little evidence that the MoH is centrally or actively involved in policy debates about what services, as whole, are needed for OPs. For example, although health care for OPs is one of the key intervention areas mentioned in the national policy for OPs that was developed in 2009 by MoGLSD¹²³, the Uganda national health policy¹²⁴ and health sector strategic plan¹²⁵ that were developed a year later in 2010 by MoH made no specific mention of health care services for OPs – they have largely focused on services for children, women's reproductive services, and acute services for adults. Consequently, the national policy¹²³ and the national plan of action¹²⁶ for OPs lack clarity on what would be required for the provision of good quality health services to OPs. Such apparent lack of involvement of the MoH may be a key factor impeding health care for OPs in SSA because, based on the French-Raven's power and influence theory¹²⁷ and David Goleman's theory of expert power¹²⁸, it is the MoH that has the mandate and the expertise to provide leadership for health care delivery in the country. These leadership theories suggest that successful implementation of programmes require leaders that have the mandate and expertise to provide direction, which MoGLSD in Uganda clearly lacks as far as health care issues are concerned. Evaluating potential gaps and weaknesses in development and implementation of policy for OPs in SSA may therefore be informative.

1.5.3. Effectiveness of primary care facilities

Globally, the effectiveness of PCFs in reducing social disparities in access to health care and in reducing mortality and morbidity for the general population is well documented¹²⁹⁻¹³⁵. In developing countries, the effectiveness of PCFs in expanding health care and ensuring equitable and affordable access to health services for the general population has been reported by a systematic review by Kruk et al (2010)¹³⁶ and by primary studies in El Salvador¹³⁷ and South Africa¹³⁸. A review of primary care implementation in Africa by WHO (2008)¹³⁹ also noted improvements in health care utilization and access as a result of PCFs. However, a study by HelpAge International (2008) in five Asian countries (Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Singapore and Vietnam) on the perceptions of OPs of PCFs noted that OPs perceived the quality of services in PCFs to be poor and said the HWs in the PCFs neither screened them for diseases nor gave them health education about common diseases¹⁴⁰.

However literature on the effectiveness of PCFs in SSA has not been consistent. For example, a study in South Africa that assessed patients' satisfaction with PCFs reported high levels of satisfaction with PCFs, with 95% of the patients saying their health care needs were met, 83% saying they were satisfied with PCFs, and 91% saying they would recommend PCFs to other patients¹³⁸. High levels of satisfaction with and good perceptions of PCF-services were also reported by two other studies in South Africa^{141, 142}. Elsewhere in SSA however, high levels of dissatisfaction with and poor perceptions of PCFs were reported by studies in Nigeria^{143, 144}, Ethiopia¹⁴⁵, and Tanzania^{136, 146}. In Nigeria for example, 90% of patients were reported to have been dissatisfied with PCF-services¹⁴³, and 97% were reported to have had poor perceptions of PCF-services¹⁴⁴. The main reasons for the dissatisfaction with PCFs commonly reported by the studies in Nigeria^{143, 144}, Ethiopia¹⁴⁵ and Tanzania^{136, 147} were: poor services, lack of drugs, lack of diagnostic facilities, not finding HWs on duty, early closure of facilities, lack of physical examination, delays in seeing patients by HWs, poor attitude of HWs and verbal abuse by HWs. These were also given as reasons by participants in the studies in Tanzania for bypassing PCFs facilities^{109, 119}. Notable is the emergence of a clear pattern in levels of satisfaction with PCFs, with high levels of satisfaction reported in South Africa and disaffection reported in other countries in SSA. This pattern should not be surprising because South Africa, as an upper middle-income country, has better facilities and better services than most of SSA. Generalising study findings from South Africa to the rest of SSA should therefore be approached with caution.

1.5.4. Services provided at primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa

The WHO reports on PCFs in SSA, and reports of governments in East Africa show that PCFs in SSA are organized around the acute care model, focusing on the prevention and treatment of infectious diseases that cause the highest mortality and morbidity and for which there are effective low-cost interventions^{109, 139, 148-152}. In Uganda and Nigeria for example, the essential medicines list for lower and mid-level PCFs did not contain medicines for managing NCDs such as hypertension and diabetes¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵. Mid-level PCFs only had basic laboratory services for diagnosis of infectious illnesses such malaria while lower-level PCFs did not have laboratory services. Higher-level PCFs however provided services for NCDs such as hypertension and basic laboratory services that could investigate some of the NCDs such as diabetes. These findings suggest that in SSA, patients with chronic NCDs

struggle to get services unless they live within a higher-level PCF or a hospital. However, five studies that evaluated availability of services in PCFs in South Africa found that both acute and long-term chronic care was provided at all levels of PCFs^{141, 142, 156-158}.

Studies and government reports have also shown that PCFs in SSA face a lot of challenges that include severe shortage of staff and medicines, poor infrastructure, and inadequate funding^{109, 139, 141, 144, 148-152, 156, 159}. For example, studies in Kenya¹⁵⁹ and Nigeria¹⁴⁴ that audited PCFs for availability of laboratory services found that only 38% and 2.6% of the PCFs respectively had any laboratory services. The two studies also reported stock out of essential drugs in the PCFs, with essential drugs being out of stock in 88% of the PCFs in Nigeria and 38% in Kenya^{144, 159}. However, one study that evaluated PCFs in South Africa for availability of drugs for NCDs did not find stock out of the drugs¹⁵⁶. Severe shortage of staff at PCFs were reported by studies in Nigeria (with only 29% of approved positions filled) ¹⁴⁴, Kenya (with 47% of approved positions filled)¹⁵⁹, and South Africa¹⁴¹. In Uganda, staffing at PCFs varied by level of the PCF: with lower-level PCFs staffed mainly by nurses, mid-level PCFs staffed by nurses and Physician assistants, and Higher-level PCFs staffed by nurses, physician assistants and physicians¹⁵³. One study that audited PCFs in South Africa for availability of guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of NCDs found that very few (3%) of the PCFs had NCD-guidelines – suggesting that the potential for mismanaging patients with NCDs could be high¹⁵⁶. The study in South Africa however found that nearly all PCFs surveyed had the necessary equipment for managing NCDs, with all (100%) PCFs surveyed having adult weighing scales, sphygmomanometers, visual acuity charts, glucometers, and ophthalmoscopes, and the great majority having adult height scales (87%), tape measures (73%), and haemoglobinometers (70%)¹⁵⁶. As noted above, generalising study findings from South Africa to the rest of SSA should be approached with caution.

Despite the mixed findings on its effectiveness, PCFs remain the main source of health care for OPs because they are located in rural areas where most OPs live. Evaluations are therefore needed to understand whether the PCFs in SSA meet the healthcare needs of OPs.

16

1.5.5. Availability of services for older persons in primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic literature review

There is paucity of research on health care for OPs in SSA. A systematic search for reports on availability of health care for OPs at PCFs in SSA published in English language between January 2000 and January 2014 did not identify any article (Annex 9.1.4). The search, using key search terms (Annex 9.1.1), was conducted in PUBMED, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Global Health, Africa Wide Information, and health system evidence between June 2012 and 31st January 2014. However, given that PCFs in most of SSA focuses mainly on prevention and treatment of acute ailments^{109, 125, 139, 151, 152, 160, 161}, it can be inferred that OPs with chronic NCDs struggle to get services in SSA.

1.5.6. Knowledge, attitudes and practices of health workers regarding the care of older persons in primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic literature review

Knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs are a key determinant of the quality of care they provide to patients and of patient's perceptions of care services⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁷. A systematic search for reports of primary studies on knowledge, attitudes and practices published in English between January 2000 and 31st January 2014 revealed only one study¹⁶² (Annex 9.1.5). The study, done in Northern Uganda, reported that 19% of the HWs had poor knowledge of geriatrics, 69% had satisfactory knowledge, and 12% had good knowledge¹⁶². The great majority (80%) and 15% of the HWs in the study were reported to have positive and negatives attitudes towards OPs, respectively¹⁶². The findings of the study cannot however be generalised to SSA because the study involved only two health facilities in one district and the study participants were purposively selected – rendering the selection process open to potential selection bias¹⁶³. Furthermore, the tools (*Palmores Aging Quiz-1*¹⁶⁴ and *Kogan's* Older People's Attitude Scale¹⁶⁵) used for the study to measure knowledge and attitude, respectively, have never been validated in Africa. Indeed, quite a substantial number of the questions in the tools – such as those asking about "one-tenth of OPs living in nursing homes", "aged drivers causing few accidents", "population of OPs aged 65 years now being 20%", "poverty line as defined by US federal government" – are not applicable to a region like Northern Uganda where there are no residential homes for OPs and where people (let alone OPs) hardly own or drive cars, and the authors did not explicitly say that they

17

modified/adapted the tools. The study¹⁶² may also have overestimated the proportion of HWs with positive attitudes because it only classified as "neutral attitude" participants who scored the exact midpoint on the five-point Likert scale it used – this potentially is a major analytical flaw.

To gain further insight into the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs in the PCFs in SSA, a further literature search was conducted for any study that reported on the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding provision of health care to patients in general (not just OPs). Four studies, all conducted in South Africa, were identified that met the inclusion criteria^{115, 129, 130, 150} (Annex 9.1.5). Two of the studies assessed HWs' practices related to screening of patients for NCDs and concluded that HWs did not comprehensively screen patients for NCDs^{156, 157}. One of the studies reported that despite equipment being available, a substantial proportion of patients that should have been screened were not screened, with the proportions of those screened being low for: height measurement (50%), ECG screening (26%), retinal screening (20%), diabetic foot screening (20%), cholesterol tests (18%), reflex tests (17%), chest X-ray (12%), renal function tests (11%), and waist circumference measurement (7%) but high for measurement of blood pressure (98%) and weight (88%)¹⁵⁶. One of the studies assessed HWs' knowledge and practices related to management of STIs and concluded that HWs did not comprehensively screen patients for STIs, but most of their diagnoses (90%) and treatment prescriptions (80%) were correct¹⁶⁶. One of the studies assessed HWs' responsiveness to patients and reported that HWs generally treated patients with respect, with 75% of the HWs ensuring privacy of the patients, and 75% asking for permission before carrying out physical examination but the HWs tended not to give enough time to patients to explain their illness¹⁴². Three quarters (71%) of the HWs in the study also appropriately referred patients for further care¹⁴². These findings are mixed to draw any plausible conclusions but suggest that there are important gaps and weaknesses in knowledge and practices of HW in the PCFs and there is room for improvement.

1.5.7. Perceptions of older persons of the services they received from the primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic literature review

Perceptions of patients of the health services they receive are a key determinant of their utilisation of health services¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹. Understanding the perceptions of OPs of the services at PCFs is therefore critical for developing measures to increase the utilization of health care services, the quality of care and the overall performance of the PCFs. However, a systematic search for reports of primary studies on perceptions of OPs of services at PCFs in SSA published in English between January 2000 and 31st January 2014 did not identify any study (Annex 9.1.6). To gain insight into the perceptions of OPs of the health services in SSA, a further literature search was conducted for any study that reported on the perceptions of OPs of health services in general (not just health services at PCFs) (Annex 9.1.6). Five population-based cross-sectional studies that met the inclusion criteria were identified^{32, 82,} ^{83, 170, 171} (Annex 9.1.6). One study, conducted in South Africa involving 3,840 OPs ≥50 years, which evaluated the perceived responsiveness of both private and public facilities to the OPs reported that OPs perceived private facilities to be more responsive (79%) than public facilities (65%). In the public outpatient services, a relatively high proportion of OPs thought: the quality of basic amenities was good (72%), there was confidentiality (68%), the facilities treated them with dignity/respect (67%), communication with HWs was clear (67%), and they were given autonomy (63%)¹⁷⁰. However, only 54% of the OPs thought they were promptly attended to. Four studies in Botswana¹⁷¹, Kenya^{32, 82} and Uganda⁸³ reported that OPs did not seek health care from government facilities when they needed to because they perceived the quality of the services to be poor. OPs in the four studies were also reported to have said that they did not seek care because HWs have poor attitudes towards themoften disregarding them in favour of younger patients, being unkind to them and making them feel neglected at the health care facilities^{27, 155-157}. In two of the studies, some of the OPs said they avoided the health facilities due to the long queues and lack of specific health care for them at the health facilities^{82, 83}.

Findings of the systematic review imply that there are important gaps and weaknesses in the health care available and delivered to OPs in SSA but not much is known about the specific components that need improvement. Further studies are therefore needed to understand the health care available and delivered to OPs.

1.6. Overview of Uganda

Figure 3: Map of Uganda


1.6.1. Geography and demography

Data for this study were obtained from Uganda. Figure 3 shows the map of Uganda. As at August 2012, Uganda was partitioned into 112 local government authorities also referred to as districts¹⁷². The decentralized system of governance adopted in 1995 devolved most functions and powers to districts, which shoulder the task of service delivery to grass roots/local communities.

With an annual population growth rate of 3.2%¹⁷³, and total fertility rate of 5.9 children per woman¹⁷⁴, Uganda's population has increased rapidly in the past 10 years. By mid-2012, projections by the Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS) indicated that Uganda had a population of 34 million people¹⁷⁵, up from 24.4million in 2002¹⁷⁶. The average life expectancy at birth in Uganda is only 56 years¹⁷⁷ – slightly lower than that in the other East African countries such as Kenya (60 years), Rwanda (60 years), and Tanzania (59 years) but substantially lower than that in developed countries such as the United Kingdom (UK) (80 years)¹⁷⁸.

1.6.2. Socio-economic situation

Uganda is a poor country with per capita GDP of only \$579¹⁷² – substantially lower than that of its neighbours such as Kenya, Rwanda and Tanzania¹⁷⁹ (Table 4). About 25% of Ugandans are estimated to live below the poverty line of one dollar a day¹¹⁴. As in most countries in SSA¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁷, the great majority (85%) of Uganda's population lives in rural areas¹⁸⁰, and subsistence farming is the main economic activity employing 80% of the workforce¹¹⁴. The average literacy rate in Uganda (those that can read and write) was 73.2%, lower than that of Kenya (87.4%) but similar to that of Rwanda (71.1%) and Tanzania (73.2%)¹⁷⁴.

1.6.3. Burden of disease in Uganda

Uganda is a high disease burden country, 75% of which are preventable (MoH pg. 5)¹²⁵. Communicable diseases account for most (54%) of the disease burden in Uganda, with HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria being the leading cause of morbidity and mortality (MoH pg. 13-16)¹²⁵. For example in 2009, a diagnosis of malaria alone accounted for 40% of outpatient visits, 20% of inpatient admissions and 14% of inpatient deaths in the health facilities. With 42,000 cases per year, Uganda ranked 16th in 2009 among the tuberculosis high burden countries in the world¹⁸¹. HIV prevalence meanwhile remains high (7%)¹⁸², with recent evidence showing the prevalence is once again rising¹⁸³ especially among people in long term relationships who account for 43% of the new infections in the country¹⁸⁴. Uganda's infant mortality rates and maternal mortality ratio¹⁸⁵ are similar to that of its neighbouring countries such as Kenya¹⁸⁶, Tanzania¹⁸⁷ and Rwanda¹⁸⁸(Table 4).

Most of those affected with disease and facing the risk of death in Uganda are the poor and powerless, with little or no cash income and mostly living in rural areas. Determinants of good health such as adequate housing, safe drinking water, adequate sanitation, access roads, nutrition and health information and education are very limited in rural areas^{114, 124}. Paradoxically, this highly vulnerable group has limited access to health services. Although 72% of Ugandans live within a 5km radius of a health facility (MoH pg. 5)¹²⁵, PCF services where most seek health care are very weak, poorly funded, and with frequent stock outs of essential medicines, inadequate infrastructure, and severe shortage of qualified HWs¹²⁵. Community-based structures like village health teams that could play important roles in health promotion and health care provision are weak, with only 31% of the districts having functional village health teams¹²⁵. Higher-level health facilities such as hospitals where fairly good services could be obtained are mainly located in urban centres – far away from the poor and rural communities.

1.6.4. Health care financing

Despite the high disease burden in the country, Uganda government's per capita expenditure on health was only \$11.2 in 2012– lower than that of Rwanda (\$35.6), Tanzania (\$14.7) and Kenya (\$14.3) in the same year¹⁷⁴ (Table 4). Even though Uganda abolished official user fees in the public sector, there is high private out of pocket expenditure on health care in Uganda¹⁷⁴. Such out of pocket expenditure are known to inflict an enormous economic burden on poor and vulnerable people, further impoverishing them and entrenching a cycle of poverty, ill health and death¹⁸⁹.

Indicators	Uganda	Kenya	Tanzania	Rwanda
Literacy rate among adults aged ≥15 years	73.2%	87.4%	73.2%	71.1%
Life expectancy at birth (years) ^{177, 178}	56	60	59	60
IMR/1,000 live births ^{185-188, 190}	54	52	51	49.8
MMR/100,000 live births ^{185-188, 191}	435	488	454	487
HIV Prevalence among 15-49 year olds ¹⁷⁴	7.2%	6.2%	5.8%	2.9%
Deaths due to HIV/100,000 population ¹⁷⁴	181	148	181	58
Age standardised mortality rate/100,000 population ¹⁷⁴				
All causes	1959	1495	1733	1174
Cancer	191	178	113	158
Cardiovascular diseases & Diabetes	421	276	341	290
Chronic obstructive airways disease	111	69	86	68
GDP per capita (USD) ^{172, 179}	\$598	\$967	\$629	\$682
Health care financing ¹⁷⁴				
Per capita government expenditure on health (USD)	\$11.2	\$14.3	\$14.7	\$35.6
Total government expenditure on health as a % of	10.8%	5.9%	11.1%	23.7%
total government expenditure				
Total government expenditure on health as a % of	9.5%	4.5%	7.3%	10.8%
total GDP				
Government expenditure on health as a % of total	26.3%	39.6%	39.5%	56.7%
expenditure on health				
Total out of pocket expenditure as a % of total	64.8%	76.7%	52.4%	49.4%
private expenditure on health				
External resources for health as a % of total	27%	38.8%	41.2%	46.3%
expenditure on health				

Table 4: Comparison of selected indicators across countries in East Africa

1.6.5. Health service delivery in Uganda

Health care services in Uganda are delivered by both the public sector (government) and private entities that include private-not-for-profit and private-for-profit organisations as well as complementary health service providers such as the traditional medicine providers. The public health facilities make up just about half (55%) of the total health care facilities in Uganda, with private-not-for-profit and private-for-profit making up 16% and 29%, respectively. Nearly all (90%) of the private-for-profit facilities are located in one district – Kampala district which also hosts Uganda's capital city.

Due to an insufficient training capacity and an unattractive remuneration package to retain HWs, there is severe shortage of HWs in the public health sector in Uganda¹⁹². In 2012 for example, only 63% of approved positions were filled¹⁹³, although up from 42% in 2009¹⁹². Coupled with inadequate financial resources and poor infrastructure, shortage of critical staff such as doctors, clinical officers, laboratory staff and qualified nurses has greatly compromised the delivery of quality health services.

1.6.6. Organisational structure of health services in Uganda

In the health service delivery structure, the national level stewardship functions are performed by the MoH (Table 5). In the public sector, health services are delivered through the national referral hospitals, regional referral hospitals and district health services – all reporting separately to the MoH and administratively independent of each other. The district level health service includes the general hospitals and PCFs. Under the decentralised system of governance, the district level health service is under a District Health Officer who is appointed by and accountable to the district local government.

1.6.7. The primary health care in Uganda

In Uganda, there are three levels of PCFs: level II, III and IV all focussing mainly on prevention and treatment of infectious illnesses¹⁹² (Table 5). Level II PCF (PCF II) is the lowest level of formal health care delivery. PCF II is mostly staffed by nurse aides and qualified nurses. PCF III is the mid-level PCF and has provisions for basic laboratory services, maternity care and inpatient care (often for onward referral). PCF III is usually staffed by nurse aides, qualified nurses and clinical officers (physician assistants). Level IV PCF (PCF IV) is a high-level PCF. It is the level immediately below a district hospital and has provisions for an operating theatre, in-patient and laboratory services, and is a referral facility for 20-30 level II and III PCFs under its jurisdiction. PCF IV is staffed by nurse aides, qualified nurses, clinical officers and doctors, although the majority does not have doctors¹⁹².

Table 5: Health service delivery structure in Uganda

Level (location)	Total (public	Total	Total (privato	Target Reputation	Function (government facilities
	facilities)	for-profit	for-profit	(public	
		facilities)	facilities)	facilities	
Village health team (village)	-	-	_	1,000	Community based preventive and promotive services.
PCF II (Parishes)	1662	496	1391	5,000	Provides preventive, promotive and outpatient curative services, and emergency maternal deliveries.
PCF III (Sub-county)	868	251	69	20,000	Provides all the above services. In addition, it provides inpatient, maternity and laboratory services.
PCF IV (County level)	166	14	8	100,000	Provides all the above services. In addition, it provides emergency surgery, blood transfusion, laboratory services and supervises PCF III and II.
General hospital (District level)	50	62	21	500, 000	District level referral facility. Provides all the above services but more comprehensive than PCF IV. In addition, it provides elective surgery and imaging services.
The district health services (District)	-	-	_	500,000	Stewardship of the district health services. Supervises all the above facilities
Regional hospitals	12	-	-	2 million	Provides all services provided by a district level general hospital. In addition, it provides specialised services.
National hospitals	3	_	_	10 million	Provides all services provided by regional hospitals but more comprehensive than regional hospital, teaching of medical students and research.
МОН	_	_	_	Entire country	Stewardship: policy formulation, setting standards, quality assurance, resource mobilization, capacity building, research coordination, monitoring & evaluation, nationally coordinated services such as epidemic control.

Source: MoH (2010; pg. 2-5)¹²⁴

1.7. Older persons in Uganda:

1.7.1. Demographic trends:

According to the Uganda population and Housing Census (2002), the population of OPs (\geq 50 years) was 1,912,974 (7.8% of the total population)¹⁹⁴. This population was projected to have increased marginally to 2,004,500 in 2012, but had decreased as a proportion of the total population to 5.9%¹⁷³. The marginal increase in the population has been attributed to deaths of young adults due to HIV/AIDS as few younger adults matured into old age¹⁹⁵. The population projections show that by 2020, Uganda will have slightly over 3 million OPs¹⁷⁵.

1.7.2. Socio-economic situation of older persons in Uganda

Most (93%) OPs in Uganda live in rural areas¹⁹⁶ where poverty is rife, economic opportunities are limited, ill health is common and access to health care is poor¹²³. 11% of the OPs live alone and 41% are widowed¹⁹⁶. The *"Uganda Participatory Poverty Assessment studies"* have singled out OPs as one of the groups worst hit by poverty and many OPs are chronically poor¹⁹⁷. According to the National Household Survey 2009/2010 (pg. 138)¹⁹⁶ 84% of OPs were economically active, with 85% of them involved in farming, usually only for subsistence. Their economic situation is worsened by the lack of social security system, burden of illness and by the burden of looking after orphans and their children infected with HIV/AIDS¹²³. Cognisant of the challenges affecting OPs, Uganda government is currently piloting, in 14 districts, the "Social Assistance Grant for Empowerment for OPs" where chronically poor OPs receive a monthly payment of about £6. The "Social Assistance Grant for Empowerment for OPs" was one of the key interventions suggested in the national policy for older persons in Uganda¹²³. If successful, the target is to rollout the scheme to the rest of the country. Although this scheme helps OPs to get some cash income monthly, the money is very small to meaningfully solve the multiple problems that affect OPs.

1.7.3. Health care of OPs in Uganda

As in the rest of SSA, OPs in Uganda suffer from multiplicity of health conditions that include both communicable and non-communicable diseases. The National Household Survey 2009/2010 (pg. 49)¹⁹⁶ report indicated that 67% of OPs in Uganda reported ill health; up from 61% in the 2005/2006 survey (pg. 42)¹⁹⁸, with the proportion of OPs with disability also increasing from 44% in 2005/06 survey (pg. 129)¹⁹⁸ to 65% in the 2009/10 survey (pg.138) ¹⁹⁶. Although Uganda is one of the countries that ratified the MIPAA declaration¹²¹, it was only recent (in 2009) that Uganda started addressing ageing issues– following the development of the national policy for OPs by the MoGLSD¹²³. The policy provides a framework for legislation and programming, as well as identifying opportunities to harness the potential of older persons. Although health care for OPs forms a key component of the national policy, the Uganda national health policy¹²⁴ and health sector strategic plan¹²⁵ (developed by the MoH in 2010) have paid no specific attention to the health care needs of the OPs. Consequently, geriatric care as a specialty is non-existent in Uganda¹²⁵ and my experience as a physician in Uganda is that OPs do not receive special attention at the health facilities.

1.8. Rationale for the study

1.8.1. Why is health care needed for older persons?

The absolute number of OPs in SSA is increasing rapidly. In 2006, there were 73 million OPs in SSA. This number has been projected to reach 93 million in 2015 and over 270 million by 2050¹⁵. In Uganda, the absolute number of OPs is also increasing and Uganda is projected to have over 3 million OPs by 2020¹⁷⁵. While longevity is a public health triumph, OPs are particularly vulnerable to chronic NCDs and over 90% of OPs have at least one chronic NCD^{16-19, 21}. Currently, little is known about the health care utilization rates among OPs in SSA but evidence from developed countries such as England and Wales shows that OPs use health care services two times more often than younger adults¹⁹⁹. Therefore, owing to their increasing population and their greater need for health care, OPs require special health care. Studies aimed at improving the care of OPs are therefore urgently needed. The need to care for OPs becomes even more important because OPs in SSA play vital roles within their families and communities. For example they care for children orphaned by HIV/AIDS^{123, 171, 200-208}. According to the Uganda National Household Survey (2010, pg. 138)¹⁹⁶ for example, about three quarters of OPs in Uganda headed households.

1.8.2. Why primary health care for older persons

Most OPs (80-94%) in SSA live in rural areas¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁷ and those with ailments are more likely to present to PCF than to hospitals because PCF are the most available source of health care for rural communities in SSA. Hospitals are often located in urban centres, and distances to them are long and public transport infrastructure is poor and relatively expensive. Studies aimed at improving services for OPs through PCFs are therefore crucially important as improvements in PCFs for OPs would enable OPs to be treated closer to their homes and reduce the cost of treatment for them and enable those with chronic illnesses, including, for example, NCDs, HIV and tuberculosis, to adhere to long-term treatment.

Chapter 2: Aim and Objectives

2.1. Aim of the study

The high-level aim of the study was to contribute to improving health care for OPs in SSA. The specific aim was to evaluate the health care available and delivered to OPs through PCFs in Uganda in order to identify any gaps and weaknesses and to suggest potential solutions.

2.2. Objectives

The specific objectives of the study were:

- 1) To determine whether care for the common conditions that affect OPs can be found at the PCFs in Uganda.
- 2) To determine the absolute and relative caseloads due to OPs.
- 3) To describe the common diseases diagnosed among OPs by the HWs in the PCFs.
- 4) To determine the knowledge of the HWs of the common ailments that affect OPs.
- 5) To determine the attitudes of HWs towards OPs
- 6) To determine the practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs at the PCFs facilities.
- 7) To determine how OPs were treated at the PCFs and how their treatment differed from that of younger adults aged 35-49 years.
- To determine the perceptions of OPs of the health care they had received from the health facility and how their perceptions differed from that of younger adults (aged 35-49years).

Chapter 3: Study Methods

3.1. The scope

Broadly, this chapter describes the: pilot study, study design and setting, study population, precision estimates, sampling of participants, data collection methods and activities, and data management and analysis.

3.2. The pilot study

Background

In preparation for the main study, a pilot study was conducted between February and June 2012. The aim of the pilot study was to get preliminary data to establish whether it was likely that there were important problems in the provision of health care for OPs in PCFs in Uganda. No study had been done of this prior to the pilot study. The pilot study was also aimed at improving the questionnaire and studying the feasibility of conducting the main study. The pilot study was done in two districts in Central Uganda where Medical Research Council-Uganda has study sites. It included 30 PCFs; 15 in each district. Within each district, the PCFs were stratified by level and simple random sampling was used to select 4 PCF IVs, 7 PCF IIIs and 4 PCF IIs. Within each PCF, 2 HWs and 5 OPs (≥50 years) were randomly sampled from the listings of those present in the outpatient department of the PCF.

The first part of the study involved interviews with the HW in-charge of the PCFs (the "incharge") to determine what health care was provided at the PCF. The second part involved interviews with HWs about their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding the care of OPs. The last part involved exit interviews with OPs about their perception of the services they had received from the PCFs. Both quantitative and qualitative data were obtained using structured and semi-structured questions, respectively. The study received ethics approval from LSHTM, Uganda Virus Research Institute, Uganda National Council for Science and Technology, and President's office, and all study participants gave written informed consent. Data in each PCF were collected by two interviewers and took two days. Descriptive analysis was done in STATA version 10.0 using methods that are appropriate for one-stage survey design and including sampling weights. The feasibility and acceptability of the data collection methods were assessed by:

- Feedback from the interviewers obtained in a group meeting.
- The average time that was taken to complete each questionnaire.
- Proportion of sampled individuals who agreed to participate.

Findings of the pilot study

Response rates

Twenty-seven in-charges (90% of the target of 30), 42 HWs (70% of the target of 60), and 144 OPs (96% of the target of 150) were interviewed. The main reason for not meeting the target numbers for in-charges and HWs was refusal (n=3 and 12, respectively). The reason for not meeting the target for OPs was that an insufficient number of OPs attended the PCFs on the two days when the team was in that health facility (n=6).

Interview durations

Interviews with the in-charges took 90-120 minutes and with HWs and OPs took 60-90 minutes.

Availability of services

The pilot study found important gaps and weaknesses in the availability of services and items that were enquired about. Availability differed by type of disease, with availability being high for infectious illnesses but very low for NCDs. Generally, availability decreased with decreasing level of PCF (Annex 9.2.1).

Knowledge, attitudes and practices of health workers regarding care of older persons

The pilot study also found important gaps in the knowledge, attitudes and practices of the HWs. On average, the HWs answered 61% of the questions correctly (CI: 58, 65). A relatively high proportion of HWs reported treating OPs with respect (76%), promptly attending to them (87%), ensuring their privacy (85%) and communicating with them in a manner that would enable the OPs to understand their illness and its management (85%). However, a

relatively low proportion of HWs said they involved OPs in key decisions regarding their care (56%), screened them for NCDs (27%) and targeted them for health education about diseases (22%) (Annex 9.2.2). The HWs tended to think that OPs are not at risk of HIV and are "past the age for using condoms". Consequently, a very low proportion of HWs reported targeting OPs for HIV education (12%) and offered them condoms (10%). Many HWs said OPs are deformed with a bent back, untidy, irritable, selfish, grouchy, often seeking for attention, and wanting to be attended to first. On the other hand, many also regarded OPs as "people who have special needs and who must be treated well and cared for immediately".

Older persons' perceptions of the services they received from the PCFs

A lower proportion of the OPs than the proportions reported by HWs said they were treated with respect (64%), promptly attended to (46%), communicated to in a manner that would enable them to understand their illness (45%), involved in key decisions (13%) and given privacy during medical consultations (79%). Only 31% of the OPs said they were examined by HWs and 19% said they received health education (Annex 9.2.3). The mean overall rating of the quality of services at PCFs by the OPs was 63% (Annex 9.2.4).

Conclusion and recommendations from the pilot study

The results of the pilot study implied that there were major problems with the health care OPs in Uganda received from PCF. However, the findings of the pilot study could not be generalised to the rest of the country because the number of facilities involved was small and the facilities were sampled from two districts in only one geographical zone. Due to the small numbers, the confidence intervals were wide and our power to detect a difference was low. Secondly, it was difficult to determine whether the treatment the OPs said they received from the PCFs was unique to them or the same for all patients. Based on the lessons learned from the pilot study, the the study team (the principal investigator (PI), supervisors and advisors) aimed to reduce these limitations through conducting a larger, more representative survey with greater power to look at risk/protective factors for good/poor care, and compare the way OPs are treated at PCFs and their perceptions of the services with that of younger adults (35-49 years). There were also specific recommendations to: select the districts randomly across Uganda, reduce the number of questions so that each interview would take at most 45 minutes, adjust the questions that did not work very well, take key steps to reduce refusal rates among HWs, increase the number of days for data collection in each facility, and determine the absolute and relative caseload due to OPs from the outpatient statistics in order to determine utilization of PCFs by OPs. All these recommendations were acted upon during the main study.

3.3. Study design

The initial aim of the study was to use both qualitative and quantitative methods to evaluate the availability of services expected in the minimum health care package and factors that influence their availability for OPs (Figure 2). This was planned to involve: 1) Indepth interviews with policy makers in Uganda in order to understand the role played by the MoH in development of policies and improvement of the quality of care for OPs. 2) In-depth interviews within the health facilities with OPs who had sought health care, and in the communities with OPs who felt they needed health care but had not sought health care from the health facilities in order to understand factors at individual, family/community, and health system level that influence their health care access and utilization. 3) Focus group discussions with members of the communities in order to understand the societal and health system factors that influence the availability of health care for OPs. 4) In-depth interviews with HWs to explore their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding the care of OPs. 5) Observational method in order to document what exactly happens when OPs interact with HWs. 6) Quantitative study using structured questions to determine what health services were provided at the PCFs, the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs, and the perceptions of OPs of the services they received from the PCFs. And 7) quantitative study through review of records to assess the caseload due to OPs and the common ailments the OPs were diagnosed with. However, due to time and financial constraints, only quantitative data were collected; focussing only on the services that were expected to be in the minimum health care package and on the health system and individual level factors that influence health care for OPs (Figure 2). We plan to do the qualitative studies after the DrPH.

The study was a cross-sectional survey with four major components:

- Structured interviews with the in-charges of the PCFs to determine what health care was provided at their facility.
- 2) Analysis of routine outpatient statistics to determine the absolute and relative caseloads due to OPs and the common ailments diagnosed among OPs.
- 3) Structured interviews with the HWs to determine their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding caring for OPs.
- 4) Structured exit interviews with OPs to determine how they were treated at the PCF and their perceptions of the care they received from the facility. In order to understand whether the treatment received by OPs differed with that of other adult patients, exit interviews were also conducted with younger adults.

3.4. Study setting

The study was conducted in PCFs³ in Uganda. The 2013 mid-year population estimates of the districts ranged from 159,800 to 801,400¹⁷². As in many parts of Uganda, most of the population in the study districts is poor and lives in rural areas where subsistence farming is the main economic activity. Other economic activities include small-scale trading and animal rearing. The roads within the districts are generally poor and difficult to navigate during the rainy seasons. Public transport in the rural areas is scarce and relatively expensive. Men often ride bicycles while women, often with babies on their backs and luggage on their heads, walk. As in many parts of the country, PCFs are the main source of health care in the rural areas of the districts.

³ PCFs have been described in section 1.6.7, pages 25-25



Figure 4: Map of Uganda showing the study districts

Key: study districts are shaded

3.5. Study population

The study included 48 functional government PCFs in 8 districts across the four geographical zones of Uganda (Figure 4), 160 HWs, 256 OPs aged 50+ years, and 96 younger adults aged 35-49 years. These numbers were the maximum feasible.

3.6. Precision estimates for study samples

The precision of the point estimates depended on the sample size, the true proportion, and the design effect (DEFF)²⁰⁹. The DEFF is a measure of the effect of the multistage sampling

design on the precision, and depends on the amount of clustering in the population (measured by the intra-cluster correlation coefficient). An estimate of the DEFF was obtained using STATA svy commands. To estimate the absolute proportion of PCFs that reported availability of a specific service with the sample size of 48 PCFs, the precision for a range of true proportions and a range of design effects is shown in table 6. In the table, a precision of 14.1 for example means that we could estimate the proportion providing a particular service to ±14.1% with 95% confidence. The precision for a proportion of 60% is the same as that for 40%, for a proportion of 70% is the same as for 30% etc. Hence, if the design effect was 3 and the true proportion providing the service was 30%, the study would have a precision of 22.5, or a 95% chance of estimating it between 7.5% and 52.5%.

Table 6: Estimate of the precision for the absolute proportion of PCF providing serviceswith sample size of 48 PCFs

	Design effect (DEFF)			
True proportion (%)	1	1.5	2	3
20	11.3	13.9	16.0	19.6
30	13.0	15.9	18.3	22.5
40	13.9	17.0	19.6	24.0
50	14.1	17.3	20.0	24.5

With a mean sample size of 3 HWs per PCF (total 160 HWs), table 7 shows the precision with which the true proportion of HWs would have mentioned a given action taken when an OP visits the PCF would be estimated, for a range of true proportions and DEFFs.

Table 7: Precision estimate for absolute proportion of health workers reporting a giver	۱
knowledge, attitude or practice	

	Design effect (DEFF)		
True proportion (%)	1.5	2	3	4
20	7.6	8.8	10.7	12.4
30	8.7	10.0	12.3	14.2
40	9.3	10.7	13.1	15.2
50	9.5	11.0	13.4	15.5

With a mean sample size of 5 OPs per PCF (256 OPs in total), table 8 shows the precision with which the proportion of OPs who responded positively to questions related to their

treatment and perceptions of the health services can be estimated, for a range of true proportions and design effects.

	Design Effect (DEFF)					
Proportion (%)	1.5	2	3	4		
20	6.0	6.9	8.5	9.8		
30	6.9	7.9	9.7	11.2		
40	7.4	8.5	10.4	12.0		
50	7.5	8.7	10.6	12.3		

Table 8: Precision estimates for the absolute proportion of OPs responding positively to questions about health care perception, with a sample size of 256 OPs

3.7. Selection of the study participants

Study participants were selected through multistage stratified random sampling. First, Uganda was stratified into four geographical zones: Northern, Eastern, Central and Western – zones that are used in government reports. To select the PCFs, an independent 2-stage sample was then taken from each geographical zone. At the first stage, two districts were sampled from each zone and at the second stage PCFs were sampled from each district as shown in Figure 5. Within each PCF, interviewees were then sampled as described below.

Sampling of the districts and primary care facilities

In December 2012, an up-to-date list (sampling frame) of all districts with their health care facilities was obtained from the MoH in Uganda. The list consisted of 112 districts and 5,073 health care facilities. Any currently functional government PCFs were potentially eligible for inclusion in the study. A total of 136 Government PCFs that were reported by MoH to be closed, under construction or whose functional status was not reported were excluded. Hospitals and all private facilities (private-not-for-profit and private-for-profit facilities) were also excluded from the sampling frame. Private facilities were excluded because, although private-for-profit facilities formed a third (30%) of the PCFs in the country, nearly all (90%) were located in one district – Kampala district, and there were none in 89 (79%) of the districts. On the other hand, private-not-for-profit facilities made up only 15% of the PCFs in Uganda. Owing to the small number of such facilities, it would not be possible to make any meaningful conclusions about any differences that might be observed between government and private facilities.

A total of 2,560 government PCFs in 112 districts were therefore included in the sampling frame. These included 166 PCF IVs, 868 PCF IIIs and 1,526 PCF IIs. Two districts were selected from each geographical zone.

The districts were selected based on probability proportional to size; with size being the total number of eligible PCFs in the district. A total of 8 districts were selected as follows: All districts in each geographical zone were listed in geographical order together with the number of their PCFs that met the inclusion criteria. A running cumulative total of PCFs in each geographical zone was then calculated. A sampling interval was then calculated as: cumulative total /2 districts. A random number (random start) was chosen between 1 and the sampling interval. The district whose cumulative total just exceeded the random start, and the second district was chosen as the one whose cumulative total just exceeded this value.

Within each district, PCFs were then stratified by level (PCF IV, PCF III and PCF II) and one PCF IV, two PCF IIIs, and three PCF IIs were randomly sampled from each stratum (Annex 9.3). However one of the districts in Northern Uganda (Agago district) did not have a PCF IV. Three PCF IIIs, instead of two, were therefore selected in that district.

Sampling of health workers

In the context of the interviews with the HWs, a HW was defined as: "someone who officially (by employment, secondment or assignment) makes diagnoses and prescribes or provides treatment to patients at the facility". (In the context of the interviews with the OPs and younger adults however, a HW was defined as: "someone who officially (by appointment, secondment or assignment) works at the facility including support staff").

A total of six HWs in each PCF IV, four in each PCF III, and two in each PCF II were sampled. Sampling was done from a list of HWs who were present in the outpatient department of the PCF during the week of data collection, obtained from the "in-charge". Where there were more eligible HWs than the target number, simple random sampling was done in STATA to select the target number. Where the number of eligible HWs was equal to or less than the target number, all were sampled. Sampled HWs were then approached by the interviewers, given information about the study, and invited to participate. Interview schedules were then made with HWs who agreed to participate so that the interviews did not interfere too much with their routine activities.

No replacements were made for refusals. Instead, informed by the experiences during the pilot study where 20% of the sampled HWs refused to participate, effort was put into reducing the refusal rates. Prior to the commencement of data collection, the PI wrote letters to District Health Officers of the sampled districts, and through the District Health Officers to the in-charges of the sampled PCFs to explain the importance and dates of the study, and encouraged them to participate. At the commencement of data collection activities, interviewers paid a courtesy call to register their presence and build a rapport with the District Health Officers and the in-charges. We made sure that in-charges always introduced the interviewers to the study participants. During supervisory visits, the PI also paid a courtesy call to the District Health Officers and in-charges and further discussed the importance of the study with them.

Sampling of older persons

A total of eight OPs in each PCF IV, six in each PCF III and four in each PCF II were selected. OPs were sampled from the listings of those attending outpatient services during the days of data collection. *Firstly*, the interviewers gave a general talk about the study to all patients who were in the waiting area of the outpatient department. OPs were then asked to identify themselves and move to one side, making sure they did not lose their position in the queue. OPs who were too sick or unable to give consent for any reason were excluded by the interviewers. The number of eligible OPs was then counted and each OP was given a number on a piece of paper as an identifier. The same numbers were sent to the PI for sampling.

Where the number of OPs was more than the target sample, simple random sampling was done in stata to select the target sample. No replacements were made for refusals. Where the number of OPs was equal to or less than the target sample, all were sampled and those who arrived afterwards were included in the study in order of their arrival (with no replacement for refusal) until the sample size was achieved. If the sample size was not achieved on day 1, the sampling process was repeated on the subsequent day(s). Sampling was done before OPs were seen by the HWs. In order not to bias the practices of the HWs too much, HWs were not told which patients had been sampled. All sampled OPs were interviewed on the same day.

Sampling of younger adults

In each PCF, two younger adults were sampled. Sampling was done as described for OPs.

Figure 5: Flow chart of the stratified multistage sampling



Key:

PSU = Primary Sampling Units SSU = Secondary Sampling Units

**PCF level is also a stratum

3.8. Questionnaire development and data collection methods

General overview

A four-part tool was developed to collect data, namely: service availability questionnaire, caseload assessment form, a questionnaire for assessing the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs, and a questionnaire for assessing the perceptions of OPs and younger adults (Annex 9.4). The questionnaires were developed by the PI in consultation with the supervisors and advisors and based on the existing tools and issues identified during the pilot study. The specific questions included in the questionnaire were informed by the services that were expected to be in the minimum health care package for OPs and by health system and individual level factors in the conceptual framework that influence their availability (Figure 2). The questions for interviews with OPs and younger adults were translated into the local languages and back translated into English by two groups of translators. The content of the translated and back translated questionnaire were compared and necessary adjustments were made. The questions were tested during the pilot study and adjusted in the light of the experience during the pilot study. Data were collected over a two-month period from early April to early June 2013. Data collection took three days in PCF II, four days in PCF III and five days in PCF IV. All data were collected within the PCFpremises. Details of questionnaire development and data collection methods are as follows:

Availability of services

Structured interviews were conducted with the in-charges of the PCFs to determine whether their PCFs provided services that were expected to be in the minimum health care package for OPs. The structured questions (annex 9.4.1) were developed based on WHO's recommendations on "service availability and readiness assessment"²¹⁰. The concept of "service availability and readiness assessment" was developed by WHO to assess whether a health facility meets the required conditions to support the provision of basic or specific services. Service availability refers to the physical presence of the delivery of services²¹⁰. Service readiness meanwhile refers to the capacity of a facility to provide a particular service measured through the availability of the important basic items such as trained staff, guidelines, equipment, and diagnostic services²¹⁰. The specific questions from the "service availability and readiness assessment" tool included in the questionnaire were informed by literature review on what specific services were expected to be in the minimum health care package for OPs in SSA. Questions that were thought to be important, based on the literature review, but were not in the "service availability and readiness assessment" tool were also added to the questionnaire by the PI.

Data were collected on the characteristics of the PCFs and on the availability of services for: 1) NCDs (cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer, mental and neuropsychiatric disorders, vision problems and hearing problems) and 2) STIs (non-HIV STI services, HIV services, HIV counseling and testing services, and life-long antiretroviral treatment services). Improvement of these services for the care of OPs was specifically recommended by the *Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing (MIPAA)*^{119, 121} and by the *Global Forum on Ageing in the* 21st *Century*¹¹ because as discussed in section 1.3, OPs are vulnerable to these health problems^{17, 18, 20,24, 59-61}. Although OPs in SSA also face an increased risk of other infectious illnesses¹³, availability was not assessed for the other infectious illnesses because our experience and literature available^{109, 139, 151, 152, 161} indicated that services for infectious illnesses were available at the PCFs.

Data were also collected on the availability of basic items that are necessary for delivering the specific services to OPs, namely: equipment, guidelines, and drugs, staff that had received specific training to care for the diseases, laboratory services, and comfort amenities. The basic items of the equipment and laboratory services included in the questionnaire was informed by our clinical knowledge of what basic equipment and laboratory services are vital for offering the specific services to Ops in SSA. The comfort amenities included in the questionnaire meanwhile were based on WHO's recommendation on creating age-friendly physical environments for OPs^{11, 92, 113}. For all these items where it was potentially feasible, the interview responses were confirmed by direct observation. Both the interview response and observation results were recorded.

Caseload due to older persons

Data for assessment of absolute and relative caseload due to OPs were obtained through transcription of health facility records onto a form (Annex 9.4.2). The form was developed based on the health management information system of the MoH in Uganda²¹¹. Data

transcribed were the number, age and sex of all patients who attended the PCFs. Data transcription was based on visits rather than on the number of discrete patients – with each patient-visit recorded as a new visit. Basing the analysis on the number of patient-visits was logical because each visit, whether new or a revisit, added to the amount of work done by a PCF. The age-groups used included 0-4 years, 5-14 years, 15-34 years, 35-49 years, 50-59 years, 60-79 years and 80+ years. The age-groups 0-4 years to 35-49 years are those often used by MoH for its health reports. Data for OPs are never specifically reported by the MoH. The grouping from age 50 years and above was therefore arbitrary.

Data were also transcribed on diseases OPs ≥50 years were diagnosed with and the sex and age of the OPs. Each disease diagnosis was counted separately e.g. if an OP was diagnosed with three diseases, then the number of diseases counted would be three. If the same disease was diagnosed as in the previous visit for the same patient, this duplicate diagnosis was not transcribed. Since the aim was to assess the prevalence of diseases diagnosed among OPs, disease records for patients <50 years were not transcribed. Data were transcribed separately for each month and for each outpatient clinic.

Knowledge of health workers of the common ailments that affect older persons

Structured interviews with multiple choice questions were conducted with the HWs to obtain data on their knowledge of the common ailments that affect OPs. Tools for assessing the knowledge of HWs of the common ailments affecting OPs are currently unavailable. Most studies^{162, 212-215} use *Palmore's facts on ageing quiz*¹⁶⁴ to assess knowledge of geriatrics among HWs or nursing students. The *Palmore's facts on ageing quiz* is a validated tool that has been used in high income countries¹⁶⁴. However, the tool could not be used for the current study because it focuses more on the social aspects of ageing than on the common diseases in OPs. We also could not use tools such as Alzheimer's Disease Knowledge Scale (ADKS)²¹⁶ because they focus on a specific disease. We therefore developed a 34-item tool, requiring a "true", "false" and "I don't know" answer, to assess the knowledge of HWs (Annex 9.4.3). The questions were developed from the social gerontology manual for Uganda²¹⁷ that colleagues and I developed.

Attitudes of health workers towards older persons

To assess attitudes of HWs towards OPs, structured interviews were conducted with the HWs using a 23-item tool with a 5-point Likert scale (Annex 9.4.3). Thirteen of the items expressed negative sentiments while ten expressed positive sentiments towards OPs. Some of the items were adapted from *Kogan's attitude towards older people scale* ¹⁶⁵ and *Palmore's facts on ageing quiz*^{164, 218} while others were derived from known stereotypes and feelings about OPs among HWs in Uganda obtained during the pilot study. The *Kogan's attitude towards older people scale* ¹⁶⁵ is a validated tool that measures attitudes towards OPs and has been used by several studies in high income countries^{104, 219-229}. However, quite a substantial number of the questions in the *Kogan's attitude towards older people scale* – such as those asking about "one-tenth of OPs living in nursing homes", "aged drivers causing few accidents", "population of OPs aged 65 years now being 20% of USA's population", and "poverty line as defined by US federal government"¹⁶⁵ – are inapplicable to Uganda because there are for example no residential homes for OPs in Uganda and very few OPs own or drive cars.

Practices of health workers regarding the care of older persons

Structured interviews with Likert-scale format questions (Annex 9.4.3) were conducted with the HWs to assess their practices regarding the care of OPs. Development of the study questions were based on WHO's recommendations on *"health system responsiveness"*⁹³. As discussed in section 1.3, the concept of health system responsiveness was developed by WHO "to assess, monitor and raise awareness of how people are treated when seeking health care" ⁹³. The assessment of health system responsiveness is based on core domains which characterize patients' interaction with the health system, namely: dignity, prompt attention, and clarity of communication, autonomy, choice of provider and access to social support. However, "access to social support" and "choice of provider" were not assessed in the current study because assessment of access to social support is only done for inpatients⁹³ (but the current study was done among outpatients) while assessment of choice of provider is done in situations where there is "gatekeeping" or health insurance schemes but in Uganda there is currently no "gatekeeping" or insurance schemes in the public health services. Data were collected on how often, during the previous 12 months, the HWs:

- Treated patients (OPs and younger adults) with dignity. The questions in this domain assessed whether HWs often welcomed patients to the facility, offered them seats, addressed or talked to them respectfully, never shouted at them, never made mean comments about them, never verbally abused or insulted the patients, asked for permission of patients before carrying out physical examination, and carried out physical examination in a respectful way.
- 2) Involved patients in key decisions regarding their (patients') care (autonomy). The questions in this domain assessed whether HWs often involved patients in discussions on what treatment the patients should receive and gave consideration to patients' views about their treatment and management plan.
- 3) Promptly attended to patients. The questions in this domain assessed whether HWs often attended to patients as soon as the patients arrived at the facility and whether, whenever possible, invited the patients to be seen ahead of the other patients even if they arrived late.
- 4) Ensured privacy of patients during medical consultations, and confidentiality of their medical information. The questions in this domain assessed whether HWs often attended to patients in a room where people who are not involved in their care could see or hear them with the patients, and whether the HWs often kept medical records confidential.
- 5) Communicated to patients in a manner that would enable the patients to understand their illness and its management. Questions in this domain assessed whether HWs often explained to patients what the patients were suffering from and what treatment the patients should receive, gave patients as much time as the patients would desire to explain their illness, took as much time as was necessary to explain to patients their illness, and allowed or encouraged patients to ask questions about their illness.

Two additional domains were included by the PI to assess practices of HW related to providing health education to patients and routinely screening patients for diseases. In the domain of health education and promotion, the questions assessed whether HWs often specifically targeted patients for health education and promotion activities about NCDs, STIs such as HIV, and elder abuse. In the domain of routine screening for diseases, the questions assessed whether HWs often examined patients, specifically encouraged patients to go for HIV counselling and testing, examined them for signs of abuse whenever they suspected this, and screened them for NCDs and their risk factors.

Assessment of what older persons said about their treatment and their perceptions of the services

Assessment of the treatment the OPs and younger adults said they received from the PCFs was done as a proxy assessment of HW-practices. Data were collected through exit interviews with the OPs and younger adults using structured questions (Annex 9.4.4). As was the case with the practices of HWs, the questions for the interviews with OPs were developed based on WHO's recommendations on health system responsiveness⁹³. The same domains used to assess the practices of HWs were also used to assess the perspectives of the patients about their treatment. While the questions used for interviews with HWs assessed how often the HWs provided services to the patients; the questions used for interviews with the patients assessed how often the patients received the specific services. One additional domain on the cost of treatment was included in the questionnaire to assess if patients incurred financial costs through official or unofficial (under-the-table) payment to HWs.

To assess the perceptions of the patients of the services they received from the PCFs, patients were asked to rate as "very poor", "poor", "neither-poor-nor-good", "good", or "very good" their treatment related to dignity, prompt attention, autonomy, privacy and confidentiality, communication, and disease screening. Patients were also asked to give an overall rating for all the services they had received from the PCFs including the way they were treated by any member of the staff.

3.9. Recruitment and training of interviewers

After sampling of the districts, an internal advert for positions for field interviewers was put within MRC/UVRI in the second week of March 2013. Uganda is ethnically diverse, with each district in most cases having its own local language or dialect. Even though English is the official language, a relatively small proportion of the population speaks it. Therefore, in order to address language barrier, proficiency in English and in the local language of the

sampled districts were key requirements. Applicants also needed to have 1) a minimum of diploma in a medical field, social sciences, or humanities, 2) good communication skills, and 3) previous experience in data collection. 17 out of 21 applicants were shortlisted and interviewed. The interview panel comprised the PI, and two other senior staff of MRC/UVRI. Eight interviewers were recruited, one for each district.

The initial aim was to have each interviewer collect data from his/her district of origin but this would introduce an interviewer bias²³⁰. A decision was taken by the study team to pair up the interviewers so that each interviewer collected data from two districts; with the interviewer who did not speak the local language of that district only interviewing participants who were able to speak English. Data collection was therefore done in two phases; with phase one covering four districts and phase two covering the remaining four districts.

The interviewers were trained by the PI for seven days on questionnaire content and data collection methods. An interview guide developed by the PI was used for the training. The goal of the training was to enable the interviewers to correctly obtain data. The major areas covered during the training were:

- Information about the study (purpose and importance).
- Key steps required to obtain informed consent.
- Key steps required to select the study participants.
- How to correctly conduct the interviews e.g.:
 - > How to correctly ask each of the questions in the questionnaire.
 - > How to probe for appropriate response.
 - How to correctly record the answers.
 - > How interviewers should conduct themselves during interviews.

The main methods used for the training included lectures, brainstorming, and practical (e.g. participants practiced the process of obtaining informed consent, they interviewed each other, and received feedback on their performance from fellow participants and the PI). Generally, by the end of the training, the interviewers were able to:

• Explain the key terms used in the study.

- Explain the purpose and importance of the study.
- Explain and follow the key steps required to obtain informed consent.
- Explain the criteria and correctly follow the process of sampling study participants.
- Correctly ask each of the questions in the questionnaires, probe for appropriate responses and correctly record the answers.

3.10. Remuneration of interviewers

In addition to their salary, the interviewers were given money for accommodation, meals transport and airtime. During data collection therefore, interviewers got accommodation closer to the PCF until data collection or days of data collection in that PCF were completed. The interviewers used the airtime given to them to contact the PI on issues that were not clear to them.

3.11. Coordination and Supervision of data collection

Coordination and supervision of data collection was done by the PI who was often hundreds of kilometres away from the field sites. Contact with the interviewers was maintained through telephone calls. Supervisory visits to each district lasting two days were made by the PI to directly observe the data collection activities. The PI was supervised by Prof. David Ross (LSHTM) and co-supervised by Prof. Janet Seeley (MRC/UVRI and University of East Anglia). Prof Ross also made a 3-day supervisory visit to Uganda. During his visit he, together with Prof. Janet Seeley and the PI, visited one of the study sites (in Mpigi district) to directly observe the data collection activities. Both Prof. Ross and Prof. Seeley were happy with the way data were being collected.

3.12. Ethical issues

Ethics approvals

The study received ethics approvals from LSHTM, Uganda Virus Research Institute, Uganda National Council for Science and Technology, the President's office, and MoH.

Obtaining informed consent

All study participants gave written informed consent before interviews. Obtaining informed consent was the sole responsibility of the interviewers. Before obtaining a written informed

consent, the interviewers gave study participants a general talk about the purpose of the study and importance of the participants taking part in the study if selected. Questions participants had were answered by the interviewers or the answers were sought by the interviewers from the PI. Sampled study participants were then given an information sheet to read in the language the participants said they read and understood very well. For participants who could not read, the information sheet was read and explained to them by the interviewers. The major areas covered in the information sheet included:

- Information about the study i.e. what the study was about, why the study was important, who the people doing the study were, what the relevance of the study to the participant and others was, who the people to be interviewed were, and why it was important for participants to take part in the study.
- Information about confidentiality i.e. that, the information participants gave would only be accessed or known by people who were directly involved in the study; that no one would know about the time, date, and place of interview ; that the participant's name would not be written anywhere; and that no one would know who gave the responses.
- Information about their right to refuse to participate i.e. that participation was voluntary. That even if they consented to participate in the study, they could decide to withdraw anytime they felt like. That no one would be told that they had withdrawn from the study and they would not suffer any consequences.

Participants who agreed to participate after reading the information sheet where then given consent forms to read and sign. The consent form was read and explained to those who did not know how to read. Participants consented by putting their signature or thumb print on two copies of the consent form. One copy of the consent form, together with the information sheet, was given to the study participant to keep while the interviewers retained the other copy.

Ethical considerations in interviewing older persons

The interviews will have increased the expectations of OPs of better services at the PCFs. However the questions used during the interviews were not sensitive to detecting OPs who might have wanted or needed services that they didn't receive from the PCFs, and to detecting bad behaviour of HWs with regard to caring for OPs. The interviewers were also not trained to identify OPs who were in need of services that they didn't get from the PCFs and detect maltreatment of OPs by HWs. Because the aim of this study is to contribute to improvements in the care of OPs, the candidate will publish the findings of the study in international journals to draw the attention of the scientific community and civil society organisations to the gaps /weaknesses in the care of OPs. The candidate will also develop a policy brief intended for officials in the MOH, MOGLSD, and the parliamentary committee on disability and social protection to draw their attention to the gaps/weaknesses. The district and health facilities that participated in the study will receive comprehensive written feedback on the strengths and weaknesses/gaps in the care that OPs received from their facilities. The feedback will succinctly point out areas of focus for quality improvement and how such improvement can be achieved. The candidate has already started writing the articles for publication and the feedback to the districts and health facilities.

Before the start of this study, the candidate held separate meetings about the study with the Minister for Health, Director General of Health Services, Commissioner for Clinical Services and Assistant Commissioner in charge of NCD control in the MoH, and with the Director of Social Protection in the MoGLSD. All these individuals gave their support for the study and were keen to receive the report and act on its recommendations. The MoH also gave a written approval for the study. The candidate will therefore hold a follow-up meeting with these individuals to share the findings and recommendations of the study with them and ask them about what they think is the best way forward. If these informal talks do not give an assurance that the care of OPs will improve, the candidate will mobilise and build a coalition of groups who want to bring change in the care of OPs and push for such change using the various strategies for setting a policy agenda. This will involve a policy-level analysis to identify the sources and reasons of resistance and development of appropriate strategies to counter them.

As discussed in section 1.5.2, the lack of central role played by the MoH in developing policies for OPs is one of the most important factors contributing to the major gaps and weaknesses in the care OPs in Uganda. The candidate will therefore make a key recommendation for the MoH to play a central role in development of policies for OPs.

51

Such a recommendation may however be resisted by both ministries. The MoGLSD may resist the recommendation because they currently receive all the funds for the care of OPs and may not want to let go of these funds. MoH on the other hand may resist the recommendation on the ground that they do not have the funds to care for OPs. Strategies outlined above will be used to get buy-in from both Ministries.

It is however likely that the MoH will not resist the recommendations on the specific components of the services in the minimum health care package for OPs that should be improved as the adjustments required are minimal and can be done with little or no additional cost. Similarly, the change expected at the district and facility level will be minimal and less disruptive than the change expected at the Ministry level as it will mainly require HWs to improve their attitudes and practices regarding the care of OPs. We therefore do not anticipate much resistance from the districts and health facilities. Indeed, some HWs may use the excuse of the high caseload at the facilities to resist change. We are planning further studies to develop and evaluate simple tools that will enable the HWs to quickly screen OPs for the common ailments associated with ageing and provide them with appropriate care.

3.13. Funding

Funding for the study was received from WHO.

3.14. Data management

Questionnaires from the field were sent weekly to the PI through courier services operated by the public bus companies. Upon arrival, the questionnaires were manually checked by the PI for completeness and erroneous inputs such as typos, missing data, inconsistency and out of range entries. Where it was possible, the PI contacted the interviewers or the study participants (especially the HWs) to correct any errors; otherwise the data with errors were treated as missing data. The already checked questionnaires were then handed over to a Senior Data Manager in the statistics department of MRC/UVRI for data entry. A database was created and maintained in MS-ACCESS by the Senior Data Manager. All completed questionnaires were coded and double-entered into the database and kept under the same security arrangements of MRC/UVRI. Data entry was done by the Data Entry Officers and supervised by the Senior Data Manager. Once entered, data were checked in STATA 11.0 for missing, inconsistent, out-of-range, and erroneous entries such as typos²³¹. Where it was possible, the errors were corrected as described above; otherwise data with erroneous entries were treated as missing data.

3.15. The role of the candidate

With guidance from the supervisors and advisors, the candidate conceived and designed the study, wrote a grant proposal to fund the study, obtained approvals for the study, and held meetings with key officials from MoH and MoGLSD about the study. The candidate designed the questionnaires, questionnaire guides and the interviewer training manual, and recruited and trained the interviewers. In addition to supervising and coordinating the process of data collection, the candidate also interviewed study participants. Conducting interviews helped the candidate to compare responses he obtained with responses obtained by the other interviewers and address any deficiencies revealed by this analysis. Lastly, the candidate, cleaned data, conducted the analyses and wrote the study report and this thesis.

3.16. Data analysis

General overview

All analysis were carried out in STATA version 11.0 using methods that are appropriate for complex multistage surveys; adjusting for stratum (geographical zone and PCF level), and taking into account clustering at the district and PCF level. Sampling weights were applied to reflect the probability of selection at each stage of the sampling design. The Stata commands for survey data were used for all analyses. A detailed statistical analysis plan was developed before data analysis began.

Categorical variables were summarised as frequencies, proportions and 95% confidence intervals. Continuous variables were summarised by the mean and 95% confidence interval if normally distributed or median (IQR) if the distribution was skewed. Answers which were reported by the participant as "don't know" were summarised with n (%), but then treated as missing data for modelling purposes. Where categorical variables had some categories with low frequency, categories were combined for analysis where appropriate.

For each outcome of interest, associations with characteristics of the PCFs and of the study participants were investigated. In the initial unadjusted analysis, proportions were compared using design-corrected Chi-squared tests and means were compared using Ftests. Multivariable logistic (for binary outcomes) or linear (for continuous outcomes) regression models were used to examine associations with factors of interest, adjusting for potential confounders. PCF level, PFC location (urban/rural) and geographical zone were considered a priori confounders and adjusted for in all multivariable models.

For the multivariable analyses of knowledge, attitudes and practices of HW, and of OP perceptions and treatment, we applied a conceptual framework approach to evaluate the association of proximate determinants of the outcome, adjusted for more distal factors. This approach involves building a conceptual framework with explanatory variables assigned to several hierarchical levels. A general description of the modelling process is as follows: Variables at the most distal level (e.g. PCF characteristics) were assessed first; those that were associated with the outcome at p<0.10 were included in a multivariable regression

model and retained if they remained associated at p<0.10. Then, variables at the second level (less distal) were added to the model one by one and retained if they remained associated at p<0.10, after adjusting for more distal characteristics. Associations with variables at more proximate levels of the framework were determined in a similar way. This strategy allowed us to assess the effects of variables at each level of the framework, adjusted for more distal variables. A final model was obtained by excluding variables one at a time until all remaining variables were associated at p<0.10. For completeness, each of the omitted covariates were added to the final model to check that there were no other effects which were previously missed due to negative confounding (retaining those with p<0.10).

Analysis of availability of services

The main outcome was the proportion of PCFs that had all the services we enquired about. The proportion of PCFs with each of the services and items that are necessary for delivering the services was also reported.

Caseload due to older persons

The absolute number of visits made by OPs aged 50+ years (absolute caseload) and as a proportion of visits made by all patients (relative caseload) was calculated overall, and stratified by age-group, sex, PCF level, PCF location, and special clinics. PCF attendance per year of age was calculated by dividing the total number of attendances within an age range by the number of years of age in that range.

The prevalence of each disease diagnosis among OPs was determined. Based on the categories used in the global burden of disease report (WHO 2004 pg. 60-64)¹⁶, diseases were then grouped into three broad categories, namely: "infectious illnesses", "NCDs", and "injuries". The prevalence of each disease category was then calculated.

Attitudes of health workers

To assess the attitudes of HWs towards OPs, the proportion of HWs with negative, neutral, and positive attitudes was calculated and factors associated with the mean scores were examined. The proportions were calculated as follows: First, scores were coded from 1-5, with the highest score "5" representing positive attitudes and the lowest score "1" representing negative attitudes. For the 23 questions, the highest potential score a participant could achieve was 115 points (i.e. 23x5) and the lowest was 23 points (i.e. 23x1). A participant who consistently scored at least 4 points on each question was classified as having positive attitudes towards OPs (i.e. at least 4 x 23 = 92 points). A participant who consistently scored no more than 2 points on each question was classified as having negative attitudes (i.e. 2 x 23 = 46 points). A participant who scored between 2 and 4 points on each question was classified as having negative, neutral and positive attitudes was reported overall together with the 95% CI. Nearly all (97%) of the HWs were found to have neutral attitudes, with only 2% having positive attitudes; therefore the number was too small to justify examining the predictors of a positive attitude. Instead, the association of factors with the mean overall attitude score was examined using linear regression.

Knowledge of health workers

To assess the knowledge of HWs of the common ailments affecting OPs, the proportion of HWs with poor, satisfactory, and good knowledge was calculated and factors associated with the mean overall score were examined. 1 point was awarded to each correct answer and 0 point to each wrong or "I don't know" answer. For the 34 questions, the highest potential score a participant could achieve was 34 and lowest was 0. Due to the lack of a standardised tool that could be used to meet our study objective, classification of knowledge into "poor", "satisfactory" and "good" was based on the guidance provided by six senior medical officials in Uganda who were asked to independently set the cut-off points based on their perceived clarity of the questions and how easy they thought the questions were to answer. All the six thought the questions were easy and consequently set the cutoffs for an acceptable score quite high (Table 9). Therefore, using the cut-off points as a guide, we classified a participant who scored 0-24 points as having poor knowledge. The proportion of HWs with poor, satisfactory and good knowledge was calculated. The association of factors with the mean overall score was examined using linear regression.
	Poor	Satisfactory	Good
MRC/UVRI staff 1	<60%	60-80%	>80%
MRC/UVRI staff 2	<70%	70-80%	>80%
MRC/UVRI staff 3	<75%	75-90%	>90%
Tutor Nurses' training school	<50	50-75	>75
Lecturer Makerere University medical school	<80	80-90	>90
District Health Officer (supervisor of PCFs)	<60	60-75	>75
Average scores	<65.8%		>81.7%

Table 9: How senior medical officials would classify knowledge as poor, satisfactory and good had they adminstered the questions themselves

Practices of health workers

To assess HW practices related to the care of OPs, the proportion of HWs with bad, neitherbad-nor-good, and good practices was calculated and factors associated with the mean overall score were examined. Scores for each response were coded from 1-4, with the highest score (4) representing a good practice and lowest score (1) representing a bad practice. The highest potential achievable score for the 33 questions was 132 points (4x33) and lowest was 33 points (1x33). A HW who consistently scored at least 3 points for each question (or at least 99 points (3x33) for all the questions) was classified as having good practices. A HW who consistently scored no more than 2 points for each question (or at most 66 points (2x33) for all the questions) was classified as having bad practices. A HW was classified as having neither-bad-nor-good practice if his/her overall score was between 66 and 99 points. The proportion of HWs with good, neither-bad-nor-good, and bad practices regarding the care of younger adults aged 35-49 years, OPs aged 50-59 years and OPs aged 60+ years was calculated overall and then by the core domains. A paired analysis was carried out to examine the differences in overall practice score comparing the treatment of younger adults, OPs aged 50-59 years and OPs aged 60+ years. Linear regression was used to examine the association of factors with the mean overall score of practices related to the care of OPs aged 50-59 years and OPs aged ≥60 years. However, because the association of factors with the mean overall score of practices related to the care of OPs 50-59 years (Annex 9.7) was similar to that of OPs \geq 60 years, only the results for OPs \geq 60 years was shown.

How older persons and younger adults were treated at the primary care facilities

First, the proportion of OPs and younger adults that received poor, neither-poor-nor-good, and good treatment was calculated. Analysis was similar to the analysis of HW practices (section 3.15.6). For the 41 questions, the highest potential score a participant could achieve was 164 points (4x41) and the lowest was 41 points (1x41). A score from 41-82 was classified as poor treatment, 83-122 as neither-bad-nor-good treatment, and 123-164 as good treatment. The proportion of OPs and younger adults that received poor, neither-poor-nor-good, and good treatment was calculated overall, and then by the core domains. Linear regression was used to examine whether the mean treatment score for OPs differed from the score for younger adults. The association of factors with the mean overall score for OPs was examined in a linear regression.

Perceptions of older persons and younger adults of the care they received from the primary care facilities

To assess the perceptions of the OPs and younger adults, the proportions of OPs with poor, neither-poor-nor-good and good perceptions was calculated and factors associated with the perceptions of OPs was examined. Analysis was similar to the analysis of HW attitudes (section 3.15.4). For the 7 questions, the total potential score a participant could achieve was 35 points and the lowest was 7 points. A score from 7-14 points was classified as poor, 15-27 as neither-poor-nor-good, and 28-35 as good perceptions. The proportion with poor, neither-poor-nor-good, and good perceptions was calculated overall, and then stratified by PCF level, urban/rural location, and geographical zone. The mean score for each domain was calculated to examine the variations in the perceptions by the domain. Linear regression was used to examine whether the mean perception score for OPs differed from the score for younger adults. The association of factors with the mean overall score for OPs was examined using linear regression.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1. Description of the primary care facilities

We aimed to survey 48 PCFs across 8 districts, two in each of the four geographical zones of Uganda (Northern, Eastern, Central and Western). This was achieved during the survey.

Table 10 describes the characteristics of the PCFs. Half (50%) of the PCFs surveyed were PCF IIs. The great majority of the PCFs (88%) were located in rural areas and of these, 4 (10%) were PCF IVs, 16 (38%) were PCF IIIs, and 22 (52%) were PCF IIs.

	Unweighted N ¹	Unweighted % ¹
Total number surveyed	48	100%
PCFs by level ²		
PCF IV (higher-level PCF)	7	15%
PCF III (mid-level PCF)	17	35%
PCF II (lower-level PCF)	24	50%
PCFs by geographical zones		
Northern Uganda	12	25%
Eastern Uganda	12	25%
Central Uganda	12	25%
Western Uganda	12	25%
PCFs by location		
Urban	6	13%
Rural	42	88%
PCFs by type of service		
Outpatient only	27	56%
Both outpatient and inpatient	21	44%

Table 10: Characteristics of the primary care facilities

¹The figures are unadjusted for the survey design. ²PCFs have been described in chapter 1 section 1.4.7, page 20

4.2. Availability of services

General overview



Figure 6: Mean percentage of services offered and the proportion of facilities that reported offering all services by facility level, rural/urban and geographical location

None of the facilities surveyed reported offering special geriatric care (Table 11). Of the nine specific services that were expected to be in the minimum health care package for OPs in Uganda and that were enquired about, only one in ten PCFs (9%; 95%CI: 4%, 21%) reported that they offered all of them (Figure 6), with the proportion that reported offering all the nine services being higher at PCF IV (45%; 95%CI: 16, 77) than at PCF III (5%; 95%CI: 1, 28) and PCF II (8%: 95%CI: 2, 27). This difference was statistically significant (p=0.03). There were no statistically significant differences in the proportion that reported offering all the nine services by rural/urban location (p=0.54) and geographical zone (p=0.20) (Annex 9.5.1). Overall, the PCFs offered on average 57% or five of the nine specific services that were enquired about (95%CI: 49%, 66%), with the mean decreasing with decreasing PCF level (Figure 6). This trend was statistically significant (coefficient for linear trend: -22; 95%CI: -32, -11; p-trend<0.001). Differences in the mean of services offered by urban/rural location and geographical zone were not statistically significant (p-values: 0.90 and 0.66, respectively). Generally, a higher proportion of PCFs reported offering services for STIs than for NCDs (Figure 7). Even within the specific disease domains, the proportion of facilities that reported offering services varied by the type of disease or service.





Services for non-communicable diseases

Overall, only 14% (95%CI: 7%, 25%) of the PCFs reported offering services for all six NCDs that were enquired about, with the proportion being higher at PCF IV (45%; 95%CI: 16%, 77%) than at PCF III (5%; 95%CI: 1%, 28%) and PCF II (16%: 95%CI: 7%, 33%) (Figure 8). This difference was of borderline statistical significance (p=0.06) and there were no significant differences by urban/rural location (p=0.93) and geographical zone (p=0.29).

Figure 8: The mean percentage of services offered and the proportion of facilities that reported offering services for all the NCDs that were enquired about



On average, the PCFs reported offering services for only three of the six NCDs (mean: 51% 95%CI: 41%, 60%), with the mean decreasing with decreasing PCF level (Figure 8). This trend was statistically significant (Coefficient for linear trend: -20; 95%CI: -33, -6; p-trend=0.01). There were no statistically significant differences in the mean by rural/urban location (p=0.68) and geographical zone (p=0.40).

As shown on figure 7, the availability of services differed by the type of NCD, with the proportion of PCFs that reported availability being highest for cardiovascular diseases (68%: 95%CI: 53%, 80%) and lowest for cancer (25%; 95%CI: 16%, 37%). Generally, the proportion of facilities that reported offering services for each NCD was highest in PCF IV and lowest in PCF II (Table 11). However, statistically significant differences were observed only for cardiovascular diseases (p<0.001), diabetes (p=0.01), and mental illness (p=0.01); with the odds of reporting the availability decreasing with decreasing PCF level for diabetes (OR for linear trend=0.22; 95%CI: 0.1, 0.7; p-trend=0.01) and mental illness (OR: 0.19, 95%CI: 0.1, 0.6, p-trend=0.01). The rural/urban differences in the proportion of facilities that reported offering services for each NCD were not statistically significant. Statistically significant geographical differences were only observed for cancer (p=0.04) and hearing problems (p=0.04) (Annex 9.5.1).

Availability of basic items for offering services for non-communicable diseases

Generally, the great majority of the facilities that reported offering services for each NCD also reported having guidelines and drugs (Figure 9), and in most facilities these items were seen by the study team (Table 11). In contrast however, the facilities generally lacked equipment and staff that had received specific training to care for the NCDs. The availability was particularly low for equipment for offering services for vision and hearing problems.



Figure 9: Percentage of facilities that reported offering services for non-communicable diseases and that had the necessary items for offering the services

Services for sexually transmitted infections

As shown on figure 7 and 10, only 42% of the PCFs (95%CI: 29, 57) reported that they offered all the three STI services that were enquired about, with the proportion decreasing with decreasing PCF level. This trend was statistically significant (OR for linear trend=0.13; 95%CI: 0.04, 0.4; p-trend<0.001). Urban/rural and geographical differences were however not statistically significant (p-values: 0.59 and 0.49, respectively) (Annex 9.5.1).

On average, the PCFs offered two of the three STI services (mean: 71%; 95%CI: 62%, 81%), with the mean decreasing with decreasing PCF level (Figure 10). This trend was statistically significant (Coefficient for linear trend: –26; 95%CI: –37%, –15%; p-trend<0.001). Rural/urban and geographical differences in the mean of STI services offered were not statistically significant (p-values 0.42 and 0.79, respectively) (Annex 9.5.1).

The proportion of facilities that reported offering services for STIs differed by the type of service, with the proportion being highest for non-HIV STIs (94%: 95%CI: 77%, 98%) and lowest for life-long antiretroviral treatment services (42%: 95%CI: 29%, 57%) (Figure 10). Statistically significant differences by facility level were observed for HIV counselling and testing (p=0.03) and life-long antiretroviral treatment services (p=0.001) (Table 11). For life-long antiretroviral treatment services (p=0.001) (Table 11). For life-long antiretroviral treatment services (p=0.001). As has been the case with most services, rural/urban and geographical differences in proportion of facilities reporting availability of STI services were not significant (Annex 9.5.1).





Availability of basic items for offering services for sexually transmitted infections

Generally, most of the facilities that reported offering STI services also reported having guidelines, drugs, and staff specifically trained to offer the service (Figure 11). In most cases, the guidelines and drugs were seen by the study team (Table 11). However, a low proportion of the facilities that offered non-HIV STI services reported offering tests for syphilis (43%; 95%CI: 28%, 59%), gonorrhoea (23%; 95%CI: 12%, 39%) and doing urine microscopy (52%; 36%, 67%) (Figure. 11).

In facilities that reported offering services for non-HIV STIs, the odds of reporting the availability of basic items decreased with decreasing PCF level for: trained staff (OR for linear trend: 0.4; 96%CI: 0.16, 0.79; p-trend=0.01); tests for syphilis (OR for linear trend: 0.09, 95%CI: 0.02, 0.52; p-trend=0.008), gram stain for gonorrhoea (OR for linear trend: 0.05; 95%CI: 0.01, 0.24; p-trend<0.001) and urine microscopy (OR for linear trend: 0.003; 95%CI: 0.0002, 0.05; p-trend<0.001). In facilities that reported offering HIV services, differences in the availability of basic items by facility level were not statistically significant except for availability of staff trained to offer HIV counselling and testing (p=0.05) (Table 11). For both non-HIV STI and HIV services, rural/urban differences in the availability of the basic items were not statistically significant. Geographical differences were only observed in the proportion of facilities that had guidelines (p<0.001), drugs (p=0.004), and trained staff (p=0.001) for offering services for non-HIV STIs (Annex 9.5.1).



Figure 11: Percentage of facilities that reported offering STI services and also reported availability of items for offering the services

Basic comfort amenities

Of the five comfort amenities that were enquired about, only one in ten PCFs (9%; 95%CI: 4,

23%) had all of them (Figure 12). The odds of having all the five comfort amenities

decreased with decreasing PCF level (OR for linear trend: 0.22; 95%CI: 0.08, 0.61). The rural/urban and geographical differences were not statistically significant (p-values: 0.45 and 0.55, respectively) (Annex 9.5.2). Overall, the PCFs had three of the five comfort amenities available (mean: 67%; 95%CI: 62%, 72%) (Figure 12) and the mean differences by facility level (p=0.68) (Table 12), rural/urban location (p=0.98) and geographical zone (p=0.11) were not statistically significant (Annex 9.5.2).

All facilities (100%) had a waiting area that shielded patients from sun or rain, and almost all facilities had a functional toilet (98%; 95%CI: 87%, 100%). However, only 30% of the facilities had a ramp (95%CI: 20%, 43%) and 42% had enough seats in the waiting area (95%CI: 29%, 57%) (Table 12). Differences in the proportion of facilities that had each of the items by facility level (Table 12) and by rural/urban location (Annex 9.5.2) were not statistically significant. Statistically significant geographical differences were however observed in the proportion of facilities that had a waiting area (p=0.003), functional toilet (p=0.03) and a ramp (p=0.004) (Annex 9.5.2)



Figure 12: The mean percentage availability and the proportion of facilities that had comfort amenities by facility level, rural/urban and geographical location

Privacy

Generally, the proportion of facilities that had visual and auditory privacy was high, with the great majority of the facilities (86%, 05%CI: 75%, 93%) having both visual and auditory privacy (Figure 13). Differences in the proportion of facilities that had both visual and auditory privacy by facility level and rural/urban location were not statistically significant but a statistically significant difference was observed by geographical zone (p=0.05), with the proportion being highest in Western Uganda (100%) and lowest in Central Uganda (65%) (Annex 9.5.2).





····· / ···· /	Total	Total	HC IV	HC III	HC II		
	N^1	% [95%CI]	(%)	(%)	(%)	p-value	DEFF
Total surveyed n (%)	48	100	7 (15)	17 (35)	24 (50)		
Special geriatric services	0		0	0	0		
NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES							
Had service for one or more NCDs	40	83 [67, 92]	100	97	71	0.02	1.18
Cardiovascular diseases							
Reported offering service	33	68 [53 <i>,</i> 80]	93	97	46	<0.001	1.0
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	29	88 [72, 96]	78	97	79	0.19	0.96
*The guidelines seen in consultation area	26	94 [83, 98]	81	92	100	0.29	0.53
Reported stocking drugs	23	65 [47, 80]	100	100	9	<0.001	1.03
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	22	92 [74, 98]	100	90	100	0.75	0.71
Reported having trained staff to offer service	1	3 [0,16]	0	6	0	0.51	0.77
Reported having stethoscope	32	94 [71, 99]	100	90	100	0.40	1.6
*A stethoscope seen in consultation area	32	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having Sphygmomanometer	30	87 [68, 95]	100	79	94	0.23	1.2
*Sphygmomanometer seen in consultation area	29	97 [82, 99]	100	93	100	0.44	0.8
*Reported having a weight scale	27	79 [59, 91]	86	84	71	0.55	1.2
*A weight scale seen in consultation area	24	87 [71, 95]	100	78	100	0.12	0.8
*Reported having a height scale	4	7 [3, 16]	48	5	0	<0.001	0.44
*Height scale seen in consultation area	3	75 [20, 97]	100	38	n.a	n.a	0.5
Reported having tape measure	9	28 [18, 42]	36	42	7	0.01	0.6
*Tape measure seen in consultation area	5	50 [24, 76]	100	50	0	0.14	0.66

Table 11: Proportion of primary care facilities that reported availability of services

	Total	Total	HC IV	HC III	HC II	_	
	N	% [95%CI]	(%)	(%)	(%)	p-value	DEFF
Diabetes							
Reported offering service	30	58 [42,71]	100	74	42	0.01	1.07
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	24	83 [65,93]	72	81	87	0.76	0.9
*The guidelines seen in consultation area	22	97 [88,99]	81	97	100	0.06	0.33
Reported stocking drugs	10	19 [9,34]	100	17	0	<0.001	0.66
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	7	72 [36,92]	93	45	n.a	0.04	0.58
Reported having trained staff to offer service	1	1 [0,9]	13	0	0	0.14	0.34
Reporting doing blood sugar	15	39 [23,57]	100	53	0	0.001	0.81
Reported doing urine sugar	20	64 [43,80]	100	92	12	<0.001	1.0
Reported having stethoscope	29	93 [67,99]	100	86	100	0.33	1.6
Stethoscope seen in consultation area	29	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having Sphygmomanometer	28	87 [65,96]	100	73	100	0.05	1.3
*A sphygmomanometer seen in consultation area	28	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having a weight scale	26	85 [66 <i>,</i> 95]	87	79	92	0.46	1.0
*A weight scale seen in consultation area	24	90 [74 <i>,</i> 97]	100	78	100	0.09	0.69
*Reported having a height scale	5	11 [5,22]	45	7	8	0.02	0.42
*Height scale seen in consultation area	4	82[32,98]	100	38	100	0.13	0.49
Reported having tape measure	7	22[13,34]	34	25	16	0.60	0.45
*Tape measure seen in consultation area	4	47 [20 <i>,</i> 76]	100	30	50	0.24	0.54
Cancer							
Reported offering service	13	25 [16,37]	52	21	25	0.34	0.72
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	9	73 [49,88]	60	47	90	0.16	0.6
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	8	87 [46,98]	100	100	81	0.64	0.93
Reported having trained staff to offer service	5	36 [17,60]	100	47	16	0.06	0.66

	Total	Total	HC IV	HC III	HC II		
	N	% [95%CI]	(%)	(%)	(%)	p-value	DEFF
Mental illness (e.g. depression)							
Reported offering service	29	59 [45,71]	93	80	41	0.01	0.8
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	23	83 [70,91]	73	83	84	0.94	0.57
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	19	90 [74,96]	68	85	100	0.15	0.65
Reported stocking drugs	22	72 [54,86]	100	100	31	<0.001	0.93
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	20	86 [66,95]	100	88	67	0.37	0.79
Reported having trained staff to offer service	9	25 [13,43]	74	28	10	0.04	0.63
Hearing problems							
Reported offering service	19	40 [27,54]	45	37	41	0.90	0.91
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	17	92 [72,98]	54	86	100	0.06	0.77
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	14	89 [71,96]	100	78	94	0.43	0.58
Reported stocking drugs	19	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	17	85 [57,96]	100	100	75	0.20	1.27
Reported having trained staff to offer service	2	15 [4,45]	0	27	10	0.51	1.37
Reported having otoscope	3	15 [5,35]	54	15	10	0.28	0.80
*Otoscope seen in consultation area	2	60 [13,94]	100	100	0	0.03	0.81
Vision problems							
Reported offering service	26	54 [40,67	67	63	46	0.32	0.94
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	23	91 [76,97]	69	84	100	0.08	0.65
*Guideline seen in consultation area	19	93[81,98]	52	96	94	0.01	0.49
Reported stocking drugs	26	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
*Drugs seen in stock	23	88 [70,96]	100	100	75	0.07	0.89
Reported having trained staff to offer service	5	16 [6,34]	33	0	27	0.06	0.86

	Total N ¹	Total % [95%CI]	HC IV (%)	HC III (%)	HC II (%)	p-value	DEFF
Reported having Ophthalmoscope	3	8 [3, 23]	55	9	0	0.01	0.67
*Ophthalmoscope seen in consultation area	1	17 [2,69]	34	0	n.a	0.24	0.3
Reported having visual acuity chart	9	34 [19, 52]	69	50	15	0.07	0.82
*Visual acuity chart seen in consultation area	8	97 [84 <i>,</i> 99]	79	100	100	0.30	0.20
Overall for non-communicable diseases and cond	litions						
Had services for all the six NCDs	7	14 [7,25]	45	5	16	0.05	0.81
Mean overall availability of services offered	n.a	50 [41 <i>,</i> 60]	75	62	40	0.01	
Sexually transmitted infections (non-HIV							
Reported offering service	46	94 [77,98]	100	100	89	0.27	1.53
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	43	95 [88,98]	100	95	94	0.84	0.45
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	38	92 [83,97]	100	89	94	0.63	0.57
Reported stocking drugs	44	97 [90,99]	100	100	94	0.30	0.52
*Drugs seen in stock	35	78 [64,88]	100	80	73	0.45	0.86
Reported having trained staff to offer service	19	34 [24,47]	100	35	26	0.01	0.67
Reported having laboratory tests for syphilis	20	43 [28 <i>,</i> 59]	100	62	15	0.005	1
Reported doing gram stain for gonorrhoea	14	23 [12,39]	74	39	0	0.001	1
Reported doing urine microscopy	23	52 [36 <i>,</i> 67]	100	92	4	<0.001	0.96
HIV services							
Reported offering at least one HIV service	40	81 [65,90]	100	100	66	0.001	1.16
HIV counselling and testing							
Reported offering the service	39	79 [63 <i>,</i> 89]	100	100	62	0.003	1.12
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	37	94 [81,99]	100	95	93	0.87	0.93
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	33	91 [78,96]	100	84	95	0.32	0.7
Reported trained staff to do HIV counselling	30	71 [55,83]	100	79	57	0.12	0.86

	Total N ¹	Total % [95%CI]	HC IV (%)	HC III (%)	HC II (%)	p-value	DEFF
Reported having trained staff to do HIV testing	36	89 [71,97]	100	100	76	0.05	0.77
Reported stocking HIV test reagents	37	93 [78 <i>,</i> 98]	100	100	85	0.12	1.3
*Test reagents seen in stock	34	93 [80,98]	100	90	95	0.68	0.86
Life-long antiretroviral treatment							
Reported offering the service	22	42 [29,57]	100	64	21	0.001	1.0
Among those offering the service:							
Reported having guidelines	22	100	100	100	100		
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	20	89 [67,97]	100	80	100	0.92	0.27
Reported stocking antiretroviral drugs	18	72 [48,87]	100	76	48	1.01	0.76
*The drugs seen in stock	17	95 [83 <i>,</i> 99]	76	100	100	0.31	0.52
Reported having trained staff to offer service	16	69 [47,85]	93	73	48	0.91	0.73
Overall for sexually transmitted infections							
Had all three specific STI services	22	42[29,57]	100	64	21	0.001	0.97
Mean overall availability of services offered	n.a	71 [62 <i>,</i> 81]	100	88	58	0.03	
Overall for all the nine specific services (STIs + NCDs	5)						
Had all nine services (for NCDs and STIs)	5	9 [4, 21]	45	5	8	0.03	0.86
Had at least five of the services	31	61 [46,74]	100	91	37	<0.001	1.0
Mean overall availability of services offered	n.a	57 [49 <i>,</i> 66]	83	71	46	< 0.001	

¹Unweighted N. ²values adjusted for survey design only. *Values calculated among the previous item. DEFF=Design Effect. n.a=not applicable

	Ν	Total	HC IV	HC III	HC II	p-value	DEFF
Number of facilities surveyed n (%)	48	100	7(15)	17(35)	24(50)		
Had waiting area that shielded patients from sun/rain	46	97 [89,99]	100	98	96	0.76	0.69
Had a functional toilet	47	98 [87,100]	100	100	96	0.53	0.92
Had a source of drinking water	32	68 [53,80]	71	53	78	0.11	1.01
Had enough seats in the waiting area	19	42 [29,57]	40	35	48	0.55	1.02
Had a ramp	14	30 [20,43]	74	42	18	0.04	0.76
Had all amenities asked about	5	9 [4,23]	34	16	3	0.04	1.13
Mean		67 [62, 72]	77	66	67	0.68	
Had auditory privacy	43	91 [81,96]	100	95	88	0.51	0.72
Had visual privacy	40	93 [75,93]	93	89	84	0.66	0.76
Had both visual & auditory privacy	40	86 [75,93]	93	89	84	0.66	0.76

Table 12: Proportion of facility with basic comfort amenities and privacy

¹Unweighted N. ²Values adjusted for survey design only

4.3. Caseload due to older persons

The absolute and relative caseloads

Table 13 and figure 14 show the number and percentage of visits made by all patients to the outpatient department during a period of three months. Overall, OPs contributed the smallest number of visits to the PCFs, with 11,847 out of 140,338 total visits (8.4%) made by OPs. There was no evidence of a difference by facility level in the percentage of visits made by OPs. The number and percentage of visits made by OPs differed by the type of outpatient clinic (P<0.001), with the percentage of visits being highest to the ART clinic (12.4%) and lowest to the eye clinic (<0.1%); and number of visits being highest to the outpatient clinic and lowest to the eye clinic. The percentage of OP-visits was higher in rural (8.8%) than in urban (6.9%) PCFs (p=0.06). The ratio in number of attendances per person per year was 1:1.5 (899:1380) for OPs vs. younger adults. As the age of patients increased, the total number of attendances per year of age decreased, with very small numbers of visits by people \geq 80 years (Figure 15).

	¹ All-patient		¹ Visits by OPs n (%)				
	visits	50 – 59yrs	60 – 79yrs	80+yrs	Total		
Total visits	140,338	5,862 (4.2)	5,157 (3.7)	828 (0.6)	11,847 (8.4)		
Visits per year of age ²	140,338	586	516	55			
Sex					p=0.83		
Males	51,779	2 <i>,</i> 095 (4.0)	1,936 (3.7)	381(0.7)	4,412 (8.5)		
Females	88,559	3,767 (4.3)	3,221 (3.6)	447 (0.5)	7,435 (8.4)		
PCF level					p=0.62		
PCF IV	47,805	1,912 (4.0)	1,752 (3.7)	235 (0.5)	3,899 (8.2)		
PCF III	46,682	2,004 (4.3)	1,838 (3.9)	246 (0.5)	4,088 (8.8)		
PCF II	45,851	1,946 (4.2)	1,567 (3.4)	347 (0.8)	3,860 (8.4)		
Clinic					p<0.001		
General outpatient	130,614	5 <i>,</i> 380 (4.1)	4,831 (3.7)	810 (0.6)	11,021 (8.4)		
HCT*	3,564	183 (5.1)	151 (4.2)	12 (0.3)	346 (9.7)		
ART**	3,811	291 (7.6)	175 (4.6)	6 (0.2)	472 (12.4)		
Eye	2,349	8 (0.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	8 (<0.1)		
PCF location					p=0.06		
Urban	24,618	802 (3.3)	789 (3.2)	115 (0.5)	1,706 (6.9)		
Rural	115,720	5,060 (4.4)	4,368 (3.8)	713 (0.6)	10,141 (8.8)		

Table 13: Number (%) of outpatient-visits in the period January-March 2013

¹Figures are unadjusted for the survey design. ²Assumes the maximum age was 94 years. *HIV counselling and testing. **Life-long antiretroviral treatment

Figure 14: Age-specific number of visits to the outpatient department of the primary care facilities in the period January to March 2013







Diseases that were commonly diagnosed among the older persons

Disease records were available for 11,173 (94.3%) of the 11,847 visits by OPs. However, a further 969 (8.7%) of these records had a missing or unclear diagnosis, leaving 10, 204 disease records (91.3% of total records) for analysis, distributed as follows: 2,994 (29.3%) at PCF IV, 3,488 (34.2%) at PCF III and 3,722 (36.5%) at PCF II. Of the total records, 6,536 records (63.8%) were for females.

Infectious illnesses were the most commonly diagnosed illnesses among the OPs, accounting for 62.9% (95%CI: 54.9, 70.3) of the diagnoses. NCDs and injuries accounted for 32.4% (95%CI: 24.4, 41.5) and 3.4% (95%CI: 2.1, 5.5) of the diagnoses, respectively. Malaria and non-pneumonia respiratory tract infections were the most commonly diagnosed illnesses – accounting for 26.4% (95%CI: 16.9, 38.8) and 14.1% (95%CI: 8.8, 21.7) of the diagnoses respectively (Figure 16).

Figure 16: The common diseases that were diagnosed in older persons at the primary care facilities (unweighted)



Key: Only diagnoses with prevalence of ≥0.5% are shown. Detailed table is provided in annex 9.6

4.4. Knowledge, attitudes and practices of health workers regarding provision of health care to older persons

Description of the study participants

In each district, we aimed to interview 20 HWs, distributed as follows: 6 from PCF IV, 8 from PCF III (4 per PCF), and 6 from PCF II (2 per PCF). In Agago district where there was no PCF IV, we aimed to interview 18 HWs: 12 from PCF III (4 per PCF) and 6 from PCF II (2 per PCF). Therefore we aimed to interview 158 HWs. In practice, 145 HWs (92% of target) were interviewed. Reasons for not meeting the target number were an insufficient number of HWs being present in the PCFs (n=8), refusal (n=4) and being sick (n=1).

Of the 145 HWs for whom data were available, 38 (26.2%) were at PCF IV, 63 (43.5%) at PCF III and 44 (30.3%) were at PCF II. The majority were from PCFs in rural areas (n=124, 85.5%). The number from each geographical zone was similar: 35 HWs (24.1%) each in Northern and Eastern Uganda, 38 HWs (26.2%) in Central Uganda, and 37 HWs (25.5%) in Western Uganda. Their median age was 32 years (IQR: 27 – 39 years). Only 2 (1.4%) of those interviewed were doctors and a fifth (20.7%) were nurse aides (Table 14).

	Unweighted ¹ N	Unweighted ¹ %
Total interviewed	145	
Female sex	96	66.2
Age-group (years)		
<26	15	10.3
26 – 35	84	57.9
36 – 45	31	21.4
>45	15	10.3
Technical qualification		
Doctor	2	1.4
Clinical officer (physician assistant)	20	13.8
Registered nurse	21	14.5
Registered midwife	5	3.5
Enrolled nurse	49	33.8
Enrolled midwife	13	9.0
Nurse aide/assistant	30	20.7
Others	5	3.5
Trained in care of OPs	28	19.3
Felt they had sufficient knowledge to care for OPs	106	73.1

Table 14: Sociodemographic characteristics of the health workers

¹Values are unadjusted for the survey design

4.4.1. Knowledge of the common ailments affecting older persons

Based on a priori classification of knowledge into "poor", "satisfactory" and "good"; a third (32.1%) of the HWs had poor knowledge, and only 6.7% had good knowledge of the common ailments that affect OPs (Table 15).

	Poor (%)	Satisfactory (%)	Good (%)
Range of scores	(score: 0-24)	(score: 25-29)	(score: 30-34)
Overall % (95%CI)	32 1 [25 0 /0 1]	61 1[52 / 69 3]	67[23 13/]
	52.1 [25.0, 40.1]	01.1[32.4, 03.3]	0.7 [3.3, 13.4]
PCF level			
IV	30.2	66.2	3.6
III	33.5	59.6	6.9
П	30.8	61.6	7.6
PCF Location			
Urban	12.0	85.6	2.4
Rural	35.9	56.5	7.6
Geographical zone			
Northern Uganda	27.4	67.3	5.3
Eastern Uganda	44.5	45.1	10.3
Central Uganda	13.2	79.5	7.3
Western Uganda	37.4	60.7	2.0
Technical qualification of HWs			
Clinicians	15.2	80.3	4.5
Nurses	34.9	57.0	8.1
Nurse aides	42.2	53.0	4.8
Trained in care of OPs			
Yes	23.1	76.9	0.0
No	34.2	57.5	8.3

Table 15: Proportion of health workers with poor, satisfactory and good knowledge by
characteristics of interest

Key: Figures shown are adjusted for the survey design only. DEFFs (poor knowledge=0.94; satisfactory knowledge=1.09; good knowledge=1.29)

Association of factors with the mean overall knowledge score

In the unadjusted analysis (Table 16), the mean overall knowledge score was positively associated with availability of services (p=0.02), decreasing level of qualification of the HWs (p=0.03), and sex (p=0.004). After adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone (Table 17), the positive associations of the mean overall knowledge score with availability of services and qualification of the HWs became stronger while that with sex

remained. In addition, after adjusting, the positive association of the mean overall knowledge score with availability of guidelines and availability of equipment in the patient consultation area became statistically significant.

In the final model in which all independent predictors of the mean knowledge score that were associated at p<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework were adjusted for (Table 17, last column), availability of guidelines in the patient consultation area remained independently associated with the mean overall knowledge score (p=0.02), with the score for PCFs that had 6-7 of the guidelines being 1.22 points higher than PCFs that had 0-5 of the guidelines (coefficient: 1.22; 95%CI: 0.2, 2.3). The only HW characteristic that remained independently associated with the mean overall knowledge score was sex of the HW (p=0.002), with the mean score for females being lower compared to males.

Table 16: Association of fa	ctors v	with the r	nean knowledge s	core	
	۱N	Mean ²	Unadjusted regression coefficient ²	Adjusted regression coefficient ³	Adjusted regression coefficient ⁴
			[95%CI]	[95%CI]	[95%CI]
Total	145	34			
Overall mean score achieved		25.7			
		PCF C	HARACTERISTICS		
PCF level			p=0.93	p=0.93	p=0.68
IV	38	25.7	1	1	1
III	63	25.8	0.09 [-0.8, 1.0]	0.09 [-0.8, 1.0]	-0.28 [-0.8, 0.3]
П	44	25.6	-0.07 [-0.9, 0.8]	-0.07 [-0.9, 0.8]	0.04 [-1.0, 1.0]
PCF location			p=0.41	p=0.41	p=0.47
Urban	21	26.1	1	1	1
Rural	124	25.6	-0.47 [-1.6, 0.7]	-0.47 [-1.6, 0.7]	0.37 [–1.3, 2.0]
Geographical zone			p=0.07	p=0.07	p=0.92
Northern Uganda	35	25.5	. 1	1	1
Eastern Uganda	35	25.4	-0.15 [-1.1, 0.8]	-0.15 [-1.1, 0.8]	-0.52 [-1.5, 0.4]
Central Uganda	38	26.8	1.24 [0.1, 2.4]	1.24 [0.1, 2.4]	1.38 [-0.1, 2.9]
Western Uganda	37	25.2	-0.34 [-1.3, 0.6]	-0.34 [-1.3, 0.6]	-0.9 [-1.8, 0.1]
Caseload due to OPs			p=0.39	p=0.14	
≤300 patients/month	94	25.6	. 1	. 1	
>300 patient/month	51	26.0	0.35 [-0.5, 1.2]	0.84 [-0.3, 2.0]	
AVAIL	ABILITY	OF SERVI	CES, EQUIPMENT AN	ND GUIDELINES	
Availability of services			p=0.02	p<0.001	
Had 0-6 of the services	57	25.3	. 1	. 1	
Had 7-8 of the services	56	26.4	1.09 [1.2. 2.0]	1.70 [0.9, 2.5]	
Had 9-10 of the services	32	25.1	-0.18 [-1.0, 0.7]	0.27 [-0.7, 1.2]	
Availability of guidelines**	-	_	p=0.15	p=0.03	p=0.02
Had 0-5 of the guidelines	92	25.5	1	1	1
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	39	26.0	0.54 [-0.5, 1.6]	1.16 [0.1. 2.2]	1.22 [0.2. 2.3]
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	14	26.0	0.56 [0.0, 1.1]	1.15 [0.1, 2.2]	1.14 [0.1. 2.2]
Availability of equipment**			p=0.44	p=0.03	
Had 0-4 of the equipment	82	25.7	. 1	. 1	
Had 5 of the equipment	31	26.3	0.55 [-0.8, 1.9]	0.74 [-0.7. 2.2]	
Had >5 of the equipment	32	25.4	-0.32 [-1.2, 0.5]	-0.40 [-1.4, 0.6]	
		HWC	CHARACTERISTICS		
Qualification		-	p=0.03	p=0.007	
Clinician	27	26.7	1	1	
Nurse	88	25.5	-1.21 [-2.00.3]	-1.27 [-2.20.38	
Nurse aids/assistants	30	25.4	-1.27 [-2.3, -0.2]	-1.92 [-3.10.8]	
Trained in care of OPs			p=0.79	08.0=q	
No	117	25.7	-0.14 [-1.2, 0.9]	0.14 [-1.0, 1.3]	
Age-group	/	2017	p=0.26	P=0.29	
<26 years	15	26.3	1	1	
26 – 35 years	84	25.7	-0.56 [-1.7. 0.6]	-0.69 [-1.7. 0.3]	
36 – 45 years	31	25.2	-1.10 [-2.2.0.0]	-1.02 [-2.1.0.1]	
>45 years	15	26.4	0.15 [-1.3, 1.6]	-0.02 [-1.4. 1.4]	
Sex	10	20.1	n=0.004	n=0.006	n=0.002
Males	49	26.5	1	1	1
Females	96	25.4	-1.13 [-1.90.4]	-1.09 [-1.90.3]	-1.13 [-1.8, -0.4]

¹Unweighted N. ²Values only adjusted for the survey design. ³Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location, & geographical zone. ⁴Final model: values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location, geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean knowledge score that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework. **Availability of the items seen in the patient consultation area

4.4.2. Attitudes of health workers towards older persons

Based on the classification of attitude of HWs into "negative", "neutral" and "positive" towards OPs (section 4.15.4), nearly all HWs had neutral attitudes (Table 17).

Table 17: Proportion of health workers with positive, neutral or negative attitude toward	S
older persons	

	Range of scores	N^1	% [95%CI] ²
Positive attitude	92 - 115/115	4	2.0 [0.8,5.3]
Neutral attitude	47 – 91/115	140	97.0 [93.3,98.7]
Negative attitude	23 – 46/115	1	0.9 [0.1,5.7]

¹Unweighted N. ²Weighted % adjusted for survey design. DEFFs (negative attitudes=1.15; neutral=0.74; positive attitudes=0.69

Association of factors with the mean overall attitude score

In the unadjusted analysis (Table 18), the mean overall attitude score varied by geographical zone (p=0.03), sex (p=0.01), and technical qualification of the HWs (p=0.05). The mean score in PCFs with laboratory services was lower compared to PCFs without laboratory services although this difference was of borderline statistical significance (p=0.08).

After adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone (Table 18), the positive association of the mean overall attitude score with sex and the technical qualification of the HWs remained. In addition, after adjusting, the positive association of the mean overall attitude score with increased total caseload (due to all patients), and with increased availability of equipment in the patient consultation area became statistically significant.

In the final model in which all the independent predictors of the mean overall attitude score that were associated at p<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework were adjusted for (Table 18, last column), PCF characteristics that remained independently associated with the mean overall attitude score were: decreasing PCF level (p=0.02), geographical zone (p=0.03), and availability of equipment (p=0.07). Sex was the only HW characteristic that remained independently associated with the mean overall attitude score (p=0.01), with the score for females being 4.7 points lower compared to males.

Table 18: Association of factors with the overall mean attitude score									
	N1	Mean ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted				
			regression	regression	coefficient ⁴				
			Coefficient ²	coefficient ³	[95%CI]				
			[95% CI]	[95%CI]					
lotal	145	115							
Overall mean score achieved		72.0							
PC	CF CHA	RACTERIS	TICS						
PCF level			p=0.25	p=0.25	p=0.02				
IV	38	72.3	1		1				
111	63	70.7	–1.56 [–5.2, 2.0]	–1.56 [–5.2, 2.0]	0.21 [-3.7, 4.1]				
II	44	73.9	1.57 [–1.7, 4.9]	1.57 [–1.7, 4.9]	4.68 [0.4, 8.9]				
PCF location			p=0.11	p=0.11	p=0.12				
Urban	21	73.5	1	1	1				
Rural	124	71.7	-1.81 [-4.1, 0.5]	-1.81 [-4.1, 0.5]	0.21 [–3.1, 3.5]				
Geographical zone			p=0.03	p=0.31	p=0.03				
Northern Uganda	35	68.0	1	1	1				
Eastern Uganda	35	70.7	2.77 [–2.3, 7.9]	2.77 [–2.3, 7.9]	3.38 [–1.2, 8.0]				
Central Uganda	38	75.2	7.20 [2.0, 12.4]	7.20 [2.0, 12.4]	8.25 [3.0, 13.5]				
Western Uganda	37	73.5	5.51 [–1.3, 12.3]	5.51 [–1.3, 12.3]	5.83 [0.5, 11.2]				
Total caseload (due to all patients)			p=0.49	p=0.02					
≤4000patients/month	103	71.8	1	1					
>4,000patient/month	42	72.8	0.94 [–1.78, 3.7]	3.81 [0.8, 6.9]					
Caseload due to OPs only			p=0.33	p=0.98					
≤300 patients/month	94	72.8	1	1					
>300 patients/month	51	70.9	–1.95 [–5.9, 2.0]	-0.07 [-4.8, 4.7]					
AVAILABILITY OF SERVICE	S FOL	IIDMENT (AENITIES					
Availability of services	, LQU	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	n=0.22	n=0.42					
Had 0-6 of the services	57	73.8	1	p 0.1 <u>-</u> 1					
Had 7-8 of the services	56	71.0	-2.77 [-6.1. 0.6]	-2.22 [-5.8, 1.4]					
Had 9-10 of the services	32	70.8	-3.02 [-9.2. 3.1]	-1.74 [-7.1, 3.6]					
Availability of guidelines			p=0.46	p=0.50					
Had 0-5 of the guidelines	92	72.4	. 1	. 1					
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	39	71.9	-0.53 [-5.2, 4.2]	0.34 [-4.0, 4.7]					
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	14	70.2	-2.22 [-5.8, 1.3]	-2.22 [-6.3, 1.8]					
Availability of equipment in the			p=0.15	p=0.01	p=0.07				
consultation area			•		•				
Had 0-4 of the equipment	82	71.1	1	1	1				
Had 5 of the equipment	31	74.6	3.48 [-0.1, 7.0]	5.47 [2.3, 8.7]	4.97 [1.5, 8.5]				
Had >5 of the equipment	32	73.6	2.50 [-1.6, 6.6]	3.51 [-0.6, 7.6]	2.63 [-2.0, 7.2]				
Availability of laboratory services			p=0.08	p=0.75					
Available	132	71.6	-4.19 [-9.0, 0.6]	1.08 [-5.7, 7.9]					

132

32

56

57

Basic amenities

Had 0-2 of the basic amenities

Had 3 of the basic amenities

Had >3 of the amenities

71.6

73.7

70.7

72.4

-4.19 [-9.0, 0.6]

-2.98 [-6.7, 0.8]

-1.27 [-4.2, 1.6]

p=0.27

1

1.08 [-5.7, 7.9]

1.08 [-5.7, 7.8]

-2.34 [-6.0, 1.3]

p=0.75

1

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted regression Coefficient ² [95% CI]	Adjusted regression coefficient ³ [95%CI]	Adjusted regression coefficient [95%CI] ⁴
	HW CHA	RACTERIS			
Age-group			p=0.27	p=0.36	
<26 years	15	69.6	1	1	
26 – 35 years	84	72.3	2.75 [–4.1, 9.6]	1.83 [–5.5, 9.1]	
36 – 45 years	31	71.9	2.33 [-4.2, 8.8]	2.51 [–3.9, 8.9]	
>45 years	15	75.7	6.18 [–1.1, 13.4]	5.30 [–1.9, 12.5]	
Sex			p=0.01	p=0.01	p=0.01
Male	49	75.4	1	1	1
Female	96	70.5	-4.90 [-8.6, -1.2]	-5.06 [-8.6, -1.5]	-4.73 [-8.3, -1.1
Qualification			p=0.05	p=0.26	
Clinicians	27	73.6	1	1	
Nurses	88	70.5	-3.02 [-8.7, 2.7]	–3.27 [–9.3, 2.7]	
Nurse aids/assistants	30	75.1	1.53 [–5.8, 8.8]	-1.00 [-8.9, 6.9]	
Trained in care of OPs			p=0.61	p=0.74	
No	117	71.7	–1.57 [–7.7, 4.6]	-1.03 [-7.3, 5.2]	
Knowledge of HWs			p=0.64	p=0.79	
Poor	46	71.3	1	1	
satisfactory	88	72.2	0.91 [-2.4, 4.2]	0.10 [-3.2, 3.4]	
Good	11	73.1	1.75 [–2.0, 5.5]	1.23 [–2.9, 5.4]	

¹Unweighted N. ²Values only adjusted for the survey design. ³Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location, and geographical zone. ⁴Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean attitude score that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework.

4.4.3. Practices of health workers regarding the care of older persons

Based on the classification of the activities the HWs said they did while attending to OPs and younger adults (35-49 years) into "bad", "neither-bad-nor-good", and "good" practices (Table 19); almost none of the HWs (0.5-1.2%) was classified as having bad practices overall, and about half were classified as having neither-bad-nor-good (51.3-53.0%) and good practices (46.4-48.1%). However, quite a substantial proportion of the HWs was classified as having bad practices with regard to providing prompt attention to patients (OPs and younger adults) (19.4-29.9%), giving patients autonomy (46.4-48.6%), targeting them for health education (15.4-34.6%), and screening them for diseases (14.2-16.7%) (Table 19).

Practices of the HW differed by age of patients. Compared to younger adults, the mean overall score of positive responses⁴ given by HWs to questions on how they treated younger adults and OPs was lower for OPs aged 50-59 year (unadjusted coefficient: -0.60; 95%CI: -1.2, -0.0; p=0.05) and OPs aged ≥ 60 years (unadjusted coefficient: -1.07; 95%CI: -1.9, -0.2; p=0.02) (Table 20). However, the lower overall score for OPs obscured some differences in the specific practices areas. HWs had higher mean scores for OPs than younger adults on practices related to giving prompt attention to patients, ensuring clear communication with patients and screening patients for diseases. In contrast, HWs had lower scores for OPs on practices related to targeting patients for health education (Table 20).

Association⁵ of factors with health worker practices related to the care of OPs (≥60 years) In the unadjusted analysis (Table 21), the mean overall score related to how the HWs treated OPs aged 60+ years varied by urban/rural location (P=0.02), availability of auditory privacy (P<0.001), availability of visual privacy (P<0.001), and by the technical qualifications of the HWs (P=0.03). Although only of borderline statistical significance (P=0.09), the mean overall score decreased with increasing availability of equipment in the consultation area. After adjusting for PCF level, PCF location, and geographical zone (Table 21), the associations of the mean score with availability of auditory privacy and visual privacy remained strongly significant (P<0.001), while that with technical qualification of the HWs

⁴ Positive responses refer to responses that affirm that activities that were considered particularly important for OPs were done, as expected, by the HWs.

⁵ Associations with HWs practices related to the care of OPs aged 50-59 years was similar to that of OPs \geq 60 years. Consequently, associations for \geq 60 years are only shown. Refer to annex 9.7 for the association of practices related to the care of OPs 50-59 years.

and availability of equipment in consultation area became stronger. In addition, after adjusting, the association with the increased total caseload (due to all patients) became strongly significant (P<0.001), and with availability of services we enquired about in the study reached borderline statistical significance (P=0.05).

In the final model in which all the independent predictors of the mean score that were associated at p<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework were adjusted for (Table 21, last column), PCF characteristics that remained independently associated with the mean overall score were PCF location (p=0.01), with the mean score in rural PCFs being 2.8 points lower than in urban PCFs, and availability of visual privacy (P<0.001), with the score in PCFs with visual privacy being 12.8 points higher than in PCFs that lacked visual privacy. HW characteristics that remained independently associated with the mean score were decreasing level of qualification of the HWs (p<0.001), with the score for nurse aides being 11.3 points higher compared to clinicians (coefficient: 11.25; 95%CI: 5.8, 16.7), and increasing age of HWs (p=0.05), with the mean score for HWs aged >45years being 11.0 points lower compared to HWs aged <26 years (coefficient: -11.00; 95%CI: -17.8, -4.2).

	Bad (%) ¹			Neither	-bad-nor- (%) ¹	good	Good (%) ¹		
Patient age (years)	35-49	50-59	60+	35-49	50-59	60+	35-49	50-59	60+
Ensuring dignity	1.5	1.5	0.1	10.6	9.7	11.1	87.9	88.8	88.7
Ensuring prompt attention	29.9	19.4	29.9	21.5	21.3	21.5	48.6	59.4	48.6
Communicating appropriately*	4.4	4.3	3.9	12.8	11.3	12.7	82.8	84.4	83.4
Giving autonomy	46.4	47.6	48.6	28.2	27.4	27.0	25.4	25.0	24.4
Ensuring privacy/confidentiality	2.8	2.8	3.3	1.9	1.9	1.9	95.3	95.3	94.9
Targeting for health education	15.4	25.9	34.6	20.6	33.4	34.4	64.0	40.8	31.1
Screening for diseases	16.7	14.2	15.5	62.5	62.0	56.7	20.9	23.7	27.8
Overall practice of the HWs	1.2	0.5	0.6	52.1	53.0	51.3	46.7	46.4	48.1

Table 19: Proportion of health workers classified as having good, neither-good-nor-bad and bad practices regarding the care of older persons and younger adults

¹Values shown are percentages of HWs, & are only adjusted for the survey design. *Communication done in a way that would enable patients to understand their illness and its management. DEFFs (bad practice=0.40-0.77; neither-bad-nor-good=0.97-1.27- and good=1.03-1.25).

	Mean ¹		Regression coeffi	icient ¹	Regression coefficient ¹		Regression coefficient ¹		
				with younger adult	s as the	with younger adult	ts as the	with OPs aged 50-5	9 years
				reference group [95%CI]	reference group [95%CI]		as the reference grou	
								[95%CI]	
Patient age-group (years)	35-49	50-59	60+	50-59	p-	60+	p-	60+	P-
					value		value		value
Ensured dignity (score/16)	14.0	14.1	14.2	0.08 [-0.1, 0.2]	0.31	0.12 [-0.1, 0.3]	0.23	0.04 [-0.1, 0.2]	0.53
Promptly attended to patients (score/8)	5.2	5.7	6.3	0.49 [0.3, 0.6]	<0.001	1.09 [0.8, 1.4]	<0.001	0.60 [0.4, 0.9]	<0.001
Communicated clearly to patients* (score/16)	13.4	13.7	13.8	0.25 [0.0, 0.5]	0.04	0.39 [0.1, 0.7]	0.03	0.14 [-0.0, 0.3]	0.05
Gave autonomy (score/12)	7.1	7.1	7.0	-0.05 [-0.2, 0.0]	0.26	-0.08 [-0.2, 0.1]	0.24	-0.03 [-0.1, 0.0]	0.42
Ensured privacy & confidentiality (score/12)	11.4	11.4	11.4	0.04 [–0.0, 0.1]	0.07	0.03 [-0.1, 0.1]	0.44	-0.00 [-0.1, 0.1]	0.90
Targeted for health education (score/28)	20.7	18.6	17.3	-2.04 [-2.4, -1.7]	<0.001	-3.33 [-3.9, -2.8]	<0.001	–1.29 [–1.7, –0.9]	<0.001
Screened patients for diseases (score/40)	25.4	26.0	26.1	0.64 [0.4, 0.9]	<0.001	0.72 [0.2, 1.2]	0.007	0.08 [-0.3, 0.5]	0.66
A	07.4	00.0	06.4		o o-		0.00		0.40
iviean overall scores (score/132)	97.1	96.6	96.1	–0.60 [–1.2, –0.0]	0.05	-1.07 [-1.9, -0.2]	0.02	-0.47 [-1.1, 0.1]	0.13

Table 20: Comparison by age-group of patients of the activities the HWs said they did while attending to patients

¹Values only adjusted for the survey design. *Communication done in a way that would enable patients to understand their illness and its management

to now the health workers	N ¹	Moon ²	Linadiusted	Adjusted	Adjusted
	IN	IVIEdII	rogrossion	regression	rogrossion
			coefficient ²	coefficient ³	coefficien ⁴ [95%CI]
			[95%(]]	[95%CI]	
			[33/861]	[55/661]	
Overall	145	132			
Mean overall score achieved	-	96.1			
		PCF	CHARACTERISTICS		
PCF level			p=0.40	p=0.40	p=0.54
IV	37	98.1	1	1	1
III	63	95.0	-3.12 [-7.7, 1.5]	-3.12 [-7.7, 1.5]	-5.02 [-8.9, -1.1]
II	45	97.0	–1.14 [–6.5, 4.2]	-1.14 [-6.5, 4.2]	-3.52 [-8.5, 1.5]
PCF location			p=0.02	p=0.02	p=0.01
Urban	21	99.7	1	1	1
Rural	124	95.4	–4.28 [–8.0, –0.6]	-4.28 [-8.0, -0.6]	-2.78 [-8.1, 2.5]
Geographical zone			p=0.94	p=0.94	P= 0.62
Northern Uganda	35	95.5	1	1	1
Eastern Uganda	35	96.3	0.79 [–6.7, 8.3]	0.79 [–6.7, 8.3]	0.69 [–5.0, 6.4]
Central Uganda	38	96.9	1.37 [-5.8, 8.5]	1.37 [–5.8, 8.5]	2.78 [-4.9, 10.5]
Western Uganda	37	95.4	-0.16 [-7.2, 6.9]	-0.16 [-7.2, 6.9]	-0.32 [-6.4, 5.7]
caseload due to all patients			p=0.45	p<0.001	
≤4000patients/month	103	96.4	1	1	
>4000patients/month	38	94.0	-2.35 [-8.6, 3.9]	-9.87 [-14.8, -4.9]	
Caseload due to OPs			p=0.98	p=0.44	
≤300 patients/month	94	96.0		1	
>300 patients/month	51 V 65 61	95.9	-0.05 [-4.5, 4.4]	-1.61 [-5.8, 2.6]	
	YOFS	ERVICES, I	EQUIPMENT, GUIDEL	INES AND AIVIENTIES	
Availability of services	F 7	04 5	p=0.38	p=0.05	
Had 0-6 of the services	5/	94.5			
Had 0.10 of the convisor	20	97.7	3.21 [-1.4, 7.8]	5.85 [1.0, 10.7]	
Guideline in concultation area	32	95.0	1.10 [-4.0, 6.2]	2.03 [-2.9, 6.9]	
Had 0.5 of the guidelines	02	05.8	μ=0.24 1	p-0.59	
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	30	95.8 95.4	_0 36 [_5 2 4 5]		
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	1/	100.3	-0.30 [-3.2, 4.3] // /6 [-1 // 10 3]	3.07 [-3.6.9.8]	
Equipment in consultation area	14	100.5	n=0.09	n<0.001	
Had $0-4$ of the equipment	82	97 4	p=0.03 1	p <0.001 1	
Had 5 of the equipment	31	93.4	-4.02 [-12.3.4.2]	-5.95 [-13.3, 1.4]	
Had >5 of the equipment	32	93.2	-4.15 [-8.00.3]	-6.63 [-9.63.7]	
Laboratory services	52	55.2	p=0.22	p=0.06	
Available	132	96.6	5.74 [-3.5, 15.0]	9.59 [-0.6, 19.8]	
Auditory privacy		5010	p<0.001	p<0.001	
Available	133	96.8	11.51 [5.7, 17.3]	13.17 [6.1, 20.2]	
Visual privacy			p<0.001	p<0.001	p<0.001
Available	121	97.2	10.08 [5.0, 15.2]	11.16 [6.9, 15.4]	12.83 [8.4, 17.3]
Amenities we enquired about			p=0.52	p=0.17	
Had 0-2 of the basic amenities	32	95.5	1	. 1	
Had 3 of the basic amenities	56	97.6	2.08 [-3.9, 8.0]	3.73 [-1.6, 9.1]	
>3 of the amenities	57	94.9	-0.57 [-7.0, 5.8]	-0.53 [-6.3, 5.3]	

Table 21: Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses related to how the health workers said they treated older persons aged 60+ years

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted					
			regression	regression	regression					
			coefficient ²	coefficient ³	coefficient					
			[95%CI]	[95%CI]	[95%CI]⁴					
Age-group	4 5	100.2	p=0.38	p=0.21	P=0.05					
<26 years	15	100.3								
26 – 35 years	84	94.7	-5.62 [-12.1, 0.9]	-6.49 [-12.9, -0.0]	-7.64 [-13.2, -2.1]					
36 – 45 years	31	97.1	-3.19 [-9.3, 3.0]	-4.07 [-11.3, 3.1]	-5.83 [-11.4, -0.3]					
>45years	15	94.7	-5.60 [-12.9, 1.7]	-7.01 [-14.6, 0.6]	–11.0 [–17.8, –4.2]					
Sex			p=0.18	p=0.15						
Male	49	93.6	1	1						
Female	96	97.2	3.65 [–1.8, 9.1]	3.93 [–1.5, 9.4]						
Qualification			p=0.03	p=0.01	p<0.001					
Clinicians	27	91.0	1	1	1					
Nurses	88	97.0	6.01 [0.1, 12.0]	7.90 [1.6, 14.2]	7.57 [1.9, 13.3]					
Nurse aids/assistants	30	98.9	7.86 [2.3, 13.5]	9.57 [4.0, 15.2]	11.25 [5.8, 16.7]					
Trained in care of OPs			p=0.37	p=0.37						
Yes	28	98.4	1	1						
No	117	95.5	–2.88 [–9.3, 3.6]	-2.94 [-9.4, 3.5]						
Knowledge of HWs			p=0.97	p=0.97						
Poor	46	95.8	1	1						
Satisfactory	88	96.2	0.47 [-3.4, 4.3]	-0.18 [-4.1, 3.7]						
Good	11	96.3	0.56 [–6.8, 7.9]	0.51 [–6.9, 7.9]						
Attitude of the HWs			p=0.33	p=0.18						
Each unit increase in attitude			-0.1 [-0.4, 0.1]	-0.17 [-0.4, 0.1]						

¹Unweighted N. ²Values only adjusted for the survey design. ³Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location, and geographical zone. ⁴Final model: Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean overall score that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework.

4.5. How older persons were treated and their perceptions of services at primary care facilities

Description of the study participants

In each district, we aimed to interview 32 OPs: 8 from PCF IV, 12 from PCF III (6 per PCF), and 12 from PCF II (4 per PCF). In Agago district where there was no PCF IV, we aimed to interview 30 OPs: 18 from PCF III (6 per PCF) and 12 from PCF II (4 per PCF). This target was achieved in 6 of the 8 districts. The shortfall of 5 OPs in Arua district and 1 OP in Mpigi district was due to insufficient number of OPs during the 3-5 days that the team was in the PCF. In Arua district, the HWs in-charge attributed the low numbers of OPs to stock out of drugs that they said they had experienced for over three months. As a result, 248 OPs rather than the target of 254 (97.6%) were interviewed. Data were excluded for an additional four OPs who did not complete the interview: 1 in Mpigi district and 3 in Nakasongola district. Data were therefore available for 244 OPs (96.1% of target). In each district, we also aimed to interview 12 younger adults (two per PCF) and this was achieved in all the districts.

Table 22 shows the sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants. The median age for younger adults was 40 yrs (IQR 37.5 – 43) while that for OPs was 60 (IQR 53 – 69). About half of the OPs (46.3%) were aged 50-59 years. Farming was the main occupation and main source of cash income for both the younger adults and the OPs. About three quarters of the OPs and of the younger adults described their material situation as poor or very poor.

Health care access and utilisation by the older persons and younger adults

A great majority of the OPs (82.8 %) and of the younger adults (82.3%) lived within a 5-km radius of a PCF. Three quarters of the younger adults (74.0%) and a great majority of the OPs (88.5%) had used the PCFs as their main source of health care for over 2 years. Ease of access, "good health care", availability of free medical services, and availability of drugs were the main reasons given by both the younger adults and the OPs for choosing the PCFs over other facilities. However in the previous twelve months, about half (52.1%) of the younger adults and 40.2% of the OPs had also sought health care elsewhere (Annex 9.8). The most common reasons mentioned for this were not receiving drugs during a previous visit, and being told by friends that there were no drugs at the PCF. Roughly one-third of both younger adults and OPs reported that they had not gone to a health facility when they

needed to within the past 12 months. The commonest reasons reported for this were lack of transport, being too sick to walk, and being told by friends that there were no drugs at the facility (Annex 9.8).

	¹ Younger adults		¹ OPs	
	Ν	%	Ν	%
Number surveyed in each group	96		244	
Sex				
Female sex	62	64.6	148	60.7
Age-group (years)				
35-49	96	100	0	0
50 – 59	0		113	46.3
60 – 69	0		72	29.5
70 – 79	0		37	15.2
80+	0		22	9.0
Marital status				
Married	73	76.0	138	56.6
Cohabiting/living with someone	4	4.2	7	2.9
Widowed	5	5.2	75	30.7
Separated/divorced	8	8.3	10	4.1
Single	6	6.3	14	5.7
Main Occupation				
Farming	78	81.3	187	76.6
Self-employment	9	9.4	22	9.0
Government/NGO employment	6	6.3	10	4.1
Retired	0	0.0	8	3.3
Unemployed	3	3.1	17	7.0
Main source of cash income				
Farming	70	72.9	160	65.6
Self-employment	14	14.6	46	18.9
Government/NGO employment	9	9.4	10	4.1
Retirement benefits	0	0.0	2	0.8
Donation	1	1.0	20	8.2
None	2	2.1	6	2.5
Material situation				
Comfortable	26	27.1	56	23.0
Poor	55	57.3	114	46.7
Very poor	15	15.6	74	30.3
Education				
Attended school	59	61.5	126	51.6
Level of education achieved**				
Ordinary level	45	76.3	113	89.7
Advanced level	10	17.0	9	7.1
Tertiary institution	4	6.8	4	3.2

Table 22: Sociodemographic characteristics of the study participants

¹Unadjusted for the survey design. **sub-category with percentages calculated among those answering yes to the previous item.

4.5.1. How older persons and younger adults reported that they had been treated

Based on the classification of the treatment the OPs and younger adults said they had received into "good", "neither-poor-nor-good", and "poor"; overall, the majority of both OPs and younger adults (47.6-66.9%) were classified as having received neither-poor-nor-good treatment from the PCFs and 8.4-22.8% were classified as having received poor treatment (Table 23). However, a substantial proportion of both OPs and younger adults were classified as having received poor treatment (Table 23). However, a substantial proportion of both OPs and younger adults were classified as having received poor treatment with regard to having autonomy (74.5-79.8%), receiving prompt attention (55.9-76.4%), being screened for diseases (61.3-69.5%), receiving health education (25.3-50.6%), and being communicated to in a manner that would enable them to understand their illness and its management (17.1-22.1%) (Table 23).

Overall, there was no statistically significant difference between the treatment the OPs said they had received and that of younger adults (unadjusted coefficient: 1.37; 95%CI: -2.9, 5.6; p=0.52) (Table 24). However, OPs (\geq 50years) reported receiving prompt attention more often than younger adults (unadjusted coefficient: 0.35; 95%CI: 0.1, 0.6). Similarly, OPs aged \geq 60years reported receiving prompt attention more often than younger adults (p=0.001) and OPs aged 50-59years (p=0.01). In contrast, OPs (\geq 60years) reported receiving health education less often than younger adults (p=0.04) and OPs aged 50-59years (p=0.04). Although there was heterogeneity of reported treatment by other domains, there was no evidence of a significant difference by age of the patients.

Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses given by older persons (≥50years) to questions related their treatment at the primary care facilities

In the unadjusted analysis (Table 25), the mean overall score varied by PCF characteristics; namely: geographical zone (p<0.001), availability of equipment in the consultation area (p=0.01), availability of auditory privacy (p=0.01), and availability of visual privacy (p<0.001). The mean score also varied by characteristics of the OPs; namely: sex (p=0.04), increasing poverty level (P=0.05), increased number of PCF visits (p=0.05), and increasing duration of use of the PCF (p=0.03).
After adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone (Table 25), most of the associations became stronger – only the associations with sex and visual privacy remained. In addition, after adjusting, the association with increased caseload due to OPs, availability of guidelines in consultation area, and availability of laboratory services became statistically significant.

In the final model in which all the independent predictors of the mean overall score that were associated at p<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework were adjusted for (Table 25, last column); PCF characteristics that remained independently associated with the mean overall score were: decreasing level of PCF (p=0.03), geographical zone (P<0.001), increased caseload due to OPs (P=0.01), and availability of visual privacy (P=0.04). OP characteristics remaining independently associated were increasing level of education (0.004), increasing visits to the PCF (P=0.03), and increasing duration of facility use (P=0.002).

	Poor (%) ¹			Neither-poor-nor-good (%) ¹			Good (%) ¹					
Patient age (years)	35-49	50-59	60+	All OPs	35-49	50-59	60+	All OPs	35-49	50-59	60+	All OPs
Total surveyed in each group (N) ²	96	113	131	244	96	113	131	244	96	113	131	244
Treatment with dignity	4.2	6.2	0.2	3.1	29.6	15.1	33.4	24.6	66.2	78.7	66.4	72.3
Being screened for diseases	69.5	69.3	61.3	65.1	22.8	25.1	29.5	27.4	7.7	5.6	9.2	7.5
Receiving prompt attention	76.4	76.5	55.9	65.8	16.0	15.6	24.8	20.4	7.5	7.8	19.3	13.8
Being communicated to appropriately**	17.1	19.7	22.1	21.0	41.7	32.0	32.0	32.0	41.2	48.3	46.0	47.1
Having autonomy	79.8	64.3	74.5	69.6	4.5	17.2	12.5	14.7	15.8	18.5	13.0	15.7
Having privacy & confidentiality	5.9	1.7	4.1	2.9	3.9	5.7	5.2	5.4	90.2	92.6	90.7	91.6
Receiving health education	30.0	25.3	50.6	38.5	47.5	39.9	27.6	33.5	22.5	34.8	21.8	28.0
Not paying money unofficially (bribe)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	98.6	100	100	100
Overall (all domains combined)	16.5	8.4	22.8	15.9	66.9	66.1	47.6	56.5	16.6	25.6	29.6	27.7

Table 23: Proportion of older persons and younger adults classified as having received good, neither-good-nor-poor, and poor treatment

¹Values shown are percentages of OPs and younger adults that received good, neither-good-nor-poor and poor treatment from the PCFs, and the values are adjusted for the survey design only. ²Unweighted N. DEFFs (poor=0.90 – 0.94; neither-poor-nor-good=0.73 – 1.70; good=0.94 – 2.04)

Table 24: Comparison of the treatment the OPs said they received with that of younger adults

	OPs (ag	ged ≥50 y	ears) vs. younger a	dults	OPs aged 50-59years		OPs aged 60+year vs.		OPs aged 60+ years	
	(35-4	9years), v	with younger adults	s as	vs. younger a	adults,	younger adults, with		vs. OPs aged 50-59	
		refe	rence group		with younger adults as		younger adults as		years, with OPs aged	
					reference g	roup	reference	group	50-59 years a	as
									reference gro	oup
	mea	an ¹	Regression	p-	Regression	p-	Regression	p-	Regression	p-value
			coefficient ¹	value	coefficient ¹	value	coefficient ¹	value	coefficient ¹	•
			[95%CI]							
Patient age (Years)	35-59	50+	50+years		50-59years		60+years		60+years	
Treated with dignity (score/32)	25.4	26.1	0.77 [-0.2, 1.7]	0.12	0.97	0.18	0.58	0.22	-0.40	0.59
Screened for diseases (score/32)	12.8	13.6	0.72 [–0.7, 2.1]	0.31	0.99	0.32	0.47	0.59	-0.51	0.7
Attended to promptly (score/8)	3.7	4.0	0.35 [0.1, 0.6]	0.01	-0.03	0.87	0.70	0.001	0.74	0.01
Communicated to appropriately (score/24)	16.5	16.4	-0.05 [-0.8, 0.7]	0.89	0.25	0.69	-0.33	0.55	-0.58	0.53
Given autonomy (score/12)	5.0	5.3	0.30 [–0.2, 0.8]	0.22	0.71	0.04	-0.08	0.82	-0.79	0.10
Had privacy (score/12)	10.9	11.1	0.21 [-0.3, 0.7]	0.36	0.29	0.26	0.13	0.61	-1.16	0.53
Received health education (score/32)	19.5	18.4	-1.07 [-3.1, 1.0]	0.30	0.82	0.49	-2.81	0.04	-3.63	0.02
Did not pay bribe to a HW (score/8)	7.9	8.0	0.08 [-0.02, 0.2]	0.11	0.09	0.10	0.08	0.12	-0.01	0.50
Overall (all domains combined) (score/164)	105.1	106.5	1.37 [–2.9, 5.6]	0.52	4.19	0.20	-1.22	0.69	-5.4	0.24

Key: ¹Values are adjusted for the survey design only

to how older persons said they were treated at the primary health care facilities								
	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted			
			regression	regression	regression			
			coefficient ²	coefficient ³	coefficient ⁴			
			[95%CI]	[95%CI]	[95%CI]			
Overall	145	164						
Mean overall score achieved		106.5						
		PCF	CHARACTERISTICS					
PCF level			p=0.40	p=0.40	p=0.03			
PCF IV	54	107.6	1	1	1			
PCF III	100	103.4	-4.21 [-22.9, 14.5]	-4.21 [-22.9, 14.5	4.79 [–2.2, 11.8]			
PCF II	90	110.2	2.54 [–17.9, 23.0]	2.54 [–17.9, 23.0]	13.53 [4.8, 22.2]			
PCF location			p=0.43	p=0.43	p=0.70			
Urban	34	110.7	1	1	1			
Rural	210	106.0	-4.73 [-16.8, 7.4]	-4.73 [-16.8, 7.4]	7.03 [–2.6, 16.7]			
Geographical zone			p<0.001	p<0.001	p<0.001			
Northern	57	97.0	1	1	1			
Eastern	64	100.7	3.71 [–2.9, 10.4]	3.71 [–2.9, 10.4]	1.00 [–12.4, 14.4]			
Central	59	111.9	14.91 [6.4, 23.4]	14.91 [6.4, 23.4]	24.48 [11.4, 37.5]			
Western	64	118.4	21.41 [10.4, 32.4]	21.41 [10.4, 32.4]	17.61 [2.6, 32.6]			
caseload due to all patients			p=0.94	p=0.77				
≤4,000 patients/month	181	106.5	1	1				
>4,000 patients/month	63	105.9	-0.60 [-18.4, 17.2]	3.03 [–17.9, 24.0]				
Caseload due to OPs			p=0.71	p=0.04	p=0.01			
≤300 patients/month	161	105.4	1	1	1			
>300 patients/month	83	107.5	2.13 [-9.5, 13.8]	10.67 [0.4, 21.0]	12.91 [4.6, 21.3]			

Table 25: Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses related to how older persons said they were treated at the primary health care facilities

		HW	CHARACTERISTICS	
Reported practices of HWs			p=0.42	p=0.45
Each unit increase in practice			-0.10 [-0.3, 0.1]	-0.08 [-0.3, 0.1]
Attitude of HWs			p=0.10	p=0.76
Each unit increase in attitude			0.3 [-0.1, 0.7]	0.05 [–0.3, 0.4]
Knowledge of HWs			p=0.70	p=0.39
Poor	58	105.2	1	1
Satisfactory	159	106.5	1.38 [–9.0, 11.7]	1.54 [-8.3, 11.4]
Good	27	110.3	5.13 [-7.7, 18.0]	7.83 [–4.8, 20.5]

AVAILABILITY OF SERVICES, GUIDELINES, EQUIPMENT AND AMENITIES

Availability of services			p=0.84	p=0.13	
Had 0-6 of the services	102	107.0	1	1	
Had 7-8 of the services	83	104.6	–2.48 [–14.7, 9.7]	-6.10 [-16.7, 4.5]	
Had 9-10 of the services	59	108.4	1.34 [–12.4, 15.0]	4.04 [-7.2, 15.3]	
Guideline in consultation area			p=0.63	p=0.02	
Had 0-5 of the guidelines	154	107.7	1	1	
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	60	103.0	-4.70 [-16.4, 7.0]	-13.18 [-23, -3.1]	
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	30	108.5	0.81 [–9.8, 11.4]	6.61 [–4.0, 17.3]	
Equipment in consultation area			p=0.005	p<0.001	
Had 0-4 of the equipment	143	105.4	1	1	
Had 5 of the equipment	48	95.0	–10.43 [–21.7, 0.9]	-7.81 [-16.2, 0.5]	
Had >5 of the equipment	53	116.6	11.24 [0.5, 22.0]	15.60 [8.3, 22.9]	
Amenities we asked about			p=0.95	p=0.64	
Had 0-2 of the amenities	47	104.9	1	1	
Had 3-4 of the amenities	166	106.9	1.96 [–11.1, 15.0]	4.03 [-4.5, 12.6]	
Had all the 5 of the amenities	31	106.3	1.39 [-21.2, 24.0]	2.20 [-10.8, 15.2]	

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted
			regression	regression	regression
			coefficient	coefficient	coefficient*
			[95%CI]	[95%CI]	[95%Cl
Auditory privacy	222	107 1	p=0.006	p=0.001	
Available	223	107.1	15.28 [4.8, 25.8]	17.96 [7.5, 28.5]	
	207	107.0	P<0.001		p=0.05
Available	207	107.8	18.76 [9.1, 28.4]	17.65 [11.6, 23.7]	12.84 [6.0, 19.7]
Laboratory services	240	100.0	p=0.25	p=0.03	
Available	218	106.9	5.55 [-4.1, 15.2]	11.07 [1.0, 21.1]	
A		OPO	CHARACTERISTICS		
Age	110	100.0	p=0.66	p=0.69	
50-59 years	113	109.3			
60-69 years	/2	103.2	-6.09 [-16.8, 4.6]	-6.07 [-16.2, 4.0]	
70-79 years	37	103.5	-5.80 [-16.5, 4.9]	-4.11 [-13.8, 5.6]	
80+ years	22	106.3	-2.98 [-15.0, 9.0]	-2.62 [-12.3, 7.1]	
Sex			p=0.04	p=0.03	
Male	96	110.1	1	1	
Female	148	103.8	-6.24 [-12.2, -0.3]	-6.07 [-11, -0.7]	
Employment status			p=0.07	p=0.45	
Farming	187	105.8	1	1	
Self-employed	22	116.4	10.55 [2.5, 18.6]	7.07 [-2.0, 16.2]	
Government/NGO employed	10	109.2	3.38 [-8.7, 15.4]	6.29 [–5.6, 18.2]	
Retired	8	113.0	7.19 [-7.8, 22.2]	-0.14 [-11, 10.7]	
Unemployed	17	99.9	-5.90 [-18.2, 6.4]	-4.5 [-15.7, 6.7]	
Material/poverty situation			p=0.05	p=0.003	
Comfortable	56	113.1	1	1	
Poor	114	104.3	-8.72 [-15.6, -1.8]	–10.97 [–17, –5.0]	
Very poor	74	102.2	–10.83 [–23.4, 1.7]	–13.59 [–25, –1.4]	
Education status			p=0.40	p=0.45	
Attended school	126	107.9	1	1	
Never attended school	118	105.0	-2.90 [-9.9, 4.1]	-2.14 [-7.8, 3.5]	
Level of education			p=0.31	p=0.08	p=0.004
Primary	113	107.0	1	1	1
Secondary	9	113.8	6.83 [–8.7, 22.3]	12.04 [–2.6, 26.6]	14.60 [4.5, 24.7]
Tertiary	4	118.7	11.74 [–5.4, 28.9]	23.12 [–2.6, 48.8]	17.31 [–4.9, 39.5]
Number of visits in 12months			p=0.05	p<0.001	p=0.03
1-2 times	34	95.4	1	1	1
3-4 times	63	107.1	11.65 [0.9, 22.4]	16.73 [9.6, 23.9]	13.27 [0.8, 25.8]
>4 times	147	107.9	12.53 [2.6, 22.5]	15.98 [8.9, 23.0]	16.79 [5.7, 27.9]
Duration of PCF use			p=0.03	p=0.001	p=0.002
<12months	16	88.9	1	1	1
12-24 months	12	107.5	18.60 [–1.3, 38.5]	19.50 [–0.6, 39.6]	16.67 [–3.8, 37.2]
>24 months	216	107.4	18.50 [5.4, 31.6]	20.85 [10.5, 31.2]	20.08 [8.5, 31.7]
PCF is the main source of care			p=0.60	p=0.80	
No	19	103.7	-3.10 [-15.1, 8.9]	-1.38 [-12.5, 9.8]	
Received treatment that day			p=0.09	p=0.27	
Yes	233	105.7	–15.33 [–33.7, 3.0]	–10.46 [–29, 8.4]	

¹Unweighted N. ²Values adjusted for the survey design only. ³Values adjusted for survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone. ⁴Final model: values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean score of positive responses that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework.

4.5.2. Perceptions of older persons of the care they received from primary care facilities Based on the classification of the overall perceptions of the OPs into "poor", "neither-poornor-good" and "good"; almost none of the OPs (1.1%) and younger adults (2.1%) had poor perceptions of the services they had received from the PCFs (Table 26). Both OPs and younger adults rated the dignity with which they were treated (score 4.2/5), clarity of communication with HWs (score 3.7-4/5), and privacy and confidentiality they were accorded (4.3-4.4/5) more highly than they rated prompt attention they received (3.6/5), being screened for diseases (3.7/5), and being given autonomy (3.6/5) (Table 27). Overall, there was no statistically significant difference in perceptions of OPs and younger adults (p=0.21) (Table 27). However, OPs rated the clarity of communication with HWs more highly than did the younger adults (p=0.01).

	Younger adults	Older persons
	(n=96)	(n=244)
Poor	2.1 [0.6,7.7]	1.1[0.2,7.0]
Neither poor nor good	51.5 [38.6,64.2]	49.5 [42.7,56.3]
Good	46.4 [33.7,59.5]	49.3 [41.8,56.9]

Table 26: Proportion of patients with poor, neither-poor-nor-good, and good perceptions

Key: Values are only adjusted for the survey design. DEFFs (poor=0.87 – 2.35; neither-poor-nor-good=1.10 – 1.61; good=1.37 – 1.63)

Jounger addite				
	Mean score (ou	t of 5	Coefficient [95%CI] (younger	P-
	points)		adults as reference group	value
	younger adults ¹	OPs ¹	OPs ¹	
Dignity	4.2	4.2	0.04 [-0.1, 0.2]	0.54
Disease screening ²	3.7	3.7	-0.04 [-0.2, 0.1]	0.65
Prompt attention	3.6	3.6	-0.00 [-0.1, 0.1]	0.96
Communication	3.7	4.0	0.21 [0.1, 0.4]	0.01
Autonomy ³	3.6	3.6	-0.09 [-0.3, 0.1]	0.25
Privacy and confidentiality	4.3	4.4	0.08 [-0.2, 0.3]	0.51
All the services received	4.1	4.2	0.10 [-0.1, 0.2]	0.18
Mean overall score	26.1	26.6	0.47 [-0.3, 1.2]	0.21

Table 27: Comparison of the domain specific perceptions of older persons with that of younger adults

¹Value adjusted for the survey design only. ²Calculated among OPs who received physical examination.

³Calculated among OPs who had wanted to be involved in decisions regarding their care

Association of factors with the mean overall perception score

In the unadjusted analysis (Table 28), the mean overall perception score varied by geographical zone (p<0.001), availability of a waiting area that shields patients from sun or rain (P=0.07), availability of a functional toilet (P<0.001), availability of enough seats in the waiting area (P=0.07), and a ramp (p=0.09). The mean overall score was positively associated with increasing positive attitudes of HWs towards OPs (p=0.02) and increasing knowledge of common ailments that affect OPs (0.02). Similarly, the mean score was associated with OP characteristics, namely: reporting better treatment from the PCFs (p<0.001), employment status (P=0.01), level of education (p=0.002), and use of the PCFs as the main source of health care (P=0.001).

After adjusting for the PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone (Table 28), the positive associations with availability of functional toilet, enough seats in the waiting area, knowledge of HWs, reporting better treatment by OPs, education level of OPs, and use of the PCFs by OPs as their main source of health care remained or became stronger while the associations with availability of a ramp, waiting area that shields patients from sun or rain, HW attitudes, and employment status of OPs became statistically not significant. In addition, after adjusting, the association with the total caseload (due to all patients), sex and religion of OPs became statistically significant.

In the final model in which all the independent predictors of the mean overall perception score that were associated at p<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework were adjusted for (Table 28, last column); PCFs characteristics that remained independently associated were PCF location (P=0.04) and availability of functional toilet (p=0.001). Improving HW practices related to the care of OPs was the only HW characteristic that remained independently associated with the mean score (p<0.001). Characteristics of OPs that remained associated were age (p=0.01), religion (p=0.05), use of PCF as the main source of care (p<0.001) and duration of facility use (p<0.001).

		Moan ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted
	IN	wear	Unaujusteu	Aujusteu	Aujusteu
			regression	regression	regression
			coefficient	coefficient	coefficient
			[95%CI]	[95%CI]*	[95%CI]
Total	244	35			
Overall mean score achieved		26.6			
		PCF CH	ARACTERISTICS		
PCF level			p=0.16	p=0.16	p=0.19
PCF IV	54	26.7	1	1	1
PCF III	100	25.7	-0.93 [-2.9, 1.1]	-0.93 [-2.9, 1.1	-0.36 [-1.8, 1.1]
PCF II	90	27.7	0.99 [–1.1, 3.1]	0.99 [–1.1, 3.1]	0.59 [–1.0, 2.2]
PCF location			p=0.16	p=0.16	p=0.04
Urban	34	27.6	1	1	1
Rural	210	26.4	–1.17 [–2.8, 0.5]	–1.17 [–2.8, 0.5]	0.15 [–1.0, 1.3]
Geographical zone			p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.93
Northern	57	25.3	1	1	1
Eastern	64	25.6	0.36 [–0.7, 1.4]	0.36 [-0.7, 1.4]	0.05 [–1.2, 1.3]
Central	59	29.2	3.94 [3.1, 4.7]	3.94 [3.1, 4.7]	2.31 [1.3, 3.3]
Western	64	27.2	1.98 [–1.0, 4.9]	1.98 [–1.0, 4.9]	–0.36 [–2.9, 2.2]
Caseload due to all patients			p=0.96	p=0.004	
≤4,000 patients/month	181	26.6	1	1	
>4,000 patients/month	63	26.5	-0.04 [-1.7, 1.6]	1.4 [0.5, 2.3]	
Caseload due to older persons			p=0.48	p=0.39	
≤300 patients/month	164	26.9	1	1	
>300 patients/month	80	26.2	-0.65 [-2.5, 1.2]	0.70 [–0.9, 2.3]	
AVAILABILITY OF SE	RVICES	, GUIDELI	NES, EQUIPMENT AN	D COMFORT AMEN	ITIES
Availability of services asked about	ıt		p=0.85	p=0.74	
Had 0-6 of the services	102	26.7	. 1	1	
Had 7-8 of the services	83	26.7	-0.02 [-2.7, 2.6]	0.42 [-2.2, 3.0]	
Had 9-10 of the services	59	26.3	-0.41 [-1.9, 1.1]	0.84 [-1.4, 3.1]	
Guidelines in consultation area			p=0.90	p=0.42	
Had 0-5 of the guidelines	154	26.7	. 1	. 1	
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	60	26.1	-0.59 [-3.7, 2.5]	-0.90 [-3.4, 1.6]	
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	30	26.9	0.21 [-1.9, 2.3]	1.04 [-0.9, 3.0]	
Equipment in consultation area			p=0.80	p=0.56	
Had 0-4 of the equipment	143	26.6	. 1	. 1	
Had 5 of the equipment	48	26.0	-0.58 [-2.8, 1.6]	-0.04 [-2.9, 2.8]	
Had >5 of the equipment	53	26.8	0.22 [-1.8, 2.2]	0.69 [-0.9, 2.3]	
Laboratory services			p=0.12	p=0.19	
Available	218	26.5	-1.40 [-3.20, 0.4]	1.36 [-0.7. 3.4]	
Waiting area that shields from rai	n/sun		p=0.07	p=0.39	
Available	234	26.7	2.86 [-0.2, 5.9]	1.9 [-2.6, 6.4]	
Availability of functional toilet			p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.001
Available	240	26.6	5.14 [4.3, 6.0]	5.49 [3.6. 7.3]	1.08 [-0.6, 2.8]
Source of drinking water	-		p=0.32	p=0.17	[/-]
Available	163	26.9	1.22 [-1.2. 3.7]	1.45 [-0.6. 3.5]	
Enough seats in waiting area		2010	p=0.07	p=0.02	
Available	94	27.5	1.64 [-0.1. 3.4]	2.19 [0.4. 3.9]	
Ramps	51	27.0	p=0.05	p=0.11	
· ·····	83	25.2	-2.08 [-4.10.0]	-2.03[-4.5, 0.4]	

Table 28: Association of factors with the mean overall perception score for older persons

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted regression coefficient [95%CI] ²	Adjusted regression coefficient [95%CI] ³	Adjusted regression coefficient [95%CI] ⁴
Auditory privacy			p=0.94	p=0.11	
Available	223	26.6	-0.13 [-3.7, 3.4]	2.22 [–0.5, 5.0]	
Visual privacy			p=0.92	p=0.53	
Available	207	26.6	-0.12 [-2.4, 2.1]	0.64 [–1.4, 2.6]	
		HW CH	ARACTERISTICS		
Attitude of HWs			p=0.02	p=0.38	
Each unit increase in attitude			0.07 [0.01, 0.1]	0.03 [-0.04, 0.1]	
Knowledge of HWs			p=0.02	p=0.05	
Poor	56	25.4	1	1	
Neither poor nor good	156	26.8	1.44 [0.1, 2.8]	1.15 [–0.2, 2.5]	
Good	32	27.8 ОР СН И	2.46 [0.8, 4.2]	1.68 [0.4, 3.0]	
Treatment received at PCFs			p<0.001	p<0.001	p<0.001
Bad	38	21.7	1	1	1
Neither bad nor good	143	26.3	4.63 [3.3 <i>,</i> 5.9]	4.22 [2.9, 5.6]	5.04 [3.6, 6.50]
Good	63	29.9	8.25 [6.5, 10.0]	7.77 [5.7, 9.8]	8.50 [6.5, 10.5]
Age			p=0.28	p=0.23	p=0.01
50-59 years	113	26.4	1	1	1
60-69 years	72	26.0	-0.40 [-2.2, 1.4]	-0.59 [-2.6, 1.4]	-0.20 [-1.5, 1.1]
70-79 years	37	27.2	0.76 [–1.0, 2.5]	0.43 [–1.4, 2.2]	1.00 [0.04, 2.0]
30+ years	22	28.3	1.89 [–0.04, 3.8]	1.88 [–0.1, 3.9]	1.64 [0.4, 2.9]
Sex			p=0.11	p=0.06	
male	96	27.1	1	1	
-emale	148	26.2	-0.95 [-2.1, 0.2]	-1.00 [-2.1, 0.1]	
Marital Status	4 4 5	26.6	p=0.99	p=0.75	
Married or living with someone	145	26.6			
never married)	99	26.6	0.01 [-1.6, 1.6]	-0.25 [-1.8, 1.3]	
Employment status			p=0.01	p=0.12	
Farming	187	26.3	1	1	
Self-employed	20	28.9	2.63 [1.2, 4.0]	1.39 [–0.2, 3.0]	
Government/NGO employed	7	28.3	1.99 [–0.5, 4.4]	1.63 [0.2, 3.0]	
Retired	8	28.2	1.83 [–2.0, 5.7]	0.63 [–3.0, 4.2]	
Unemployed	22	26.2	-0.11 [-2.6, 2.4]	0.16 [–2.3, 2.3]	
Material situation			p=0.23	p=0.25	
Comfortable	56	26.7	1	1	
Poor	114	27.2	0.43 [-0.8, 1.7]	-0.24 [-1.3, 0.8]	
Very poor	74	25.4	-1.32 [-4.0, 1.4]	-1.96 [-4.6, 0.6]	
Education status	120	26.0	p=0.56	p=0.60	
Attended school	126	26.8			
ivever attended school	118	26.4	-0.34 [-1.5, 0.8]	-0.31 [-1.5, 0.9]	
Level of education	110	26.0	p=0.002	h-n'ne	
Level of education Primary Secondary	113	26.8	p=0.002 1		

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted	Adjusted	Adjusted
			regression	regression	regression
			coefficient	coefficient	coefficient
			[95%CI] ²	[95%CI] ³	[95%CI]⁴
Religion			p=0.12	p=0.04	p=0.05
Protestant	95	27.5	1	1	1
Catholic	108	26.1	–1.39 [–3.1, 0.3]	-1.19 [-2.4, 0.0]	-0.76 [-1.9, 0.4]
Others	41	25.8	–1.70 [–3.6, 0.2]	-2.03 [-3.8, -0.2]	–1.86 [–3.2, –0.5]
Distance from PCF			p=0.42	p=0.43	
<3km	127	26.9	1	1	
3-5km	75	26.1	–0.77 [–1.9, 0.4]	-0.56 [-1.4, 0.3]	
>5km	42	26.3	-0.58 [-1.9, 0.7]	-0.32 [-1.3, 0.7]	
PCF is main source of care			p=0.001	p=0.001	p<0.001
Yes	225	26.9	1	1	1
No	19	23.4	-3.45 [-5.4, -1.5]	-2.55 [-4.0, -1.2]	-3.33 [-4.7, -1.9]
Number of PCF visits in 12months			p=0.94	p=0.72	
1 – 5 times	34	26.3	1	1	
6 – 10 times	63	26.6	0.26 [–2.0, 2.6]	0.52 [–1.2, 2.2]	
>10 times	147	26.6	0.33 [–1.7, 2.4]	0.68 [–1.0, 2.3]	
Duration of PCF use			p=0.94	p=0.83	p<0.001
<12 months	16	26.8	1	1	1
12-24 months	12	26.1	–0.70 [–4.9, 3.5]	-0.71 [-4.4, 3.0]	-5.4 [-8.1, -2.7]
>24 months	216	26.6	-0.22 [-2.0, 1.5]	0.09 [–1.3, 1.5]	-4.72 [-6.9 <i>,</i> -2.5]
Received treatment that day			p=0.57	p=0.69	
No	11	27.6	1	1	
Yes	233	26.5	-1.09 [-4.9, 2.7]	-0.71 [-4.3, 2.8]	

¹Unweighted N. ²Values adjusted for the survey design only. ³Values adjusted for survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone. ⁴Final model: values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean perception score that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework.

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1. Introduction

The specific aim of this study was to evaluate the health care available and delivered to OPs through PCFs in Uganda in order to identify any gaps and weaknesses and to suggest potential solutions for improving health care for OPs in SSA. Specifically, the study evaluated the availability of services that were expected to be in the minimum health care package for OPs in Uganda and factors that influenced their availability (Figure 2). The study was conducted in 48 PCFs across 8 districts, two in each of the four geographical zones of Uganda (Northern, Eastern, Central and Western). It involved record reviews to determine the absolute and relative caseload due to OPs, and structured interviews with: 1) The HW in-charge of the PCFs to assess what health care was provided both overall and specifically to OPs, 2) HWs to assess their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding provision of health care to OPs, and 3) OPs and younger adults (aged 35-49 years) to assess their perceptions of the health care services they have received from the PCFs. Study participants were selected through a multistage stratified random sampling method. Quantitative data were collected using tools developed based mainly on WHO's recommendations on "service availability and readiness", and "health system responsiveness". Data were analysed using methods appropriate for complex multistage surveys.

5.2. Availability of services

The study identified important gaps and weaknesses in the availability of services that were identified in the minimum health care package to be particularly important for the care of OPs in Uganda and that were enquired about. Firstly, as would be expected; special geriatric care was found to be non-existent at the PCFs (Table 11). Secondly, there was severe shortage of the specific services that were judged by the study team to be particularly important for the care of OPs and were enquired about in the study (Table 11). Availability was particularly low for chronic non-communicable diseases (NCDs) – suggesting that primary care in Uganda is built around the acute-care model, focusing on prevention and treatment of infectious illnesses. This finding is consistent with the government reports in East Africa^{151, 152, 161}, and WHO (2008)^{109, 139} report on primary care services in Africa that

showed that primary care in Africa focuses on prevention and treatment of infectious illnesses.

As would be expected, availability of most services was highest at PCF IV (higher-level PCF) and lowest at PCF II (lower-level PCF) (Table 11), and similar between urban and rural PCFs, and geographical zones (Annex 9.5.1). OPs with NCDs were particularly unlikely to have access to appropriate services at PCF IIIs (mid-level PCFs) and PCF IIs and yet these PCFs constitute 34% and 60% of the PCFs in Uganda respectively (MoH 2011 pg. 3)²³² and potentially see many OPs.

Thirdly, there was shortage of the basic items of equipment that were judged by the study team to be particularly important for delivering services to OPs, namely: equipment, drugs, guidelines, and staff who had received specific training to care for the diseases and conditions that are particularly prevalent in OPs (Table 11). Availability of these items also differed by PCF level, with availability being high at PCF IV and less so at PCF III and PCF II. Although availability of equipment was generally low, it was particularly low for ophthalmoscope (4%), otoscope (9%) and visual acuity chart (19%) (Table 11) i.e. equipment that are vital for managing the two most common causes of disability in OPs – vision and hearing problems¹⁶. The shortage of vital equipment could indicate an important potential for missing or misdiagnosing diseases at the PCFs. Additionally, the shortage of guidelines in addition to the shortage of staff who had received specific training to care for the diseases could indicate an important potential for mismanaging patients at the PCFs.

Creating an age-friendly physical environment is one of the three principles designed by WHO to create an age-friendly environment for OPs in a health care system; the other two are adapting the health care system to the needs of the OPs, and building the capacity of HWs to care for OPs¹¹³. The study found that there was shortage of physical facilities that are vital for creating an age-friendly physical environment. While availability was high for some of the physical facilities such as a functional toilet (98%) and a covered waiting area (97%), it was low for "enough seats in waiting area" (42%) and a ramp (30%) (Table 12) – indicating that OPs with frailty or disability may face difficulties navigating the PCFs and finding a place to sit.

These findings have major policy implications because they suggest that a great majority of OPs in Uganda face important challenges in accessing age-appropriate health care. Given that the Uganda government, in 2002¹¹⁹, ratified the global recommendations on the care of OPs^{91, 92, 121} that called on governments to use PCFs as the model for addressing the consequences of ageing and particularly dealing with the increasing burden of NCDs, it is not clear why, over 10 years later, there are major gaps and weaknesses in the availability of suitable health care for OPs in Uganda. Perhaps, one needs not look further than policy-level implementation of programmes for OPs in Uganda. As discussed in section 1.5.2, the stewardship role for issues affecting OPs in Uganda is provided by MoGLSD with limited involvement of MOH – the Ministry mandated to lead health care service delivery. It is possible that the lack of central role played by the MOH in development of policies for OPs is a key factor impeding health care for OPs. Efforts aimed at improving health care for OPs should include, as a priority, a policy analysis to identify potential policy gaps and weaknesses that impede the care of OPs at health facilities in Uganda.

In conclusion, this study shows that there is severe shortage of services that are vital for OPs and yet OPs are particularly vulnerable to diseases^{17, 199, 233} and their population in Uganda and elsewhere in SSA is increasing^{15, 175}. Indeed, the shortage of services at PCFs affects other adult patients as well, but they are of particular significance to OPs because OPs are more vulnerable to diseases and require health care more often than younger adults^{17, 199, 233}. OPs are also physically weaker and tend to be economically poorer than younger adults and so have less ability to access private health care or hospital services that are often located in urban areas – far from rural areas where most OPs live¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁷. Efforts to build the capacity of PCFs to enable them to care for OPs closer to their homes are therefore urgently needed.

Although the study only included a relatively small proportion of all the government PCFs in Uganda (48/2,560 = 2%), an appropriate stratified random sampling method was used to select the PCFs, and adjustments were made for the survey design in the analysis. Furthermore, not much variability between the PCFs would be expected because, by design,

each facility within a given level of PCF in Uganda is supposed to provide similar services. We did not detect significant geographical differences in the availability of services.

5.3. The caseload and the common diseases diagnosed in older persons

With about one in ten patients attending services at PCFs being OPs (Table 13), results of the record review implied that the caseload due to OPs at PCFs was not yet very large but was not trivial. The relative caseload due to OPs (8.4%) (Table 13) was however higher than the percentage of OPs in the general population (6%). This implies that OPs in Uganda have a greater demand for health services than other age groups. The relative caseload is consistent with that of a Nigerian study on geriatric morbidity in hospitals that found that 8.8% of patients were OPs⁵⁷. Surprisingly, the ratio in number of attendances per person per year was 1:1.5 for OPs vs. younger adults - implying that OPs in Uganda use health care services 1.5 times less often than younger adults. In England and Wales for example, national statistics show that the ratio in number of attendances at PCFs per person per year in 2007 was 2:1 for OPs vs. younger adults¹⁹⁹ – implying that OPs in England and Wales used primary care services 2 times more often than younger adults. Given that OPs in SSA are reported to be particularly vulnerable to diseases, this finding suggests that OPs in Uganda are using primary care services much less relative to Ugandan younger adults compared to OPs in England and Wales relative to younger adults in England and Wales. Also the proportion of visits to the eye clinic due to OPs was very low (Table 13), yet OPs have far more eye problems than younger age groups^{16, 17, 20}. This finding could be because most PCFs lacked special eye clinics.

Infectious illnesses were found to be the most commonly diagnosed illness among OPs, with malaria and non-pneumonia respiratory tract infections being the most commonly diagnosed illnesses in OPs (Figure 16). These findings differ from reports that have indicated that NCDs are the leading cause of morbidity in OPs¹⁶⁻¹⁸. The prevalence of NCDs diagnosed by the PCFs was substantially lower than the prevalence of NCDs reported by similar facility-based studies in SSA. For example, the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases (3.7%) and vision problems (0.6%) reported by the PCFs (Figure 17) were substantially lower compared to the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases (30-65%)^{36, 43, 45, 46} and vision problems (44%)²³⁴ that have been reported by other studies in SSA. Similarly, some of the diseases in OPs

commonly reported by population-based burden of disease studies such as dementia (prevalence 4-12%)^{27, 30, 50-52, 53, 54} and depression (prevalence 7-60%)^{26, 33, 35, 42} were never reported by the PCFs. Considering that most of the PCFs lacked services and items that are necessary for delivering services for NCDs, it could be that NCDs in PCFs were underdiagnosed. These findings point to the urgent need to build the capacity of PCFs to manage NCDs.

This record review will have missed OPs who needed care but failed to reach the PCFs. Doing a community-based survey to understand how many OPs need health care but do not access it within a specified period of time would be informative. Secondly, because we only reported what was in the records of the PCFs, we could not ascertain the validity of the diagnoses. The review however provides useful information that can be used for planning. It also provides a useful reference point for similar studies in the future. The possible underdiagnosis of NCDs at PCFs identified by this study can be used to advocate for improving care of NCDs at the PCFs.

5.4. Knowledge of health workers of common ailments affecting older persons

With two thirds of the HWs classified as having at least satisfactory knowledge of the common ailments affecting OPs (Table 15), knowledge of geriatrics among the HWs in PCFs in Uganda is relatively high. However, the fact that a third (32.1%) of the HWs was classified as having poor knowledge means that there is important room for improvement.

To the best of our knowledge, no previous study on knowledge of common ailments affecting OPs has been done among HWs in PCFs in SSA. Even among HWs in general, there is a paucity of research on knowledge of common ailments affecting OPs in SSA and in high-income countries. Most studies on knowledge of geriatrics done in high-income countries have been done among nursing students^{215, 235-238} or have been done on specific ailments such as dementia²³⁹ and oral health²⁴⁰; thereby rendering comparisons of findings difficult.

The proportion classified as having at least satisfactory knowledge found in the current study was slightly lower than that of a previous study on knowledge of geriatrics among 120 HWs in one hospital and one PCF IV in one district in Northern Uganda (Ajwang et al 2010)¹⁶² (Table 29). This difference could well be due to a lower cutoff used by the previous study to define satisfactory or good knowledge¹⁶² (Table 29), and to differences in the questions used, with most of our questions focusing on age-related diseases while the previous study¹⁶² used *Palmore's facts on aging quiz-1²¹⁸*, with most of the questions focusing on the social aspects of ageing. Surprisingly, the mean overall knowledge score found in the current study (25.7/34x100=76%) was higher than that of a previous study in the United States of America that assessed emergency nurses' knowledge of common ailments affecting OPs (57%)²⁴¹. However, once again, the questions used in the two studies were different, so the results may not be comparable.

Table 29: proportion of HWs with poor, satisfactory and good knowledge found in the current study and another study in Uganda

	Current study (%)		Ajwang (%) ¹⁶²		
	Range of scores	%	Range of scores	%	
	(Total score: 34)		(Total score: 25)		
Poor	0-24	32	0-9	12	
Satisfactory	25-29	61	10-14	69	
Good	30-34	7	15-25	19	

Knowledge of geriatrics was found to be similar between the PCF levels (unadjusted p=0.93; p=0.68 after adjusting for all independent predictors of knowledge) (Table 16). Although surprising, the lack of association of knowledge with PCF level is of particular significance because one of the reasons why certain services such as NCD services and life-long antiretroviral treatment services are never provided at PCF III and PCF II in Uganda is the expected limitations in HW knowledge at those levels. These results suggest that given the same range of geriatric services and items necessary for delivering the services, PCF IIs and IIIs might be capable of performing as well as PCF IVs. Knowledge was also not found to be associated with urban/rural location of PCF (p=0.41; adjusted p=0.47), geographical zone (p=0.07; adjusted p=0.92), and number of OPs seen in the PCFs (unadjusted p=0.39; p=0.14 after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone) (Table 16).

As would be expected, knowledge of HWs was found to be positively associated with increased availability of the services that were considered to be particularly important for the care of OPs and were enquired about in the study, and independently associated with increased availability of guidelines in the patient consultation area (Table 16). Unexpectedly however, having a high availability of items of equipment in the consultation area was found to be inversely associated with knowledge (Table 16). The reasons for this are unclear.

As would be expected, knowledge was found to be positively associated with increasing level of technical qualification of the HWs. This finding corroborates the findings of studies in Hong Kong²¹⁴, Bangladesh²⁴² and United States of America²⁴³ that showed that greater training is positively associated with increased knowledge of geriatrics. Knowledge was also found to independently associated with sex, but the association of sex with knowledge, wherein males had better knowledge than females, was largely related to sex differences in training/occupation, and became statistically non-significant (p=0.14) after adjusting for HW qualification. While the increase in knowledge with increase in level of technical qualification is as would be expected; the mean knowledge score for clinicians was only 1.3 points higher than for nurses and 1.9 points higher than for nurse aides. Given the greater training of clinicians compared to nurses and nurse aides, one might have expected a bigger difference in the mean knowledge score between a clinician and a nurse aide for example. Nurse aides in Uganda are unqualified HWs who provide basic care (such as wound dressing, cleaning and drug distribution to patients) under the supervision of a qualified HW. However, due to shortage of HWs in Uganda, with only 63% of approved positions filled by 2013 (MoH 2013. pg.XIV)¹⁹³ – up from 42% in 2009 (AWHO. pg. 44)¹⁹², nurse aides have received on-the-job training and have been allowed to prescribe treatment and even head some of the PCFs. In fact two of the PCF IIs that participated in this study had nurse aides only. This finding therefore suggests that knowledge among nurse aides is not that different from that of clinicians and programmes aiming to improve the care of OPs can train and use nurse aides. Surprisingly however, there was no evidence of association of knowledge of geriatrics with HWs reporting receiving training in the care of OPs (p=0.79; adjusted p=0.80) and age of HWs (p=0.26; adjusted p=0.29).

A major limitation to this study was the arbitrary cutoff points used for the classification of knowledge levels. However, these cutoffs were based on the expert opinions of six senior medical workers in Uganda. Secondly, our sample size was small. But because we used an appropriate sampling method to select the study participants and achieved a high response rate (92%), we believe that our findings are likely to be reasonably representative of knowledge of geriatrics among HWs in PCFs in Uganda.

In conclusion, this study has shown that knowledge of HWs in PCFs of common ailments affecting OPs is relatively high. However, with about a third of the HWs having poor knowledge and most of the HWs classified as having only satisfactory knowledge, there is a lot of room for improvement. HWs therefore need to be given training in geriatrics to enable them to care for OPs. To the best of our knowledge, basic geriatric principles have never been incorporated into the curriculum for training medical students, clinical officers and nurses in Uganda and neither has there ever been any specific on-the-job training in geriatrics for HWs. In the short term therefore, efforts to improve knowledge of geriatrics among HWs should include an advocacy with MoH to commission on-the-job training of HWs. In the long-term, such efforts should include advocacy with Ministry of Education and MoH to include geriatrics in the curriculum for training medical students, clinical officers and nurses.

5.5. Attitudes of health workers towards older persons

Results of the study on attitudes of HWs towards OPs showed that nearly all of the HWs (97%) had neutral attitudes towards OPs (Table 17). However, with only 2% of the HWs classified as having positive attitudes, this finding implies that there is an important room for improvement, as ideally HWs should have positive attitudes. Compared to developed countries, the proportions of HWs with positive or negative attitudes found in the current study were substantially lower than those reported by studies done among nurses in United Kingdom^{104, 223, 226}, Canada²²², and Australia^{227, 244} (Table 30). The mean overall attitude score found in the current study was however consistent with the findings of two studies in Australia^{227, 244} but substantially higher than that of another study in the UK²²⁶ (Table 30).

Studies in SSA on HW attitudes towards OPs have been rare. Only one study that examined attitudes of HWs towards OPs in Uganda (Ajwang et al 2010)¹⁶² was identified during literature review. The findings of the study are in stark contrast to the current study findings because it reported that the great majority (80%) of the HWs had positive attitudes towards OPs¹⁶² (Table 30). However, the study¹⁶² had a major analytical flaw in that it only classified as "neutral attitude" participants who scored the exact midpoint on the five-point *Kogan's attitude towards older people scale*¹⁶⁵ it used and may therefore have classified as positive attitudes HWs who actually had neutral attitudes.

Table 30: Proportion of HWs classified as having negative, neutral or positive attitudestowards older persons by different studies

	Negative	Neutral	Positive	Mean overall
	(%)	(%)	(%)	score (%)
Current study (Uganda)	1	97	2	63
Ajwang et al ¹⁶² (Uganda)	15	5	80	
Doherty et al ¹⁰⁴ (UK)	0	53	47	
Gallagher et al ²²³ (UK)	68	-	42	
Furlan et al ²²² (Canada)	43	9	48	
Kearney et al ²²⁶ (UK)	-	-	-	34
Myers et al ²⁴⁴ (Australia)	-	-	-	63
Mellor et al ²²⁷ (Australia)	-	-	-	68

Attitudes of the HWs were found to be independently associated with PCF level, with attitudes being more positive in the lower level than in the higher level PCF, and with geographical zone, with HWs in Northern Uganda having less positive attitudes than HWs in Eastern, Central and Western Uganda (Table 18). These associations could be due to the influence of the external and internal work environment on the attitudes of the HWs. It is thought that, because HWs are drawn from the general population, the degree of ageism ("the perverse systematic stereotyping of, and discrimination against OPs in societies"²⁴⁵) in the society (external work environment) directly influences their attitude towards OPs¹⁰³. Studies conducted in middle and high income countries such as Jordan²²⁵, Taiwan²⁴⁶, UK¹⁰³, South Korea¹⁰⁵, Australia²⁴⁷ and Canada²²² that found associations of attitudes of HWs with

the work environment have attributed it to increased exposure of HWs to OPs, professional socialisation, and the organisational culture that is influenced by its internal and external environment. However, the associations of attitudes of HWs towards OPs with their work environment have not been found consistently across studies. For example, studies that were conducted in USA²⁴⁸, UK²²³, Sweden²²⁹ and Australia²⁴⁴ did not find any association with work environment.

The current study did not find evidence of association of HW attitudes with urban/rural location of the PCF (unadjusted p=0.11; p=0.12 after adjusting for all independent predictors of attitude). Attitudes were found to be positively associated with the increased number of patients in the PCFs (unadjusted p=0.49; p=0.02 after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone) but there was no evidence of association with the number of OPs seen in the PCFs (p=0.33; adjusted p=0.98).

As would be expected, attitudes of HWs were found to be more positive in PCFs that had increased availability of items of the equipment in patient consultation area. This finding corroborates that of studies in the UK that suggested that availability of resources such as equipment have positive influence on HW attitudes and that such influence pervades to the care of OPs^{249, 250}. There was however no evidence of association of HW attitudes with availability of other items that were considered to be particularly important for the care of OPs; namely: medical services (p=0.42; adjusted p=0.42), guidelines (p=0.46; adjusted p=0.50), laboratory services (p=0.08; adjusted p=0.75), and basic amenities (p=0.27; adjusted p=0.75) (Table 18).

Attitudes of the HWs were also found to be independently associated with sex of HWs, with males having more positive attitudes than females (Table 18). However, the association of HW attitudes with male sex has not been found consistently across studies, with some studies finding a positive association with male sex^{224, 225, 251}, while others have found an inverse association with male sex^{220, 229, 252} or no significant association with sex^{244, 247, 253}. Surprisingly, attitudes of HWs were not found to be associated with the other socio-demographic characteristics of the HWs such as age (p=0.27; adjusted p=0.36), technical qualification (p=0.05; adjusted 0=0.26), training in care of OPs (p=0.61; adjusted p=0.71),

and HW knowledge of geriatrics (p=0.64; adjusted p=0.79). However, the association of attitudes of HWs with socio-demographic characteristics such as age, qualification and training have also not been found consistently across studies, with some studies finding positive associations with increasing age^{220, 224, 229}, increasing knowledge of geriatrics^{220, 227}, increasing level of education^{220, 222, 224, 229, 253}, increasing level of technical qualification^{227, 229, 254}, and receiving training in the care of OPs²⁴⁶, while others have found no associations with age^{101, 222, 225, 244, 247, 253} and level of education^{101, 225, 244, 251} or have found inverse association with increasing age^{229, 252} – suggesting that associations of attitudes towards OPs with the socio-demographic characteristics of HWs are contingent upon other factors which may be environmental.

Findings of this study have important policy implications as they suggest that there are gaps and weaknesses in HW attitudes towards OPs. Although only 1% of the HWs were classified as having negative attitudes towards OPs, most of them were classified as having neutral attitudes. Having most HWs with positive attitudes towards OPs would be desirable because HW attitudes are a key determinant of HWs expressing a preference to work with OPs and of the quality of care they provide¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. Efforts aimed at improving the attitudes of HWs towards OPs are therefore needed in Uganda. Although we did not find an evidence of association of HW attitudes with training in the care of OPs (p=0.61; adjusted p=0.71) and with increasing knowledge of common ailments affecting OPs (p=0.64; adjusted p=0.79), studies have shown that training of HWs improves HW attitudes towards OPs^{202, 215, 242-244}. Efforts to improve HW attitudes should therefore include advocacy with MoH to commission on-the-job training of HWs in geriatrics in the short-term, and advocacy with the MoH and Ministry of education to commission inclusion of geriatrics in the curriculum for training medical students, clinical officers, and nurses in the long-term. While many studies have evaluated attitudes of HWs or nursing students towards OPs, studies that have evaluated strategies for directly improving attitudes towards OPs are largely unavailable. Consequently, specific evidence-based recommendations on how HW attitudes towards OPs can be improved are largely lacking. However, it should potentially be possible to improve HW attitudes towards OPs through regulation, creating awareness about the health care needs of OPs among HWs and in the general population, and through general improvement of the care of OPs at all levels of health service delivery. It would also be informative to

evaluate, in a research study, such approaches aimed at directly improving HW attitudes towards OPs.

A major limitation of this study was the use of a tool that has not been validated. However, many of the questions were developed based on Kogan's attitude towards older people scale¹⁶⁵</sup> and Plamore's facts on ageing quiz^{<math>218} – both validated tools. Some of the questions</sup></sup> were based on known stereotypes among HWs in Uganda. The questions were adjusted in light of the experience obtained during the pilot study. Secondly, a five-point Likert scale was chosen. While Likert scales are easily understood and produce a highly reliable scale as it allows participants to respond in a degree of agreement, they are potentially open to central tendency bias where participants avoid extreme response categories²⁵⁵. It is possible that the low proportion of HWs classified as having negative (1%) or positive (2%) attitudes may have been due to central tendency bias²⁵⁵. Similarly, the low proportion of HWs classified as having negative attitudes may be due to social desirability bias, a key feature of Likert scales whereby individuals portray themselves in a more socially favourable light rather than being honest²⁵⁶. Counteracting the effects of social desirability and central tendency bias is a major challenge, particularly in quantitative research. While time and financial constraints necessitated the use of structured questions to collect data for this study, future research in this area should include a qualitative design whereby the language, behaviour and interactions of HWs can be recorded through in-depth interviews and observations.

5.6. Practices of health workers regarding the care of older persons

With very few of the HWs classified as having bad practices regarding the care of younger adults (35-49years), OPs (50-59years) and OPs (\geq 60years) (Table 19), results of the study on practices of HWs implies that the overall reported practices were adequate. However, there are some domains where a substantial proportion of HWs were classified as having bad practices; namely: autonomy (46.4-48.6%), health education (15.4-34.6%), prompt attention (19.4-29.9%), and disease screening (14.2-16.7%) (Table 19) – pointing to the need to pay careful attention to these practices. Overall, although only 0.5-1.2% of the HWs were classified as having bad practices, over half (51.3-53.0%) were classified as having neitherbad-nor-good practices (Table 19). It would be desirable to have most of the HWs classified

as having good practices because HW practices affect the quality of care they provide (WHR 2006, pgs. 67-89)¹⁰⁷ and are among the factors that make health care inaccessible or harmful to patients¹⁰⁶. For example, results of two community-based cross-sectional studies conducted in Uganda⁸³ and Kenya⁸² among OPs to assess their vulnerability to malnutrition showed that many OPs (29% in the Kenyan study⁸²) did not seek care when they needed to because they said the quality of services were poor and HWs often neglected them and did not give them prompt attention. Findings on "prompt attention" in the two studies in Uganda⁸³ and Kenya⁸² should not be surprising because in 'health system responsiveness⁶' surveys in 41 countries (Valentine 2008)²⁵⁷, OPs \geq 60years ranked prompt attention as the most important non-clinical aspect of health care they wanted to be provided with, followed by dignity, communication, choice of provider, autonomy, confidentiality, and social support. Health system responsiveness is an important component of health care quality and is responsible for increasing and sustaining public confidence in a health system^{94, 258}. Having a substantial proportion of HWs classified as having bad practices related to screening OPs for diseases and targeting them for health education are particularly worrying because OPs have increased vulnerability to chronic NCDs^{17, 18, 20}. This implies that many OPs with NCDs may not have been identified at the PCFs, and many may not have received adequate health education about diseases.

To the best of our knowledge, no study has evaluated HW practices related to the care of OPs in PCFs or in any health service. However, qualitative studies conducted in five Asian countries (Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Singapore and Vietnam) that used experiences of OPs as a proxy assessment of HW practices concluded that HWs did not target OPs for health education and screen them for diseases¹⁴⁰. Similar conclusions to the Asian studies¹⁰ were also drawn by four other studies^{142, 156, 157, 166} conducted among general patients (not OPs) attending primary care services in South Africa^{115, 129, 130, 150} – suggesting that poor HW practices related to provision of medical services are not only limited to OPs or to PCFs in Uganda but are a general problem among HWs in low income countries.

⁶ Health system responsiveness is a measure of how the health system responds to the non-clinical expectations of the patients that include: dignity, autonomy, prompt attention, confidentiality, clarity of communication, choice of provider, quality of basic amenities, and access to social support.

Comparison of the reported practices of the HWs by age of the patients (OPs vs. younger adults) showed that HWs reported targeting OPs for health education less often than they reported targeting younger adults, and the practices worsened with increasing age of the patients (Table 20). In contrast, the reported practices were better for OPs than for younger adults in the domains of prompt attention, disease screening, and communication, and the practices improved with increasing age of patients. For the domains of dignity, autonomy, and privacy and confidentiality however, the reported practices were similar for OPs and younger adults (Table 20). Contrary to the findings of studies in Kenya³², Swaziland²⁵⁹, Uganda⁸³ and Kenya⁸² that reported that OPs were often discriminated against in health facilities; results of the current study imply that overt discrimination against OPs at the PCFs may not exist.

The reported HW practices related to the care of OPs aged ≥60years were not found to be associated with PCF level (unadjusted p=0.40; p=0.54 after adjusting for all independent predictors of HW practices) and geographical zone (p=0.94; adjusted p=0.62) but were found to be independently associated with PCF location, with reported practices being better in urban than in rural areas (Table 21). The positive association of HW practices with urban facilities could be because urban PCFs are usually located closer to the district headquarters or on easily accessible routes and are therefore better supported and supervised by the district health officials than rural PCFs.

The practices were found to worsen with increased number of patients (all patients) seen in the PCFs (unadjusted p=0.45; p<0.001 after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone) but there was no evidence of association with the number of OPs seen in the PCFs (p=0.98; adjusted p=0.44). The worsening reported practices with the increased number of patients could be due to shortage of resources and burnout among HWs resulting from severe shortage of HWs in the PCFs¹⁹².

As would be expected, the reported HW practices improved significantly with increased availability of the services and items that were considered to be particularly important for the care of OPs and were enquired about in the study; namely: medical services, laboratory services, auditory privacy and visual privacy (Table 21). Unexpectedly however, an inverse association was found with increased availability of equipment in the consultation area. The reason for this is not clear. Surprisingly, there was no evidence of association of the reported practices with availability of guidelines (p=0.24; adjusted p=0.59) and basic amenities (p=0.52; adjusted p=0.17).

The reported practices were found to be independently associated with age of the HWs, with the practices worsening with increasing age, and with technical qualification of the HWs, with the practices surprisingly being better among the lower cadre staff than among the higher cadre staff (Table 21). Nurse aides for example reported better practices than nurses and clinicians. With nurse aides forming about a third (29%) of the total health workforce in Uganda (AWHO 2009, pg. 30)¹⁹², the significance of this finding is that, programmes aiming to improve the care of OPs can train and use nurse aides. We however do not have clear explanation for why reported practices would be better among the younger and lower cadre HWs than among the older and higher cadre HWs but potential reason for these associations could be that older and higher-cadre HWs tend to mainly play supervisory or administrative roles in the PCFs. There was no evidence of association with sex (p=0.18; adjusted p=0.15), training in the care of OPs (p=0.37; adjusted p=0.37), knowledge of geriatrics (p=0.97; adjusted p=0.97) and attitudes towards OPs (p=0.33; adjusted p=0.18).

We may have overestimated the proportion of HWs with good practices because this study was based on what the HWs said they did while attending to the OPs, not what we observed. It is possible that HWs may have reported an activity done when actually it was not done. Secondly, just as was the case with the HW attitudes, Likert scale format was used to obtain data. The questions asked how often HWs performed particular activities and they responded: "never", "rarely", "usually", and "always". Such responses are open to potential social desirability bias²⁵⁶. It is possible that the responses of the HWs, and therefore the low proportion of HWs classified as having bad practices, could have been influenced by the social desirability bias²⁵⁶. To get a true picture of the practices of the HWs, we also asked OPs and younger adults similar questions on how often they received particular services at the PCFs. If possible, future studies should include observation. However, the fact that even

the self-reported practices were suboptimal shows that there is a lot of room for improvement.

In conclusion, practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs and younger adults in PCFs were adequate but there is a lot of room for improvement as only less than half of the HWs were classified as having good practices, and a substantial proportion of HWs were classified as having bad practices related to the domains of prompt attention, autonomy, health education and disease screening.

5.7. How older persons reported that they had been treated at the primary care facilities

Results of the study of how OPs were treated at the PCFs showed that the great majority of OPs reported receiving at least neither-poor-nor-good treatment (Table 23). However, the proportion of OPs and younger adults classified as having received good treatment (16.6-27.7%) contrasts starkly with the proportion of HWs classified in the previous section as having good practices regarding the care of OPs and younger adults (46.4-48.1%) (Table 19). This finding underscores the importance of always getting patients' experiences when assessing the practices of HWs because people served by the system are the best source of information about their experience.

As was the case with the HW practices reported in the previous section, there are some domains where a relatively high proportion of OPs and younger adults were classified as having received poor treatment, namely: being screened for diseases (65.1-69.5%), receiving prompt attention (65.8-76.4%), having autonomy (69.6-79.8%), and receiving health education (30.0-38.5%) (Table 23). These findings corroborate the reports of community-based studies done among OPs in five Asian countries (Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Singapore and Vietnam)¹⁴⁰, Uganda⁸³ and Kenya⁸², and among general patients in PCFs in South Africa^{142, 156, 157, 166} that showed that the respondents were hardly targeted for health education, screened for diseases/disease risk factors or promptly attended to - suggesting that reporting not receiving these services is not unique to PCFs in Uganda or to OPs only but are a general problem in low income countries. Having a substantially high proportion of OPs reporting not being screened for diseases and given health education

indicates that many OPs with NCDs may not have been identified at the PCFs, and many may not have received health education about diseases. This is particularly worrying because OPs have increased vulnerability to NCDs^{17, 18, 20}. It was however reassuring to find that none of the OPs reported having been asked for or paid a bribe at the PCFs. Incurring such costs would have been particularly problematic for many OPs because the majority of OPs in Uganda are chronically poor¹⁹⁷.

The comparison of how OPs and younger adults were treated at the PCFs showed that, overall, OPs were not treated differently from younger adults (p=0.52) (Table 24). However, OPs reported receiving prompt attention more often than did younger adults (p=0.01). These findings corroborate the findings of the previous section on HW practices and imply that overt discrimination against OPs in PCFs in Uganda may be very uncommon.

Unexpectedly, reporting better treatment by the OPs was independently associated with decreasing level of the PCFs (Table 25). Potential reason for this association could be because the lower level PCFs see fewer patients and are consequently able to meet their medical and non-medical expectations better than the higher level PCFs. Receiving poor or good treatment was not found to be associated with urban/rural location of the PCF (unadjusted p=0.43; p=0.70 after adjusting for all the independent predictors of positive responses given by OPs to questions related to their treatment) but was found to be independently associated with the geographical zone, with OPs in Northern and Eastern Uganda reporting poorer treatment than OPs in Central and Western Uganda. Similarly, reporting poor or good treatment was not found to be associated with the number of all patients seen by the PCF (unadjusted p=0.94; p=0.77 after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone) but was found to be independently associated with the number of All patients seen by the PCFs, with OPs in PCFs that saw >300 OPs/month reporting better treatment than those in PCFs that saw <300 OPs/month – potentially implying that OPs avoided PCFs where they received poor treatment.

Surprisingly, HW characteristics such as their reported practices (p=0.42; adjusted p=0.45), attitudes (p=0.10; adjusted p=0.76) and knowledge of geriatrics (p=0.70; adjusted p=0.39) were not found to be associated with OPs reporting better treatment (Table 25). However,

although not statistically significant, better knowledge of geriatrics and more positive attitudes of the HWs were positively associated with OPs reporting better treatment – thus pointing to the need to improve attitudes and knowledge of HWs.

Unexpectedly, reporting better treatment was not found to be associated with the availability of services (p=0.84; adjusted p=0.13) and amenities (p=0.95; adjusted p=0.64) that were considered to be particularly important for the care of OPs and were enquired about in the study. However, reporting better treatment was found to be associated with availability of guidelines and equipment in the patient consultation area, availability of auditory privacy, visual privacy, and laboratory services. It is important to note that even though some of the associations with availability of services and of the items necessary for delivering services to OP were not statistically significant, reporting better treatment was positively associated with availability of most of the services, thereby pointing to the need to improve these services for the care of OPs.

How OPs said that they were treated at the PCFs was not found to be associated with their age (p=0.66; adjusted p=0.69), employment status (p=0.07; adjusted p=0.45), and whether or not they attended school (education status) (p=0.40, adjusted p=0.45) but was found to be associated with sex, with males reporting better treatment than females, improving material situation, with poorer OPs reporting poorer treatment than the less poor, and increasing level of education (Table 25). Therefore, even though some of the associations with the socio-demographic characteristics of the OPs were not statistically significant, a clear pattern seems to have emerged where OPs of high socio-economic status generally reported better treatment than OPs of low socio-economic status. Because the majority of OPs in Uganda are peasant farmers and poor and with little education (UBOS 2010; pg. 138)¹⁹⁶; such trends worryingly suggest that many OPs in Uganda may be receiving suboptimal care at least partly because of their poor socio-economic status.

How OPs reported that they were treated at the PCFs was found to be independently associated with increasing number of visits and with increasing duration of attendance at the PCFs (Table 25). We do not have clear explanations for these associations but the questions used to assess how the OPs were treated at the PCFs required them to report on the services they had received over a 12 month period, including the day of the interviews. It is possible that the more the OPs interacted with the HWs at the PCFs, the more they received services we enquired about in the study.

It is possible that we may have underestimated the proportion of OPs who received poor treatment from the PCFs because interviews were done within the premises of the PCFs where OPs often got their care and many OPs may not have wanted to be critical as a result (potential social desirability bias²⁵⁶). As was the case with interviews with the HWs, the questions used to obtain data asked the OPs how often they received a particular service and they responded: "never", "rarely", "usually", and "always". In addition to such response options being open to potential social desirability bias²⁵⁶, they are also open to potential central tendency bias where extreme categories are not chosen²⁵⁵. It is therefore possible that the high proportion of OPs classified as having received neither-good-nor-poor treatment may have been due to central tendency bias²⁵⁵. We however provided assurances of anonymity and confidentiality to the OPs and none of our interviewers came from areas that were covered by the PCFs. In addition, we were able to probe for responses from the OPs. We achieved high response rates and believe that the findings of this study are likely to be reasonably representative of the way OPs would report how they are treated in PCFs in Uganda. Secondly, our study questions required OPs to report about their treatment over a 12-month period thereby rendering it open to potential recall bias whereby participants might not have accurately remembered events of the past²⁶⁰.

In conclusion, results of this study have shown that OPs received adequate treatment from the PCFs. However, there is a lot of room for improvement as only 28% of the OPs were classified as having received good treatment and there were domains where a relatively high proportion of OPs were classified as having received poor treatment. Therefore, because how patients are treated at health facilities influences their utilisation of health care services¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹, these findings point to the need to improve the overall care of OPs in PCFs in Uganda and also to pay careful attention to the domains of disease screening, prompt attention, autonomy, and health education.

5.8. Perceptions of older persons of the care they received from the PCFs

Results of the study on perceptions of OPs of the care they received from the PCFs showed that very few of the OPs had poor perceptions of the services at PCFs. Half of the OPs were classified as having neither-poor-nor-good perceptions and another half were classified as having good perceptions (Table 26). Consistent with the findings of population-based studies conducted among OPs in South Africa¹⁷⁰ and China²⁶¹, OPs rated the dignity with which they were treated and privacy/confidentiality they were given during medical consultations more highly than receiving prompt attention, clarity of communication, and being involved in key decisions regarding their care (autonomy) (Table 27). Receiving thorough physical examination was also rated less highly than dignity and privacy/confidentiality. Overall, the perceptions of OPs did not differ significantly from that of younger adults (p=0.21) (Table 27). However, OPs rated the clarity of communication with HWs more highly than did the younger adults (p=0.01).

To the best of our knowledge, no study has been done in SSA to evaluate the perceptions of OPs of services at PCFs. However, the mean overall perception score (26.6/35 i.e. 76%) found in this study was higher compared to the mean overall perception score (69.5%) found in a population-based study in South Africa¹⁷⁰. Potential reason for the difference in the perception scores could be because of differences in patient expectations of care rather than better treatment of OPs in Uganda compared to South Africa i.e. South Africa being a high middle income country, it is possible that OPs in South Africa have higher expectations of care services than their counterparts in a resource poor country like Uganda.

Perceptions of OPs were not found to be associated with the PCF level (unadjusted p=0.16; p=0.16 after adjusting for all independent predictors of perceptions) but were found to be independently associated with PCF location, with perceptions being better among OPs in urban than in rural PCFs (Table 28). The positive association with urban PCFs is consistent with the findings of a population based study in South Africa that showed that OPs rated urban facilities more highly than rural ones¹⁷⁰. However, reason for the positive association with urban facilities is not clear but such a finding is worrying because most OPs in SSA reside in rural areas where PCFs are main source of health care. The association with geographical zone, wherein OPs in Northern Uganda had poorer perceptions than OPs in

other geographical zones became statistically not significant after adjusting for all independent predictors of the perception score. Perceptions were positively associated with increase in the number of patients seen in the PCFs, but there was no evidence of association with the number of OPs seen in the PCF (unadjusted p=0.48; adjusted p=0.39 after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone).

As would be expected, perceptions were found to be associated with availability of functional toilet and having enough seats in the waiting area – suggesting that OPs regard these comfort amenities as vital for their care. Surprisingly, there was no evidence of association with other services that were considered particularly important for OPs and were enquired about in the study, namely: availability of services (p=0.85; adjusted p=0.74), availability of guidelines in consultation area (p=0.90; adjusted p=0.42), availability of equipment in consultation area (p=0.80; adjusted p=0.56), availability of laboratory services (p=0.12; adjusted p=0.19), availability of a waiting area that shields patients from sun or rain (p=0.07; adjusted p=0.39), source of drinking water (p=0.32; adjusted p=0.17), a ramp (p=0.05; adjusted p=0.53) (Table 28). However, although not statistically significant, perceptions were positively associated with increased availability of most of these services – thus pointing to the need to improve these services for the care of OPs.

As would be expected, perceptions of OPs were positively associated with increasing knowledge of geriatrics among the HWs (Table 28). Unexpectedly however, the positive association of attitudes of HWs with perceptions of OPs became statistically not significant after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location, and geographical zone (p=0.02; adjusted p=0.38). As would be expected, the way OPs were treated at the PCFs was independently associated with their perceptions, with perceptions increasing with receiving better treatment – thus pointing to the need to improve practices of HWs at PCFs.

Perceptions of the OPs were found to generally increase with increase in their age (Table 28). Similar associations with patient-age have consistently been reported by studies in South Africa¹⁷⁰ and USA²⁶²⁻²⁶⁴; each finding a linear trend of increasing perception with increasing age. The current study did not however find a linear trend, but found that OPs

aged \geq 80years had the highest perception score while those aged 60-69 years had the lowest score. The authors of the study in South Africa posit that the age differences could be due to differences in expectations rather than to any preferential treatment of older OPs¹⁷⁰. However, attributing such a systematic difference to patient expectations alone misses the inherent cultural reality, particularly in traditional Sub-Saharan Africa society, that older age-groups are generally accorded more respect and tend to be given preferential treatment than the younger age-groups. Perceptions were found to be positively associated with employment status and level of education but these associations became statistically not significant after adjusting for PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone. There was no evidence of association with sex (p=0.11; adjusted p=0.06), marital status (p=0.99; adjusted p=0.75), material situation (p=0.23; adjusted p=0.25), and education status (p=0.56; adjusted 0.60) (Table 28). However, although some of the associations were not statistically significant, perceptions were generally positively associated with the socioeconomic status of the OPs i.e. the higher the socio-economic status, the better the perceptions. Studies in South Africa ²⁶⁵ and USA²⁶⁵ have attributed the differences in the perceptions by socio-economic status to differences in expectations of the patients rather than preferential treatment. However, based on our experience of having worked in SSA, we know that giving preferential treatment to people of a higher socio-economic status and male sex is a common practice in SSA and therefore posit this as the potential explanation for differences observed in this study. Had it been for the differences in expectations, OPs of a higher socio-economic status would have had a poorer perception than OPs of a lower socio-economic status because the quality of services at PCFs, as this study has shown, are suboptimal. In fact this finding also corroborates our observation in the earlier section (section 5.7, pg. 108) that OPs of higher socio-economic status reported better treatment at the PCFs than those of lower socio-economic status.

Perceptions were found to be independently associated with religion, with Protestants having better perceptions than Catholics and other religions (Table 28). We do not have clear explanation for the association of perceptions with religion. Studies done among patients in the USA^{266, 267} that found similar associations did not also offer any explanation for the associations^{253, 254}. Although such religious differences could be due to patient experiences with and expectations of health services, my experience as a physician in

Uganda is that religious differences or discrimination of individuals based on religion are almost non-existent to offer any plausible explanation for this association. However, the association with religion has not been consistent across studies. For example, the study in South Africa that was conducted among OPs did not find any significant differences by religion¹⁷⁰.

OPs who used the PCFs as their main source of care had better perceptions of the services than OPs who did not use the PCFs as their main source of care (Table 28). Perceptions of OPs also declined with increase in duration of use of the PCFs. Potential reasons for these associations could be the differences in experiences and expectations of the OPs i.e. OPs who did not use the PCFs as their main source of care might have experienced care elsewhere and developed expectations based on those experiences and were able to compare their experiences of care at the PCFs with the experiences they had from other health service providers. However, this might only be a partial explanation of the difference because it is also possible that OPs who used the PCF as their main source of care had also used other health facilities because there is no gatekeeping in Uganda's health services.

There has also been consistency across studies^{170, 263, 264, 267-272} that patients in better health often have better perceptions of the health care services than those in poorer health^{154, 250, 251, 254-259}. We did not collect data on the health status of the OPs to examine this association which might have confounded our findings. Future studies should examine this association. We may also have overestimated the proportion of OPs who had good or neither-good-nor-poor perceptions of the care they received from the PCFs because interviews were done within the premises of the PCFs where OPs often got their care from. The health unit environment, reinforced by the use of a five-point Likert, might have rendered the responses open to potential social desirability bias²⁵⁶. It is also possible that the low proportion of OPs classified as having poor perceptions may have been due to a central tendency bias²⁵⁵. It would be informative for future research in this area to include a qualitative design whereby the language, behaviour and interactions of OPs can be recorded through in-depth interviews and observations. Secondly, we might have overestimated the proportion of OPs with good perceptions because the study only involved OPs who had sought care probably because they perceived the quality of care to be good. Understanding

of the perceptions of OPs who did not access care services would be informative for developing strategies to improve their care. Future studies should therefore include a community-based survey.

In conclusion, this study has shown that perceptions of OPs of the care they received from the PCFs were generally good. However, although only a small minority were classified as having poor perceptions, about half were classified as having neither-poor-nor-good perceptions. Because perceptions of patients are a key determinant of care utilisation¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹, it would be desirable to have most OPs classified as having good perceptions of the services. Secondly, there were some domains that were rated less highly, namely: prompt attention, disease screening, autonomy and communication. These therefore imply that, there is important room for improvement of the care of OPs at PCFs. The MoH should therefore commission improvement of the care of OPs in the PCFs.

Chapter 6: Study limitations

This thesis has both some strengths and limitations. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study on health care available and delivered to OPs through PCFs in Sub-Saharan Africa. We used quantitative methods to obtain data from a relatively large number of respondents (OPs: n=248, younger adults: n=96, HWs: n=145, and health facility in-charges: n=48) in a short time and were able to quantify a lot of information about the strengths and gaps and weaknesses in the health care available and delivered to OPs. We also used appropriate statistical methods to analyse the data. Although the study included a relatively small proportion of all the government PCFs in Uganda (48/2,560 = 2%), an appropriate stratified random sampling method was used to select the PCFs and adjustments were made for the survey design in the analysis to make the findings nationally representative. Besides, not much variability between the PCFs was expected because, by design, each facility within a given level of PCF in Uganda is supposed to provide similar services. All the sampled facilities were assessed and we did not detect significant geographical differences in the availability of services. Overall, we achieved high response rates and believe that the findings of this study are likely to be reasonably representative of the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs in Uganda, and of what OPs would report about their treatment and their perceptions of the services in PCFs in Uganda.

However, while time and financial constraints necessitated the use of quantitative methods for the study, the limitations in scope of the structured questions did not allow us to observe and record some forms of information such as emotions, feelings, behaviour, and personal stories of the respondents as well as the actual interaction between the OPs and the HWs. Some of the responses we obtained on attitudes and practices of the workers, and on the treatment the OPs said they received and their perceptions of the services they had received could have usefully been explored further; something that was not possible using structured questions with precoded answers. In order to increase the validity and credibility, and capture a more complete, holistic and contextual portrayal of our results, it would have been appropriate if we had triangulated the data collection methods to include qualitative designs (specifically in-depth interviews and observational methods). Methodological triangulation entails combining both quantitative and qualitative data collection methods, based on the rationale that a single data collection method is insufficient to provide adequate and accurate research results²⁷³. Future research in this area should therefore include a qualitative design to help complement the statistical data in understanding the health care available and delivered to OPs in PCFs.

The cross-sectional study design enabled us to obtain data on many variables and compare them at a little cost and in a short period of time. Because the PCFs were sampled from all eligible PCFs, we were able to calculate the national estimates of the strengths and gaps and weaknesses in the health care available and delivered to OPs. However, we were only able to examine the health care available and delivered to OPs in a 12-month period and were therefore unable to infer causality as we do not know what happened before the 12-month period or after the data collection.

Data for assessing the caseload due to OPs was obtained through record review. The record review will have missed OPs who needed care but failed to reach the PCFs. Additionally, because we only reported what was in the records of the PCFs, we could not ascertain the validity of the diagnoses. The review however provides useful information that can be used for planning and as a reference point for similar studies in the future. The possible under-diagnosis of NCDs at PCFs identified by this study can be used to advocate for improving care of NCDs at the PCFs. Arbitrary cutoff points were used for the classification of knowledge levels. However, these cutoffs were based on the expert opinions of six senior medical workers in Uganda.

The study used tools that have not been validated. However, many of the questions were developed based on validated tools such as WHO's service availability and readiness assessment tool²⁷⁴ and health system responsiveness tool⁹⁴, *Kogan's attitude towards older people scale*¹⁶⁵ and *Palmore's facts of ageing quiz*²¹⁸. Some of the questions were based on known stereotypes among HWs in Uganda. All the questions were piloted and adjustments were made in light of the experience obtained during the pilot study.

Questions in Likert scale format were used to assess the attitudes and practices of HWs, and to assess how the OPs said they were treated in the PCFs and their perceptions of the services they had received. While such Likert scale-format questions are easily understood
and produce a highly reliable scale as it allows participants to respond in a degree of agreement, they are potentially open to central tendency bias where participants avoid extreme response categories²⁵⁵. It is possible that the high overall proportion of HWs and of OPs and younger adults classified in the neutral category may have been due to central tendency bias. Another key feature of Likert-format questions is the social desirability bias whereby individuals portray themselves in a more socially favourable light rather than being honest²⁵⁶. It is therefore possible that the low overall proportion of HWs and of OPs and younger adults classified in the "poor" category may have been due to social desirability bias²⁵⁶. Counteracting the effects of central tendency and social desirability bias is a major challenge in quantitative research but we provided assurances of anonymity and confidentiality to the respondents and none of our interviewers came from areas that were covered by the PCFs. In addition, we were able to probe for responses.

We only examined the health system and some of the individual level factors that influence the availability of health care for OPs (Figure 2). The policy- and family/community-level factors were not examined. While the findings and recommendations of our study can be used to develop strategies, including setting the policy agenda, for improving health care services for OPs in Uganda, our understanding of availability of health care for OPs in Uganda remains incomplete without studying the influence of the policy- and communitylevel factors on the availability of health care services for OPs. For example, effective strategies to make the MoH take charge of health care issues that affect OPs can only be developed if we understand how much the MoH has been involved at policy level and why, their level of awareness and knowledge of the health problems that affect OPs, and their interest and position regarding improvement of health care for OPs. Furthermore, due to the chronic nature of the health care problems affecting OPs, a lot of the health care support for OPs requires the involvement of the OPs themselves and their family and community members. To be able to develop strategies to empower and involve families and communities to provide a sustainable supportive environment for OPs, it would be vitally important that we understand the OPs' and their family/community members' level of awareness and knowledge of health care problems affecting OPs, their beliefs and practices regarding illnesses, their capacity to demand for services, their capacity to respond to their health care needs, their perceptions of health care services, and availability of accessible

129

formal health care services (Figure 2). Understanding the family and community level factors would then guide the development of strategies to build the capacity of the OPs and their families/communities to provide a sustainable supportive environment for OPs. This would include strengthening the community-based care of OPs – focusing on what OPs and their families and communities can do themselves to support OPs, with government and non-government organisations playing only a supportive role – through 1) guiding the OPs and their families and communities in identifying their own strengths and coming up with innovations to strengthen support to the OPs; and 2) strengthening community-based referral system through for example training community-based HWs to create awareness and educate community members about the health care needs of OPs, identify OPs who need health care, refer OPs who need health care to health facilities. Development of basic tools to enable communities and community-based HWs to screen for OPs who need health care and provide immediate support, including referral to a health facility would form a key component of such strategy.

Last but not least, we did not examine the availability of services for some of the geriatric giants such as falls/immobility, incontinence, and frailty). The initial assumption based on our knowledge and experience of having worked with the PCFs was that PCFs in Sub-Saharan Africa do not offer these services. This was therefore an important omission in the study as ideally gaps and weaknesses in the availability of such services should be documented and used to make recommendations for improving the quality of care for OPs. However the availability of services for mental illnesses such as depression and knowledge of HWs regarding falls were assessed. The list of equipment, drugs, etc. that were checked for each health condition were not necessarily comprehensive. Certain critical items were selected in an effort to strike a balance between being comprehensive and the checks being unwieldy.

Lastly, for the assessment of HW practices and for the interviews with OPs and younger adults, the study questions required the respondents to report about events that occurred over a 12-month period. Potential recall bias, whereby participants might not have accurately remembered events of the past²⁶⁰, cannot be ruled out.

Chapter 7: Conclusions, policy implications and recommendations

7.1. Conclusions

Five major conclusions can be drawn from the results of this study: Firstly, this study has shown that PCFs in Uganda have fundamental deficiencies in the services available and delivered to OPs. Relative to the care of infectious illnesses, the care of chronic NCDs in the PCFs in Uganda is particularly weak. OPs with NCDs are particularly unlikely to get appropriate services at the mid-level (PCF III) and lower-level (PCF II) PCFs. Strengthening the services for NCDs at all levels will be particularly important for the care of OPs because OPs have a particularly increased vulnerability to NCDs and its consequent disabilities. Secondly, although the caseload due to OPs was not very large, the relative caseload due to OPs was higher than the percentage of OPs in the general population (6%). This implies that OPs in Uganda have a greater demand for health services than other age groups. Thirdly, infectious illnesses were the most commonly reported illnesses among OPs and yet the available evidence indicates that NCDs are the leading cause of morbidity among OPs. Because PCFs lack the necessary services and items for delivering the services, it is possible that NCDs are underdiagnosed at the PCFs. There is therefore an urgent need to strengthen the capacity of the PCFs to enable them to diagnose and manage NCDs. Fourthly, the knowledge, attitudes and practices of most HWs regarding the care of OPs were neither poor nor good, but only a relatively small proportion were classified as having "good" knowledge, attitudes or practices. This implies that there is important room for improvement. Lastly, although only a small minority of OPs and younger adults reported they had received poor treatment and a small minority perceived that they had received a poor service, there is room for improvements as there are some aspects of the care received that many of the clients (OPs and younger adults) thought were poor; namely: being screened, receiving prompt attention, having autonomy, and receiving health education.

7.2. Policy implications

Having limited services for NCDs at PCFs implies that OPs in Uganda face important challenges accessing age-appropriate health care. This has a lot of implications for the health of OPs in Uganda and elsewhere in SSA because available evidence indicates that OPs are particularly vulnerable to NCDs and its consequent disabilities¹⁶⁻¹⁸. More worrying is the fact that more and more OPs with NCDs will need health care in the coming years because projections show that the absolute population of OPs in Uganda^{173, 175} and elsewhere in SSA is increasing rapidly^{15159, 161}. Uganda for example is projected to have over 3 million OPs by 2010¹⁷³, and SSA in general is projected to have over 140 million OPs (11% of the total population of SSA) by 2030 and over 270 million in 2050 - up from 73 million in 2006^{15} . Because most OPs in Uganda^{114, 185} and elsewhere in SSA live in rural areas¹¹⁴⁻¹¹⁷ and PCFs are the main source of health care for people who reside in rural areas in SSA, those with ailments are more likely to present to PCFs than hospitals because PCFs in Uganda and elsewhere in SSA are the most available source of health care for people who reside in rural areas. Hospitals and private health care services where OPs can get services for NCDs are often located in urban centres, and distances to them are long and public transport infrastructure is poor and relatively expensive. Access to hospitals and private clinics is therefore difficult for most OPs in Uganda and elsewhere in SSA – thus creating an imperative to make services available for OPs in PCFs. Indeed, it can be argued that the shortage of services for NCDs at PCFs affects other adult patients as well, but they are of particular significance to OPs because OPs are more vulnerable to diseases and require health care more often than younger adults^{17, 199, 233}. OPs are also physically weaker and tend to be economically poorer than younger adults and so have less ability to access private health care or hospital services. The implications of not having age-appropriate care go beyond the health and wellbeing of OPs because OPs in SSA play vital roles within their families and communities such as caring for children orphaned by HIV/AIDS^{123, 171, 200-208}.

The knowledge, attitudes and practices of HW affect the quality of care they provide (WHR 2006, pgs. 67-89)¹⁰⁷ and are among the factors that make health care inaccessible or harmful to patients¹⁰⁶. In this study, the knowledge, attitudes and practices of most HWs in the PCFs were neither bad nor good. Consequently, the perceptions of most of the OPs of the services they had received were also neither bad nor good – implying that there are important gaps and weaknesses in the care of OPs in PCFs in Uganda. This finding has a lot of implications for the health of OPs because the way patients are treated at health facilities and their perceptions of the treatment and of the services they receive are a key determinant of their utilization of the health services¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁶⁹. For example, results of two

community-based cross-sectional studies conducted in Uganda⁸³ and Kenya⁸² among OPs to assess their vulnerability to malnutrition showed that many OPs (29% in the Kenyan study⁸²) did not seek care when they needed to because they perceived that they had been poorly treated at the health facilities during their previous visits. The way OPs were treated and their perceptions of the services could be a potential explanation for the ratio in number of attendances per person per year found in this study (1:1.5 for OPs vs. younger adults).

Results of this study therefore make the case to improve the care of OPs. Improving the care of OPs will also be in line with the basic principles of human rights²⁷⁵ and the United Nations Principles for OPs, adopted by the General Assembly in resolution 46/91 on 16 December 1991²⁷⁶ that stated that "OPs should have access to health care to help them to maintain or regain the optimum level of physical, mental and emotional well-being and to prevent or delay the onset of illness".

7.3. Recommendations

Recommendations to improve the care of OPs have the potential to draw upon the approaches that have been used in health care quality improvement^{3, 277-281}. Quality improvement is a "systematic, data-guided activity designed to achieve desired health outcomes of individuals and populations in particular settings"^{282, 283}. Quality improvement entails continuous efforts to achieve health care that is safe, effective, efficient, patient-centred, equitable, and timely²⁸⁴.

7.3.1. Quality improvement approaches used in health care:

There are several approaches used to improve the quality of health care and most have their origins in the manufacturing industry²⁸⁵. The *root-cause-analysis* for example has been used extensively in engineering²⁸⁶ to identify and understand the underlying causes of an event and design strategies to address the gaps and weaknesses²⁷⁷. The *lean methodology* meanwhile is used by Japanese car manufacturers, including Toyota, to identify customer needs and improve processes by removing activities that add no value to the system. It uses the a root-cause-analysis to investigate errors and then address the errors to improve quality²⁷⁸. Similar to the *lean methodology* is the *six sigma approach* developed within the electronics industry to minimize or eliminate waste while optimizing customer satisfaction and increasing financial stability through improving, designing, and monitoring processes^{279,} ²⁸⁰. "Six sigma" uses customers' definition of 'defects' within its products and feedback from the customers to address factors that customers would define as being critical to quality^{279,} ²⁸⁰. *Total quality management* on the other hand focuses on quality and the role of the people within an organisation to develop changes in culture, processes and practice – encompassing factors such as leadership, customer focus, evidence-based decision making and a systematic approach to management and change²⁸¹. Although these approaches have been used to improve health care quality, the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle^{287, 288} is the most commonly used health care quality improvement approach (Figure 17). Commonly used by the Institute for Healthcare Improvement³, the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle focuses on testing the effects of small changes i.e. one identifies problems, designs small changes and evaluates their effects in a small scale in a part of a system (e.g. in a department of hospital or in a few health units in a district etc.) and then introduces these changes system-wide (e.g. to all departments of a hospital or to all facilities in a district etc.) if they are found to

be useful^{287, 288}. Broadly, the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles first begin by answering three key questions about what the quality improvement effort is trying to accomplish; how the effort can be measured to show whether or not there is an improvement; and what changes can be undertaken to ensure quality improvement. Quality improvement teams then introduce and test changes designed to achieve the improvement aims using successive Plan-Do-Study-Act cycles until they arrive on a change they believe will produce the desired results and is ready for system-wide implementation^{287, 288}.



Figure 17: Model for improvement; the Plan-Do-Study-Act cycle

The plan-do-study-act approach has been successfully used to improve the nutrition care, support and treatment in HIV clinics in Malawi²⁸⁹, and client flow in male medical circumcision program in Uganda²⁹⁰. In both instances, a quality improvement team was formed in each health facility and given training about the health problem they wanted to

Source: Langley et al³

have quality improvement for. The team then reviewed their facility records to identify gaps/weaknesses in the care of the patients and reasons for the gaps/weaknesses. The record review enabled the team to identify the priority areas for intervention. The team then proposed ideas for addressing the gaps/weaknesses and tested these ideas in plan-do-study-act cycles. Changes that worked were adopted and implemented and those that didn't were adjusted and revaluated or dropped and new changes were tried.

Central to the quality improvement approaches is a formalized, continuous and repetitive investigation and problem-solving approach, focused on identifying and understanding the underlying causes of an event and working to address them to improve quality. The essential parts of quality improvement are the shift in focus from individuals to processes, having a clear scope and goal of quality improvement, strong institutional/organisational leadership, understanding the customers' needs and demands, and empowering and involving key stakeholders in designing and implementing quality improvement interventions^{285, 287, 288}.

Evaluations during quality improvement can be undertaken using a representative sample²⁸⁵. This is possible through a "Lot Quality Assurance Sampling (LQAS)" – a method for assessing a program by analysing the data produced by a small sample²⁹¹. In LQAS, a program catchment area is usually divided into four or five lots i.e. smaller areas which deliver health services such as supervision areas. Within each lot, 19 individuals are then sampled for assessment. By combining data from five lots, managers can determine coverage proportions of the entire catchment area with 95% confidence intervals of $\pm 10\%$ for multiple indicators. If 4 lots are included in the assessment, the 95% Confidence Interval is still acceptable as it does not exceed $11\%^{291}$.

7.3.2. Improving the quality of care for older persons:

The scope

Broadly, the key gaps and weaknesses in the care of OPs identified by this thesis are the lack of central role played by the MoH in development of policies for OPs, severe shortage of basic services and items for providing the services that are essential for caring for OPs, and the gaps/weaknesses in the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs. In order to achieve the ultimate goal of improving the quality of care for OPs in Uganda, these gaps/weaknesses should be addressed. These require different interventions at multiple levels and involving multiple stakeholders.

Addressing the leadership gap

Because a strong leadership support is vital for successful quality improvement efforts²⁹²⁻²⁹⁵, the first goal of improving the quality of health care for OPs in Uganda is to ensure that the MoH plays a central role in development of policies and establishment of a culture of quality of health care for OPs in Uganda. As discussed in section 3.12, such a call for major change is disruptive and may be resisted^{296, 297}. The candidate will take key steps to ensure that the MoH actively participates in the development of policies for OPs in Uganda. As discussed in section 3.12, these steps will involve getting buy-in from key stakeholders through publishing the findings of the thesis, writing policy briefs, making presentations in conferences, and holding follow-up meetings with the key individuals at MoH and MoGLSD that gave their support and approval for the study at inception. If these approaches do not give an assurance that health care for OPs will improve, the candidate will mobilise and build a coalition of interest groups such as relevant civil society organisation (e.g. HelpAge International, Uganda Reach the Aged Association, and Health Nest Uganda) and the media to push for such improvement. A policy analysis to identify sources and reasons for resistance and development of strategies to counter these will form a key component of efforts to ensure that the MoH plays a central role in efforts to improve the care of OPs.

Addressing the gaps and weaknesses in the availability of services

The gaps and weaknesses in the care of OPs identified by this study result mostly from the limited scope of services offered at the PCFs. The second goal of quality improvement is therefore to ensure that services that meet the health care needs of OPs are provided at all levels of health care delivery in Uganda. MoH should therefore commission the provision of age-appropriate care that includes the care of NCDs at all levels of PCFs. This would enable OPs to be treated closer to their homes and reduce the cost of accessing health care for them and improve adherence to treatment for OPs who are receiving life-long chronic care. For effective delivery of the services, the MoH should also ensure availability of items such

as equipment, guidelines, drugs, and staff that are necessary for offering the services. As a key principle for prevention and care of NCDs, interventions to improve the care of OPs should take a life-course approach where healthy behaviours that prevent the risk of occurrence of NCDs are promoted for all ages⁹¹.

Furthermore, provision of an age-friendly physical environment for the care of OPs is a key recommendation of WHO¹¹³ and *the Global Forum on Ageing in the 21st Century*¹¹. The MoH should therefore provide basic amenities in all PCFs. This should include construction of ramps to enable OPs with frailty or disability to navigate the PCFs, availing enough seats in the waiting area so OPs, particularly with frailty and disability, do not have difficulties with finding a place to sit, constructing a waiting area that shields patients from sun or rain, and constructing a functional toilet to enable OPs, particularly with incontinence, to find a place to ease themselves. As discussed in section 3.12, it is likely that the MoH will not resist recommendations for providing services identified in the minimum health care package for OP because the adjustments required are minimal and can be done with little or no additional cost. The MoH should biannually commission evaluations, using LQAS methods, to assess whether services that meet the health care needs of OPs are provided at all levels, and design strategies to address any gaps and weaknesses.

Improving the knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs

Because knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs are a key determinant of the quality of care they provide to patients and of patient's perceptions of care services⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁷, the third goal of improving the quality of care for OPs is to address the gaps in knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs. Given that training HWs in geriatrics has been found to improve their knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding the care of OPs^{215, 228, 298-300}, the MoH should in the short term, provide on-the-job training for HWs in PCFs in the general principles of geriatrics. While emphasising the care of OPs, such a training should in principle cover the life-course approach for managing NCDs described above, and health system responsiveness⁹⁴ aimed at addressing the non-clinical expectations of the patients. The training should emphasise the specific areas of concern that were identified by this study; namely: providing health education to OPs, screening patients for NCDs and risk factors for NCDs, prompt attention, autonomy, and

138

communication. For continuous improvement of knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs regarding the care of OPs, training of HWs should be followed with a routine supportive supervision³⁰¹, continuous evaluation and improvement (using LQAS methods) of knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs, and development of policies and guidelines to give purpose and direction and enable HWs to provide appropriate care to OPs. Given that there is currently no manual for training HWs in SSA, the MoH should commission an intervention study to develop and evaluate a simple training manual for HWs. Such a manual should include a simple tool for screening and treating OPs. The MoH and Ministry of Education should also take key steps to ensure adequate inclusion of geriatrics in the curriculum for training medical students, clinical officers and nurses.

Lastly, the HWs in each health facility should establish a quality improvement team to ensure that all OPs presenting at their clinics receive proper assessment for the common health problems and their risk factors and are appropriately treated. The team should routinely do a root-cause-analysis²⁸⁶ to identify and understand the weaknesses/gaps in the care of OPs. For example, because management of NCDs in OPs should take a life-course approach, the team should do a review of their facility records and conduct exit interviews with the patients to determine whether all adolescent and adult patients receive blood pressure, weight, and height measurement, have their body mass index calculated, are screened for alcohol and cigarettes use, are screened for the common health problems in OPs and receive appropriate treatment. Once the weaknesses/gaps have been identified and understood, the team should then identify the priority areas for intervention, and propose and test ideas for addressing the gaps/weaknesses using the plan-do-study-act cycles^{287, 288}. This might include twice-yearly or at least annual cycles that include an audit of the key quality indicators mentioned above. Ideas that bring about quality improvement should be adopted and implemented and those that don't should be adjusted and revaluated further or dropped and new ideas should be proposed and tested. The team should ensure that the culture for continuous quality improvement for all patients is entrenched in their health facility. A key factor in success will be "ownership" of the QI objectives and process by the managers and staff of the health facilities. If the ownership remains solely with the higher-level officers, such as members of the district health

139

management team, health workers will see QI as yet another set of meaningless tasks imposed on them from above.

Involving OPs, their family members and communities in quality improvement efforts

Most quality improvement approaches emphasise the need to take into account consumer value and opinions and involving them in defining what would constitute quality, and in designing and implementing strategies to achieve successful quality improvement^{285, 287, 288,} ^{293, 302, 303}. As discussed in chapter 6, due to the chronic nature of the common health problems in OPs, a lot of the health care support to OPs comes from OPs themselves, their families and communities. The last goal of quality improvement is therefore to involve OPs, their families and communities in defining what to them would constitute quality health care, map out what the OPs and their families/communities can do for themselves and then involve them in developing and implementing strategies that will empower and build their capacity to provide a sustainable supportive environment for OPs. Strategies for involving families/communities in the care of OPs should involve a community based study to further understand the burden of disease among OPs and its causes, and the reasons why OPs do or do not utilize services at PCFs, and their thoughts on what services should be provided to them. This study should then lead to another study to develop and evaluate a low cost strategy to enhance community involvement in the care of OPs. This should include development and evaluation of basic tools and community training programmes aimed at building their capacity to identify OPs in need of health care, referring them for treatment, and supporting OPs who are on life-long treatment. These might involve using LQAS or other methods, such as pilot studies.

8. References:

1. DM B. Eleven worthy aims for clinical leadership of health care reform. JAMA. 1994; **272**(10): 797-802.

DM B. Developing and testing changes in delivery of care. Ann Intern Med 1998; **1998**(128):
 651-6.

3. Langley JG, Nolan KM, Nolan TW, al e. The improvement guide: a practical approach to enhancing organizational performance New York: Jossey-Bass. 1996.

4. WHO. Definition of an older or elderly person 2012 [cited 2012 16th September]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/ageingdefnolder/en/index.html</u>

5. UNFPA/HelpAge. Ageing in 21st centuery. A celebration and a challenge 2012 [cited 2012 17th September]; Available from: <u>http://www.helpage.org/resources/ageing-in-the-21st-century-a-celebration-and-a-challenge/</u>

6. UBOS. Projected mid year population for 5-year age groups, 2010-2012. 2012 [cited 2012 11th November 2012]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/Popn_T3_2011.pdf

7. Olum GH. Report on status and implementation of national policy on ageing in Kenya. [cited 2013 10 December]; Available from:

https://www.un.org/ageing/documents/workshops/Vienna/kenya.pdf

8. Spitzer H, Rwegoshora H, Mabeyo ZM. The (Missing) Social Protection for Older People in Tanzania. A Comparative Study in Rural and Urban Areas. 2009 [cited 2013 10th December]; Available from: <u>http://www.kef-</u>

research.at/fileadmin/media/stories/downloads/Projektberichte/p163_endbericht_tansania.pdf

9. UN. The state of older people in Africa. Regional review and appraisal of the Madrid International Plan of action on Ageing. 2007 [cited 2013 10th December]; Available from: http://undesadspd.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=F7VUCX8uUQ0%3D&tabid=375

10. Republic of South Africa Department of Justice (2006). Older persons Act 13 of 2006. [cited 2013 10th Decembt]; Available from: <u>http://www.justice.gov.za/legislation/acts/2006-</u>013_olderpersons.pdf

11. UNFPA/HelpAge. Ageing in 21st centuery. A celebration and a challenge. 2012 [cited 2012 17th Nov 2012]; Available from: <u>http://www.helpage.org/resources/ageing-in-the-21st-century-a-celebration-and-a-challenge/</u>

12. Ferreira M, Kowal P. A minimum data set on ageing and older persons in sub-Saharan Africa: process and outcome. African Population Studies. 2006; **21**(1): 19-36.

13. David Cutler, Angus Deaton, A L-M. The Determinants of Mortality. Journal of Economic Perspectives. 2006; **20** (3): 97-120.

14. WHO. 10 Facts about aging and lifecourse. 2012 [cited 2012 19th September]; Available from: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/ageing/en/

15. UN. World Population Prospects: The 2010 Revision 2011 [cited 2012 19th September]; Available from: <u>http://esa.un.org/wpp/Documentation/pdf/WPP2010_Volume-I_Comprehensive-Tables.pdf</u>

16. WHO. The Global Burden of Disease. 2004 Update. 2008 [cited 2012 19th September]; Available from:

http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/GBD_report_2004update_full.pdf

17. WHO. Noncommunicable Diseases. . 2011 [cited 2012 17th September]; Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs355/en/index.html

18. WHO. Global Status Report on Noncommunicable diseases 2010. 2010 [cited 2012 20th September]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd_report_full_en.pdf</u>

19. Theo Vos, Abraham D Flaxman, Mohsen Naghavi, Rafael Lozano, Catherine Michaud, Ezzati M. Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012; **2012** (380): 2163-96.

20. Christopher MJL, Vos Theo, Lozano Rafael, Naghavi Mohsen, Flaxman D Abraham, Michaud Catherine, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012; **2012**(380): 2197–223.

21. Haidong Wang, Laura Dwyer-Lindgren, Katherine T Lofgren, Julie Knoll Rajaratnam, Jacob R Marcus, Alison Levin-Rector, et al. Age-specifi c and sex-specifi c mortality in 187 countries, 1970– 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012; **2012**(380): 2071-94.

22. Rafael Lozano, Mohsen Naghavi, Kyle Foreman, Stephen Lim, Kenji Shibuya, Victor Aboyans, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012; **2012**(380): 2095-128.

23. Edward J. Mills, Celestin Bakanda, Josephine Birungi, Keith Chan, Nathan Ford, Curtis L. Cooper, et al. Life Expectancy of Persons Receiving Combination Antiretroviral Therapy in Low-Income Countries: A Cohort Analysis From Uganda. Ann Intern Med. 2011; **2011**(155): 209-16.

24. Mills EJ, Bärnighausen T, Negin J. HIV and Aging — Preparing for the Challenges Ahead. N Engl J Med. 2012; **2012**(366): 14.

25. HelpAge. Summary of research findings on the nutritional status and risk factors for vulnerability of older people in Africa. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

26. Abdulraheem IS. Health needs assessment and determinants of health-seeking behaviour among elderly Nigerians: a house-hold survey. Annals of African Medicine. 2007; **6**(2): 58-63.

27. Cumming R. Common Health Problems in Older peropls. [cited 2012 13th September]; Available from: <u>http://www.tafu.org/PDF/TAFU_Presentation_Mar08.pdf</u>

28. Oye Gureje, Lola Kola, E A. Epidemiology of major depressive disorder in elderly Nigerians in the Ibadan Study of Ageing: a community-based survey. Lancet. 2007; **2007**(370): 957-64.

29. Adebusoye LA, Ladipo MM, Owoaje ET, AM O. Morbidity pattern amongst elderly patients presenting at a primary care clinic in Nigeria African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine 2011; **3**(1): Article ID 211.

30. Clausen F, Sandberg E, Ingstad B, Hjortdahl P. Morbidity and health care utilisation among elderly people in Mmankgodi village, Botswana. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2000; **54**(1): 58-63.

31. Theresa J, Allain A O, Wilson A R, Gomo E, M E, Beulah S, et al. Morbidity and disability in elderly Zimbabweans Age and Ageing 1997; **1997**(26): 115-21.

Waweru LM, Kabiru EW, Mbithi JN, Some ES. Health status and health seeking behaviour of the elderly persons in Dagoretti division, Nairobi. East African Medical Journal. 2003; 80(2): 63-7.
Oye Gureje, Adedotun Ademola, Olley BO. Depression and Disability: Comparisons with

Common Physical Conditions in the Ibadan Study of Aging. JAGS. 2008(56): 2033-8.

34. Abegunde KA, Owoaje ET. Health problems and associated risk factors in selected urban and rural elderly population groups of South-West Nigeria. Annals of African Medicine. 2013; **12**(2): 90-7.

35. Clausen T, Romoren TI, Ferreira M, Kristensen P, Ingstad B, Holmboe-Ottesen G. Chronic diseases and health inequalities in older persons in Botswana (southern Africa): a national survey. Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging. 2005; **9**(6): 455-61.

36. Ogunniyi A, Baiyewu OG, Hall KS, Unverzagt FW, Oluwole OSA, Farlow MR ea. Morbidity pattern in a sample of elderly Nigerians resident in Idikan community, Ibadan West African Journal of Medicine 2001; **20** (4): 227 - 31.

37. Joel Negin, Robert Cumming, Sarah Stewart de Ramirez, Seye Abimbola, SE S. Risk factors for non-communicable diseases among older adults in rural Africa Tropical Medicine and International Health. 2011; **16**(5): 640-6.

38. Lindfield R, Griffiths U, Bozzani F, M M. A Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness in Southern Zambia. PLoS ONE. 2012; **7**(6): e38483.

39. Mathenge W, Nkurikiye J, Limburg H. Rapid assessment of avoidable blindness in western Rwanda: Blindness in a post conflict setting. PLoS medicine. 2007; **2007**(47): e217.

40. Kalua K, Lindfield R, Mtupanyama M, D M. Findings from a Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness (RAAB) in Southern Malawi PLoS ONE. 2011; **6**(4): e19226.

41. Olusanya B, Onoja G, Ibraheem W, Bekibele C. Profile of patients presenting at a low vision clinic in a developing country. BMC Ophthalmology. 2012; **12**: 31.

42. Francien Scholten, Joseph Mugisha, Janet Seeley, Eugene Kinyanda, Susan Nakubukwa, Paul Kowal ea. Health and functional status among older people with HIV/AIDS in Uganda BMC Public Health 2011; **2011** (11): 886.

43. Raouf. O. A, Josseaume A RT. Elderly persons admitted to the emergency unit at the university teaching hospital in Libreville: medical and social characteristics. Medecine d'Afrique Noire. 2003; **50** (3): 125-8.

44. Ejim. E. C, Okafor C. I, Emehel A MAU, Onyia U, Egwuonwu T ea. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in the middle-aged and elderly population of a Nigerian rural community Journal of Tropical Medicine. 2011; **2011**: Article ID 308687.

45. Onwuchekwa AC, Asekomeh EGs. Geriatric admissions in a developing country: experience from a tertiary centre in Nigeria. Ethnicity & Disease. 2009; **19**(3): 359-62.

46. Nyaruhucha CN, Msuya JM, Augustino B. Health status of hospitalised elderly in Morogoro Regional Hospital. East African Medical Journal. 2001; **78**(9): 489-92.

47. Sanya EO, Abiodun AA, Kolo P, Olanrewaju TO, Adekeye K. Profile and causes of mortality among elderly patients seen in a tertiary care hospital in Nigeria. Annals of African Medicine. 2011; **10**(4): 278-83; discussion 83-4.

48. Ayah R, Joshi MD, Wanjiru R, Njau EK, Otieno CF, Njeru EK, et al. A population-based survey of prevalence of diabetes and correlates in an urban slum community in Nairobi, Kenya. BMC Public Health. 2013; **13**: 371.

49. Nadia L.M. Fanou, Romain A.M. Dossa, Ategbo E-A. Assessment of the nutritional status and risk factors facing older people in urban (Cotonou) and rural (Dangbo and Akrop-Missérété areas). 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

50. Paraiso MN, Guerchet M, Saizonou J, Cowppli-Bony P, Mouanga AM, P N. Prevalence of dementia among elderly people living in Cotonou, an urban area of Benin (West Africa). Neuroepidemiology 2011; **26**(4): 245-51.

51. Toure K, Coume M, Ndiaye-Ndongo D, Thiam MH, Zunzunegui MV, Y B. Prevalence of dementia in a Senegalese elderly population. African Journal of Neurological Sciences. 2008; 27(2).
52. Guerchet M, M'belesso P, Mouanga AM, Bandzouzi B, Tabo A, DS H. Prevalence of dementia

in elderly living in two cities of Central Africa: the EDAC survey. Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders. 2010; **30**(3): 261-8.

53. Coume M, Toure K, Thiam MH, Zunzunegui MV, Bacher Y, Diop TM, et al. Estimate of the prevalence of cognitive impairment in an elderly population of the health center of Senegalese national retirement institution]. Geriatrie Et Psychologie Neuropsychiatrie Du Vieillissement. 2012; **10**(1): 39-46.

54. Mbelesso P, Tabo A, Guerchet M, Mouanga AM, Bandzouzi B, Houinato D, et al. Epidemiology of dementia in elderly living in the 3rd borough of Bangui (Central African Republic)]. Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique. 2012; **105**(5): 388-95.

55. Lasisi AO, Abiona T, Gureje O. The prevalence and correlates of self-reported hearing impairment in the Ibadan study of ageing. Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene. 2010; **104**(8): 518-23.

56. Gureje O, Ogunniyi A, Kola L, Afolabi E. Functional disability in elderly Nigerians: Results from the Ibadan Study of Aging. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2006; **54**(11): 1784-9.

57. Iloh GUP, Obikwu CE, Amadi AN. Common geriatric morbidity from communicable diseases in a rural hospital in Eastern Nigeria. Nigerian Journal of Medicine: Journal of the National Association of Resident Doctors of Nigeria. 2012; **21**(2): 231-6.

58. Negin J, RG C. HIV infection in older adults in sub-Saharan Africa: extrapolating prevalence from existing data. . Bull WHO 2010; **2010**(88): 847-53.

59. Joel Negin, Cumming R. HIV Infection in older adults in Sub-Saharan Africa: extrapolation prevalence from existing data. World Health Organisation. 2010; **2010**(88): 847-53.

60. Bendavid E, Ford N, Mills EJ. HIV and Africa's elderly: the problems and possibilities. AIDS. 2012; **26 Suppl 1**: S85-91.

61. Negin J, Martiniuk A, Cumming RG, Naidoo N, Phaswana-Mafuya N, Madurai L, et al. Prevalence of HIV and chronic comorbidities among older adults. AIDS 2012. 2012; **26**(Suppl 1): S55-S63.

62. MoH. Uganda AIDS Indicator Survey. 2011 [cited 2013 23rs November]; Available from: http://health.go.ug/docs/UAIS_2011_REPORT.pdf

63. Kikafunda JK, Lukwago FB. Nutritional status and functional ability of the elderly aged 60 to 90 years in the Mpigi district of central Uganda. Nutrition. 2005; **21**(1): 59-66.

64. Cheserek MJ, Waudo JN, Tuitoek PJ, Msuya JM, Kikafunda JK. Nutritional vulnerability of older persons living in urban areas of Lake Victoria Basin in East Africa: a cross sectional survey. Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology & Geriatrics. 2012; **31**(1): 86-96.

65. Cheserek MJ, Waudo JN, Tuitoek PJ, Msuya JM, JK. K. Anthropometric characteristics and nutritional status of older adults in the Lake Victoria Basin of East Africa: region, sex, and age differences. SAJCN - South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2012; **25**(2): 67-72.

66. Nyaruhucha CNM, Msuya JM, Matrida E. Nutritional status, functional ability and food habits of institutionalised and non-institutionalised elderly people in Morogoro Region, Tanzania. East African Medical Journal. 2004; **81**(5): 248-53.

67. Marais M, Marais D. Assessment of nutritional status of older people in homes for the aged in the Somerset West area. SAJCN - South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2007; **20**(3): 102-8.

68. Clausen T, Charlton KE, Holmboe-Ottesen G. Nutritional status, tobacco use and alcohol consumption of older persons in Botswana. Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging. 2006; **10**(2): 104-10.

69. Zverev Y, Chisi J. Anthropometric indices in rural Malawians aged 45-75 years. Annals of Human Biology 2004; **31**(1): 29-37.

70. Adebusoye LA, Ajayi IO, Dairo MD, Ogunniyi AO. Nutritional status of older persons presenting in a primary care clinic in Nigeria. Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology & Geriatrics. 2012; **31**(1): 71-85.

71. Blaney S, Beaudry M, Latham M, Thibault M. Nutritional status and dietary adequacy in rural communities of a protected area in Gabon. Public Health Nutrition. 2009; **12**(10): 1946-59.

72. CRD. Undertaking Systematic Reviews of Research on Effectiveness. CRD's Guidance for those Carrying Out or Commissioning Reviews. CRD Report Number 4 (2nd Edition); 2001.

73. Alderson P, Bero LA, Eccles M, Grilli. Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group. About the Cochrane Collaboration Collaboration Review Groups (CRG). 2002; **2002**(1): ART No. EPOC.

74. Sanya EO, Akande TM, Opadijo G, Olarinoye JK, Bojuwoye BJ. Pattern and outcome of medical admission of elderly patients seen at University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital, Ilorin. African Journal of Medicine & Medical Sciences. 2008; **37**(4): 375-81.

75. Ogunniyi A, Baiyewu O, Gureje O, Hall KS, Unverzagt FW, Oluwole SA, et al. Morbidity pattern in a sample of elderly Nigerians resident in Idikan community, Ibadan. West African Journal of Medicine. 2001; **20**(4): 227-31.

76. Macia E, Duboz P, Gueye L. Prevalence, awareness, treatment and control of hypertension among adults 50 years and older in Dakar, Senegal. Cardiovascular Journal of Africa. 2012; **23**(5): 265-9.

77. GHA2. The INDEPTH WHO-SAGE - coming od age. Global Health Action Supplement 2, 2010. DOI: 10.3402/gha.v3i0.5441. 2010 [cited 2012 7th August 2012]; Available from: http://www.who.int/healthinfo/Vol3_Suppl2_GHA2010.pdf 78. Catherine Kyobutungi, Egondi T, Ezeh A. The health and well-being of older people in Nairobi's slums. Global Health Action 2010; **Supplement 2**(2010): DOI: 10.3402/gha.v3i0.2138.

79. Mathew A. Mwanyangala, Charles Mayombana, Honorathy Urassa, Jensen Charles, Chrizostom Mahutanga, and SA, et al. Health status and quality of life among older adults in rural Tanzania. Global Health Action 2010; **Supplement 2** (2010): DOI: 10.3402/gha.v3i0.2142.

80. F. Xavier Go' mez-Olive', Margaret Thorogood, Benjamin D. Clark, Kahn K, Tollman SM. Assessing health and well-being among older people in rural South Africa. Global Health Action 2010; **Supplement 2**(2010): DOI: 10.3402/gha.v3i0.2126.

81. Cornelius Debpuur, Paul Welaga, George Wak, Hodgson A. Self-reported health and functional limitations among older people in the Kassena-Nankana District, Ghana. Global Health Action 2010; **Supplement 2**(2010): DOI: 10.3402/gha.v3i0.2151.

82. Margaret Wagah, Sophie Ochola, Jane Omalla. Nutritional risk factor analysis amongst older persons in Nairobi and Machakos Districts. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

83. Tembo Barbara, Joyce K. Nutritional status and risk factors for nutritional vulnerability among older people in urban Kampala and rural Soroti. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

84. AoA. What is elder abuse. [cited 2013 11th December]; Available from: http://www.aoa.gov/AoA_programs/elder_rights/EA_prevention/whatisEA.aspx

85. WHO. World report on violence and health. 2002 [cited 2013 24th December]; Available from: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/9241545615.pdf</u>

86. Biggs S, Manthorpe J, Tinker A, Doyle M, Erens B. Mistreatment of Older People in the United Kingdom: Findings from the First National Prevalence Study. Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect. 2009; **21**(2009): 1-14.

87. O'Connor D., M.I. H, Donnelly M. Assessing Capacity Within a Context of Abuse or Neglect. Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect. 2009; **21**(2009): 156 – 69.

88. HelpAge. Elder abuse in health services in Kenya. 2001 [cited; Available from: http://www.who.int/ageing/projects/elder_abuse/alc_ea_ken.pdf

89. Mba CJ. Elder abuse in parts of Africa and the way forward. Gerontechnology. 2007; **6**(4): 230-5.

90. Hudson MF. Elder mistreatment: a taxonomy with definitions by Delphi. Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect. 1991; **1991**(3): 1-20.

91. WHO. Active ageing: a policy framework. 2002 [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/WHO_NMH_NPH_02.8.pdf

92. WHO. Age-friendly primary care centres. Toolkit. 2008 [cited 2013 1st December]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Age-Friendly-PHC-Centre-toolkitDec08.pdf</u>

93. WHO. Health Systems Responsiveness. [cited 2011 31st January 2011]; Available from: http://www.who.int/responsiveness/surveys/Ques%20for%20KIS%20WHR2000.pdf

94. WHO. The Health System Responsiveness Analytical Guidelines for Surveys in the Multicountry Survey Study. 2005 [cited 2013 1st October]; Available from:

http://www.who.int/responsiveness/papers/MCSS Analytical Guidelines.pdf

95. WHO. World Health Report. Health Systems. Improving Performance. 2000 [cited 2012 20th July]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/whr/2000/en/whr00_en.pdf</u>

96. Nicole Valentine, Charles Darby, Bonsel GJ. Which aspects of non-clinical quality of care are most important? Results from WHO's general population surveys of "health systems

responsiveness" in 41 countries. Social Science & Medicine. 2008; **66**(2008): 1939-50.

97. WHO. Active ageing: a policy framework. 2002 [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2002/WHO_NMH_NPH_02.8.pdf

98. Barrett J, Haley W, Harrell L, R P. Knowledge about Alzheimers disease among primary care physicians, psychologists, nurses, and social workers. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 1997; **11**(2): 99-106.

99. Perry M, Drasković I, van Achterberg T, Borm G, van Eijken M, Lucassen P, et al. Can an EASY care based dementia training programme improve diagnostic assessment and management of dementia by general practitioners and primary care nurses? The design of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008.; **2008** (8): 71.

100. Kletemberg DF, Padilha MI. [Gerontological nursing, the production of knowledge in the profession (1970-1996)]. Revista Gaucha de Enfermagem. 2013; **34**(1): 86-93.

101. Koren ME, Hertz J, Munroe D, Rossetti J, Robertson J, Plonczynski D, et al. Assessing students' learning needs and attitudes: considerations for gerontology curriculum planning. Gerontology & Geriatrics Education. 2008; **28**(4): 39-56.

102. Stevens-Roseman ES, Leung P. Enhancing attitudes, knowledge and skills of paraprofessional service providers in elder care settings. Gerontology & Geriatrics Education. 2004; 25(1): 73-88.
103. Hope KW. Nurses' attitudes towards older people: a comparison between nurses working in

acute medical and acute care of elderly patient settings. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 1994; **20** 605-12.

104. Mandy Doherty, Elizabeth A.Mitchell, O'Neill S. Attitudes of HealthcareWorkers towards Older People in a Rural Population: A Survey Using the Kogan Scale. Nursing Research and Practice. 2011; **2011**(Article ID 352627).

105. Kang Y. Korean nurses' attitudes towards older people with dementia in acute care settings. International Journal of Older People Nursing 2011; **6** (2011): 143-52.

106. Dieleman M, Harnmeijer JW. Improving health worker performance: in search of promising practices. 2006 [cited 2014 17th February]; Available from:

http://www.who.int/hrh/resources/improving_hw_performance.pdf

107. WHO. World Health Report. Working together for health. 2006 [cited 2014 17th February]; Available from: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2006/9241563176_eng.pdf</u>

108. WHO. Declaration of Alma-Ata. International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6-12 September 1978. 1978 [cited 2013 2nd December]; Available from:

http://www.who.int/publications/almaata_declaration_en.pdf

109. WHO. Report on the review of primary health care in the African region. 2008 [cited 2013 2nd December]; Available from:

http://www.afro.who.int/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=2034&Itemid=830

110. WHO. International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata: twenty-fifth anniversary. Report by the Secretariat. 2003 [cited 2013 2nd December]; Available from:

http://apps.who.int/gb/archive/pdf_files/WHA56/ea5627.pdf

111. McGivern D. The evolution of primary care nursing. In Mezey MD, McGivern DO, eds. Nurses, nurse practioners. Boston. Little, Brown; 1986.

112. WHO. Information Needs for Research, Policy and Action on Ageing and Older Adults. Minimum Data Set on Ageing in sub-Saharan Africa: Report on a WHO Workshop 2003 [cited 2012 19th September]; Available from: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2003/9241591110.pdf</u>

113. WHO. Towards Age-Friendly Primary Health Care 2004 [cited 2012 19th Sept 2012]; Available from: <u>http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2004/9241592184.pdf</u>

114. UBOS. Uganda National Household Survey. Uganda Bureau of Statistics (UBOS). 2009/10 [cited 2012 7th Oct 2012]; Available from: <u>http://www.ubos.org/UNHS0910/unhs200910.pdf</u>

115. Cordaid. A study of Older People's livelihoods in Tanzania. 2011 [cited 2012 3rd November]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4d9af03a38056/

116. Waithaka J. K, Anyona F AK. Aging and Poverty in Kenya. A Country Report for the regional Workshopon Aging and Poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa 2003 [cited 2012 3rd November]; Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/ageing/documents/workshops/Tanzania/kenya.pdf</u>

117. A N. Phenomenological study of aging amongst the older persons in Zambia 2004 [cited 2012 3rd November 2012]; Available from:

http://uir.unisa.ac.za/bitstream/handle/10500/1924/01thesis.pdf?sequence=1

118. Joan Wharf Higgins, Deborah Begoray, M M. A Social Ecological Conceptual Framework for Understanding Adolescent Health Literacy in the Health Education Classroom. Am J Community Psychol. 2009; **2009**(44): 350-62.

119. UN. Political Declaration and Madrid International Plan of Action on Aging 2002 [cited 2012 19th Sept]; Available from: <u>http://social.un.org/ageing-working-group/documents/mipaa-en.pdf</u>

120. AU. African Union Policy Framework and Plan of Action on Aging. [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from:

http://social.un.org/index/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=Bd_YFGLRS5s%3D&tabid=330

121. UN. The Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing. Guding Framework and Toolkit for Practioners and Policy Makers. 2008 [cited 2012 19th September]; Available from: http://www.un.org/ageing/documents/building_natl_capacity/guiding.pdf

122. HelpAge. African Union policy framework and plan of action on ageing. 2002 [cited 2012 3rd June]; Available from:

https://www.un.org/ageing/documents/implementation/AUFrameworkBook.pdf

123. MoGLSD. National Policy for Older Persons in Uganda 2009 [cited 2009 11th June]; Available from: <u>http://www.mglsd.go.ug/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2010/04/National%20Policy%20for%20Older%20Persons.pdf

124. MoH. Second National Policy. Promoting people's health to enhance socio-economic development. Kampal (Uganda): Ministry of Health; 2010.

125. MoH. Health Sector Stratgic Plan 2010/2011 - 2014/3015. [cited 2012 7th June]; Available from: <u>http://www.health.go.ug/docs/HSSP_III_2010.pdf</u>

126. MoGLSD. NATIONAL PLAN OF ACTION FOR OLDER PERSONS 2012/13-2016/17. Republic of Uganda. 2012 [cited 2013 30th December]; Available from: <u>http://www.mglsd.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Plans/NATIONAL%20PLAN%20OF%20ACTION%20FOR%20OLDER%20PERS</u>ONS.pdf

127. French J R P, Raven B H. The bases of Social Power. In Huczynski A A and Buchanan A D 2007. Organisational Behaviour Page 316. 6th Edition. 1958.

128. Goleman D. Leadership that gets results. In Havard Business Review. Reprint ROO204. March-April 2000. ; 2000.

129. du Plessis JM, Gerber JJ, Brand L. Managing asthma in primary care through imperative outcomes. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice. 2013; **19**(2): 235-42.

130. Michael Marmot, Sharon Friel, Ruth Bell, Tanja A J Houweling, SebastianTaylor. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Lancet. 2008; **372**(2008): 1661-69.

131. John Walley, Joy E Lawn, Anne Tinker, Andres de Francisco, Mickey Chopra, Igor Rudan, et al. Alma-Ata: Rebirth and Revision 8. Primary health care: making Alma-Ata a reality. Lancet. 2008; **372**(September 13, 2008): 1001-07.

132. Marmot M. Achieving health equity: from root causes to fair outcomes. Lancet. 2007; **370**(2007): 1153-63.

133. Martin Hefford, Peter Crampton, Foley J. Reducing health disparities through primary care reform: the New Zealand experiment. Health Policy 2004; **72**(2005): 9-23.

134. Edilberto Loaiza, Tessa Wardlaw, Salama P. Child mortality 30 years after the Alma-Ata Declaration. Lancet. 2008; **372** (2008).

135. Jon Rohde, Simon Cousens, Mickey Chopra, Viroj Tangcharoensathien, Robert Black, Zulfi qar A Bhutta, et al. 30 years after Alma-Ata: has primary health care worked in countries? Lancet. 2008; **372**(2008): 950-61.

136. Kruk ME, Porignon D, Rockers PC, Van Lerberghe W. The contribution of primary care to health and health systems in low- and middle-income countries: a critical review of major primary care initiatives. Social Science & Medicine. 2010; **70**(6): 904-11.

137. Lewis M, Eskeland G, Traa-Valerezo X. Primary health care in practice: is it effective? Health Policy. 2004; **70**(3): 303-25.

138. Thembi P. Nteta, Matilda Mokgatle-Nthabu, Oguntibeju OO. Utilization of the Primary Health Care Services in the Tshwane Region of Gauteng Province, South Africa. PLoS ONE. 2010; **5**(11): e13909. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013909.

139. WHO. Summaries of Country Experiences on Primary Health Care revitalisation. International Conference on Primary Health Care and Health Systems in Africa. World Health Organization. 2008; **AFR/PHC/08/2**.

140. HelpAge. Primary healthcare for older people. A participatory study in 5 Asian countries.2008 [cited 2013 29th November]; Available from:

http://www.helpage.org/resources/publications/?ssearch=primary+healthcare+for+older+people&a dv=0&topic=0®ion=0&language=0&type=0

141. Deventer C, I vC, Wright A, Tumbo J, C K. Evaluation of Primary mental health care in North West province - a qualitative review. SAJP-South African Journal of Psychiatry. 2008; **14**(4): 136-40. 142. Phaswana-Mafuya N, Peltzer K, Davids AS. Patients' perceptions of primary health care services in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. African Journal for Physical, Health Education, Recreation and Dance. 2011; **17**(3): 502-16.

143. Ige K, C. N. Areas of dissatisfaction with primary care services inn government owned health facilities in a semi-urban community in Nigeria. Journal of Rural and Tropical Pubic Health. 2010; **2010**(9): 19-23.

144. Chinyere Mercellina Chukwuani, Akindeji Olugboji, Edward Erdorga Akuto, Akim Odebunmi, Ezenta Ezeilo, Ugbenee E. A baseline survey of the Primary Healthcare System in South Eastern Nigeria. Health Policy 2006; **77**(2006): 182-201.

145. Leslie A. Curry, Rachelle Alpern, Tashonna R. Webster, Patrick Byam, Abraham Zerihun, Nalini Tarakeshwar, et al. Community perspectives on roles and responsibilities for strengthening primary health care in rural Ethiopia. Global Public Health. 2012; **7**(9, October 2012): 961-73.

146. Catherine Kahabuka, Karen Marie Mland, Gunnar Kvale, SG H. Unfulfilled expectations to services offered at primary care facilities. Experiences of caretakers of under five children in rural Tanzania BMC Health Services Research. 2012; **2012**(12): 158.

147. Catherine Kahabuka, Karen Marie Mland, Gunnar Kvale, Hinderaker SG. Unfulfilled expectations to services offered at primary care facilities. Experiences of caretakers of under five children in rural Tanzania. BMC Health Services Research. 2012; **2012**(12): 158.

148. MoH. Uganda Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2011/2012. 2011 [cited 2013 16th June]; Available from: <u>http://health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR 11_12.pdf</u>

149. MoH. Uganda Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2009 2010. 2010 [cited 2013 24th July]; Available from: <u>http://health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR_11_12.pdf</u>

150. MoH. Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2012/2013. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR_2013.pdf</u>

151. MoMS. Minstry of Medical Services Strategic plan 2008-2012. Ministry of Medical Services,Kenya. 2008 [cited 2012 26th Oct]; Available from:

http://www.hennet.or.ke/downloads/MoMs%20Strategic%20Plan%202008-2012.pdf

152. MoH. Health Sector Performance Profile. Report 2010 update. Tanzania Minstry of health and Social Services. 2010 [cited 2012 26th Oct 2012]; Available from:

http://hdptz.esealtd.com/fileadmin/documents/Basket_Documents_2011/Health_Sector_Performa nce_Profile_Report_2010.pdf

153. MoH. Assessment of the Uganda essential medicines Kit-based supply system in Uganda.2011 [cited 2012 26th Oct]; Available from:

http://health.go.ug/docs/THE%20KIT%20Assessment%20Report%20-%20August%202011.pdf 154. MoH. Essential Medicines List. Ministry of Health Uganda. 2007 [cited 2012 26th Oct]; Available from: http://www.who.int/selection_medicines/country_lists/uga_eml_2007.pdf

155. MoH. Essential Medicines List. Mistry of Health of Federal Republic of Nigeria. 2010 [cited 2012 26th October]; Available from:

http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/documents/s19018en/s19018en.pdf

156. Whadi-ah Parker, Nelie P Steyn, Naomi S Levitt, Lombard CJ. Health promotion services for patients having non-communicable diseases: Feedback from patiens and health care providers in Cape Town, South Africa. BioMed Central. 2012; **2012**(12): 503.

157. Deventer C, van Couper I, N S. Chronic patient care in North West province clinics. African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine. 2009; **2009**(1): 1.

158. Rayner B, Blockman M, Baines D, Y T. A survey of hypertensive practices at two community health centres in Cape Town. SAMJ- South African Medical Journal 2007; **97** (4): 280-4.

159. Mitsuru Toda, Antony Opwora, Evelyn Waweru, Abdisalan Noor, Tansy Edwards, Greg Fegan, et al. Analyzing the equity of public primary care provision in Kenya: variation in facility

characteristics by local poverty level. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2012; 2012(11): 75.
160. MoH. Health Sector Strategic Plan III 2009 - 2015. Tanzania Ministry of Health and Social Services. [cited; Available from:

http://www.moh.go.tz/documents/Health_Sector_Strategic_Plan_III.pdf

161. MoH. Annual Health Sector Performance report 2007. 2007 [cited 2012 11th Oct 2012]; Available from: <u>http://www.health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR06.pdf</u>

162. Mary Ajwang, Joshua K Muliira, Nankinga Z. Continuing eduction in geriatrics for rural health care providers in Uganda. A needs assessment. AJHPE. 2010; **2**(2).

163. Black TR. Doing quantitative research in the social sciences: An integrated approach to research design, measurement, and statistics. : Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 1999.

164. Palmore EB. Facts on aging: a short quiz. . Gerontologist. 1977; **1977**(17): 315-437.

165. Kogan N. Attitude toward old people. The development of a scale and examination of correlates Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology. 1961; **62**(1): 44-54.

166. Bachmann M O, Colvin M S E, Nsibande D, Connolly C, B C. Quality of primary care for sexually transmitted diseases in Durban, South Africa: Influences of patient, nurse, organisational and socioeconomic characteristics. International Journal od STD & AIDS. 2004; **2004**(15): 388-94.

167. JA B. Addressing the challenges of adherence. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2002; **1**: S2-10.

R. B. Behavioral issues in asthma management. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2001; Suppl. 21: 26-30.
 Golin CE, DiMatteo MR, L G. The role of patient participation in the doctor visit: implications for adherence to diabetes care. Diabetes Care. 1996; 19: 1153-64.

170. Peltzer K, Phaswana-Mafuya N. Patient experiences and health system responsiveness among older adults in South Africa. Global Health Action. 2012; **5**(18545).

171. Mabuza EM, Poggenpoel M, Myburgh C. Perceived basic needs and resources for the elderly in the peri-urban and rural communities in the Hhohho region in Swaziland. Curationis. 2010; **33**(1): 23-32.

172. UBOS. 2013 Statistical Abstract. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/abstracts/Statistical%20Abstract %202013.pdf

173. UBOS. Mid-year population projections. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: http://www.ubos.org/?st=pagerelations2&id=17&p=related%20pages%202:Population

174. WHO. WHO African Region: Statistics summary (2002 - present). 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.country.20300</u>

175. UBOS. Projected midyear Population for 5 year age groups, 2010 – 2012. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/Popn T3 2011.pdf

176. UBOS. Demographic statistics: Population. Uganda Bureau of Statistics. 2002 [cited 2012 7th October 2012]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/Popn_T4_2011.pdf

177. UBOS. Life expectancy at birth. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/Popn T6 2011.pdf

178. WHO. Life expectancy. 2011 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/gho/mortality_burden_disease/life_tables/situation_trends_text/en/</u> 179. WIKIPEDIA. List of countries by GDP (nominal) per capita. [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_countries_by_GDP_(nominal) per capita</u>

180. UBOS. Uganda Bureau of Statistics. 2011 Statistical Abstract. 2011 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/abstracts/2011%20Statistical%2 0Abstract.pdf

181. WHO. The 22 TB high burden countries. 2009 [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from: http://www.stoptb.org/wg/gli/assets/documents/Mtg5pres/Day%202/Session4d_Uganda%20experi ence%20using%20Xpert%20MTBRIF.pdf

182. UNGASS. UNGASS Country Progress Report Jan 2008 - Dec 2009. 2010 [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from:

http://data.unaids.org/pub/Report/2010/uganda_2010_country_progress_report_en.pdf

183. Shafer LA, Biraro S, Nakiyingi-Miiro J, Kamali A, sematimba D, Ouma J, et al. HIV Prevalence and Incidence Are No Longer Falling in Southwest Uganda: Evidence From a Rural Population Cohort 1989–2005. AIDS 2006; **2008** (22): 1641-9.

184. MoH. Annual Health Sector Performance Report 2009/2010. 2010 [cited 2012 13th October]; Available from: <u>http://www.health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR09.pdf</u>

185. UBOS. Uganda Demographic and Health Survey 2011. 2011 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/FR264/FR264.pdf</u>

186. KNBS. Demographic and Health Survey. 2009 [cited 20133 20th December]; Available from: http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/FR229/FR229.pdf

187. NBS. National Bureau of Statistics. Tanzania Demographic and Health Survey 2010. 2010 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from:

http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/FR243/FR243[24June2011].pdf

188. NIS. Rwanda Demographic and Health Survey 2010. Final report. 2010 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: <u>http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/FR259/FR259.pdf</u>

189. Ke Xu, David B. Evans, Guido Carrin, Ana Mylena Aguilar-Rivera, Philip Musgrove, Evans T.
Protecting Households from Catastrophic Health Spending. Health Affairs 2007; 2007(4): 972-83.
190. Index-Mundi. United Kingdom Infant Mortality Rate. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December];
Available from: http://www.indexmundi.com/united kingdom/infant mortality rate.html

191. Index-Mundi. United Kingdom Maternal Mortality Ratio. 2013 [cited 2013 20th December]; Available from: http://www.indexmundi.com/united_kingdom/maternal_mortality_rate.html

192. AWHO. Human Resources for Health. Country Profile Uganda. 2009 [cited 2012 11th Oct 2012]; Available from:

http://www.unfpa.org/sowmy/resources/docs/library/R052_AHWO_2009_Uganda_HRHProfile.pdf

193. MoH. Annual Health Sector Performance Report. Financial Year 2012 / 2013. 2013 [cited 2014 3rd January 2013]; Available from: <u>http://health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR_2013.pdf</u>

194. UBOS. Table B5: Single Years of Age by Sex and Rural-Urban Distribution for the Total Population. 2002 [cited 2013 21st December]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/census_tabulations/centableB5.pdf

195. UBOS. Projections of demographic trends in Uganda 2007-2017. [cited 2013 21st December]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/PopulationProjections2003-2017.pdf

196. UBOs. Uganda National Household Survey. 2010 [cited 2012 19th Sept]; Available from: http://www.ubos.org/UNHS0910/unhs200910.pdf

197. MoFPED. Uganda participatory poverty assessment report. 2000 [cited 2013 21st December]; Available from:

198. UBOS. Uganda National Household Survey 2005/2006. 2006 [cited 2013 22nd December]; Available from:

http://www.ubos.org/onlinefiles/uploads/ubos/pdf%20documents/UNHSReport20052006.pdf 199. National-Statistics. Health Survey for England 2005: Health of older people. London: The Information Centre. 2007 [cited 2014 14th February]; Available from:

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB01184/heal-surv-heal-old-peo-eng-2005-rep-v5.pdf

200. Nyambedha EO, Wandibba S, Aagaard-Hansen J. "Retirement lost"-the new role of the elderly as caretakers for orphans in Western Kenya. Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology. 2003; **18**(1): 33-52.

201. Larson BA, Wambua N, Masila J, Wangai S, Rohr J, Brooks M, et al. Exploring impacts of multi-year, community-based care programs for orphans and vulnerable children: a case study from Kenya. AIDS care. 2013; **25 Suppl 1**: S40-5.

202. Sefasi AP. Impact of HIV and AIDS on the eldery: a case study of Chiladzulu district. Malawi Medical Journal. 2010; **22**(4): 101-3.

203. Boon H, Ruiter RAC, James S, van den Borne B, Williams E, Reddy P. Correlates of grief among older adults caring for children and grandchildren as a consequence of HIV and AIDS in South Africa. Journal of Aging & Health. 2010; **22**(1): 48-67.

204. Ssengonzi R. The impact of HIV/AIDS on the living arrangements and well-being of elderly caregivers in rural Uganda. AIDS care. 2009; **21**(3): 309-14.

Ssengonzi R. The plight of older persons as caregivers to people infected/affected by
HIV/AIDS: evidence from Uganda. Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology. 2007; 22(4): 339-53.
Oleke C, Blystad A, Fylkesnes K, Tumwine JK. Constraints to educational opportunities of orphans: a community-based study from northern Uganda. AIDS care. 2007; 19(3): 361-8.

207. Kamya H, Poindexter CC. Mama Jaja: the stresses and strengths of HIV-affected Ugandan grandmothers. Social Work in Public Health. 2009; **24**(1-2): 4-21.

208. Kipp W, Tindyebwa D, Rubaale T, Karamagi E, Bajenja E. Family caregivers in rural Uganda: the hidden reality. Health Care for Women International. 2007; **28**(10): 856-71.

209. Kish L. Survey sampling. New York: Wiley; 1965.

210. WHO. Service Availability and Readiness Assessment (SARA). 2011 [cited 2012 6th Oct 2012]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/systems/SARA_CoreQuestionnaire.pdf</u>

211. MoH. The health management information system. Health unit database. 2010 [cited 2012 5th December]; Available from:

http://www.health.go.ug/hmis/public/tools/HF_DATABASE_Revised2_updated_.pdf

212. Robert L. Seuferta, Carrozza MA. A test of Palmore's Facts on Aging Quizzes as alternate measures. Journal of Aging Studies. 2002; **16**(2002): 279-94.

213. Kaempfer D, Wellman NS, Himburg SP. Dietetics students' low knowledge, attitudes, and work preferences toward older adults indicate need for improved education about aging. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2002; **102**(2): 197-202.

214. Angel Chu Kee Lee, Alisa Ka Po Wong, Loh EKY. Score in the Palmore's Aging Quiz, knowledge of community resources and working preferences of undergraduate nursing students toward the elderly in Hong Kong. Nurse Education Today. 2005; **2006** (26): 269-76.

215. Ekaterini Lambrinou, Panayota Sourtzi, Athena Kalokerinou, Lemonidou C. Attitudes and knowledge of the Greek nursing students towards older people. Nurse Education Today. 2009; **29**(2009): 617–22.

216. Carpenter B, Balsis S, Otilingam P, Hanson P, M G. The Alzheimer's Disease Knowledge Scale: Development and psychometric properties. Gerontologist. 2009; **49**(2): 236-47.

217. MoGLSD. Improving the health and wellbeing of older persons in communities. First edition ed. Kampala Uganda: Ministry of Gender Labour and Social Development; 2013.

218. Palmore EB. More on Palmore's Facts on Aging Quiz. Gerontologist. 1981; 21: 115-6.

219. Wang C-C, Liao W-C, Kuo P-C, Yuan S-C, Chuang H-L, Lo H-C, et al. The Chinese version of the Facts on Aging Quiz scale: reliability and validity assessment. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2010; **47**(6): 742-52.

220. Lambrinou E, Sourtzi P, Kalokerinou A, Lemonidou C. Attitudes and knowledge of the Greek nursing students towards older people. Nurse Education Today. 2009; **29**(6): 617-22.

221. Wang CC, Liao WC, Kao MC, Chen YJ, Lee MC, Lee MF, et al. Taiwanese medical and nursing student interest levels in and attitudes towards Geriatrics

230-236. Annals Academy of Medicine. 2009; 38(3).

222. Furlan JC, B.C Craven, Ritchie R, Coukos L, Fehlings MG. Attitudes towards the older patients with spinal cord injury among registered nurses: a cross-sectional observational study. . Spinal Cord. 2009; **47**(9): 674-80.

223. Gallagher S, Bennett KM, Halford JCG. A comparison of acute and long-term health-care personnel's attitudes towards older adults. International Journal of Nursing Practice 2006; **12** (5): 273-9.

224. Hweidi IM, Al-Obeisat SM. Jordanian nursing students' attitudes toward the elderly. Nurse Education Today 2006; **26**(1): 23-30.

225. Hweidi IM, Al-Hassan MA. Jordanian nurses' attitudes toward older patients in acute care settings. International Nursing Review 2005; **52**(3): 225-32.

226. Kearney N, Miller M, Paul J, Smith, K Oncology healthcare professionals' attitudes towards elderly people. Annals of Oncology. 2000; **11**(5): 599-601.

227. Mellor P, Chew D, Greenhill J. Nurses' attitudes toward elderly people and knowledge of gerontic care in a multi-purpose health service (MPHS) Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing 2007; **24**.(4): 37-41.

228. Ryan A, Melby V, L M. An evaluation of the effectiveness of an educational and experiential intervention on nursing students' attitudes towards older people. International Journal of Older People Nursing. **2**: 93-101.

229. So[°]derhamn O, Lindencrona C, Gustavsson SM. Attitudes toward older people among nursing students and registered nurses in Sweden. Nurse Education Today 2001; **21** (3): 225-9.

230. Ziniel SI. Avoiding interviewer bias. [cited 2013 21st August]; Available from: http://www.childrenshospital.org/cfapps/research/data_admin/Site2846/Documents/Avoiding%20 Bias%20in%20the%20Research%20Interview.pdf

231. Tyagi B.K, Samuel Phillip. P. Data consistency, completeness and cleaning. [cited 2013 17th August]; Available from: <u>http://www.inclentrust.org/resources/PPS%202-</u>

DATA_CONSISTENCY_Integrated.pdf

232. MoH. Health facilities inventory. Kampala: Uganda Ministry of Health; 2011.

233. WHO. 10 Facts about aging and lifecourse 2012 [cited 2012 13th August]; Available from: http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/ageing/en/

234. Adebusoye LA, Owoaje ET, Ladipo MM, Adeniji AO. Visual morbidities among elderly patients presenting at a primary care clinic in Nigeria. West African Journal of Medicine. 2011; **30**(2): 118-20.

235. Patricia M. Burbank, Annemarie Dowling-Castronovo, Martha R. Crowther, Capezuti AA. Improving knowledge and attitudes toward older adults through innovative educational strategies. Journal of Professional Nursind. 2006; **22**(2006): 91–7.

A. Almogue, A. Weiss, Marcus L, Beloosesky Y. Attitudes and knowledge of medical and nursing staff toward elder abuse. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2010; **51**(2010): 86-91.
Anthony Scerri, Scerri C. Nursing students' knowledge and attitudes towards dementia — A questionnaire survey. Nurse Education Today. 2013; **33**(2013): 962-8.

238. Wang C-C. Taiwanese Nursing Students Knowledge of Elderly. 2009 AAN Poster Abstracts. Nursing outlook. 2009; **58**(2): e32.

239. Wendy Smyth, Elaine Fielding, Beattie E, Gardner A, Moyle W, Franklin S, et al. A surveybased study of knowledge of Alzheimer's disease among health care staff. BMC Geriatrics 2013; **13**(2).

240. Catteau C, Piaton S, Nicolas E, Hennequin M, C. L. Assessment of the oral health knowledge of healthcare providers in geriatric nursing homes: additional training needs required. Gerontology. 2013; doi: 10.1111/ger.12094.

241. Courtney Roethler, Toby Adelman, Parsons V. Assessing emergency nurses' geriatric knowledge and perceptions of their geriatric care. Journal of emergency nursing. 2011; **37**(2).
242. Lucen Afrosea, Bilkis Banua, Kazi R Ahmeda, Khanoma K. Factors associated with knowledge about breastfeeding among female garment workers in Dhaka city. WHO South-East Asia Journal of Public Health 2012; **1**(3): 249-55.

243. Kaempfer D, Wellman N.S, Himburg SP. Dietetics students' low knowledge, attitudes and work preferences toward older adults indicate need for improved education about aging Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 2002; **102** (2): 197-202.

244. Myers H, Nikoletti S, Hill A. Nurses' use of restraints and their attitudes toward restraint use and the elderly in an acute care setting. Nursing and Health Sciences. 2001; **3**(1): 29-34.

245. Todd ND. Ageism: Stereotyping and Prejudice against Older People 2004 ed. USA: MIT Press. ISBN 978-0-262-64057-2 2004.

246. Wang CC, Liao WC, Kao MC, Chen YJ, Lee MC, Lee MF, et al. Taiwanese medical and nursing student interest levels in and attitudes towards Geriatrics. Annals Academy of Medicine 2009; **38**(3): 230-6.

247. Gething L, Fethney J, McKee K, Goff M, Churchward, M., , Matthews S. Knowledge,
stereotyping and attitudes towards self ageing. Australasian Journal on Ageing 2002; 21 (2): 74-9.
248. Koren ME, Hertz J, Munroe D, Rossetti J, Robertson J, Plonczynski D, et al. Assessing
students' learning needs and attitudes: considerations for Gerontology curriculum planning.

Gerontology & Geriatrics Education. 2008; **28**(4): 39-56.

249. Pursey A, Luker K. Attitudes and stereotypes: nurses'work with older people. Journal of Advanced Nursing. 1995; **22**(3): 547-55.

250. M. Nolan, S. Davis, Brown J. The senses framework: Improving care for older people through a relationship-centred approach. Getting research into practice (GRIP) report No 2: University of Shefield; 2006. Report No.: 2.

251. Holroyd A, Dahlke S, Fehr C, Jung, P., , Hunter A. Attitudes toward aging: implications for a caring profession Journal of Nursing Education. 2009; **Journal of Nursing Education**

48(7): 374-80.

252. Pan IJ, Edwards H, Chang A. Taiwanese nursing students' attitudes toward older people. Journal of Gerontological Nursing. 2009; **35**(11): 50-5.

253. Karlin NJ, Emick J, Mehls EE, Murry FR. Comparison of efficacy and age discrimination
between psychology and nursing students. Gerontology & Geriatrics Education 2006; 26 (2): 81-96.
254. McLafferty I, Morrison F. Attitudes towards hospitalized older adults. Journal of Advanced
Nursing. 2004; 47(4): 446-53.

255. Dane B. Likert Scales. [cited 2014 17th March]; Available from: <u>http://www.al-huda.net/2012/PA/2014/topic-dane-likert.pdf</u>

256. LaMarca N. Field research in organizational psychology. [cited 2014 17th March]; Available from:

257. Valentine N, Darby C, Bonsel GJ. Which aspects of non-clinical quality of care are most important? Results from WHO's general population surveys of "health systems responsiveness" in 41 countries. Social Science & Medicine. 2008; **66**(9): 1939-50.

258. Campbell SM, Roland MO, Buetow SA. Defining quality of care. Social Science and Medicine. 2000; **51**: 1611e25.

259. Mabuza EM, Poggenpoel M, C M. Perceived basic needs and resources for the elderly in the peri-urban and rural communities in the Hhohho region in Swaziland. Curationis. 2006; **33**(1): 23-32.

260. Sedgwick P. What is recall bias. BMJ 2012; **2012**(344): e3519 doi: 10.1136/bmj.e3519.

261. Kowal P, Naidoo N, Williams SR, Chatterji S. Performance of the health system in China and Asia as measured by responsiveness. Health. 2011; **3**(10): 638-46.

262. Carlson MJ SJ, Eisen SV, Cleary PD. The influence of patient characteristics on ratings of managed behavioral health care. . Journal of Behavioural Health Services and Research. 2002; **29**: 481-89.

263. Haviland MG, Morales LS, Reise SP, RD H. Do health care ratings differ by race or ethnicity? . Jt Comm J Qual Saf. 2003; **29**: 134-45.

264. Roohan PJ, Franko SJ, Anarella JP, Dellehunt, LK GF. Do commercial managed care members rate their health plans differently than Medicaid managed care members? Health Service Research. 2003; **38:1121-34**.

265. Peltzer K. Patient experiences and health system responsiveness in South Africa. BMC Health Services Research. 2009; **9**(117).

266. Lee Y, JD K. Assessment of medical care by elderly people: general satisfaction and physician quality. . Health Serv Res. 1998; **32**(741-58.).

267. MR B. Does religion influence patient satisfaction? . Am J Health Behav. 2006; **2006**(30): 85-91.

268. Crow R, Gage H, Hampson J, Hart J, Kimber A, L Storey, et al. The measurement of satisfaction with healthcare: implications for practice from a systematic review of the literature Health Technology Assessment. 2002; **6**(32): 1-92.

269. Krupat E, Fancey M, PD C. Information and its impact on satisfaction among surgical patients. . Soc Sci Med. 2000; **51**(1817-25).

270. Thi PL, Briancon S, Empereur F, F G. Factors determining inpatient satisfaction with care. Soc Sci Med. 2002; **54**(493-504).

271. Jackson JL, Chamberlin J, . KK. Predictors of patient satisfaction. Social Science Medicine. 2001; **52**: 609-20.

272. Nguyen Thi PL, Brianc S, Empereur F, F G. Factors determining inpatient satisfaction with care. Social Science Medicine. 2002; **54**: 493-504.

273. Banister P, Burman E, Parker I, Taylor, M.,, Tindall C. Quality methods in Psychology. Buckingham: Open University Press. 1994.

274. WHO. Service Availability and Readiness Assessment (SARA) 2011 [cited 2012 6th October]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/systems/SARA_CoreQuestionnaire.pdf</u>

275. UN. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights. [cited; Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/en/documents/udhr/</u>

276. UN. Principles for Older Persons: General Assembly Resolution 46/91. New York. 1991 [cited 2013 23rd September]; Available from:

http://www.un.org/documents/ga/res/46/a46r091.htm

277. Commission J. Hospital accreditation standards. Oakbrook Terrace, IL: Joint Commission Resources. 2003; **2003**.

278. VK S. Generating management research on improving quality. Health Care Manage Rev. 2003; **28**(4): 335-47.

279. Barry R, Murcko AC, CE B. The Six Sigma book for healthcare: improving outcomes by reducing errors. Chicago, IL: Health Administration Press. 2003; **2003**.

280. Pande PS, Newman RP, RR C. The Six Sigma way New York: McGraw-Hill. 2000; 2000.

281. WE D. Out of the Crisis Cambridge, MA: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Advanced Engineering Study; 1986. 1986.

282. Lynn J, Baily MA, Bottrell M, al e. The ethics of using quality improvement methods in health care Ann Intern Med. 2007; **2007**(146): 666-73.

283. Lohr KN, SA S. A strategy for quality assurance in Medicare. N Engl J Med. 1990; **1990**(322): 1161-71.

284. IOM. (Institute of Medicine). Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2001.

285. HF. The Health Foundation. Quality improvement made simple. [cited 2014 30th June]; Available from: <u>http://m.health.org.uk/publications/quality-improvement-made-simple/</u>

286. J R. Human Error. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1990. 1990.

287. DM B. Developing and testing changes in delivery of care. Ann Intern Med. 1998; **1998**(128): 651-6.

288. DM B. Eleven worthy aims for clinical leadership of health care reform. JAMA 1994; **272**(10): 797-802.

289. USAID. Strengthening Systems to Improve Nutrition Care, Support and Treatment in Malawi: Results from Balaka and Karonga Districts. 2014 [cited 2014 24th July]; Available from:

https://www.usaidassist.org/resources/strengthening-systems-improve-nutrition-care-support-and-treatment-malawi-results-balaka

290. USAID. Safe male circumcision: Improving client follow-up at Gulu Regional Referral Hospital, Uganda. 2014 [cited 2014 24th June]; Available from:

https://www.usaidassist.org/sites/assist/files/improving_client_follow_up_at_gulu_regional_referra <u>hospital_june_2014_usltr.pdf</u>

291. LSTM. LQAS Detailed Implementation Plan Template. [cited 2014 30th June]; Available from:

http://www.lstmed.ac.uk/media/220512/lqas%20generic%20dip%20v1.0%20jun%202012.docx

292. Buhr GT, HK W. Management in the nursing home: a pilot study. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2006; **2006**(7): 246-53.

293. Guinane CS, NH D. The science of Six Sigma in hospitals. Am Heart Hosp J. 2004; **2004**(Winter): 42-8.

294. Mills PD, Neily J, Luan D, al. e. Using aggregate root cause analysis to reduce falls and related injuries. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf. 2005; **31**(1): 21-31.

295. Pronovost PJ, Morlock L, Davis RO, al e. Using online and offline change models to improve ICU access and revenues. J Qual Improv. 2000; **26**(1): 5-17.

296. Linstead S, Fulop L, Lilley S. Management and Organisation. Critical text. pages 617-663. 2nd edition ed; 2004.

297. John Kotter. Leading Change. Why transformation efforts fail. . Havard Business Review. Reprint 95204 ed: Boston MA: Havard Business Scholl Press; 1995. p. 57-67.

298. Fagerberg. I, Kihlgren. M. Registered nurses' experiences of caring for the elderly in different health-care areas. International Journal of Nursing Practice. 2001; **7**(2001): 229-36.

299. McKinlay A, S C. Student nurses' attitudes toward working with older people. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2003; **43** 298-309.

300. Wallace M, Greiner P, Grossman S, Lange J, D.T L. Development, implementation, and evaluation of a geriatric nurse education program. Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing. 2006; **37**: 214-7.

301. WHO. Training for mid-level managers. Supportive supervision. 2008 [cited 2014 30th June]; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/immunization/documents/MLM_module4.pdf</u>

302. Thompson J, Wieck KL, A W. What perioperative and emerging workforce nurses want in a manager. AORN J. 2003; **78**(2): 246-9, 58, passium.

303. [cited 2014 30th June]; Available from: www.kingsfund.org.uk/ebcd

304. Toure K, Coume M, Ndiaye-Ndongo D, Thiam MH, Zunzunegui MV, Bacher Y, et al. Prevalence of dementia in a Senegalese elderly population. African Journal of Neurological Sciences. 2008; **27**(2).

305. Abdulraheem IS. Health needs assessment and determinants of health-seeking behaviour among elderly Nigerians: a house-hold survey. Annals of African Medicine. 2007; 6 (2): 58-63.
306. Cockburn N, Steven D, Lecuona K, Joubert F, G. R. Prevalence, Causes and Socio-Economic Determinants of Vision Loss in Cape Town, South Africa. PLoS ONE. 2012; 7(2): e30718.

307. Courtright P, Hoechsmann A, Metcalfe N, Chirambo M, Noertjojo K, Barrows J, et al. Changes in blindness prevalence over 16 years in Malawi: reduced prevalence but increased numbers of blind.[Erratum appears in Br J Ophthalmol. 2003 Nov;87(11):1432 Note: Hoeshcmann, A [corrected to Hoechsmann, A]]. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 2003; **87**(9): 1079-82.

308. Mathenge W, Kuper H, H L, S P, Onyango O, Nyaga G, et al. Rapid Assessment of avoidable blindness in Nakuru district, Kenya. Ophthalmology. 2007; **114**(3): 599-605.

309. A A. Avoidable visual impairment among elderly people in a slum of Addis Ababa. Ethiopian Journal of Health Development. 2001; **15**(2): 139-44.

310. Daniel Sibetcheu, Nankap M. Assessment of nutritional status and socio-economic vulnerability of older people in Bangoua, Western Province. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

311. K.A O. Comparative study of the nutritional status and risk factors for older people in rural (Ndramé Escale) and urban (Ouakam) areas. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

312. Fikru Tesfaye, Mesfin Tessema, Michael Zerihun, Moges Amare, Ahmed S. Assessment of the nutritional status of older people in Zeway, Central Ethiopia. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/

313. Dedan G, Kinabo G, S M. Nutritional status of older people in Magu District. 2004 [cited 2012 14th September]; Available from: <u>www.helpage.org/download/4fd729436b4fb/</u>

314. Igumbor E. U, Puoane T, Gansky S. A, O P. Pain as a reason for primary care visits: Cross sectional survey in rural and urban health clinics within Eastern Cape. Journal of Rural and Tropical Public Health 2011; **2011**: 10 61-9.

315. Blaney S, Beaudry M, Latham M. Determinants of undernutrition in rural communities of a protected area in Gabon. Public Health Nutrition. 2009; **12**(10): 1711-25.

316. Gureje O, Kola L, Afolabi E. Epidemiology of major depressive disorder in elderly Nigerians in the Ibadan Study of Ageing: a community-based survey. Lancet. 2007; **370**(9591): 957-64.

317. Gureje O, Ogunniyi A, Kola L, Abiona T. Incidence of and risk factors for dementia in the Ibadan study of aging. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2011; **59**(5): 869-74.

318. Guerchet M, Mouanga AM, M'Belesso P, Tabo A, Bandzouzi B, Paraiso MN, et al. Factors associated with dementia among elderly people living in two cities in Central Africa: the EDAC multicenter study. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2012; **29**(1): 15-24.

319. Guerchet M, Houinato D, Paraiso MN, von Ahsen N, Nubukpo P, Otto M, et al. Cognitive impairment and dementia in elderly people living in rural Benin, west Africa. Dementia & Geriatric Cognitive Disorders. 2009; **27**(1): 34-41.

320. Paraiso MN, Guerchet M, Saizonou J, Cowppli-Bony P, Mouanga AM, Nubukpo P, et al. Prevalence of dementia among elderly people living in Cotonou, an urban area of Benin (West Africa). . Neuroepidemiology 2011; **36** (4): 245-51.

321. Phaswana-Mafuya N, Peltzer K, S DA. Patient's perceptions of primary health care services in the Eastern Cape, South Africa. African Jouran of Physical, Health Education, Recreation and Dance. 2011; **17**(3): 502-16.

322. Waweru L. M, Kabiru E. W, Mbithi J. N, Some E. S. Health status and health seeking behavior of the elderly persons in Dagoretti Division, Nairobi. East African Medical Journal. 2003; **80**(2): 63-7.

9. Annexes

9.1. Systematic literature review

A systematic literature search for primary studies published in English language between January 2000 and December 2013 was undertaken to understand what health care was available and delivered to OPs at PCFs in SSA. The systematic search, using key search terms (Box 1), was conducted in PUBMED, MEDLINE, EMBASE, Global Health, Africa Wide Information, and health system evidence between June 2012 and 31st October 2013. Articles were included if they reported on health care services for older persons in PCFs; caseload due to OPs and common diseases diagnosed among OPs; knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs in PCFs regarding the care of OPs; and perceptions of OPs of the services they received from the PCFs.

The titles, abstracts and full-texts of all identified studies were reviewed and those that did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded. Study quality was assessed using tools provided by Effective Practice and Organisation of Care Group⁷³. The tool considers seven quality criteria: concealment of allocation, follow-up, blinding, baseline measurement, reliability of primary outcomes measures, and protection against contamination. These individual quality components were used to rate the studies as being of high (low risk of bias), good (moderate risk of bias), or fair quality (high risk of bias). Data extraction and further quality check was done using a checklist provided by Centres for Reviews and Dissemination⁷².

Data were obtained on the author, year, country, intervention, study population, age, sex, study design, follow-up period, services available for OPs, caseload and diseases diagnosed among OPs, knowledge, attitudes and practices of HWs, perceptions of OPs of the services. It was not possible to do a meta-analysis due to heterogeneity in study methods and outcomes; a descriptive synthesis of data was instead done and results summarized in tables.

9.1.1. Key words used for the literature search

Health care or health service\$ or medical care or care or geriatr* [1418710] Older person\$ or elderly or old people or old adult\$ or older adults or aged [161411] Primary care or community care or primary care facilit* [61654] Sub-Saharan Africa or Sub Saharan Africa or South Africa or Southern Africa or Western Africa or West Africa or East Africa or Eastern Africa or Angola or Benin or Botswana or Burkina Faso or Burundi or Cameroon or Cape Verde or Central African Republic or Chad or Comoros or Congo or Congo Brazzaville or Cote or Ivory Coast or Democratic Republic of Congo or Zaire or Equatorial Guinea or Eritrea or Ethiopia or Gabon or Gambia or Ghana or Guinea or Guinea Bissau or Guinea-Bissau or Kenya or Lesotho or Liberia or Madagascar or Malawi or Mali or Mozambique or Namibia or Niger or Nigeria or Rwanda or Soa Tome and Principe or Senegal or Seychelles or Sierra Leone or Somalia or Republic of South Africa or Swaziland or Togo or Uganda or Tanzania or United Republic of Tanzania or Zanzibar or Zambia or Zimbabwe [141179] Illness* or disease* or sick* or ailment* or health and wellbeing or morbidity or mortality Health worker\$ or health provider\$ or medical practitioner\$ or health service providers or nurses or doctors or allied health professionals or clinical workers or clinician\$ [222893] Health knowledge and attitude or health knowledge or attitude [63597] Perception or satisfaction or views or complaints [78965] Vision problems or vision disorders or visual impairment or blind or blindness [21828] Hearing problems or hearing disorders or hearing loss or hearing impairment or deaf or deafness [54728] Hypertension [350234] Cardiovascular diseases [97992] Diabetes [380053] Non-communicable diseases or chronic diseases [218283] Cancer [1053542] HIV [16324] Mental illness or mental disorders [124517] Neurocognitive disorders or cognitive disorders [49405] Dementia [36223] Alzheimer's disease [2] Depression [254464] Key word combinations: 1 and 2 and 3 and 4 = 13 articles (none met the inclusion criteria) 2 and 3 and 4 and 6 = 01 and 2 and 3 and 4 and 8 = 02 and 4 and 5 = 2632 and 4 and 9 = 39 2 and 4 and 10 = 17 2 and 4 and 11 = 129 2 and 4 and 12 = 9 2 and 4 and 13 =7 2 and 4 and 14 = 4 2 and 4 and 15=3 2 and 4 and 16 = 8 2 and 4 and 17 = 0 2 and 4 and 18=3 2 and 4 and 19=0 2 and 4 and 20 = 3

9.1.2. Prisma flow chart to study selection of studies on common diseases among older persons



Ref, year location,	Type of study	Population, age,	Findings	Comments/conclusion
		sex		
	CARDIOVAS	CULAR DISEASES		
Adebusoye et al ²⁹ 2011. African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine; 2011. 3: 1, Article ID 211. Nigeria	Cross sectional study of OPs who presented to a clinic between 2004 – 2005	N: 500 Elderly	Hypertension: 40.0%	High prevalence of NCDs, with hypertension being the most prevalent
Sanya et al ⁴⁷ 2011 Annals of African Medicine; 2011. 10: 4, 278-283. Nigeria	Prospective study of patients who have died in the hospital	N: 297 60+ yrs M: 59%	Cause of death: -Stroke: 19.8%	Stroke and infectious diseases are leading causes of death.
Raouf et al ⁴³ 2003 <i>Medecine d'Afrique Noire; 2003. 50: 3,</i> 125-128. Gabon, Libreville	Medical survey of individuals admitted to hospital to document the causes of admission	N: 1124 Age: 60+ yrs M: 730 (64.9%)	Hypertension: 33.5%	
Ejim et al ⁴⁴ 2011 Journal of Tropical Medicine; 2011. 2011: Article ID 308687. Nigeria	Cross sectional survey to assess the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases	N: 858 Age 40-70 yrs M: 247 (28.8%)	Hypertension: 46.4%,	CVD risk factors was highest in older persons aged 65-70 yrs
Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005 Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging; 2005. 9: 6, 455-461 Botswana	National Cross sectional survey including clinical exams to assess the prevalence of common health conditions in OPs	N: 372 Age: 60-109 M: 189	- Hypertension: 42%	A large number of OPs in Botswana suffer from one or more age-associated NCDs
Nyaruhucha et al ⁴⁶ 2001 East African Medical Journal; 2001. 78: 9, 489-492 Tanzania	Cross sectional assessment of the nutritional and health status of older persons admitted to Morogoro hospital	N: 121 Age: elderly	- cardiovascular diseases: 30%	Cardiovascular diseases were more prevalent among women than men while the respiratory diseases were opposite.
Onwuchekwa et al ⁴⁵ 2009 Ethnicity & Disease; 2009. 19: 3, 359- 362. Nigeria	Review of medical records of geriatric patients	N: 1122 Age: 60+ yrs	- cardiovascular diseases s: 43.7%	Chronic diseases were responsible for the majority of morbidity and mortality in OPs
Ogunniyi et al ³⁶ 2001 West African Journal of Medicine20: 4, 227 – 231. Nigeria	Review of medical records	N: 613 Elderly patients M: 215 (35.1%)	- Hypertension: 27.8%	cardiovascular diseases were the most common reason for admission with hypertension being the major cause of morbidity
Allain et al ³¹ <u>Age and Ageing</u> 1997(26): 115-121. Zimbabwe	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		cardiovascular diseases: 69%	

9.1.3. Prevalence of the common diseases among older persons

37					
Negin et al. 2011	Cross sectional survey in three rural	N:193	Hypertension: M: 36.6%; F:		
Health volume 16 po 5 pp 640–646 may	sites in Malawi, Rwanda and Tanzania	50+ yrs	41%		
2011	factors	101. 95 (4070)			
Rwanda. Malawi and Tanzania					
Scholten et al ⁴² 2011	Cross sectional community-based	N: 510	-Diagnosed with at least one	Basic health problems are very	
BMC Public Health 11:886.	study of health wellbeing of older	50+ yrs	chronic NCD: 35%; -	common at older ages and	
Uganda	persons living with or affected by HIV/AIDS	M: 198 (38.8%)	Hypertension M: 31%; F: 35% -Only 46% of those with HT were told they had it	poorly addressed by existing health services.	
Toure et al ³⁰⁴ 2008	A two-wave process of data was	N: 872	Hypertension was among the		
African Journal of Neurological Sciences;	collected among elderly persons	Mean age: 67.2	common health conditions		
2008. 27: 2	attending a university teaching	yrs	reported.		
Senegal	hospital.				
Oye et al ⁵⁶ 2008	Interviews with OPs (multi-stage	N: 2152	Hypertension: 10.3%	OPs with major depressive	
JAGS 56:2033–2038, 2008	sampling) to assess for chronic pain	65+ yrs		disorders also had other co-	
Nigeria	and medical disorders			morbidities	
Fanou et al ⁴⁹ 2004	Cross sectional survey to determine	N: 465	Self-reported hypertension:		
HelpAge International	the prevalence of under and over	Age: 60+ yrs	22%		
Benin	nutrition and common diseases in OPs				
DIABETES					
Ejim et al ⁴⁴ 2011	Cross sectional survey to assess the	N: 858	Diabetes: 4.4%		
Journal of Tropical Medicine; 2011.	prevalence of cardiovascular diseases	Age 40-70 yrs			
2011: Article ID 308687. Nigeria		M: 247 (28.8%)			
Toure et al $\frac{2009}{2008}$	A two-wave process of data was	N: 872	Diabetes was among the main		
African Journal of Neurological	collected among elderly persons	Mean age: 67.2	health conditions reported.		
Sciences; 2008. 27: 2 Senegal	attending a university teaching	yrs			
Fanou et al ⁴⁹ 2004	Cross sectional survey to determine	N: 465	Diabetes: 4 1%		
HelpAge International ²⁵	the prevalence of under and over	Age: 60+ vrs			
Benin	nutrition and common diseases in OPs	0,			
Ayah et al ⁴⁸ 2013	Population-based household survey of	N: 2061 (all ages)	Prevalence of diabetes:		
BMC Public Health 13: 371	prevalence of diabetes and correlates	N: 364 (age	45-54years: 10.5%		
Kenya	in an urban slum community in Nairobi	≥45years)	55-65years: 7.7%		
			≥65years: 20%		

VISION PROBLEMS					
Waweru et al ³² 2003	Cross sectional done thru	N: 400	- Vision problems: 44%		
East African Medical Journal 80: 2, 63-67	questionnaire based interviews and	Age: 60+ yrs			
Nairobi, Kenya	FGDs	M: 124(31%)			
Abdulraheem ³⁰³ 2007	Household survey to obtain info on the	N: 756	- Poor sight (78.2%)		
Annals of African Medicine: 6: 2, 58-63	health needs and determine health	Age: 60+ yrs			
Nigeria	seeking behaviour	N 500			
Adebusoye et al 2011.	Cross sectional study of older persons	N: 500	Cataract: 39.4%		
African Journal of Primary Health Care	who presented to a clinic between	Elderly			
and Family Medicine; 2011. 3: 1, Article	2004 – 2005				
D 211. Nigeria	National Cross sectional survey	NI- 272	Dlindnoss 110/		
Lournal of Nutrition Health & Aging:	including clinical exampto assess the	N. 572	- Billulless. 11%		
2005 0.6 455-461	prevalence of common health	Age. 00-109			
Botswana	conditions in OPs	101. 105			
Ogunnivi et al ³⁶ 2001	Review of medical records	N: 613	- Visual impairment: 12.1% (
West African Journal of Medicine20: 4.		Elderly patients	mainly due to cataract)		
227 – 231. Nigeria		M: 215 (35.1%)	, ,		
Allain et al ³¹			Visual problems: 67%		
Age and Ageing 1997(26): 115-121.					
Zimbabwe					
Cumming et al ²⁷	Report of common health problems in		Poor vision: 54%		
Online article. Uganda	older persons				
Scholten et al ^{**} 2011	Cross sectional study of health	N: 510	Poor vision M: 25%; F: 21%	Basic health problems are very	
<u>BMC Public Health</u> 11:886.	wellbeing of older persons living with	50+ yrs		common in OPs and poorly	
Uganda	or affected by HIV/AIDS	M: 198 (38.8%)	.	addressed by health services.	
Ioure et al 2008	A two-wave process of data was	N: 8/2	Cataract was among the main		
African Journal of Neurological Sciences;	collected among OPs attending a	Mean age: 67.2	health conditions reported.		
2008. 27: 2 Seneral	university teaching nospital.	yrs			
Senegal	Cross soctional survey Rapid	NI: 2620	Plind with bost correction:	Plindnoss in this part of Zambia	
$PLoS ONE 7/6 \cdot e38483$	assessment to establish the prevalence	$\Delta ge^{-50+yrs}$	2 2%: -Blind with available	is mainly avoidable and there is	
Zambia	and causes of blindness	Age: 501 yrs	correction: 2 29: -Severe	a need for comprehensive eve	
2411014			visual impairment: 1 74%: -	care services that can address	
			Visual impairment: 7.0%: -	both cataract and posterior	
			Total: 11.0%	segment disease in the	
			-Cataract was the main cause	population	
			(39.8%) followed by posterior		

			segment disease (34.9%)	
Kalua K et al ⁴⁰ 2011 <i>PLoS ONE 6(4): e19226.</i> Malawi	Population-based survey in 7 district in Southern Malawi	N: 3,583 Age: 50+ yrs	-Blind: 3.3% -Severe visual impairment: 2.7% -Visual impairment: 9.5% -Cataract was the main cause for severe visual impairment (57.4%) and visual impairment (46.3%)	Lower than expected prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in persons age 50 and above in southern Malawi, with the majority of causes being avoidable.
Cockburn et al ³⁰⁶ 2012 <i>PLoS ONE 7(2): e30718.</i> South Africa, Cape Town	Rapid assessment through cross sectional population based survey to assess for avoidable blindness	N: 2,70 Age: 50+ yrs	 -Prevalence of bilateral blindness: 1.4%; -Severe visual impairment: 0.9% -Visual impairment: 4.9% Cause: -Posterior segment diseases: 65%; -Cataract: 27% -Diabetic retinopathy: 8% - Glaucoma accounts: 11% -The remaining posterior segment diseases included age related macular degeneration, optic atrophy, trauma and macular hole. 	The prevalence of blindness in people 50+ years in Cape Town was lower than expected probably because of high cataract surgery coverage.
Courtright et al ³⁰⁷ 2003 <i>Br J Ophthalmol 2003;87:1079–1082</i> Malawi	Population based cross sectional survey where visual acuity and cause of visual loss were recorded	N: 1384 Age: 50+ yrs	-Bilateral visual acuity <6/60 M: 4.8%; F: 6.1% -Bilateral visual acuity <3/60 M: 3.3%; F: 4.0% -Unilateral visual acuity<6/60 M: 10.2%; F: 8.3% -Cataract as the cause: 61%	
Mathenge et al ³⁹ 2007 <i>PLoS Med 4(7):e217.</i> Rwanda	Population based cross sectional survey	N: 2,206 Age: 50+ yrs	-Bilateral blindness: 1.8% -Severe visual impairment: 1.3%;-Visual impairment (5.3%); -Most bilateral blindness (65%) was due to cataract.	Overall, the vast majority of cases of blindness (80.0%), severe visual impairment (67.9%), and visual impairment (87.2%) were avoidable
Mathenge et al ³⁰⁰ 2007 Ophthalmology 114(3): 599-605.	Comprehensive ophthalmic exams done at home of participants	N: 3,503 Age: 50+ yrs	-Bilateral blindness: 2.0% -Bilateral visual impairment:	avoidable (i.e due to cataract, refractive error, aphakia,

Kenya, Nakuru			5.8%;-Cataract was major cause of blindness (42%) and visual impairment (36%)	trachoma, or corneal scar) responsible for 69.6% of bilateral blindness and 74.9% of bilateral visual impairment	
Aga ³⁰⁹ 2001 Ethiopian Journal of Health Development; 2001. 15: 2, 139-144. Ethiopia, Addis	Cross sectional survey. Participants underwent extensive eye examination including visual acuity test and intraocular pressure measurements	N: 571 Age: 50+ yrs	-Blind (visual acuity <3/60): 9%;Visual impairment (visual acuity >3/60 but <6/18): 18% Causes: -Cataract: 48%; -Glaucoma: 15.3%; -Trachoma: 11.5%; - Post-operative aphakia: 11.5% -Age-related maculopathy: 5.8%	Most (86%) of blindness was due to avoidable causes	
Fanou et al ⁴⁹ 2004 HelpAge International ²⁵ Benin	Cross sectional survey to determine the prevalence of under and over nutrition and common diseases in OPs	N: 465 Age: 60+ yrs	Poor eye sight: 30% (urban areas: 39%; rural areas: 35.9%)		
Sibetcheu et al ³¹⁰ 2004, HelpAge Cameroon	Cross sectional community-based study to assess nutritional status and socio-economic vulnerability of older people in Bangoua, Western Province.	N: 531 Age: 55 to 120 years M: 37%; F: 63%	-Poor eye sight: 18.8% -Blindness: 1%		
Wagah et al ⁸² 2004 HelpAge ²⁵ Kenya	Cross sectional study undertaken to establish the vulnerability of older persons and to determine the risk factors to malnutrition	N: 375 Age: 50+ yrs	-Eye problems 45%		
Ousseynou KA ³¹¹ 2004 Help Age ²⁵ Senegal	A cross sectional study undertaken to identify and compare the nutritional status and health problems of OPs	N: 400 Age: 60+ yrs M: 53.5%	-Cataracts: 51.2%		
Tesfaye et al ³¹² 2004 HelpAge International ²⁵ Ethiopia	Cross sectional survey to assess nutritional status of older people in Central Ethiopia	N: 250 Age: 60+ yrs	-Visual impairment: 58.4%;		
Dedan et al ³¹³ 2004. HelpAge International ²⁵ Tanzania	Cross sectional survey to assess the nutritional and health status of older persons	N:819 Age: 60+ yrs	-Visual impairment: 61%		
Tembo et al ⁸³ 2004 HelpAge International ²⁵ Uganda	Cross sectional study to describe the nutritional status and risk factors for nutritional vulnerability	N: 362 Age: 50+ yrs	-Poor eyesight: 56.7%		
Adebusoye et al 2011 West African	Cross sectional study of visual	n=500	-impaired vision: 44.8%; -		
Journal of Medicine 30(2): 118-120. Nigeria	morbidities among elderly patients presenting at a primary care clinic in Nigeria	F: 311 M:189	abnormal sensations in the eyes: 12.8%; -Cataract: 39.7%; pterygium: 6.4%		
--	---	--	---	---	--
HEARING PROBLEMS					
Ogunniyi et al ³⁶ 2001 West African Journal of Medicine20: 4, 227 – 231. Nigeria	Review of medical records	N: 613 Elderly patients M: 215 (35.1%)	 Most frequent neurological disorders were hearing impairment 		
Allain et al ³¹ <u>Age and Ageing</u> 1997(26): 115-121. Zimbabwe	Cross sectional survey of morbidity and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		Hearing problems: 20%		
Ousseynou KA ³¹¹ 2004 Help Age ²⁵ Senegal	A cross sectional study undertaken to identify and compare the nutritional status and health problems of OPs	N: 400 Age: 60+ yrs M: 53.5%	-Hearing disabilities: 21.5%		
MUSCULO-SKELETAL DISEASES					
Waweru et al ³² 2003 East African Medical Journal 80: 2, 63-67 Nairobi, Kenya	Cross sectional done thru questionnaire based interviews and FGDs	N: 400 Age: 60+ yrs M: 124(31%)	- Musculoskeletal diseases: 80%	Effects of aging, low socio- economic status and poor access to care contribute to poor health in OPs	
Adebusoye et al ²⁹ 2011. African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine; 2011. 3: 1, Article ID 211. Nigeria	Cross sectional study of older persons who presented to a clinic between 2004 – 2005	N: 500 Elderly	Osteoarthritis: 26.8%	The prevalence of chronic medical illness was high among elderly patients.	
Abdulraheem ³⁰⁵ 2007 Annals of African Medicine: 6: 2, 58-63 Nigeria	Household survey to obtain info on the health needs and determines of health seeking behaviour	N: 756 Age: 60+ yrs	-Body pain (89.5%); -Joint pain (86.4%0; - Body weakness and fatigue (81.5%); - Decreased mobility (65.8%)	Socioeconomic indicators and nature of illness are the most pervasive determinants of health care seeking behaviour	
Igumbor et al ³¹⁴ 2001 Journal of Rural and Tropical Public Health; 2011. 10: 61-69 South Africa	Cross sectional study to assess the socio-demographic characteristic, general health status and presence of chronic pain	N: 394	Chronic pain: 42.9% Common sites of chronic pain included: back, knee, ankle, head and shoulders.	Being older than 50 years was associated with increased risk of chronic pain	
Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005 Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging; 2005. 9: 6, 455-461 Botswana	National Cross sectional survey including clinical exams to assess the prevalence of common health conditions in older persons	N: 372 Age: 60-109 M: 189	- Musculoskeletal pain in more than two locations: 68%	A large number of older persons in Botswana suffer from one or more age- associated chronic diseases that may impair function and quality of life.	

Ogunnivi et al ³⁶ 2001	Review of medical records	N: 613	- Osteoarthritis: 6 7%
West African Journal of Modicine 20: 4	Neview of medical records	Fiderly patients	Most frequent neurological
227 221 Nigoria			disorders were meyement
227 – 231. Nigeria		IVI: 215 (35.1%)	
			disorders
Allain et al	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		Body pain: 97%; Joint pain:
<u>Age and Ageing</u> 1997(26): 115-121.	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		69%; Head pain: 72; Back
Zimbabwe			pain: 59%; Chest pain: 46%
Cumming et al [*]	Report of common health problems in		Back and bone pains: 81%
Online article	older persons		Arthritis: 73%
Uganda			
Toure et al ³⁰⁴ 2008	A two-wave process of data was	N: 872	Arthritis was among the main
African Journal of Neurological	collected among elderly persons	Mean age: 67.2	health conditions reported.
Sciences; 2008. 27: 2	attending a university teaching	yrs	
Senegal	hospital.		
Oye et al ⁵⁶ 2008	Interviews done with older persons	N: 2152	Arthritis: 69.1%
JAGS 56:2033–2038, 2008	(multi-stage sampling) to assess for	65+ yrs	Back or neck pain: 50.6%
Nigeria	chronic pain and medical disorders		·
Nadia L.M. et al ⁴⁹ 2004	Cross sectional survey to determine	N: 465	Backaches: F: 39.6%: M:
HelpAge	the prevalence of under and over	Age: 60+ vrs	29.6%
Benin	nutrition and common diseases in OPs		
Sibetcheu et al 310 2004	Cross sectional community-based	N [.] 531	-loint pains/arthritis: 66.8%
HelnAge	study to assess nutritional status and	Age: 55 to 120	-Back pain: 37 7%
Cameroon	socio-economic vulnerability of older	vears	Kynhosis: 14 9%
	neonle in Bangoua, Western Province	M: 37%: F: 63%	(yphosis: 14.576
Tesfave et al ³¹² 2004	Cross sectional survey to assess	N: 250	loint nains: 54 4%
HelpAge International ²⁵	nutritional status of older neonle in	$\Delta \sigma e^{-60+vrs}$	
Ethionia	Central Ethionia	Age: 001 yrs	
$W_{aaah} et al^{82} 2004$	Cross sectional study undertaken to	N· 375	-loint nains: 16.8%
$Help Age^{25}$	establish the vulnerability of older	$\Delta \sigma \rho \cdot 50 + vrs$	-Joint pans. 10.070
Konya	porsons and to determine the risk	Age. Jor yis	
Kellya	factors to malnutrition		
Tamba at $a1^{83}$ 2004	Cross sostional study to describe the	NI: 267	laint nain/arthritic: E4 20/
HelpAge International ²⁵	nutritional status and rick factors for		-John pany artiffus. 34.2%
HeipAge International	nutritional status and risk factors for	Age: 50+ yrs	
Uganda	nutritional vulnerability		
	RESPIRAT	ORY DISEASES	
Waweru et al ³² 2003	Cross sectional done thru	N: 400	- Respiratory diseases: 68%
East African Medical Journal 80: 2, 63-67	questionnaire based interviews and	Age: 60+ yrs	

Nairobi, Kenya	FGDs	M: 124(31%)		
Sanya et al ^⁴ ′2011	Prospective study of patients who	N: 297	Lower respiratory tract	Hospital mortality is high
Annals of African Medicine; 2011. 10: 4,	have died in the hospital admitted to	60+ yrs	disease: 8.1%	amongst older people. Stroke
278-283 Nigeria	University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital	, M· 59%		and infectious diseases are
270 205. Nigeria	Oniversity of norm reaching rospital	141. 5570		loading causes of death
146 2004		N 404		leading causes of death.
Nyaruhucha et al 2001	Cross sectional assessment of the	N: 121	- Respiratory tract diseases:	
East African Medical Journal; 2001. 78:	nutritional and health status of older	Age: elderly	28%	
9, 489-492	persons admitted to Morogoro hosp			
Tanzania				
Allain et al ³¹	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		Cough: 51%	
Λ_{res} and Λ_{resing} 1997(26): 115-121	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		Breathing problems: 25%	
	and disability in elderly zimbabwears		Breathing problems. 25%	
			wneeze: 10%	
Cumming et al ⁻⁷	Report of common health problems in		Asthma: 39%	
Online article	older persons			
Uganda				
Toure et al ³⁰⁴ 2008	A two-wave process of data was	N: 872	Respiratory diseases were	
African Journal of Neurological	collected among elderly persons	Mean age: 67.2	among the main health	
Sciences: 2008 27:2	attending a university teaching	vrs	conditions reported	
Sciences, 2000. 27. 2	been itel. Interviewe as well as aliginal	y13	conditions reported.	
Sellegal	nospital. Interviews as well as clinical			
56	exams were done			
Oye et al ³⁰ 2008	Interviews done with older persons	N: 2152	Asthma: 7.4%	
JAGS 56:2033–2038, 2008	(multi-stage sampling) to assess for	65+ yrs		
Nigeria	chronic pain and medical disorders			
Sibetcheu et al ³¹⁰ 2004,	Cross sectional community-based	N: 531	-Respiratory infections: 14.1%	
HelpAge	study to assess nutritional status and	Age: 55 to 120		
Cameroon	socio-economic vulnerability of older	vears		
cameroon	neerle in Pangeus, Western Province	NA 270/ . E. 620/		
14/mm/h at 182 2004	people in Bangoua, western Province.	IVI. 57%, F. 05%		
wagan et al 2004	Cross sectional study undertaken to	IN: 375	-Coughs and chest pains:	
HelpAge ⁻⁵	establish the vulnerability of older	Age: 50+ yrs	30.5%	
Kenya	persons and to determine the risk			
	factors to malnutrition			
	ORO-DENT	AL PROBLEMS		
Waweru et al ³² 2003	Cross sectional done thru	N: 400	- Dental problems: 40%%	
East African Medical Journal 80: 2, 63-67	questionnaire based interviews and	Age: 60+ yrs		
Nairobi, Kenya	FGDs	M: 124(31%)		
Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005	National Cross sectional survey	N: 372	- Dental problems: 36%	
Journal of Nutrition Health & Aaina	including clinical exams to assess the	Age: 60-109		
Waweru et al ³² 2003 <i>East African Medical Journal 80: 2, 63-67</i> Nairobi, Kenya Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005	ORO-DENT Cross sectional done thru questionnaire based interviews and FGDs National Cross sectional survey	AL PROBLEMS N: 400 Age: 60+ yrs M: 124(31%) N: 372	- Dental problems: 40%%	
Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging;	including clinical exams to assess the	Age: 60-109		

2005. 9: 6, 455-461	prevalence of common health	M: 189		
Botswana	conditions in older persons			
Allain et al	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		-Chewing difficulty: 36%	
" Age and Ageing 1997(26): 115-121	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans			
Zimbabwe				
Cumming et al ²⁷	Report of common health problems in		-Dental problems: 79%	
Online article	older persons			
Uganda	•			
Tesfave et al ³¹² 2004	Cross sectional survey to assess	N: 250	-Chewing difficulty: 48%	
HelpAge International ²⁵	nutritional status of older people in	Age: 60+ vrs	. ,	
Fthionia	Central Ethionia	, gel 00 / 10		
$W_{agab} et al^{82} 2004$	Cross sectional study undertaken to	NI: 275	- Dental problems: 49.1%	
$Holp Ago^{25}$	eross sectional study under taken to		Bental problems. 49.176	
Kenve	establish the vullerability of older	Age. 50+ yrs		
кепуа	persons and to determine the risk			
D	factors to mainutrition	1.040		
Dedan et al ²²² 2004.	Cross sectional survey to assess the	N:819	-Chewing problems: 53.1%	
HelpAge International ²³	nutritional and health status of older	Age: 60+ yrs		
Tanzania	persons			
	NUTRITION	AL PROBLEMS		
Adebusoye et al ²⁹ 2011.	Cross sectional study of older persons	N: 500	Obesity: 51.8%	The prevalence of chronic
African Journal of Primary Health Care	who presented to a clinic between	Elderly		medical illness was high among
and Family Medicine; 2011. 3: 1, Article	2004 – 2005	Gender		elderly patients.
ID 211. Nigeria		distribution (no		
		info)		
Eiim et al ⁴⁴ 2011	Cross sectional survey to assess the	N: 858	Obesity besity as determined	CVD risk factors was highest in
Journal of Tronical Medicine [,] 2011	prevalence of cardiovascular diseases	Age 40-70 vrs	by BMI: 30%	older persons aged 65-70 yrs
2011: Article ID 308687 Nigeria		M· 247 (28.8%)	Abdominal obesity: 31%	
2011. Article 12 300007. Nigena		101. 247 (20.070)	Hypercholesterolaemia: 3.7%	
Nyaruhucha et al ⁴⁶ 2001	Cross sectional assessment of the	N· 121	- Chronic energy deficiency:	
Fact African Madical Journal: 2001 79:	nutritional and health status of older		26%	
<i>Eust Ajricul Medicul Journul, 2001. 78.</i>	nutritional and nearth status of order	Age. elueny	20%	
9, 489-492	persons admitted to Morogoro hosp			
lanzania				
Allain et al	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		Weight loss: 39%	
<u>Age and Ageing</u> 1997(26): 115-121.	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans			
Zimbabwe				
Negin et al 2011	Cross sectional survey in three rural	N:193	Overweight: M: 7.7%; F: 14.9	
Tropical Medicine and International	sites in Malawi, Rwanda and Tanzania	50+ yrs		

Health volume 16 no 5 pp 640–646 may 2011	to obtain data on NCDs and its risk factors	M: 93 (48%)		
Rwanda, Malawi and Tanzania				
Blaney et al ³¹⁵ 2009 Public Health Nutrition 12(10): 1711- 1725 Gabon	Cross- sectional community-based study to assess nutritional status of OPs		Under nutrition: 26% Obesity: 54.1%	
Cheserek et al ⁶⁵ 2012 SAJCN - South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition 25(2): 67-72 Lake Victoria Basin (Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania)	Cross- sectional community-based study to assess nutritional status of OPs		Under nutrition: 26.1% Over weight: 10.8 Obesity: 4.5%	
Zverev et al ⁶⁹ 2004 Annals of Human Biology_31(1): 29-37 Malawi	Cross- sectional community-based study to assess nutritional status of OPs		Under nutrition: 22.7%	
Kikafunda et al ⁶³ 2002	Cross sectional community based study to assess the nutritional status of OPs	N:100 OPs ≥60	Under nutrition: 33.3 based on BMI<18.5 & 52% based on MUAC<24cm. 68% of women were undernourished (body mass index < 18.5 kg/m(2)) compared with 32.4% of men.	A large percentage of older men and women are malnourished
Marais et al ⁶⁷ 2007 SAJCN - South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition 20(3): 102-108	Cross-sectional assessment of the nutritional status of OPs		Under nutrition: 6%	
South Africa				
	AN	AEMIA		
Adebusoye et al ²⁹ 2011. African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine; 2011. 3: 1, Article ID 211. Nigeria	Cross sectional study of older persons who presented to a clinic between 2004 – 2005	N: 500 Elderly	Anaemia: 8%. F: 11.2%; M: 2.6%)	
Onwuchekwa et al ⁴⁵ 2009 Ethnicity & Disease; 2009. 19: 3, 359- 362. Nigeria	Review of medical records of geriatric patients	N: 1122 Age: 60+ yrs	- Anaemia: 2.5%	
Cumming et al ²⁷ Online article Uganda	Report of common health problems in older persons		-Anaemia: 32%	

Endocrine diseases				
Onwuchekwa et al ⁴⁵ 2009	Review of medical records of geriatric	N: 1122	- Endocrine diseases: 15.4%	
Ethnicity & Disease; 2009. 19: 3, 359-	patients	Age: 60+ yrs		
362. Nigeria				
	DAALIC			
Onwuchekwa et al ⁴⁵ 2009	Review of medical records of geriatric	N· 1122	- Malignancies: 3 7%	
Ethnicity & Disease: 2009, 19: 3, 359-	patients	Age: 60+ vrs	- Manghancies. 5.776	
362. Nigeria				
0 45 2000	RENAL	DISEASES		
Onwuchekwa et al. 2009	Review of medical records of geriatric	N: 1122	- Renal diseases: 3.4%	
Ethnicity & Disease; 2009. 19: 3, 359- 362 Nigeria	patients	Age: 60+ yrs		
Allain et al ³¹	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		-Genito-urinary problems:	
Age and Ageing 1997(26): 115-121.	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		55%	
Zimbabwe			-Dysuria: 23%; -Dribbling:	
			21%; -Hesitancy: 10%; -	
			Haematuria: 5%	
			-Urine incontinence: 9%	
	INFECTIONS	(NON-SPECIFIC)		
Sanya et al ⁴⁷ 2011	Prospective study of patients who	N: 297	-Sepsis (16.5%)	Hospital mortality is high
Annals of African Medicine; 2011. 10: 4,	have died in the hospital admitted to	60+ yrs	Infectious diseases (38.2%)	amongst older people. Stroke
278-283. Nigeria	University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital	M: 59%		and infectious diseases are
305 0000			- (=1.000)	leading causes of death.
Abdulraheem 2007	Household survey to obtain into on the	N: 756	- Fever (71.3%)	
Nigeria	seeking behaviour	Age. 00+ yrs		
Onwuchekwa et al ⁴⁵ 2009	Review of medical records of geriatric	N: 1122	- Infections: 18.8%	
Ethnicity & Disease; 2009. 19: 3, 359-	patients	Age: 60+ yrs		
362. Nigeria				
	MA	LARIA		
Nyaruhucha et al ⁴⁶ 2001	Cross sectional assessment of the	N: 121	- Malaria: 15%	
East African Medical Journal; 2001. 78:	nutritional and health status of older	Age: elderly		
9, 489-492	persons admitted to Morogoro hosp			
Tanzania				

40			
Fanou et al ⁴⁹ 2004	Cross sectional survey to determine	N: 465	Malaria/fever (40%)
HelpAge International ²⁵	the prevalence of under and over	Age: 60+ yrs	
Benin	nutrition and common diseases in OPs		
Sibetcheu et al ³¹⁰ 2004,	Cross sectional community-based	N: 531	-Fever/malaria: 18.5%
HelpAge	study to assess nutritional status and	Age: 55 to 120	
Cameroon	socio-economic vulnerability of older	vears	
Cameroon	paopla in Pangoua, Wostern Province	NA- 27% · E- 62%	
14/2 and $at al82 2004$	Crease as attioned study up dontation to	IVI. 3770, F. 0370	Malaria 11 CO/
vvagan et al 2004	Cross sectional study undertaken to	N: 375	
HelpAge	establish the vulnerability of older	Age: 50+ yrs	
Kenya	persons and to determine the risk		
	factors to malnutrition		
Tembo et al ⁸³ 2004	Cross sectional study to describe the	N: 362	-Fever/malaria: (45.3%)
HelpAge International ²⁵	nutritional status and risk factors for	Age: 50+ yrs	
Uganda	nutritional vulnerability	U ,	
lloh et al ⁵⁷ 2012	Cross sectional hospital based study to	N:872	Caseload due to OPs: 8.8%
Nigerian Journal of Medicine: Journal of	describe the common geriatric	$\Delta \sigma e^{-} > 65 vears$	Had communicable diseases:
the National Association of Posidont	morbidities from communicable	Age. 200 years	
Desters of Niceria 21(2): 221, 226	disesses		UI. Tan fiya diagagaa
Doctors of Nigeria 21(2): 231-236	alseases		lop five diseases:
Nigeria			-Malaria: 67.1%
			Skin infections: 43.6%
			Urinary tract infections: 36.0%
			Intestinal helminthiasis:
			20.6%
			Gastroenteritis: 17.9%
		ніх	
Negin et al ⁶¹ 2012	Longitudinal studies on OPs (SAGE)	N: 4227	HIV prevalence 6.4% (M:
AIDS 2012, 26 (Suppl 1):S55–S63	C ()		4.9%; F: 7.5%)
South Africa			
Bendavid et a^{60} 2012	**Systematic review of HIV in elderly		11%
AIDS 26 Suppl 1: \$85-91	in SSA		
Sub Sabaran Africa	11 33A		
Negin Let al ⁵⁸ 2010	Deview of demographic and health		LIIV/ provalence among
Neghijeldi 2010	Review of demographic and fealth		
world Health Organisation. 2010;	survey data of countries in Sub-		
2010(88): 847-53.	Saharan Africa		3million OPs living with HIV
Ministry of Health 2011	Uganda AIDS Indicator survey		50-54 years: 7.7%; 55-59:
Uganda			5.5%
Mills et al ^{4*} 2012	Report		HIV prevalence among OPs

New england journal of medicine 366;14 nejm.1270 org april 5, 2012			≥50years: 1% from DRC to 15% in Botswana and South Africa	
	NACHITA			
A hada dan hara an ³⁰⁵ 2007	IVIENTA	L ILLNESSES	testa bilita e se e se e se el	
Abdultaneem 2007 Annals of African Medicine: 6: 2, 58-63 Nigeria	health needs and determines of health seeking behaviour	Age: 60+ yrs	- Infability, anger, and nervous tension (70%); - Listlessness, depressions and head ache (60%)	nature of illness are the most pervasive determinants of health care seeking behaviour among the elderly
Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005 Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging; 2005. 9: 6, 455-461 Botswana	National Cross sectional survey including clinical exams to assess the prevalence of common health conditions in older persons	N: 372 Age: 60-109 M: 189	-Cognitive impairment: 9% - Depression: 7%	A large number of older persons in Botswana suffer from one or more age- associated chronic diseases that may impair function and quality of life.
Cumming et al ²⁷ Online article Uganda	Report of common health problems in older persons		Memory problems: 12%	
Scholten et al ⁴² 2011 <u>BMC Public Health</u> 11:886. Uganda	Cross sectional study of health wellbeing of older persons living with or affected by HIV/AIDS	N: 510 50+ yrs M: 198 (38.8%)	Depression: 15%	Basic health problems are very common in OPs and poorly addressed by health services.
Oye et al³¹⁶ 2007. <i>Lancet 2007; 370: 957–64</i> Nigeria	Interviews done with older persons (multi-stage sampling) to assess for major depressive disorder	N: 2152 65+ yrs	Prevalence depressions: - Lifetime: 26.2%; -12-month: 7.15%; -more common in females; -Only 37% received Rx	2.2%
Oye et al³³ 2008 JAGS 56:2033–2038, 2008 Nigeria	Interviews done with older persons (multi-stage sampling) to assess for major depressive disorder	N: 2152 65+ yrs	Depression: 7.0%	
Oye et al³¹⁷ 2011 <i>JAGS 59:869–874, 2011</i> Nigeria	Longitudinal study where older persons were followed up for three years and incidence of dementia measured	N: 1225	-Prevalence of dementia: 7.6% -Incidence: 21.5/1,000 person yrs. The incidence increased with age e.g. for 75-84 yrs: 2.84; 85+ yrs: 4.13	Incidence of dementia is high among older persons in Nigeria
Guerchet et al ⁵² 2010 Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive	Multi-centre cross sectional study in Bangui and Brazzaville	N: 1016 (Bangui: 496; Brazzaville	Prevalence of dementia: Bangui: 8.1%	The prevalence of dementia in urban areas of Central Africa is

<i>Disorders; 2010. 30: 3, 261-268.</i> Central Africa Republic Congo Brazzaville		520) Age: 65+ yrs	Brazzaville: 6.7%	close to those observed in high- income countries.
Guerchet et al ³¹⁸ 2012 JAD, Journal of Alzheimer's Disease; 2012. 29: 1, 15-24. Central Africa Republic Congo Brazzaville	Two cross sectional survey done in representative samples in Bangui and Brazzavile	N: 977 Age: older persons	-Prevalence of dementia: 7.6%	Factors associated with dementia in African countries seem different from established factors in high- income countries and require further investigation.
Guerchet et al ³¹⁹ 2009 Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders; 2009. 27: 1, 34-41. Benin	Cross sectional doo-to-door survey to screen older persons for dementia and cognitive impair	N: ? 65+ yrs	Cognitive impairment: 10.4% Dementia: 2.6%	Prevalence of dementia in the population was lower than in developed countries
Paraiso et al ³²⁰ 2011 <i>Neuroepidemiology; 2011. 36: 4, 245- 251.</i> Benin	Cross sectional study	N: ? Age: 65+ yrs	Prevalence of Dementia: 3.7% Prevalence increased with age and was higher among women	Dementia was slightly more prevalent than previously reported in a rural area of Benin, but the rate was similar to that recorded in other cities in developing countries
Toure et al ³⁰⁴ 2008 African Journal of Neurological Sciences; 2008. 27: 2 Senegal	A two-wave process of data was collected among elderly persons attending a university teaching hospital.	N: 872 Mean age: 67.2 yrs	Prevalence of dementia: 6.6%	
Coume et al ⁵³ 2012 Geriatrie Et Psychologie Neuropsychiatrie Du Vieillissement 10(1): 39-46 Senegal	Cross sectional survey among OPs utilizing socio-health and university centre	N: 872 Age:≥55	Had cognitive impairment: 10.8%	
Mbelesso et al ⁵⁴ 2012 Bulletin de la Societe de Pathologie Exotique 105(5): 388-395 Central African Republic	A cross-sectional study to understand the prevalence and risk factors of dementia among people over 65years	N:496 Age: ≥65years	188 (38%) had a cognitive disorder. 40 of these (21%) had dementia Prevalence of dementia: 8%	
	DERMATOLOG	ICAL CONDITIONS		
Clausen et al ³⁵ 2005 Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging; 2005. 9: 6, 455-461 Botswana	National Cross sectional survey including clinical exams to assess the prevalence of common health conditions in older persons	N: 372 Age: 60-109 M: 189	- Dermatological problems: 32%	

	GASTRO-INTES	TINAL PROBLEMS	
Allain et al ³¹	Cross sectional survey of Morbidity		-GIT problems: 77; -Diarhoea:
Age and Ageing 1997(26): 115-121.	and disability in elderly Zimbabweans		40%; -Constipation: 22%; -
Zimbabwe			Faecal incontinence: 7%
Toure et al ³⁰⁴ 2008	A two-wave process of data was	N: 872	Gastrointestinal diseases
African Journal of Neurological	collected among elderly persons	Mean age: 67.2	were among the main health
Sciences; 2008. 27: 2	attending a university teaching	yrs	conditions reported.
Senegal	hospital.		
Fanou et al ⁴⁹ 2004	Cross sectional survey to determine	N: 465	-PUD: 8.4%; -Dehydration:
HelpAge International ²⁵	the prevalence of under and over	Age: 60+ yrs	34% (rural: 41.3%; Urban:
Benin	nutrition and common diseases in OPs		26.6%; F: 37.3%; M: 29.1%)
Sibetcheu et al ³¹⁰ 2004,	Cross sectional community-based	N: 531	-Dehydration: 14.9%
HelpAge	study to assess nutritional status and	Age: 55 to 120	-Abdominal pains: 13.0%
Cameroon	socio-economic vulnerability of older	years	
	people in Bangoua, Western Province.	M: 37%; F: 63%	
Tembo et al ⁸³ 2004	Cross sectional study to describe the	N: 362	-Abdominal pains (41.6%)
HelpAge International ²⁵	nutritional status and risk factors for	Age: 50+ yrs	
Uganda	nutritional vulnerability		

9.1.4. Services for older persons at primary care facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa

Prisma flow chart to study selection



A systematic search for availability of health care services for OPs in PCFs facilities in SSA did not identify any article. A review of services provided by the PCFs in SSA was instead undertaken in order to understand whether the services matched the recommended health care for OPs.

Prisma flow chart to selection of studies on services provided by primary care facilities



Ref, year, country Study meth	v type and Sod	Study population	Findings	Conclusion
	Ava	ilability of se	rvices	
Toda et al ¹⁵⁹ . 2012 International Journal for Equity in Health 2012, 11:75. Kenya	Cross sectional study of HCs & dispensaries for availability of: Infrastructure Equipment Staffing Commodities Services	National survey of all the 8 provinces	- PCFs with laborate 38.1% - PCFs with HCT: 85	ory services: Availability of services equitable Availability of some services was very high
Parker 2012 ¹⁵⁶ Cape Town South Africa. BioMed Central 2012, 12: 503 South Africa	Multi-centre cross sectional study	PCFs: n = 30	- All PCFs facilities h for: hypertension, o Nutrition	nad services diabetes,
Deventer et al ¹⁵⁷ 2009 African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine 2009(1): 1 South Africa	Cross sectional study of PCFs	PCFs: n=?	- Services were ava Chronic illnesses su hypertension, asthi airways obstructive diabetes, epilepsy	ilable for: ich as ma/chronic e disease,
Deventer et al ¹⁴¹ 2008. South African Journal of Psychiatry 2008 14: 4, 136-140 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PCFs	PCFs: n=?	- Mental health ser available	vices were
Phaswana-Mafuya ³²¹ 2011. African Journal of physical education, recreation and dance 17: 3, 502-516 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PCFs	PCFs: n=15	 Services were ava chronic illnesses su Geriatric care, reha services, oral and n HIV/AIDS care, and infectious illnesses malaria and RTI. Clinics disability fr 	ilable for ch as DM, HT, ibilitation nental health, services for such as
Bachman et al ¹⁶⁶ . 2004 International Journal of STD and AIDS 2004; 15: 388-394 South Africa	Cross-sectional study with simulated patient visits	PCFs: n=42	STD services were a PCFs	available in all
Rayner B et al ¹⁵⁸ 2007. SAMJ- South African Medical Journal; 2007 97: 4, 280-284	Cross-sectional study of PCFs for services for hypertension	PCFs: n=2	Hypertension servi available	ces were
	Essential r	nedicines and	l equipment	
Chukwuani et al ¹⁴⁴ . Health Policy 77 (2006) 182–201 Nigeria	Cross-sectional. Auditing of PCFs	116 PCFs	 12.2% had essent and supplies. had adequate nur HWs: 37.5% 	ial medicines All the PCFs have stock-out nber of skilled of drugs
Toda et al ¹⁵⁹ . 2012 International Journal for Equity in Health 2012, 11:75. Kenya	Cross sectional study of HCs & dispensaries for availability of: Infrastructure Equipment Staffing	National survey of all the 8 provinces	- At least 15/18 ess medicines available	ential e: 62%

	Commodities			
Darkor 2012 ¹⁵⁶	Services	DCEc: p = 20	DCEc with	
Cape Town South Africa BioMed Central 2012, 12: 503 South Africa	Multi-centre cross sectional study	PCFS: n = 30	 PCFs with: Adult weighing scales: 100% Height scales: 87%; - BMI Charts: 57%; -Tape measures: 73%; - Haemoglobinometers: 70%; - Glucometers: 100%; - Baumonometer: 100%; - Sphygmomanometer: 100%; - Visual acuity charts: 100%; Ophthalmoscope: 100%; Television: 90%; Video machines: 87%; Guidelines for NCD were; either not available or available in 3.3% of the PHC facilities - Drugs available 	
Deventer et al ¹⁴¹ 2008. South African Journal of Psychiatry 2008 14: 4, 136-140 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PCFs	PCF; n=?	Infrastructure poor	
Bachman et al ¹⁶⁶ . 2004 International Journal of STD and AIDS 2004; 15: 388-394 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PCFTI services with simulated patients	PCFs: n=42	 STI Guidelines available in the patient consultation areas: 54% Walled partitions: 86% 	
MoH ¹⁵⁴ 2007	Assessment of essential medicines list		Drugs for NCDs are not shown on the essential medicines list for mid and lower level PCFs. The list for higher level PCFs contains drugs for NCDs	
MoH ¹⁵³ , 2011 Uganda	Assessment of essential medicines list		Drugs for NCDs are not shown on the essential medicines list for mid and lower level PCFs. The list for higher level PCFs contains drugs for NCDs	
MoH ¹⁵⁵ 2008 Nigeria	Assessment of essential medicines list		Drugs for NCDs are not shown on the essential medicines list for mid and lower level PCFs. The list for higher level PCFs contains drugs for NCDs	
		Staffing		
Chukwuani et al ¹⁴⁴ . Health Policy 77 (2006) 182–201 Nigeria	Cross-sectional. Auditing of PCFs	116 PCF	- Had required number of HWs: 28.9%	There are not enough health workers with the right skills in the facilities
				according to the standard requirements
Toda et al ^{45°} . 2012 International Journal for Equity in Health 2012, 11:75. Kenya	Cross sectional study of HCs & dispensaries for availability of: Infrastructure Equipment Staffing	National survey of all the 8 provinces	At least 4 staff with medical qualification: 46.6	

	Commodities Services						
Parker 2012 ¹⁵⁶ Cape Town South Africa BioMed Central 2012, 12: 503 South Africa	Multi-centre cross sectional study	PCFs: n=30	Trained staff available				
Deventer et al ¹⁴¹ 2008 South African Journal of Psychiatry 2008 14: 4, 136- 140 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PCFs	PCF; n=?	Human resource constraints				
Quality of services							

Chukwuani et al ¹⁴⁴ .	Cross-sectional.	116 PCFs	Rating of quality of
Health Policy 77	Auditing of PCFs		services:
(2006) 182–201			Poor or fair: 55.8%
Nigeria			Good or very good: 44.2%

9.1.5. Studies that evaluated the knowledge, attitudes and practices of Health Workers

Prisma flow chart to the selection of selection of studies



Ref	Study	Study	Findings	Conclusion
Mary Ajwang ¹⁶² 2010 Uganda AJHPE Vol. 2 No2	Cross- sectional study to assess knowledge and attitude toward older persons. Kogan's attitude scale used for analysis	HWs in rural health facilities. N= 240 M: 122(50.8%) Mean age: 33	T <u>rained</u> : Yes: 25%; No: 69%; don't know: 6% Geriatric Knowledge: Good:11.7% Fair: 69.1% Poor: 19.2% Confidence level: Very confident: 25.8% Somewhat confident: 42.5% Not confident: 31.7% Attitude towards older persons: Positive: 80%; Neutral: 5%; Poor: 15%	HWs have deficits in geriatric knowledge.
Parker 2012 ¹⁵⁶ Cape Town South Africa BioMed Central 2012, 12: 503	Cross- sectional study to assess service availability for chronic illnesses and practice in PHC facilities	Patients: n = 580 M: 171(29%); F: 409(71%). Mean age 55 yrs HWs: n =14 PHC: n = 30	Practice of HWs: BP measured: 97.6%; Weight measured: 88.3%; Urine testing: 85.7%; Height measurement: 50%; ECG: 26.4% Retinal screening: 20%; Diabetic foot screening: 20%; Cholesterol tests: 18% Reflex tests: 17% Chest X-ray: 12.1% RFT: 11.4% Waist circumference measurement: 7.4% Referral to hospital: 15.9%	Screening for NCDs is not comprehensive enough. HWs are inclined to focus more on acute care of the patients
Deventer ¹⁵⁷ 2009 South Africa. African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family medicine 2009(1): 1. (abstract)	Cross sectional survey of PHC for control of hypertension	N = ?	HT controlled in only 50% of patients	Regular assessment of patients with chronic illness was poorly done
Phaswana- Mafuya ³²¹ 2011 B African Journal of physical education, recreation and dance 17: 3, 502- 516	Cross- sectional survey of how patients are treated in PHC facilities	Patients N = 836 F: 73% PHC facilities: 12	HW attitude and practice: Respected privacy of patients: 75% Gave enough time to patients: 50% Gave return dates: 36% Asked for permission before physical exams: 75%. Referred patients when unable to treat: 71%	
Bachman ¹⁶⁶ 2004 International Journal of STD and AIDS 2004; 15: 388-394 South Africa	Cross sectional survey of PHC facilities for management of STIs using simulated patients		Correct diagnosis: 90% Correct treatment: 80% Correct management: 39% HWs rarely asked most of the important questions in STI management. However, relevant advice was given to most patients 50% of patients were offered condoms 2.6% were shown how to use condoms	

9.1.6. Perception of patients of the health care they received from primary care facilities

No study identified. A review undertaken to assess perceptions of OPs of health services in general (not just services in PCFs)

Prisma flow to selection of studies on perceptions of older persons of health services



Ref	Study	Study population	Findings		
Peltzer et al ¹⁷⁰ 2012.	A national	3,840	Variation of perceptions of OP of outp	patient services l	bγ
Global Health Action	population-based	participants	domains of responsiveness		
5(18545).	cross-sectional study	who had		Government	Private
	to assess perceived	attended	Prompt attention	53.6%	70.2%
South Africa	responsiveness of	health	Dignity	67.2%	80.8%
	health services	services in the	Communication	66.9%	80.%
		previous 3	Autonomy	627	76.6%
		years	uality of basic amenities	75.1%	72.1%
		Age: :	confidentiality	67.8%	81.0%
		≥50years	Access	65.1%	80.2%
			Overall perceived responsiveness	65.1%	79.0%
			<u>Conclusion</u>		
			Overall, perceived healthcare responsi	iveness was highe	er in
			private than in public healthcare facilit	ties. Prompt atte	ntion,
			autonomy, communication and access	experiences we	re
252			identified as priority areas for actions	to improve respo	onsiveness
Mabuza et al ²⁵⁹ 2006	Cross sectional	OPs: n = 30	Why OPs didn't seek health care:		
Curationis 33(1): 23-32	survey	M: 8 (26.7%)	 Unkind treatment by HWs 		
	focus group	Age: 60+ years	 Lack of health care for elderly 		
Botswana	discussions		 Lack of organisational structure for of 	lder persons	
Waweru et al ³²² 2003	Cross sectional study	OPs: n = 400	Why OPs didn't seek healthcare		
Nairobi Kenya	and FGDs	M: 124(31%)	- Poor attitude of HW: 3%		
East African Medical		Age: 65+yrs	- No faith in health care: 1.25%		
Journal vol 80, No.2; Feb			- Feeling being disregarded in favour o	of younger adults	
2003, Kenya			- Free medicine		

Waga et al ⁸² 2004. HelpAge International ²⁵	Community-based cross-sectional study	OPs: n= 374 Age: ≥50years	71.4% sought medical attention: 71%. Of these, 48.3% sought care government facilities, while 48.1% utilized private clinics.
Kenya	to assess nutritional status of OPs. Both quantitative and qualitative	F: 277	OPs who attended government facilities said: The quality of care was unsatisfactory The cost of health care was unaffordable Distances to health facilities were too long Queues were too long Drugs were unavailable HW attitudes were negative HWs neglected them
Tembo et al ⁸³ 2004 HelpAge International ²⁵ Uganda	Community-based cross-sectional study to assess nutritional status of OPs. Both quantitative and qualitative	OPs: n=362 Age: ≥50years	Older persons prefer to attend private health facilities: Due to neglect they experience in public facilities To avoid queuing. Because they perceive the quality of the services to be poor

9.2. Results of the pilot study

9.2.1. Proportion of primary care facilities that reported availability of services

Services	PCF IV	PCF III	PCF II	Total %[CI]	p-
	(%)	(%)	(%)		value
Total surveyed in each group n (%)	6 (22)	11 (41)	10 (37)	27	
≥one NCD	100	60	7	40 [25, 56]	0.001
Had services for diabetes	100	6	7	19 [12,29]	< 0.001
Had services for cardiovascular diseases	100	53	36	52 [31,72]	0.12
Had services for mental illnesses such as depression	100	67	31	54 [33,74]	0.06
Had services for hearing problems	100	100	100	100	
Had services for vision problems	100	100	100	100	
Had services for all five NCDs	100	6	0	16 [12,22]	<0.001
Had STI services	100	100	88	94 [64, 99]	0.31
Had HIV counselling and testing services	100	100	45	73 [54,87]	0.01
Had life-long antiretroviral treatment services	100	67	7	42 [29,57]]	0.001
Basic diagnostic services and equipment					
Had laboratory diagnostic services	100	81	7	48 [38, 57]	<0.001
Had adult weighing scale	100	94	57	77 [54, 90]	0.04
Had adult sphygmomanometer	81	94	76	83 [59 <i>,</i> 94]	0.49
Had stethoscope	88	80	76	79 [53, 93]	0.84
Had patient exam couch	100	80	88	87 [60 <i>,</i> 97]	0.66
Had wheel chair	62	0	7	12 [5 <i>,</i> 26]	0.004
Had ophthalmoscope	12	7	0	4 [1, 18]	0.33
Had otoscope	24	15	0	9 [4, 18]	0.04
Had adult height scale	50	31	12	24 [10, 49]	0.39
Basic amenities					
Had protected patient-waiting area	100	87	100	95 [83 <i>,</i> 99]	0.06
Had enough seats in the waiting area	31	66	50	53 [31,75]	0.55
Had functioning toilet	100	94	100	98 [83,100]	0.22
Had a water source for drinking	100	100	100	100	
Privacy					
Had auditory privacy	62	72	43	57 [34, 77]	0.42
Had visual Privacy	77	80	74	77 [52, 91]	0.96

	HC IV	HC III	HC II	Total %(CI)
	(%)	(%)	(%)	
Responsiveness of HWs to patients				
Treated OPs with respect	75	77	79	76 [71, 81]
Promptly attended to OP	82	91	100	87 [64,96]
Ensured clarity of communication with OPs	84	84	90	85 [81 <i>,</i> 89]
Involved OPs in key decisions regarding their care	56	52	75	56[38 <i>,</i> 74]
Ensured privacy and confidentiality of patients	88	82	73	85 [76 <i>,</i> 95]]
Mean overall score for responsiveness	75	74	80	75 [68, 82]
Disease screening services				
Screened for NCDs	30	28	0	27 [13,48]
Screened for mental illness	30	10	10	22 [7,51]
Screened for alcohol use	29	59	64	41 [22,64]
Screened for smoking	38	60	68	47 [29,66]
Measured blood pressure	76	82	74	78 [45,94]
Measured weight	51	50	81	53 [31,73]
Measured height	6	10	0	7 [3,15]
Calculated BMI	6	0	0	4 [0,29]
Screened for hearing loss	60	73	55	64 [26,90]
Screened for visual loss	57	48	39	53 [32,72]
Encouraged OP to go for HIV counselling & testing	56	43	79	53 [41,65]
Screened for abnormal genital discharge	18	10	0	14 [3,44]
Asked about number of sexual partners	23	19	26	22 [15,32]
Asked OP about when they last had sex with	12	0	10	8 [2,23]
someone who isn't their wife/husband				
Health education				
Targeted OPs for any health education	18	29	26	22 [9,44]
Targeted OPs for health education about NCDs	35	38	32	36 [28,44]
Targeted for HIV education	18	0	18	12 [1,60]
Targeted OP for non-HIV STI education	24	32	16	26 [10,54]
Targeted OP for education on condom use	18	3	19	13 [2,55]
Offered condoms to Ops	9	19	10	10 [2,45]

9.2.2. Proportion of health workers that gave positive response to questions on how they treated older persons in primary care facilities

	HC IV	HC III	HC II	Total (%), CI
	%	%	%	
Domains of responsiveness				
Treated with respect and dignity	61	63	68	64 [59 <i>,</i> 68]
Promptly attended to	45	48	47	46 [35,58]
Received clear communication about their illness	46	41	48	45 [40, 51]
Involved in key decisions regarding their care	15	10	12	13 [9, 16]
Their privacy was ensured during consultation	83	81	72	79 [74 <i>,</i> 85]
Mean overall score of perceived responsiveness	54	51	55	54 [50 <i>,</i> 57]
Important screening services				
Examined by HWs	36	31	23	31 [19, 47]
Height measured	3	0	0	1 [0, 9]
Weight was measured	26	16	12	20 [8, 40]
Blood pressure was measured	37	21	22	28 [16,45]
Encouraged to go for HIV counselling and testing	42	11	11	25 [14, 39]
Cost of treatment				
Never incurred financial cost	95	92	98	95 [92 <i>,</i> 98]
Received all drugs for free	92	86	96	92 [81,96]
Was never asked to buy drugs	92	84	94	90 [79,96]
Was never asked to pay bribe	97	100	100	99 [91,100]
Was never asked to pay official user fees	100	100	98	100
				[96,100]
Health Education (HE) over the previous one year				
Received any HE	24	20	12	19 [10,35]
Received HE on HIV	29	11	9	21 [11,35]
Received HE on non-HIV STIs	23	13	13	15 [7,30]
Were offered condoms to go home with	20	0	0	9 [3,23]
Received HE about NCDs	13	7	4	9 [2, 31]

9.2.3. Proportion of older persons that gave positive responses to questions related to their treatment at the primary care facilities

	Level IV	Level	Level II	Total %[CI]
	(%)	III(%)	(%)	
Respect	67	75	73	71 [67, 75]
Prompt attention	60	62	67	63 [57, 68]
Communication	67	69	72	69 [65, 74]
Autonomy	43	42	49	45 [39, 50]
Basic quality of the waiting rooms	65	67	63	65 [60, 70]
Cleanliness of the toilets	50	50	56	52 [47, 56]
Cleanliness of the health unit surrounding	66	70	70	68 [64, 72]
Thoroughness of physical examination of patients	60	53	54	57 [51, 62]
Availability of drugs	71	67	70	70 [64, 76]
Privacy and confidentiality	68	64	69	67 [64, 71]
Overall mean rating score for the PHC facilities	63	63	65	63 [61, 67]

9.2.4. Proportion of older persons that gave positive rating to the primary care facilities

NORTHERN UGANDA							
Name of	Level of	f Health Co	<u>entre</u>		<u>Totals</u>		
<u>Health</u>	PCF IV	PCF III	PCF II	Tot	Cum		
<u>Centre</u>					То		
Adjumani	1	7	19	27	27		
Arua	4	19	22	45	72		
Koboko	1	5	6	12	84		
Maracha	0	9	2	11	95		
Моуо	1	9	24	34	129		
Nebbi	1	13	17	31	160		
Yumbe	1	6	9	16	176	Selection procedure	
Zombo	0	6	7	13	189	SI = 466/2 = 233	
Арас	1	9	16	26	215	disp 1 + (233* run iform())	
Lira	2	8	5	15	230	RS = 32.91729	
Pader	1	11	11	23	253	RS+S1 = 32.91729+233 =	
						265.91729	
Agago	0	8	26	34	287		
Amolatar	1	3	6	10	297		
Dokolo	1	4	7	12	309		
Amuru	1	5	9	15	324		
Gulu	2	13	30	45	369		
Kole	1	4	5	10	379		
Nwoya	0	3	9	12	391		
Kitgum	1	8	8	17	408		
Oyam	1	3	18	22	430		
Lamwo	2	7	10	19	449		
Otuke	1	4	2	7	456		
Alebtong	1	4	5	10	466		
Total	25	168	273	466			
			EAS	TERN U	GANDA		
Mayuge	2	5	26	33	33		
Tororo	3	17	36	56	89		
Bugiri	1	9	21	31	120		
Busia	1	7	14	22	142		
Butaleja	0	12	9	21	163		
Manafwa	2	10	4	16	179		
Kaliro	1	5	7	13	192		
Kamuli	2	10	18	30	222		
Iganda	2	13	20	35	257		
Jinja	5	12	33	50	307		
Pallisa	1	11	7	19	326		
Sironko	2	12	8	22	348	Selection procedure	
Name of Heal	th <u>Lev</u>	el of Healt	h Centre	Totals	<u>s</u>		

9.3. Selection of the primary care facilities

<u>centre</u>	PCF IV	PCF III	PCF II	Total	Cum Total	
Budaka	1	9	3	13	361	SI = 738/2 = 369
Namutumba	1	5	17	23	384	disp 1 + (369* run iform())
Bududa	0	7	4	11	395	RS = 51.547125
Ngora	0	7	2	9	404	RS+SI = 51.547125+369 = 420.547125
Kaberamaido	1	7	6	14	418	
Kumi	1	5	4	10	428	
Soroti	2	10	10	22	450	
Amuria	2	8	15	25	475	
Bukwo	0	3	10	13	488	
Kaabong	1	6	15	22	510	
Serere	2	6	7	15	525	
Abim	0	3	13	16	541	
Nakapiripirit	2	7	2	11	552	
Katakwi	1	5	11	17	569	
Moroto	0	2	4	6	575	
Kotido	1	5	10	16	591	
Napak	0	7	2	9	600	
Kween	1	4	7	12	612	
Kapchorwa	0	6	6	12	624	
Amudat	0	1	1	2	626	
Bukedea	1	5	1	7	633	
Kibuku	1	7	4	12	645	
Bulambuli	1	8	3	12	657	
Mbale	4	13	11	28	685	
Buyende	1	4	5	10	695	
Luuka	1	5	16	22	717	
Namayingo	1	4	16	21	738	
Total	48	282	408	738		
			CENT		Δ	
Kampala	3	8	3	14	14	
Kihoga	1	5	3 11	17	31	
Mnigi	1	10	8	19	50	
Kayunga	2	8	9	19	69	
Buyuma	- 1	2	3	6	75	
Mukono	2	- 13	20	35	110	
Builkwe	0	9	10	19	129	
Wakiso	5	21	36	<u></u> 62	191	
Gomba	5 1	<u></u> Δ	10	15	206	Selection procedure
Bukomansimhi	⊥ 1	т 2	3	7	200	SI = 560/2 = 280
Butambala	1	5	5	, 12	213	disn 1 + (280* run iform())
Butambala	U	J	1	12	223	
	Level of Health centre		Totals			

Name of Health Centre	PCFIV	PCF III	PCF II	Total	Cum Tot	
Masaka	2	6	16	24	249	RS = 39.355542
кака	T	19	43	63	312	RS+SI = 39.355542 + 280 = 319.355542
Nakasongola	1	10	16	27	339	
Luweero	3	14	22	39	378	
Ssembabule	2	4	14	20	398	
Kyankwanzi	1	4	8	13	411	
Nakaseke	2	5	10	17	428	
Kalungu	1	6	4	11	439	
Lwengo	3	4	5	12	451	
Kalangala	2	6	2	10	461	
Lyantonde	0	4	14	18	479	
Mityana	2	8 12	21	31	510	
	2 20	12	30 221	50	500	
Bundibugyo	33 2	5	331 14	21	21	
Hoima	2	20	19	41	62	
Kabarole	3	16	21	40	102	
Kasese	0	19	47	66	168	
Kihaale	3	15	16	34	202	
Masindi	1	7	22	30	232	Selection procedure
Kamwenge	2	, 7	17	26	252	SI = 796/2 = 398
Kvenioio	-	, 8	-, 6	20 15	233	disp 1 + (398* run iform())
Buliisa	1	1	5	7	280	RS: 55.519663
Kvegegwa	1	6	7	14	294	SI+RS = 398+55.519663 =
Kirvandongo	0	5	12	17	311	453.519663
Ntoroko	1	2	3	6	317	
Mbarara	4	- 13	31	48	365	
Ntungamo	3	10	25	38	403	
Bushenvi	2	6	15	23	426	
Kabale	7	13	67	87	513	
Kisoro	3	13	14	30	543	
Rukungiri	3	9	31	43	586	
Kanungu	2	8	14	24	610	
Ibanda	2	7	28	37	647	
Isingiro	4	14	31	49	696	
Kiruhura	2	10	24	36	732	
Mitooma	1	6	7	14	746	
Name of	Lev	el of He	ealth		Totals	

Health Centre		Centre	1		
	PCF IV	PCF	PCF II	Total	Cum
		Ш			Total
Buhweju	1	3	8	12	758
Sheema	2	4	19	25	783
Rubirizi	1	3	9	13	796
Total	54	230	512	796	

Selected Districts are highlighted

9.4. Study tools

9.4.1. Form 1: Health unit in charges

<u>Find the health facility in-charge</u>. Introduce yourself and the purpose of your visit. Read the information sheet and ask for consent. If consent is received, proceed to ask the following questions:

Part 1: Interviewer Identification

Qno	Questions and Filters		Coding categories				Codes				
1.	Interviewer Initials										IDNO
		,	Write	e your ir	nitials						
2.	Interviewer signature										
		Sign here:									
3.	Date										INTDATE
			d	d	m	m	у	У	у	у	
4.	Do I have your agreement to	o begin the					Yes	5 1			AGREE
	interview?						No	2 >	>>sto	р	
5.	Interview Start time (write t	ime in 12-h	our				Hour				STAHR
	format)										STAMI
						Mi	nutes				

Part 2: Facility identification

Qno	Questions and Filters	Coding categories		Codes
6.	Name of District			DNAM
7.	District code	Write code		DCODE
8.	Name of facility			FNAM
9.	Facility code	Write code		FCODE
10.	Level of facility	Level IV	1	FLEV
		Level III	2	
		Level II	3	
11.	Location of facility	Urban	1	FLOC
		Rural	2	
12.	How would you categorise the type of	Outpatient only	1	FTYP
	service provided at this health facility?	Both in-and out-patient	2	
13.	How many days each week is this health	Number of days		DAOP
	facility open for routine outpatient	Ľ		
	curative services?			

Part 3: Information about specialised care of older persons

Qno	Questions and filters	Coding categories	Codes
14.	On average, how many older persons (i.e. people		NOP
	aged 50+ years) does this facility receive in a day?	Num of	
		older	
		persons	
15.	Does this facility provide specialised healthcare	Yes 1 >> 17	GER1
	for older persons (that is; health care that is	No 2	
	specifically meant for older persons)?	Don't know 8 >> 17	

16.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to p	rovide the service	1	GER01
	following would you	We do not have staff trained to p	rovide the service	2	GER02
	say best describes	We do not have th	e necessary drugs	3	GER03
	why you do not	We do not have the nec	essary equipment	4	GER 04
	provide specialized	We do not receive patients wit	h chronic illnesses	5	GER05
	healthcare to older	Apart from the above reasor	ns, are there other	6	GER06
	persons (Circle all	reasons why you do not provide	specialized health		
	those that apply	care for older	persons? (specify)		
		Specify other reasons here:			SGER06
17	Has any staff of this fac	lity been specifically trained to	Yes	1	GFR2
	provide specialised hea	Ithcare for older persons?	No	- 2 >> 19	
		P	Don't know	8 >>19	
18.	Has (have) the staff rec	eived any refresher training to	Yes	1	GER4
	provide specialised hea	Ithcare for older persons during	No	2	
	the past 2 two years		Don't know	8	
19.	Do you have a specific a	uideline for providing healthcare	Yes	1	GER4
201	to older persons	54.40	No	- 2 >> 21	
			Don't know	8 >>21	
20.	Is the guideline availabl	e in the patient consultation	Yes & s	een 1	GER5
20.	area? If ves. may I pleas	se see it?	Yes but not s	een 2	
				No 3	
					1

Part 4: Health services for non-communicable diseases

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific healthcare services offered by this health facility for non-communicable diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases (e.g. hypertension, heart disease), chronic obstructive airways disease, and cancer

Part 4.1: General information

21.	Does this facility offer any service	e (eg. education, diagnosis,	Yes	1 >> 23	NCD1
	management) for <u>any</u> non-comm	nunicable disease such as	No	2	
	diabetes, cardiovascular disease	s (e.g. hypertension, heart	Don't know	8 >> 53	
	disease), chronic obstructive air	e), chronic obstructive airways disease, and cancer?			
22.	If no, which of the following	We are not meant to prov	ide the service	1	CHRN1
	would you say best describes	We do not have staff trai	ned to provide	2	CHRN2
	why you do not provide		the service		
	services for non-	We do not have the n	ecessary drugs	3	CHRN3
	communicable diseases	We do not have the necess	ary equipment	4	CHRN4
	(NCDs) (Circle all those that	We do not receive pati	ents with non-	5	CHRN5
	apply)	commun	icable diseases		
		Apart from the reasons at	ove, are there	6	CHRN6
	>>53	other reasons why you	other reasons why you do not provide		
		services for N			
		Specify other reason(s) here			SCHRN

23.	Does this facility prov	ide health education to patients	e health education to patients Yes			
	about any non-comm	unicable disease such as diabetes,	No	2		
	cancer, chronic obstru	active airways disease, and	Don't know	8 >> 25		
	cardiovascular disease	es (e.g. hypertension, stroke, heart				
	disease)?					
24.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to provide health	education about	1	CHR01	
	following would you	non-commu	nicable diseases			
	say best describes	We do not know that we are supp	osed to provide	2	CHR02	
	why you do not	health education about non-commu	nicable diseases			
	provide health	We do not have the necessary know	vledge and skills	3	CHR03	
	education about	We do not have the necessary edu	cation materials	4	CHR04	
	any non-	Apart from the reasons above,	are there other	5	CHR05	
	communicable	reasons why you do not provide h	ealth education			
	disease within the	about non-communicable diseases?	(please specify)			
	facility? (Circle all	Specify other reason here:			SCHR05	
	those that apply)					

Part 4.2: Diabetes:

25.	Does this facility provi	ide services for diabetes mellitus,	Yes	1 >> 27	DM1
	such as health educat	ion, diagnosis and management?	No	2	
			Don't know	8 >>27	
26.	If no, which of the	We are not meant t	o provide the service	1	DM01
	following would you	We do not have staff trained t	o provide the service	2	DM02
	say best describes	We do not have	e the necessary drugs	3	DM03
	why you do not	We do not have the	necessary equipment	4	DM04
	provide services for	We do not receive p	atients with diabetes	5	DM05
	diabetes mellitus	Apart from the reasons mention	ned above, are there	6	DM06
	(Circle all those that	other reasons why you do no	t provide services for		
	apply)	diabetes? Of	ther reasons (specify)		
		Specify other reasons here			SDM0
	>>35				
27	Dees this facility have		Vac	1	D142
27.	Does this facility have	any guideline for managing	Yes	1	DIVIZ
	diabetes?		No	2 >>29	
			Don't know	8 >> 29	
28.	Is the guideline availa	ble in the patient consultation	Yes & Seen	1	DM3
	area? If yes, may I ple	ase see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
			No	3	
29.	Does this facility stock	drugs for treating diabetes?	Yes	1	DM4
			No	2 >> 31	
			Don't know	8 >> 31	

30.	Are some or all of the d	rugs you usually stock	Yes	1	DM5
	available today?		No	2	
			Don't know	8	
31.	Does this facility have a	ny of its staff specifically	Yes	1	DM6
	trained to manage diab	etes?	No	2 >> 33	
			Don't know	8 >> 33	
32.	If yes, has (have) the sta	aff received refresher training	Yes	1	DM7
	related to managing dia	abetes during the past 2	No	2	
	years?		Don't know	8	
33.	Does this facility provid	e health education about	Yes	1 >> 35	DM10
	diabetes?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 35	
34.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to pro	vide health education	1	DM101
	following would you		about diabetes		
	say best describes	We do not know that we are	e supposed to provide	2	DM102
	why you do not	health edu	cation about diabetes		
	provide health	We do not have the necessary	y knowledge and skills	3	DM103
	education about	We do not have the necessar	y education materials	4	DM104
	diabetes within the	0	ther reasons (specify)	5	DM105
	those that apply)	Please specify other reason he	ere:		SDM104

Part 4.3: Cardiovascular Diseases

35.	Does this facility prov	ide services for diagnosis and	Yes	1 >> 37	CVD1
	management of cardi	No	2		
	hypertension, stroke,	and heart diseases?	Don't know	8 >> 37	
36.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to p	provide the service	1	CVD01
	following would you	We do not have staff trained to p	provide the service	2	CVD02
	say best describes	We	do not have drugs	3	CVD03
	why you do not	We do not have the nee	cessary equipment	4	CVD04
	provide services for We do not receive patients			5	CVD05
	cardiovascular	Other reasons (specify)		6	CVD06
	diseases (Circle all those that apply) >>45	Specify other reasons here			SCVD0
37.	Does this facility have	any guideline for managing	Yes	1	CVD2
	cardiovascular disease	es?	No	2 >> 39	
		Don't		8 >> 39	
38.	Is the guideline availa	ble in the patient consultation	Yes & Seen	1	CVD3
	area? If yes, may I ple	ase see it?	Yes but not seen	2	

			No	3	
39.	Does this facility stock o	Irugs for treating cardiovascular	Yes	1	CVD4
	diseases such as hypert	ension?	No	2 >>41	
			Don't know	8 >>41	
40.	Are some or all of the d	re some or all of the drugs you usually stock available		1	CVD5
	today?		No	2	
			Don't know	8	
41.	Does this facility have a	ny of its staff trained to	Yes	1	CVD6
	specifically manage care	diovascular diseases such as	No	2 >> 43	
	hypertension, stroke, a	nd heart disease?	Don't know	8 >> 43	
42.	Has any of the staff rece	eived refresher training during	Yes	1	CVD7
	the past 2 years in the r	nanagement of cardiovascular	No	2	
	diseases?		Don't know	8	
43.	Does this facility provid	e health education about	Yes	1 >> 45	CVD12
	cardiovascular diseases	(e.g. about the causes or risk	No	2	
	factors, treatment etc)?		Don't know	8 >> 45	
44.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to provi	de health education	1	CVD0A
	following would you		about hypertension		
	say best describes	We do not know that we are s	supposed to provide	2	CVD0B
	why you do not	health education	about hypertension		
	provide health	We do not have the k	nowledge and skills	3	CVD0C
	education about	We do not have the necessary	education materials	4	CVD0D
	hypertension? (Circle	Other reasons (specify)		5	CVD0E
	all those that apply)	Please specify other reason here:			SCVD0E

Par 4.4: Services for diagnosis and management of cancer

45.	Does this facility screen patie	ents for cancer (e.g. do routine	Yes	1 >> 47	CAN1
	breast examination in women, routine visual inspection of		No	2	
	the cervix, etc)?		Don't know	8 >>47	
46.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to p	rovide the service	1	CAN01
	following would you say	We do not have staff train	ed to provide the	2	CAN2
	best describes why you do		service		
	not screen patients for	We do not have the nece	ssary equipments	4	CAN4
	cancer (Circle all those that	Other reasons (specify)		6	CAN5
	apply)	Specify other reasons here			SCAN5
	>>53				
47.	Does this facility have any gu	ideline for screening	Yes	1	CAN6
	patients for cancer?	0	No	2 >> 49	
			Don't know	8 >> 49	

48.	Is the guideline available in the	ne patient consultation	Yes & Seen	1	CAN7
	areas? If yes, may I please se	e it?	Yes but not seen	2	
			No	3	
49.	Does this facility have any of its staff trained to		Yes	1	CAN8
	specifically screen patients for	or cancer?	No	2 >> 51	
			Don't know	8 >>51	
50.	Has any of the staff received	refresher training during	Yes	1	CAN9
	the past 2 years in screening	of patients for cancer?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	
51.	Does this facility provide hea	Ith education about	Yes	1 >> 53	CAN10
	cancers (e.g. about the cause	es or risk factors,	No	2	
	treatment/management etc)	?	Don't know	8 >> 53	
52.	If no, which of the	We are not mea	nt to provide health	1	CAN 0A
	following would you say	educ	ation about cancers		
	best describes why you do	We do not know that	we are supposed to	2	CAN 0B
	not provide health	provide health edu	cation about cancer		
	education about cancers?	We do not have the k	knowledge and skills	3	CAN 0C
	(Circle all those that apply)	We do not have the r	necessary education	4	CAN 0D
			materials		
		Other than the reasons me	entioned above, are	5	CAN 0E
		there other reasons why	/ you do not provide		
		health education ab	oout cancer (specify)		
		Please specify other reason here:			CANOE

Part 5: Disabilities:

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific healthcare services offered by this health facility for disabilities such as mental health, hearing problems, and visual problems

Part 5.1: General information

53.	Does this facility offer <u>any</u> service (eg. education, diagnosis,		Yes	1 >>55	DISA
	management) for <u>any</u> disability s	such as mental health,	No	2	
	hearing problems, and visual pro	blems?	Don't know	8 >>55	
54.	If no, which of the following	We are not meant to prov	ide the service	1	DIS1
	would you say best describes	We do not have staff trai	ned to provide	2	DIS2
	why you do not provide	the service			
	services for disabilities (Circle	We do not have the n	ecessary drugs	3	DIS 3
	all those that apply)	We do not have the necess	ary equipment	4	DIS4
		We do not receive	e patients with	5	DIS5
	>>87		disabilities		
		Other than the reasons mer	ntioned above,	6	DIS6
		are there other reasons v	vhy you do not		

			provide services for dis	ability? (specify)		
			Specify other reason(s) her	re		SDISN
55.	Does this facility provi	ide health	education to patients	Yes	1 >> 57	CHR1
	about any disability su	ich as men	tal health, hearing	No	2	
	problems, and visual p	problems?		Don't know	8 >> 57	
56.	If no, which of the	We are n	ot meant to provide health	education about	1	CHR01
	following would you			disabilities		
	say best describes	We d	o not know that we are supp	osed to provide	2	CHR02
	why you do not		health education a	bout disabilities		
	provide health	We do not have the necessary knowledge and skills		3	CHR03	
	education about	We do	not have the necessary edu	cation materials	4	CHR04
	disabilities within	Other t	han the reasons mentioned a	above, are there	5	CHR05
	the facility? (Circle	c	other reasons why you do no	t provide health		
	all those that apply)		education about disabilities	(please specify)		
		Specify o	ther reason here:			SCHR05

Part 5.2: Mental Health

57.	Does this facility provid	e services for diagnosis and	Yes	1 >> 59	MEN1
	management of mental	nagement of mental illnesses such as depression or No		2	
	anxiety?	Don't know		8 >> 59	
58.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to	We are not meant to provide the service		
	following would you	We do not have staff trained to	provide the service	2	MEN02
	say best describes	W	e do not have drugs	3	MEN03
	why you do not	We do not receive patients	s with mental illness	4	MEN04
	provide services for	Other than the reasons me	entioned above, are	5	MEN05
	Mental illness (Circle	there other reasons why	you do not provide		
	all those that apply)	services for me	ental illness (specify)		
		Specify other reasons here			SMEN0
	>>67				
				4	145112
59.	Does this facility have a	ny guideline for managing	Yes	1	MEN2
	mental illnesses?		No	2 >>61	
			Don't know	8 >> 61	
60.	Is the guideline availabl	e in the patient consultation	Yes & Seen	1	MEN3
	area? If yes, may I pleas	se see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
			No	3	
61.	Does this facility stock of	Irugs for treating mental	Yes	1	MEN4
	illnesses?		No	2 >> 63	
			Don't know	8 >> 63	
62.	Are all or some of the d	rugs you usually stock	Yes	1	MEN5
	available today?		No	2	
			Don't know	8	
63.	Does this facility have a	ny of its staff trained to	Yes	1	MEN6

	specifically manage mental il	Inesses?	No	2 >> 65	
			Don't know	8 >> 65	
64.	Has (have) the staff received refresher training during		Yes	1	MEN7
	the past 2 years in the manag	gement of mental	No	2	
	illnesses?		Don't know	8	
65.	Does this facility provide hea	Ith education about	Yes	1 >> 67	MEN
	mental illness?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 67	
66.	If no, which of the	We are not me	eant to provide health	1	MEN0A
	following would you say	education	n about mental illness		
	best describes why you do	We do not know tha	at we are supposed to	2	MENOB
	not provide health	provide health education	n about mental illness		
	education about mental	We do not have the	e knowledge and skills	3	MEN0C
	illness? (Circle all those	We do not have the	e necessary education	4	MENOD
	that apply)		materials		
		Other than the reasons r	mentioned above, are	5	MEN0E
		there other reasons wi	hy you do not provide		
		health education about mental illness			
		(specify)			
		Specify other reasons he	re:		SMEN0E

Part 5.3: Ear Problems:

67.	Does this facility provide services for diagnosis and		Yes	1 >>69	EAR
	management of ear problems such as hearing		No	2	
	impairment?		Don't know	8 >> 69	
68.	If no, which of the following	We are not meant to p	rovide the service	1	EAR 01
	would you say best describes	We do not have staff train	ed to provide the	2	EAR 02
	why you do not provide		service		
	services for diagnosis and	Wed	do not have drugs	3	EAR 03
	treatment of ear problems	We do not have the nece	essary equipment	4	EAR 04
	(Circle all those that apply)	We do not receive	patients with ear	5	EAR 05
			problems		
		Other than the reasons r	mentioned above,	6	EAR 06
	>>>77	are there other reasor	is why you do not		
		provide services for ear pr	oblems? (specify)		
	Specify other reasons here				EAR 06
69.	Does this facility have any guid	eline for managing ear	Yes	1	EAR 1
	problems?		No	2 >> 71	
			Don't know	8 >>71	
70.	Is the guideline available in the	Is the guideline available in the patient consultation		1	EAR 2
	area? If yes, may I please see it	? Yes but not seen		2	
			No	3	
71.	Does this facility stock drugs for	r treating ear	Yes	1	EAR 3
	•				

	infections?			2 >> 73	
			Don't know	8 >> 73	
72.	Are some or all of the d	rugs you usually stock for	Yes	1	EAR 4
	treating ear infections a	available today?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	
73.	Does this facility have any of its staff trained to		Yes	1	EAR 5
	specifically manage ear	problems?	No	2 >> 75	
			Don't know	8 >> 75	
74.	Has any of the staff rece	eived refresher training during	Yes	1	EAR 6
	the past 2 years in the r	management of ear problems?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	
75.	Does this facility provid	e health education about ear	Yes	1 >>77	EAR11
	problems?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >>77	
76.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to pro	vide health education	1	EAR11A
	following would you		about ear problems		
	say best describes	We do not know that we are	e supposed to provide	2	EAR11B
	why you do not	health educatio	n about ear problems		
	provide health	We do not have the	e knowledge and skills	3	EAR11C
	education about ear	We do not have the necessar	y education materials	4	EAR11D
	problems? (Circle all	Are there o	ther reasons (specify)	5	EAR11E
	those that apply)				
	Please specify other rea	ison here:			SEAR11E

Part 5.4: Visual Problems:

77.	Does this facility provide servic	es for diagnosis and	Yes	1 >> 79	VS
	management of visual problems?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 79	
78.	If no, which of the following	We are not meant t	to provide the service	1	VS01
	would you say best describes	We do not have staff t	trained to provide the	2	VS02
	why you do not provide		service		
	services for diagnosis and	N	We do not have drugs	3	VS03
	treatment of visual problems	We do not have the n	necessary equipments	4	VS04
	(Circle all those that apply)	We do not receiv	e patients with visual	5	VS05
			problems		
	>>87	Are there o	ther reasons (specify)	6	VS06
	Specify other reasons here				VS06
79.	Does this facility have any guid	eline for managing	Yes	1	VS1
	visual problems?		No	2 >> 81	
			Don't know	8 >> 81	
80.	Is the guideline available in the	patient consultation	Yes & Seen	1	VS2
	area? If yes, may I please see it? Ye		Yes but not seen	2	
			No	3	

01		с.,	<u>_</u>	4	1/62
81.	Does this facility stock drugs	Yes	1	VS3	
	problems?		No	2 >> 83	
		Don't know	8 >> 83		
82.	Are some or all of the drugs you usually stock for		Yes	1	VS4
	treating visual problems available today?		No	2	
			Don't know	8	
83.	Does this facility have any of	its staff trained to	Yes	1	VS5
	specifically manage visual pro	oblems?	No	2 >> 85	
			Don't know	8 >> 85	
84.	Has any of the staff received	refresher training	Yes	1	VS6
	during the past 2 years in the	e management of visual	No	2	
	problems?		Don't know	8	
85.	Does this facility provide health education about		Yes	1 >>87	VS11
	visual problems?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 87	
86.	If no, which of the	We are not n	neant to provide health	1	VS11A
	following would you say	educatior	n about visual problems		
	best describes why you do	We do not know t	hat we are supposed to	2	VS11B
	not provide health	provide health	education about visual		
	education about visual		problems		
	problems? (Circle all those	We do not have t	he knowledge and skills	3	VS11C
	that apply)	We do not have t	he necessary education	4	VS11D
		materials			
		Are there	other reasons (specify)	5	VS11E
	Please write other reason he	ere:			S VS11E
					1

Part 6: STI services:

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific healthcare services offered by this health facility for sexually transmitted infections such as gonorrhoea, and syphilis but excluding HIV

-					
87.	Does this facility provide any se	y services for diagnosis and Yes		1 >> 89	STD1
	management of sexually transi	nitted infections (STIs)	No	2	
	(including syndromic managem	nent of STIs)?	Don't know	8 >> 89	
88.	If no, which of the following	We are not meant to pro	ovide the service	1	STD1A
	would you say best describes	We do not have staff traine	d to provide the	2	STD1B
	why you do not provide		service		
	services for STIs (Circle all	We de	o not have drugs	3	STD1C
	those that apply)	We do not have the necessary equipment		4	STD1D
		We do not receive p	We do not receive patients with STIs		STD1E
		Are there other	Are there other reasons (specify)		STD1F
	>>>97				
	Specify other reasons here				SSTD1F
89.	Does this facility have any guid	ideline for managing Yes		1	STD2
	STIs?		No	2 >> 91	
L					L

			Don't know	8 >> 91	
90.	Is the guideline available in the patient con	sultation	Yes & Seen	1	STD3
	area? If yes, may I please see it?		Yes but not seen	2	
			No	3	
91.	Does this facility stock drugs for treating ST	īls?	Yes	1	STD4
			No	2 >> 93	
			Don't know	8 >> 93	
92.	Are some or all of the drugs you usually sto	ock for	Yes	1	STD5
	treating STIs available today?		No	2	
			Don't know	8	
93.	Does this facility have any of its staff traine	ed to	Yes	1	STD6
	specifically manage STI?		No	2 >> 95	
			Don't know	8 >> 95	
94.	Has (have) the staff received refresher train	ning during	Yes	1	STD7
	the past 2 years in the management of STIs	s?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	
95.	Does this facility provide health education	about	Yes	1 >> 97	STD10
	STIs?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 97	
96.	If no, which of the following would you	We are	not meant to provide	1	STD10A
	say best describes why you do not	health	education about STIs		
	provide health education about STIs	We do	not know that we are	2	STD10B
	within the facility? (Circle all those that	suppo	osed to provide health		
	apply)		education about STIs		
		We do no	t have the knowledge	3	STD10C
			and skills		
		We do n	ot have the necessary	4	STD10D
			education materials		
		0	ther reasons (specify)	5	STD10E
	Specify other reasons here				S STD10E

Part 7 HIV services:

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific healthcare services offered by this health facility for HIV. This includes services for HIV prevention, treatment and care and support.

1					
	97.	Does this facility	Yes	1>>99	HIVS
		provide any HIV	No	2	
		service?	Don't know	8 >> 99	
	98.	If no, which of the	We are not meant to provide HIV services	1	
		following reasons	We do not have staff trained to provide HIV	2	
		best describes why	services		
		you do not provide	We do not have supplies		
		HIV services?	Other (specify)	3	
			Specify other reason(s) here		
		>> 123			
Part 7.1: HIV Counseling and Testing services

99.	Does this facility provide services for HIV counseling and Yes			1 >> 101	HCT1	
	testing?			No	2	
			Don't know			
100.	If no, which of the following	We are not	mear	nt to provide the	1	HCT01
	would you say best describes why			service		
	you do not provide services for	We do not	t have	e staff trained to	2	HCT02
	HIV counseling and testing? (Circle		pro	ovide the service		
	all those that apply)	We do no	t rea	gents or test kits	3	HCT03
	>>>115	Are there o	ther r	reasons (specify)	4	HCT04
	Specify other reasons here					SHCT04
		<u> </u>				
101.	Does this facility have any guideline	for HIV		Yes	1	HCT2
	counseling and testing?			No	2 >>103	
102				Don't know	8 >>103	11070
102.	Is the guideline available in the patie	ent consultation		Yes & Seen	1	HC13
	area? If yes, may I please see it?			Yes but not seen	2	
				No	3	
103.	Does this facility have any staff train	ed to provide HIV		Yes	1	HCT4
	counseling?	N		No	2 >>105	
				Don't know	8 >>105	
104.	Has (have) the staff received refresher training during			Yes	1	HCT5
	the past 2 years			No	2	
		Don't kn		Don't know	8	
105.	Does this facility have any of its staf	f trained to do Yes		Yes	1	НСТ6
	HIV testing?			No	2 >>107	
				Don't know	8 >>107	
106.	Has (have) the staff received refresh	ier training during		Yes	1	HCT7
	the past 2 years in HIV testing?			No	2	
107				Don't know	8	11070
107.	Does this facility usually stock reage	nts or test kits for		Yes	1	HCI8
	diagnosis of HIV?			NO	2 >>109	
100				Don't know	8 >>109	11070
108.	Are some or all of the reagents or te	est kits available		Yes	1	HCI9
	touayr			NO Dans/talumanus	2	
100	Don't		Don t know	8		
109.	Does this facility usually stock male	condoms?		Yes	1	HCIIU
				NU Den't know	2 >>111	
110	Are the male condems available tod	21/2			0 >>111	
110.		ay:		res	1 2	
				NU Don't know	۲ ٥	
111	Doos this facility usually stack formal	a condema?			0	
		e condoms?		Yes	⊥ 2 \\11 2	
				INO	2 >>113	

			Don't know	8 >> 113	
112.	Are the female condoms available	today?	Yes	1	HCT13
			No	2	
			Don't know	8	
113.	Does this facility provide health ec	lucation about	Yes	1 >> 115	HIV
	HIV?		No	2	
			Don't know	8 >> 115	
114.	If no, which of the following	We are not me	eant to provide health	1	HIV01
	would you say best describes		education about HIV		
	why you do not provide health	We do not know	that we are supposed	2	HIV02
	education about HIV within the	to provide health	n education about HIV		
	facility? (Circle all those that	We do not have the	e knowledge and skills	3	HIV03
	apply)	We do not have the	e necessary education	4	HIV04
			materials		
		Are there o	ther reasons (specify)	5	HIV05
	Specify other reasons here				SHIV05

Part 7.2: ART services

Does this facility provide service	s for antiretroviral	Yes	1 >> 117	ART1
treatment of HIV (ART) such as p	preparation of patients for	No	2	
ART initiation, initiation of paties	nts on ART, and	Don't know	8 >>117	
prescription and follow-up of pa	tients who are on ART?			
>>>137				
If no, which of the following	We are not meant to p	rovide the service	1	ART01
would you say best describes	We do not have staff t	rained to provide	2	ART02
why you do not provide ART		the service		
services? (Circle all those that	Wed	do not have drugs	3	ART03
apply)	We do not have the nece	essary equipment	4	ART04
	We do not receive pati	ents with chronic	5	ART05
>>123		illnesses		
	Are there other	reasons (specify)	6	ART06
Specify other reasons here	1			SART0
Does this facility have any guide	line for providing ART	Yes	1	ART2
services?		No	2 >> 119	
Don't know				
		Don't know	8 >> 119	
Is the guideline available in the p	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen	8 >> 119	ART3
Is the guideline available in the p area? If yes, may I please see it?	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen Yes but not seen	8 >> 119 1 2	ART3
Is the guideline available in the p area? If yes, may I please see it?	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen Yes but not seen No	8 >> 119 1 2 3	ART3
Is the guideline available in the p area? If yes, may I please see it? Does this facility stock ARV drug	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen Yes but not seen No Yes	8 >>119 1 2 3 1	ART3
Is the guideline available in the p area? If yes, may I please see it? Does this facility stock ARV drug	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen Yes but not seen No Yes No	8 ≫119 1 2 3 1 2 ≫121	ART3 ART4
Is the guideline available in the p area? If yes, may I please see it? Does this facility stock ARV drug	patient consultation	Don't know Yes & seen Yes but not seen No Yes No Don't know	8 >>119 1 2 3 1 2 >>121 8 >>121	ART3 ART4
	Does this facility provide service treatment of HIV (ART) such as p ART initiation, initiation of patien prescription and follow-up of pa >>>137 If no, which of the following would you say best describes why you do not provide ART services? (<i>Circle all those that</i> <i>apply</i>) >>123 Specify other reasons here Does this facility have any guide services?	Does this facility provide services for antiretroviral treatment of HIV (ART) such as preparation of patients for ART initiation, initiation of patients on ART, and prescription and follow-up of patients who are on ART?>>>137If no, which of the following would you say best describes why you do not provide ART services? (<i>Circle all those that</i> apply)We are not meant to provide ART We do not have staff to We do not have the nece We do not receive pation>>123Are there otherDoes this facility have any guideline for providing ART services?Does this facility have any guideline for providing ART services?	Does this facility provide services for antiretroviral treatment of HIV (ART) such as preparation of patients for ART initiation, initiation of patients on ART, and prescription and follow-up of patients who are on ART?No Don't know>>137If no, which of the following would you say best describes why you do not provide ART services? (<i>Circle all those that</i> apply)We are not meant to provide the service We do not have staff trained to provide the services We do not have the necessary equipment We do not receive patients with chronic illnesses Are there other reasons (specify)>>123Does this facility have any guideline for providing ART services?Yes No	Does this facility provide services for antiretroviral treatment of HIV (ART) such as preparation of patients for ART initiation, initiation of patients on ART, and prescription and follow-up of patients who are on ART? >>137Yes1>>117If no, which of the following would you say best describes why you do not provide ART services? (Circle all those that apply)We are not meant to provide the service We do not have the necessary equipment We do not receive patients with chronic illnesses3>>123We do not receive patients with chronic illnesses5Specify other reasons hereAre there other reasons (specify)6Does this facility have any guideline for providing ART services?Yes1No2>>119

-					
I	120.	Are some or all of the ARV drugs you usually stock	Yes	1	ART5
		available today?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	
I	121.	Does this facility have any of its staff trained to	Yes	1	ART6
		specifically provide ART services?	No	2 >> 123	
			Don't know	8 >> 123	
I	122.	Has (have) the staff received refresher training during	Yes	1	ART7
		the past 2 years in ART?	No	2	
			Don't know	8	

Part 8: Basic Equipment:

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific medical equipment that are necessary for diagnosis of certain diseases in older persons.

123.	Does this facility have a stethoscope?	Yes	1	EQ1
		No	2 >> 125	
		Don't know	8 >> 125	
124.	Is the stethoscope available in the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ1S
	consultation area? If yes, may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
125.	Does this facility have an adult blood pressure	Yes	1	EQ2
	machine?	No	2 >> 127	
		Don't know	8 >> 127	
126.	Is the blood pressure machine available in the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ2S
	consultation area? If yes, may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
127.	Does this facility have adult weighing scales?	Yes	1	EQ3
		No	2 >> 129	
		Don't know	8 >> 129	
128.	Is the weighing scale available in the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ3S
	consultation area? If yes, may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
129.	Does this facility have adult height scale(s)	Yes	1	EQ4
		No	2 >> 131	
		Don't know	8 >> 131	
130.	Is the adult height scale available in the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ4S
	consultation area? If yes, may please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
131.	Does this facility have an adult tape measure?	Yes	1	EQ5
		No	2 >> 133	
		Don't know	8 >> 133	
132.	Is the tape measure available at the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQS
	consultation area. If yes, may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
133.	Does this facility have an ophthalmoscope?	Yes	1	EQ6
		No	2 >> 135	
		Don't know	8 >> 135	

134.	Is the ophthalmoscope available in patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ6S
	consultation area? If yes, may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
135.	Does this facility have an otoscope?	Yes	1	EQ7
		No	2 >> 137	
		Don't know	8 >> 137	
136.	Is the otoscope available in patient consultation	Yes & seen	1	EQS
	area? If yes; may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
137.	Does this facility have a visual acuity chart?	Yes	1	EQ8
		No	2 >> 139	
		Don't know	8 >> 139	
138.	Is the visual acuity chart in the patient consultation	Yes & seen	1	EQ8S
	area? If yes; may I please see it?			
		Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	
 120			1	500
139.	Does this facility have a wheel chair?	Yes	1	EQ9
		NO Den't know	2 >>141	
 140			8 >>141 1	5000
140.	is the wheel chair available in the patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ95
	consultation areas in yes; may i please see its	Yes but not seen	2	
 		NO	3	5940
141.	Does this facility have a patient examination couch?	Yes	1	EQ10
		NO	2 >>143	
 		Don't know	8 >>143	
142.	Is the examination couch available in patient	Yes & seen	1	EQ10S
	consultation area? If yes; may I please see it?	Yes but not seen	2	
		No	3	

Part 9 : Diagnostic services:

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the specific diagnostic services provided by this health facility such as imaging services (e.g. X-ray and ultra sound) and basic laboratory services

143.	Does this facility provide any of the following imaging or laboratory services:				
		Yes	No	I don't	
				know	
144.	X-ray services	1	2	8	XRAY
145.	Ultrasound services	1	2	8	USOU
146.	Any laboratory services	1	2 >>162	8	LAB
147.	Testing for anaemia	1	2	8	LAB1
148.	CD4 count	1	2	8	LAB2
149.	Full blood count	1	2	8	LAB3
150.	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR)	1	2	8	LAB4
151.	Blood Glucose level	1	2	8	LAB5
152.	Urine protein	1	2	8	LAB6
153.	Urine sugar	1	2	8	LAB7

155. Blood slide for malaria 1 2 8 LAB9 156. Syphilis tests 1 2 8 LAB10 157. Gram stain for gonorrhoea 1 2 8 LAB11 158. ZN stain for TB 1 2 8 LAB12 159. Test for cryptococcal antigen test 1 2 8 LAB13 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them specifically trained to provide X-ray specifically XRAY3 XRAY3	154.	Urine microscopy	[1	2	8	LAB8
156. Syphilis tests 1 2 8 LAB10 157. Gram stain for gonorrhoea 1 2 8 LAB10 158. ZK stain for TB 1 2 8 LAB12 159. Test for cryptococcal meningitis e.g. (cerebro-spinal fluid) CSF test, cryptococcal antigen test 1 2 8 LAB13 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 0 Other tests done: 0 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 4 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 XRAY2 163. Does this facility have an annual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 >>1	155.	Blood slide for malaria		1	2	8	LAB9
157. Gram stain for gonorrhoea 1 2 8 LAB11 158. ZN stain for TB 1 2 8 LAB12 159. Test for cryptococcal meiningitis e.g. (creebro-spinal fluid) CSF test, cryptococcal antigen test 1 2 8 LAB13 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TestNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received rest No 2 >>165 XRAY3 refersher training during the past 2 years? Don't know 8 >>165 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or yes 1 yeas and send them the X-ray room? If yes, may i please years? No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received rest 1 XRAY3 XRAY3 Yes 1 XRAY3	156.	Syphilis tests		1	2	8	LAB10
158. ZN stain for TB 1 2 8 LAB12 159. Test for cryptococcal antigen test 1 2 8 LAB13 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB14 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do in other facility 1 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do in other facility 1 Refer patients to another 2 DIAB 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray specifically trained to provide X-ray No 2 >>165 Don't know 8 >>165 XRAY2 164. If yes, has (fave) the staff received refers angle nor 3 XRAY3 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services Don't know 8 >>167 XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please services No 2 >>167 XRAY5 166. Does this facility have all or some of the supalible 3 Don't know 8 >>167 XRAY5 XRAY5	157.	Gram stain for gonorrhoea		1	2	8	LAB11
159. Test for cryptococcal meningitis e.g. (cerebrospinal fluid) CSF test, cryptococcal antigen test 1 2 8 LAB13 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 facility facility another facility 4 facility will be about tests you are unable to perform at this facility and to provide X-ray services Other (specify) 163. Does this facility have any of its staff services Yes 1 yr XRAY2 XRAY2 years? 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received years? Yes 1 yr XRAY3 XRAY3 years? 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may i please services No 2 years? No 2 years? 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may i please service? No 3 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have and some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray implease servic? No 1 XRAY5 168. Does this facility hav	158.	ZN stain for TB		1	2	8	LAB12
spinal fluid) CSF test, cryptococcal antigen test 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 160. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TESTNO 162. Which of the following statements services Take specimens and send them to another facility 4 TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services Take specimens and send them the X-ray restrices XRAY2 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2<>167 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2<>>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-	159.	Test for cryptococcal meningitis e.g. (cere	ebro-	1	2	8	LAB13
test 1 2 8 LAB14 160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? O LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TESTNO 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 >>167 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may 1 please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY3 167. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to providing X-ray Some are available 2 No 3 USOU1 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifi		spinal fluid) CSF test, cryptococcal antiger	n				
160. Stool microscopy 1 2 8 LAB14 161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? O LAB 0 Other tests done:		test					
161. Are there any other laboratory tests that you do in this health facility that have not been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? O LAB Other tests done:	160.	Stool microscopy		1	2	8	LAB14
been mentioned in the list above?? If so, what other tests do you do? O LAB Other tests done:	161.	Are there any other laboratory tests that	you do	in this health	facility that h	ave not	
Other tests done: 0 LAB 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No ther facility XRAY2 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 Don't know XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 Don't know XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes but not seen 1 Yes but not seen 2 Don't know XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray Some are available 1 No 2 XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No a' S>170 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 you usually stock for providing x-ray USOU1 USOU1 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? USOU1 USOU1		been mentioned in the list above?? If so,	what c	ther tests do y	ou do?		
Image: services Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TESTNO 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another 2 TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 XRAY2 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refersher training during the past 2 No 2 Yes 1 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 Yes 1 XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may 1 please set it? No 3 XRAY5 XRAY5 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may 1 please set it? Yes but not seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No a XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff received refersher training during the past 2 Non is available 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray Non is available 1 XRAY5 168. Does this facility have annual		Other tests done:					O LAB
Information Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 Testro 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 Testro 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take speciments to another facility 1 Testro 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 XRAY2 164. If yee, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 1 XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may 1 please set it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No a Sector 1 168. Does this facility have any of its staff Yes 1 Vsen as available 3 USOU1 167. Does this facility have any of its staff Yes 1 USOU1 Some are available 3 USOU1							
162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them to another facility 1 TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services Neither refer sample nor 3 patient to another facility 4 XRAY2 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 >>165 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the supplies (including X-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray films) that Some are available 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including X-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray films) that Some are available 3 XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff yes 1 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received type 1 USOU1 167. Does this facility have any of the staff section the supplies (including X-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray None is available 1 XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- No 2 >>170 No 2 >>170 USOU1							
162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them TESTNO 162. Which of the following statements would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facility Take specimens and send them TESTNO 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refersher training during the past 2 years? No 2 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 1 167. Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 2 167. Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 2 166. Is the manual or guideline to provide ultra- boon't know 8 1 USOU1 167.							
would you say best describes what you do about tests you are unable to perform at this facilityto another facility1Refer patients to another2 facilityperform at this facilityNeither refer sample nora patient to another facility4Other (specify)0163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes1164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesDon't know8165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesYes1XRAY3166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes nd seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?No2>>160168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 you usually stock for providing x-rayNone is available1168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170 <t< td=""><td>162.</td><td>Which of the following statements</td><td>Take</td><td>specimens and</td><td>d send them</td><td></td><td>TESTNO</td></t<>	162.	Which of the following statements	Take	specimens and	d send them		TESTNO
do about tests you are unable to perform at this facilityRefer patients to another facility2 Refer patients to another facility163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes1XRAY2164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Don't know8 >>165XRAY3165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesNo2 >>165XRAY3166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seenXRAY5167.Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?No3168.Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?YesXRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provid ultra- sound services?YesUSOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?No2169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing x-rayYesUSOU2169.If yes, has (have) the staff received <br< td=""><td></td><td>would you say best describes what you</td><td></td><td>to and</td><td>other facility</td><td>1</td><td></td></br<>		would you say best describes what you		to and	other facility	1	
perform at this facilityfacilityneither refer sample nor 3 patient to another facility 40163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes 1 No 2 >>165164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No 2 Don't know 8165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesNo 2 Don't know 8166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and Seen 1 XRAYS167.Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?No 3168.Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?Yes 1 XRAYS168.Does this facility have any of its staff you susally stock for providing x-ray sound services?Yes 1 USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes 1 USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes 1 USOU2170.Does this facility have annual or guideline for providing the past 2 years?No 2 Loon't know 8170.Does this facility have annual or guideline for providing the past 2 years?No 2 Loon't know 8 >>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received 		do about tests you are unable to		Refer patients	s to another	2	
Neither refer sample nor3 patient to another facility163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes1XRAY2164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2XRAY3165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesYes1XRAY3166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray sund services?No3XRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide x-ray see it?Yes1XRAY5167.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to providing x-ray Don't know81XRAY5167.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide x-ray sound services?Yes1USOU1168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU2169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22<		perform at this facility			facility		
patient to another facility 4 Other (specify) 0 163. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 years? Don't know 8 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No a 3 No 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No 2 >>107 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 >>170 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Don't know 8 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline f				Neither refer	sample nor	3	
Other (specify)163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes1XRAY2164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesYes1XRAY3166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-rayYes1XRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22167.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1168.Does this facility have any of its staff refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ult				patient to and	other facility	4	
163.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide X-ray servicesYes1XRAY2164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>165164.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2XRAY3165.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray servicesYes1XRAY4166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray sound services?All are available1XRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No2>>170170.Does th				Oth	ner (specify)		
specifically trained to provide X-ray services No 2 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 years? Don't know 8 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY3 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing X-ray Yes but not seen 2 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? Yes 1 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 >>170 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? Yes 1 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 >>170 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 No 2 >>170 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing	163.	Does this facility have any of its staff			Yes	1	XRAY2
services Don't know 8 >>165 164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 167. Does this facility have any of its staff you usually stock for providing x-ray None is available 1 XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff yes cifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No 2<>>170 2 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Yes 1 USOU2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes but not seen 2 2		specifically trained to provide X-ray			No	2 >>165	
164. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Yes 1 XRAY3 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 XRAY4 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No a XRAY5 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No 2<>>170 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services? Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 USOU4	164	services			Don't know	8 >>165	
Iterster training during the past 2 No 2 years? Don't know 8 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No 2 >>170 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Yes 1 USOU2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may 1 Yes and seem 1 USOU4	164.	If yes, has (have) the staff received			Yes	1	XRAY3
165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services Yes 1 XRAY4 165. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing X-ray services No 2 >>167 166. Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seen 1 XRAY5 167. Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray No 3 168. Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? Yes 1 USOU1 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Yes 1 USOU2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes but not seen 2 >>172 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes but not seen 2 VICU4 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes but not seen 2 VICU4		vears?			NO Don't know	2	
InstrumentNo2 >>167guideline for providing X-ray servicesNo2 >>167166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray mousually stock for providing x-rayNo3168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seen1USOU4171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seenUSOU4	165.	Does this facility have a manual or			Yes	1	XRAY4
Don't know8 >>167166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray mousually stock for providing x-rayAll are available1XRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2	105.	guideline for providing X-ray services			No	2 >>167	
166.Is the manual or guideline available in the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seen1XRAY5167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray boot the staffAll are available1XRAY5168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seen2VSOU4171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seenUSOU4					Don't know	8 >>167	
the X-ray room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray mousually stock for providing x-rayAll are available1XRAYS167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray mode is available1XRAYS168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seem1USOU4171.Is the manual or com? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2XOU4	166.	Is the manual or guideline available in		Y	es and seen	1	XRAY5
see it?No3167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray musually stock for providing x-rayAll are available Some are available Don't know None is available Don't know NoXRAYS168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may and services1USOU4		the X-ray room? If yes, may I please		Yes b	out not seen	2	
167.Does this facility have all or some of the supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-rayAll are available1XRAYS168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seenYes1USOU4167.NoSome are available available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes1USOU4		see it?			No	3	
The supplies (including x-ray films) that you usually stock for providing x-ray usually stock for providing x-raySome are available None is available2168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes1USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes have a value of the second secon	167.	Does this facility have all or some of		All a	re available	1	XRAYS
you usually stock for providing x-rayNone is available3Don't know8168.Does this facility have any of its staffYes1USOU1specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?No2 >>1701000000000000000000000000000000000000		the supplies (including x-ray films) that		Some a	ire available	2	
168.Does this facility have any of its staff specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services?Yes1USOU1169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?No22170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU2171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2171.Is the manual or on? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2		you usually stock for providing x-ray		None	Don't know	3 Q	
100.1 Does this facility frace any of its start No 1 00001 specifically trained to provide ultra- sound services? No 2 >>170 0001 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? Yes 1 USOU2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes and seem 1 USOU4 Yes but not seen 2 No 3 1	168	Does this facility have any of its staff			Ves	0 1	
sound services? Don't know 8 >>170 169. If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years? No 2 170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes may I Yes and seem 1 USOU4	100.	specifically trained to provide ultra-			No	2 >>170	05001
169.If yes, has (have) the staff received refresher training during the past 2 years?Yes 1 No 2 Don't know 8USOU2170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes 1 No 2 >>172USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes may I Yes but not seen No 3USOU4		sound services?			Don't know	8 >>170	
refresher training during the past 2 years?No2 Don't know170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes but not seen2	169.	If yes, has (have) the staff received			Yes	1	USOU2
years?Don't know8170.Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound servicesYes1USOU3171.Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it?Yes and seem1USOU4		refresher training during the past 2			No	2	
170. Does this facility have a manual or guideline for providing ultrasound services Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes 1 USOU3 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes but not seen 2		years?			Don't know	8	
guideline for providing ultrasound services No 2 >>172 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seem 1 USOU4	170.	Does this facility have a manual or			Yes	1	USOU3
Services Don't know 8 >>1/2 171. Is the manual or guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I please see it? Yes and seem 1 USOU4		guideline for providing ultrasound			No	2>>172	
171. Is the manual of guideline available in the ultrasound room? If yes, may I Yes but not seen 2 please see it? No 3	171	services		Ve	DOIL KNOW	٥ <i>>></i> 1/2	
please see it? No 3	1/1.	the ultrasound room? If ves. may I		Te Yes h	but not seen	2	03004
		please see it?			No	3	

172	Doos this facility have all or some of	All are available	1	
1/2.			1	03003
	the supplies including the ultrasound	Some are available	2	
	gel that you usually stock for providing	None is available	3	
	ultrasound services	Don't know	8	
173.	Does this facility have any of its staff	Yes	1	LABW1
	specifically trained to provide basic	No	2 >>175	
	laboratory services?	Don't know	8 >>175	
174.	If yes, has the staff received refresher	Yes	1	LABW2
	training during the past 2 years?	No	2	
		Don't know	8	
175.	Does this facility have a manual or	Yes	1	LABM
	guideline for providing lab services	No	2 >>177	
		Don't know	8 >>177	
176.	Is the manual or guideline available in	Yes and seen	1	LABM1
	the lab room? If yes, may I please see	Yes but not seen	2	
	it?	No	3	
177.	Does this facility have all or some of	All are available	1	LABR
	the laboratory supplies that you	Some are available	2	
	usually stock for providing laboratory	None is available	3	
	services	Don't know	8	

Part 10: Staffing of the health facility

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the number of staff you have in this health facility

	How many staff belonging to the following categories do you have?		Codes
178.	Medical Doctors.	Total Num	STAFF1
179.	Paramedics (e.g. clinical officers).	Total Num	STAFF2
180.	Registered nurses (including comprehensive registered nurses)	Total Num	STAFF3
181.	Registered midwives	Total Num	STAFF4
182.	Enrolled nurses (including comprehensive enrolled nurses.	Total Num	STAFF5
183.	Enrolled midwives.	Total Num	STAFF6
184.	Degree nurse	Total Num	STAFF7
185.	Nurse assistant and Nurse aide.	Total Num	STAFF8
186.	Laboratory scientist, or technician or assistant.	Total Num	STAFF9
187.	HIV counselor.	Total Num	STAFF10
188.	Cleaners	Total Num	STAFF11
189.	Security guards	Total Num	STAFF12

190.	Other staff (List):		STAFF13
191.	Total number of staff	Total Num	Staff14

Part 11: Client comfort amenities

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the basic amenities in this health facility. By amenities, we mean things that make the patients feel comfortable while they are here at the clinic.

192.	Is there a waiting area for patients/clients that protects	Yes	1	AMN1
	them from the sun and rain? If yes, may please see it?	No	2	
	(NB: this must be in the main patient waiting area).			
193.	Does this facility have a functional toilet? If yes, may I	Yes	1	AMN2
	please see it?	No	2	
194.	Does the facility have a source of drinking water for	Yes	1	AMN3
	patients? If yes, may I please see it	No	2	
195.	Does the facility have enough seats in the patients waiting	Yes	1	AMN4
	area? If yes, may I please see it?	No	2	
196.	Does the facility have a ramp (eg. for a wheelchair)? If yes,	Yes	1	RAMP
	may I please see it?	No	2	

Part 12: Privacy and Confidentiality.

	Ask to be shown the place where patients are seen and exe workers and make the following observations	amined by the he	alth	
197.	Auditory privacy	Yes	1	PRV1
		No	2	
198.	Visual privacy	Yes	1	PRV2
		No	2	
199.	Is a patient examination couch available?	Seen	1	COUCH
		Not seen	2	

200	Interview end time (write time in 12-hour	Hour		ENDHR
	format)	Minute		ENDMI

Thank you for your participation in this study

9.4.2. Form 2: Caseload assessment form

(Fill this form for the past three months i.e. for each month, fill one form. The form should also be filled separately for patients attending specific clinics within the health facility such as

*general outpatients, ART clinic, VCT, antenatal etc)*Health Unit_____

Month _____

Clinic______(e.g. ART clinic,

general outpatient)

Number of Patients seen in the	Males	Females	Total	
month				
0-4 years				Age1
5 – 14 years				Age2
15 – 34 years				Age3
35 -49 years				Age4
50 – 59 years				Age5
60 – 79 years				Age6
80+ years				Age7
Total				

Part 1: Fill this section for all patients seen by the health facility in the month

Part 2: Fill this section only for patients aged ≥50 years seen in the health facility in the month

9.4.3. Form 3: Health Workers' knowledge, attitudes and practices

Part 1: General Information

Qno	Questions and Filters	Ca	oding categories			Codes
1.	Interviewer Initials	Write vo	our initials			INTNAME
		write ye				
2.	Interviewer signature					
3.	Date					INTDATE
			DDMM	1 Y Y	ΥΥ	
4.	Do I have your agreement	to begin the		′es 1		AGREE
	interview?			No 2 >>>	stop	
5.	Interview Start time (use 1	2-hour format)	Но	ır		STATHR
			Minute	25		STATMI

Part 2: Facility Identification

Qno	Questions and Filters	Coding categories		Codes
6.	District code :	Distric	ct code	DCODE
	Codes: 1 = Agago; 2 = Arua; 3 = Hoima; 4 = Nakasongola	Kabale; 5 = Kumi; 6 = Tororo; 7 = Mpigi;	8 =	
7.	Name of facility			FNAM
8.	Facility code (Refer to the attached facility list for the facility code)	Write facilit	y Code	FCODE
9.	Level of facility	Level IV Level III Level II	1 2 3	FLEV
10.	Location of facility	Urban Rural	1 2	FLOC
11.	How would you categorise the type of service provided at this health facility?	Outpatient only Both in-and out-patient	1 2	FTYP

Part 3: Socio-demographic Information

Qno	Questions and filters	Coding ca	tegori	es							Codes
12.	Participant identification										IDNO
	number										
						V	Vrite p	particip	ant n	umber	
13.	Sex							Male	1		SEX
							Fe	emale	2		
14.	What is your date of Birth?										DOB
			d	d	m	m	У	У	У	у	
		Write 99	for day	, 999 j	for me	onth a	nd 99	999 for	year	if date	
		of birth is	unkno	wn							
15.	How old are you?										AGE
								Yea	ſS		
16.	What is your main technical							Do	ctor	1	QUAL
	qualification:						Clini	ical Off	icer	2	
		Registe	ered Nu	urse or	Regis	stered	comp	orehen	sive	3	
								nı	urse		
						Reg	gistere	ed midv	wife	4	
		Enrolled	l nurse	or en	olled	comp	reher	isive ni	urse	5	
						E	inrolle	ed midv	wife	6	
				N	urse a	aide o	r nurs	e assis	tant	7	
						Oth	er sta	ff (spe	cify)	8	
	Specify other staff here:										SQUAL

Part 4: Attitudes of Health Workers towards Older Persons

In the next series of questions, I would like to find out what you think of an Older Person (i.e. a person you would refer to as an old person). I will read some questions to you and I would like you to tell me whether you strongly disagree, disagree, are neutral (i.e. neither agree nor disagree), agree or strongly agree with the question.

	Strongly disagree = 1							
	Disagree = 2			2			gree	
	Neutral (neither disagree nor agree) = 3	~	e B	н С	<u> </u>	4	y ag	
	Agree = 4	lgu	gre	agre	ıtra	ee -	lgu	
	Strongly agree = 5	Stro	disa	Disa	Ner	Agr	Strc = 5	
1.	It would probably be better if most older persons lived							ATT1
	on their own, away from younger people							
2.	Most older persons are as easy to understand as							ATT2
	younger people.							
3.	While memory loss is common among older persons,							ATT3
	most older persons can remember things perfectly well							
4.	Most older persons speak with unclear words and are							ATT4
	difficult to understand							

5.	While sexual problems are common among older	ATT5
	persons, many older persons are sexually active.	
6.	Most older persons can't look after themselves	ATT6
7.	While some older persons need the help and support of	ATT7
	others, many can take care of themselves and of other	
	people as well.	
8.	Most older persons are capable of new adjustments	ATT8
	when the situation demands it.	
9.	Most older persons tend to leave their homes dirty and	ATT9
	unattractive.	
10.	Most older persons are clean and neat in appearance.	ATT10
11.	People grow wiser with the coming of old age.	ATT11
12.	Being with an older person makes me feel uneasy.	ATT12
13.	Most older persons are relaxing to be with.	ATT13
14.	Most older persons bore me by their insistence on	ATT14
	talking about the "good old days."	
15.	As people get old, most become selfish or self-centered	ATT15
16.	In order to maintain a nice residential neighborhood, it	ATT16
	would be best if many older persons did not live in it.	
17.	There are a few exceptions, but in general most older	ATT17
	persons are pretty much alike and behave the same.	
18.	Most older persons are irritable, bad tempered, always	ATT18
	complaining, and unpleasant.	
19.	As people become old, most behave like children.	ATT19
20.	Older persons conduct themselves maturely.	ATT20
21	When older persons come to the clinic, they are usually	ΔΤΤ21
21.	as natient as anyone else	
22	Most older persons are lazy about doing any work and	ΔΤΤ22
~~.	like depending on other people	
23	Providing health care to older persons is obviously a	ΔΤΤ23
25.	waste of our scarce health resources	

Part 5: Practice of Health workers with regard to provision of Healthcare to Older Persons

In the next series of questions, I would like to know what you often did in the past 12 months (including today) when adults aged 35 - 49 years, between 50 and 59 years, and aged 60 years or more came to this health facility. The potential responses are "Never"; "Sometimes"; "Usually"; or Always. I will also ask you to explain some of the answers that you give.

Use Codes	: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tim	nes (usually); 4	1 = alway	s.			
During the	e past 12 months (including today) how often did	l you:					
	DIGNITY						
24.	Welcome patients of the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	WLC1

	when they arrived at the facility?	50-59	1	2	3	4	WLC2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	WLC3
25.	Offer seats to the following age groups of	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	SIT1
	patients when they arrived at the health	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	SIT2
	facility?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	SIT3
26.	Examine the following age groups of patients	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	XP1
	in a respectful way?	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	XP2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	XP3
27.	Ask for permission from the following age	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	PMS1
	groups of patients before carrying out a	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	PMS2
	physical examination?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	PMS3
	35 – 49 years						EX271
	 						EX272
Use Code During th	s: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most time e past 12 months (including today) how often did	nes; 4 = always	5.				EX273
2 di nig ti	PROMPT ATTENTION						

	Attend to patients in the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	PAT1
	as soon as they arrived?	50-59vrs	1	2	3	4	PAT2
	,	60+vrs	1	2	3	4	РАТЗ
	Invite patients in the following age groups to	35-49vrs	1	2	3	4	
	he seen ahead of other natients even when	50-59vrs	1	2	3	Д	INV1
	they arrived after other patients?	60+vrs	1	2	3	-т Л	
		001 913	1	2	5	+	11472
	Eveloin their illness to nation to in the	25 40,000	1	2	2	1	VEC1
•	following ago groups?	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	XECI
	Tonowing age groups:	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	XEC2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	XEC3
	why you rarely or why you usually or why you all 35 – 49 years	<u>ways</u> explain t	o patient	ts aged	their illi	ness?)	EX301
	50 – 59 years						EX302
	60+ years						EX303

lse Code	s <mark>: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tim</mark>	nes; 4 = always					
uring th	e past 12 months (including today) how often die	d you:					
31.	Allow or encourage patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	AQN1
	age groups to ask questions about their	50-59	1	2	3	4	AQN2
	illness?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	AQN3
	Can you please explain your answer to Qn 31 (<u>why you rarely</u> or <u>why you usually</u> or <u>why you a</u> <i>question about their illness?</i>) 35 – 49 years	i.e. Are there p <u>lways</u> allow or	articular encoura <u>(</u>	reasons <u>v</u> ge patient	<u>vhy you ne</u> s aged	<u>ever</u> or To ask	
							EX311
	 50 – 59 years						
							EX312
	60+ years						
							EX313

	much time to explain their illness as they	50-59	1	2	3	4	TES2		
	wanted?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	TES3		
33.	Take as much time as was necessary to	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TTM1		
	explain things to patients in the following age	50-59	1	2	3	4	TTM2		
	groups so that they could understand?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	ттмз		
	AUTONOMY								
34.	Explain to patients in the following age	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	OPT1		
	groups the various treatment options for	50-59	1	2	3	4	OPT2		
	their illness?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	ОРТЗ		
Use Codes	: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tim	es; 4 = always	s.						
During the past 12 months (including today) how often did you:									
35.	Involve patients in the following age groups in	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	DIS1		
	discussions to decide their treatment or	50-59	1	2	3	4	DIS2		
	overall management?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	DIS3		
	about their treatment? 35 – 49 years 						EX351 EX352		
36.	Allow or encourage patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	ALL1		

	age groups to choose their treatment or	50-59	1	2	3	4	ALL2
	management option/plan?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	ALL3
	PRIVACY AND CONFIDENTIALITY						
37.	Ensure that the patients in the following age	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	PVY1
	groups were attended to in a room where	50-59	1	2	3	4	PVY2
	people who are not involved in their care	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	ΡVY3
	could not see you or them?						
38.	Ensure that you attended to patients in the	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	PVY4
	following age groups in a room where people	50-59	1	2	3	4	PVY5
	who are not involved in their care could not	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	ΡVY6
	hear your conversation with them?						
39.	Ensure that the personal medical files (or	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	FIL1
	medical records) of patients in the following	50-59	1	2	3	4	FIL2
	age groups were stored in a place where	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	FIL3
	people who are not involved in their care						
	could not see or access them?						
Use Code	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tin	nes; 4 = always	5.				
During th	e past 12 months (including today) how often di	d you:					
	Health education and promotion						
40.	Specifically target patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	HIL1
	age groups for health education about any	50-59	1	2	3	4	HIL2
	disease?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	HIL3
41.	Specifically target patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	THI1
	age groups for health education about HIV?	50-59	1	2	3	4	THI2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	тніз
	can you prease explain you answer to Qi 41 (why you rarely or why you usually or why you a 35 – 49 years	<u>llways</u> target p		ged for	HIV educa		EX411
							EX412

	60+ years						EX413
42.	Specifically target patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TST1
	age groups for health education about other	50-59	1	2	3	4	TST2
	STIS (i.e. other than HIV)?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	TST3
43.	Specifically target patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TCD1
	age groups for health education on condom	50-59	1	2	3	4	TCD2
	use for prevention of HIV and STIS?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	TCD3
During the	s: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tim e nast 12 months (including today) how often dia	ies; 4 = aiways I vou:	•				
44.	Encourage patients in the following age-group	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TCD4
	to go home with condoms	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	
	Can you please explain your answer to Qn 44 (<i>why you rarely or why you usually or why you al with condoms?</i>) 35 – 49 years	i.e. Are there p ways encoura	articular ge patien	reasons <u>w</u> its aged	<u>hy you ne</u> To go h	<u>ver</u> or ome	EX441
	50 – 59 years						

							EX442
45	Specifically target patients in the following	25-10vrs	1	2	2	Λ	NC1
43.	age groups for health education about non-	50-59	1	2	3	4	NC2
	communicable diseases such as hypertension	60+vrs	1 1	2	י ג	ч Д	NC3
	diabetes, chronic obstructive airways disease, and cancer?	001 913	Ŧ	£	5	т	
46.	Provide health education about abuse of	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	EAE1
	older persons to patients in the following age-	50-59	1	2	3	4	EAE2
	groups?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	EAE3
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most tim	nes; 4 = always	s.				
During t	SCREENING OF OLDER PERSONS FOR DISEASE	AND RISK FAC	TORS				
47.	Examine patients in the following age groups?	35-49vrs	1	2	3	4	PE1
		50-59	1	2	3	4	PE2
		60+vrs	1	2	3	4	PE3
48.	Ask or encourage patients in the following	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	VCT1
	age groups to go for HIV counselling and	50-59	1	2	3	4	VCT2
	testing?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	VCT3
49.	Screen patients in the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	SCR1
	for non-communicable diseases such as	50-59	1	2	3	4	SCR2
	diabetes and hypertension even when they presented with a different complaint?	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	SCR3
	Can you please explain your answer to Qn 49 (i.e. Are there	particula	r reasons <u>i</u>	why you r	n <u>ever</u> or	

	why you rarely or why you usually or why you all communicable diseases)	<u>lways</u> screen p	atients a	ged fo	or non-		
	35 – 49 years						
							EX491
						<u> </u>	
	50 – 59 years						
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
							EX492
	60+ years						
							EX493
lse Code	es: 1 = Never: 2 = sometimes (rarely): 3 = most times	nes: 4 = always					
During th	ne past 12 months (including today) how often die	lyou:					
50.	Measure the blood pressure of patients in the	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TBP1
	following age groups?	50-59	1 1	2 2	3 2	4 1	TBP2
51.	Measure the height of natients in the	35-49vrs	1	2	3	4	THT1
	following age groups?	50-59	- 1	- 2	3	4	THT2
		60+vrs	1	2	З	1	тнтз

52.	Measure the weight of patients in the	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	TWT1
	following age groups?	50-59	1	2	3	4	TWT2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	TWT3
53.	Calculate the body mass index of patients in	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	BM1
	the following age groups?	50-59	1	2	3	4	BM2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	BM3
54.	Measure the mid-upper arm circumference of	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	MUA1
	patients in the following age groups?	50-59	1	2	3	4	MUA2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	MUA3
55.	Ask patients in the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	CGR1
	about whether they smoke cigarettes?	50-59	1	2	3	4	CGR2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	CGR3
56.	Ask patients in the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	EWA1
	whether they drink alcohol?	50-59	1	2	3	4	EWA2
		60+yrs	1	2	3	4	EWA3
57.	Assess patients in the following age groups	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB1
	for abuse whenever you suspect they had	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB2
	been abused	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB3
58.	Taken action, including referral to appropriate	35-49yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB4
	institutions such as the police whenever you	50-59yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB5
	detected a patient was suffering abuse	60+yrs	1	2	3	4	EAB6

PART 6: BASIC KNOWLEDGE OF HEALTH WORKERS ON DISEASE CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH OLD AGE

I would like to ask you about diseases in older persons:

59.	Have you received any training on diseases related to	old-	Yes	1	TRAINO				
	age?		No	2>>59					
60.	How many years ago did you complete this training?		Years ago		YRCOMP				
			Months ago		MOAGO				
61.	If an older person comes to the clinic, do you feel that	t you	Yes	1	KNOWLG				
	have the knowledge to provide adequate care to	No 2	2						
	him/her?								
	In the next series of questions, I am going to read to you a statement about a disease or con								
	older people. Please tell me whether the statement is	true o	r false						
		True	False	Don't					
				Know					
62.	Ageing can increase the susceptibility of older	<mark>1</mark>	2	8	QN01				
	persons to non-communicable diseases (NCDs).								
63.	Older persons are not at risk of acquiring sexually	1	<mark>2</mark>	8	QN02				
	transmitted HIV.								
64.	Due to the high degree of respect accorded to	1	<mark>2</mark>	8	QN03				

	older people in Ugandan societies, abuse of older]				
	people is not common.								
65.	In order to keep their bones strong, older people	should be ad	vised to eat	foods rich	QN04				
	in:								
а	Carbohydrates.	1	2	8	QN04a				
b	Potassium.	1	2	8	QN04b				
С	Magnesium.	1	2	8	QN04c				
d	Vitamin D.	1	2	8	QN04d				
е	Calcium.	1	2	8	QN04e				
f	Essential fats.	1	2	8	QN04f				
g	Water.	1	2	8	QN04g				
66.	The following physical examination of older people	le should be	done routine	ely at every	QN05				
	outpatient visit whether they have a related comp	plaint or not	•						
а	Blood pressure measurement.	1	2	8	QN05a				
b	Rectal examination.	1	2	8	QN05b				
С	Weight measurement.	1	2	8	QN05c				
d	Height measurement.	1	2	8	QN05d				
e	Genital examination.128								
67.	The following statement is true about the skin of older people.								
а	Their skin has a very good blood supply.	1	2	8	QN06a				
b	The skin is often dry and flaky.	1	2	8	QN06b				
С	It is more common to find chronic wound	1	2	8	QN06c				
	infections in the skin of older people than in the								
	skin of younger people.								
68.	Which of the following statements are accurate re	egarding falls	s in older peo	ople?	QN07				
а	Poor hearing can cause falls.	1	2	8	QN07a				
b	Poor sight is associated with falls.	1	2	8	QN07b				
C	Muscle weakness can cause falls.	1	2	8	QN07c				
d	Because older people walk slowly they are less	1	2	8	QN07d				
	prone to falls than younger people.								
		True	False	Don't					
				know					
69.	Which of the following is a risk factor for cardio	vascular dise	ease in older	persons?	QN08				
2	Alcohol consumption	1	2	8	ON08a				
a h	Cigarette smoking	1	2	8	ON08b				
6	Physical exercise	1	2	Q					
d	Reduced consumption of high calorie foods	1	2	8	QN08d				
70	Which of the following statements is true about	1	2	8					
/0.	old people in Uganda?	-	£	U	4.105				
2	Because old people are weak they are not	1	2	8	ON092				
a	productive in Ugandan societies	Ŧ	2	0	QITUJA				
h	It is often difficult to deal with older people	1	2	8	ON09b				
N N	it is sitten announ to acai with older people	-	-	0					

	because their understanding of issues is very poor.				7
С	Many diseases afflicting older people are chronic	1	2	8	QN09c
	and cannot be treated in primary care facilities.				
71.	Which of the following conditions increase the				QN010
	risk of heart disease in older people?				
а	Cigarette smoking.	1	2	8	QN010a
b	Obesity.	1	2	8	QN010b
С	Diabetes.	1	2	8	QN010c
d	High cholesterol levels.	1	2	8	QN010d
e	High blood pressure.	1	2	8	QN010e

72.	Interview end time (use 12-hour format		ENDHR
		Hour	
		Minute	ENDMI

Thank you for your participation

CHECK THAT ALL QUESTIONS ARE ANSWERED AS REQUIRED

9.4.4. Form 4: Older persons and younger adults

Qno	Questions and Filters			Cod	ling ca	tegori	ies				Codes
17.	Interviewer Initials										INTNAME
			Wri	te you	r initia	ls					
18.	Interviewer signature										
19.	Date of interview										
			d	d	m	m	v	v	v	v	
							,	,	,	,	
20.	Do I have your agreement	to begin the	2				١	/es	1		AGREE
	interview?							No 2	2 >>>	stop	
21.	Interview Start time (use 1	12-hour format)					Hour				STATHR
						Mir	nutes				S TATMI

Part 1: General Information

Par 2: Facility identification (fill this section without asking the study participants)

Qno	Questions and Filters	Coding categories		Codes
22.	District code	Distri	ct code	DCODE
23.	Name of facility			FNAM
24.	Facility code	Write facili	ty Code	FCODE
25.	Level of facility	Level IV Level III Level II	1 2 3	FLEV
26.	Location of facility	Urban Semi-urban Rural	1 2 3	FLOC
27.	How would you categorise the type of service provided at this health facility?	Outpatient only	1	FTYP
		Both in-and out-patient	2	

Part 3: Socio-demographic characteristics

Qno	Questions and filters	Coding categories		Codes
	Category	Older person	1	CATE
		Younger adult	2	
28.	Participant identification number	Write ID number		IDNO

29.	Sex	Male 1	SEX
		Female 2	
30.	What is your date of Birth?		DOB
		d d m m y y y y	
		Write 99 for day, 999 for month and 9999 for year if	
		date of birth is unknown	
31	How old are you?	Vears	AGE
51.			AGE
32.	What is your marital status?	Married 1	MSTA
		Cohabiting/living with someone 2	
		Widowed 3	
		Separated/divorced 4	
		Single 5	
33.	Which of the following would	Farmer 1	OCUP
	you say is your main	Businessman/woman 2	
	occupation	Government employee 3	
		Non-government employee 4	
		Self employed 5	
		Retired 6	
		Part-time employment 7	
		Unemployed (able to work) 8	
		Other work (specify) 9	
		Specify here:	
34	Which of the following would	Earming 1	
54.	you say is your main source of	Business 2	
	cash income currently	Government employment 3	
		Non-Government employment 4	
		Part-time employment 5	
		Retirement benefits 6	
		Donations 7	
		None 8>>	
		Other (specify) 9	
		Specify here:	
35.	Which of the following would	Very wealthy 1	MATSIT
	you say best describes your	Wealthy 2	
	current material situation or	Comfortable 3	
	level of wealth/poverty?	Poor 4	
		Very poor 5	
- 26		Destitute 6	5014
36.	Have you ever attended	Yes 1	EDU1

	formal education?	No	2 >> 621	
37.	What is the highest level of	Primary	1	EDU2
	formal education that you	O-Level	2	
	attended?	A-Level	3	
		Tertiary	4	
		University	5	
38.	What is your religion?	Protestant	1	DINI
		Catholic	2	
		Muslim	3	
		Pentecostal	4	
		Seventh Day Adventist	5	
		Other (specify)	6	SDINI

Part4: Healthcare access and utilization

	I now would like to ask you abou	t your use of	this health facility	1		
39.	How far away do you live from th	is health	Less th	an 3km away	1	DIST
	facility?			3-5Km away	2	
			More th	an 5km away	3	
40.	Is this the health facility you usua	lly (most time	es) come to whene	ever Yes	1	MAINC
	you need healthcare			No	2	
41.	For how long have you used this					FUSE
	health facility as a source of your					
	healthcare?					
		Write in I	months – enter 000	000 if <1 mont	th	
42.	In the past 12 months (including t	:oday),	Number of			VISNO1
	how many times have you come t	to this	times			
	health facility for healthcare?					
43.	Which of the following would	Bec	ause it is near or ea	asily accessible	e 1	ACC
	you say describes the main	Becau	se I receive good c	are whenever	12	GCAR
	reason or reasons why you			come her	e	
	other health facilities <i>(Circle all</i>		Because serv	vice is cost free	e 3	FREE
	those that apply)	Beca	ause I get drugs wh	nenever I com	e 4	DRUG
		Beca	use I have a relative	e working her	e 5	RELA
		Because	the health workers	here are goo	d 6	HWGD
			Other reasons (p	please specify)	: 7	онси
		Specify oth	er reason(s) here:			ROHCU
44.	In the past 12 months, have you g	gone to anoth	her health facility	Yes	1	VISNO2
	instead of this facility for healthca	are services?		No	2>>629	
45.	Which of the following reasons	I was harsh	ly treated (e.g. abu	ised, and	1	VISA1
	would you say best describes	shouted at)	by the health wor	kers		

	why you went to another health	There wa	s no health worker on duty	2	VISA2
	facility instead of coming to this	Health wo	orkers at this facility kept me	3	VISA3
	health facility when you needed	waiting to	oo long		
	healthcare? (circle all those that	The queu	es at this facility were very lo	ng 4	VISA4
	apply)	I was not	allowed to explain my illness	5	VISA5
		I was not	allowed to ask questions abo	ut 6	VISA6
	For responses 1 – 13, begin	my illness	i		
	with "because during my	I was not	examined	7	VISA7
	previous visits":	I was not	thoroughly examined	8	VISA8
		My illness	s was not investigated in the l	ab 9	VISA9
		I did not r	eceive treatment or drugs	10	VISA10
		I was not	in this area when I fell sick	11	VISA11
		I was aske	ed to pay money	12	VISA12
		Because I	was told drugs were not	13	VISA13
		available	health facility		
		Other rea	sons	14	VISA14
		Specify ot	her reasons here	ł	VISA15
46.	Have there been any times within	the past 1	2 Yes	1	NOV
	months when you felt you needed	d healthcar	e No	2>>631	
47	but you did not go to a health fac	ility?			
47.	which of the following would	Because	lacked transport (or lacked r	noney 1	NOV1
	did not access healthcare from				NOV2
	a health facility? (circle all those		Because I was too sick to	J Walk Z	NOV2
	that apply)	Beca	ause I was told there were no	drugs 3	NOV3
		Becaus	se I was treated badly by the	nealth 4	NOV4
	For responses 1 – 6. begin with		workers when I last	/isited	
	"because during my previous	The co	ondition I had is better treate	dbya 4	NOV5
	visits":		traditional	healer	
		The	condition I had is better trea	ted by 5	NOV6
			taking traditional	herbs	
		The	condition I had is better trea	ted by 6	NOV7
			buying drugs from a pha	rmacy	
			Other reasons (sp	Decity) /	NOV8
		Specify ot	her reasons here:		S NOV8
40	W/bat time did you are at the - h	oolth	Estimata Usur		
48.	facility2	nealth Estimate Hour			
		Estimate minutes			ARMIN
49.	What is your reason of coming to	the		PC1	
-	facility today?				
50.	Ask to look at the participant's ca	se			
	book/note Write the reason of				
	attendance that appears in the bo	ook			

	complaint or the of their illness)				
51.	Can you please tell me whether you received	d the treatment	Yes	1	TREAT
	you came for today at this health facility?		No	2	

Part: 5

In the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about the services you received from this health facility and how the health workers of this facility have treated you during the past 12 months (including today). Explain to the participant that by a health worker, we mean <u>all staff</u> who work at the health facility including the cleaners, askaris (security guards), and receptionists (or those who register patients)

Dignity: Now, I would like to ask you about whether or not health workers in this facility have treated you with respect during the past 12 months including today.

Use Cod	Use Codes: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most times (usually); 4 = always.							
In your v	visit(s) to this facility during the past 12 months (including	g today)	How ofte	en have th	ne health	workers:		
52.	Welcomed you?	1	2	3	4	RES1		
53.	Offered you a seat while you waited to be seen?	1	2	3	4	RES2		
54.	Shouted at or abused you?	1	2	3	4	RES3		
55.	Treated you in a way that made you believe you were	1	2	3	4	RES4		
	discriminated against because of your age?							
56.	Made mean comments about you because of your	1	2	3	4	RES5		
	age?							
57.	Made you feel that you have been addressed or	1	2	3	4	RES6		
	treated with respect?							
58.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for the		١	/ery poor	1	REX		
	respect or dignity with which you have been treated			Poor	2			
	during the past 12 months (including today)?	Neit	her poor	nor good	3			
				Good	4			
			١	/ery good	5			
	Important physical exams: Now, in the next series of questions, I would like to ask you about whether							
	or not health workers in this health facility have exami	ned you	during th	e past 12	? months	(including		
	today)							
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most times (usu	ually); 4 =	always.					
59	How often have the health workers examined you	g toaay):	2	3	4	DE1		
55.	during your visits to this health facility?	651	2	5	4			
60	During each of those times when you have been	1	2	3	1	DF7		
00.	examined how often have the health worker(s) asked	-	2	5	4	1 22		
	for your permission before they examined you?							
61.	How often have you felt the health worker(s) have	1	2	3	4	PE3		
•	treated you in a respectful way during the			_	-			
	examination e.g. ensuring that other people have not							
	seen you being examined by the health worker?							
62.	How often have you felt the health worker(s) have	1	2	3	4	PE4		
	examined you thoroughly?							
63.	How often have the health workers measured in your	1	2	3	4	PE5		
	blood pressure?							
64.	How often have the health workers measured your	1	2	3	4	PE6		
	weight?							

65.	Has a health worker ever measured your height and			Yes	1		PE7
	recorded it in your medical book or medical form?			No	2		
66	How often have the health workers measured the	1	2	2	2	1	DEQ
00.	thickness of your arm (your mid-upper arm	1	2	5		4	125
	circumference)?						
67.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for how		l,	Verv poo	or 1		RPE9
	thorough the health workers have examined you			Poc	or 2		
	during your visits to this facility?	Neit	her poor	nor goo	d 3		
				Goo	d 4		
			``	/erv goo	d 5		
	Prompt Attention: In the next series of questions, I wou	uld like to	o ask you	about v	vheth	her or	not the
	health workers in this health facility have attended to	you quick	ly when	ever you	і сот	e to th	his facility.
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most times (use	ually); 4 =	always			_	
In your v	visit(s) during the past 12 months (including today); how	often ha	ve the he	ealth wo	rkers	:	
68.	Attended to you as quickly as you would have liked?	1	2	3		4	QA1
69.	Invited you to be seen ahead of other patients	1	2	3		4	QA2
	because of your age even when you arrived after						
	other patients?						
70.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for how			Very poo	or 1		RQA
	quickly they have attended to you during your visits			Рос	or 2		
	over the past 12 months (including today)?	Neit	her poor	nor goo	d 3		
				Goo	d 4		
			١	/ery goo	d 5		
	COMMUNICATION: In the next series of questions, I wo	ould like t	o ask yo	u about	whet	ther or	r not the
	health workers in this health facility have communicate	e <mark>d</mark> with y	ou a wa	y that er	nable	s you t	to
	understand your illness and its treatment.						I
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most times (Us	ually); 4	= always	•			
In your v	visit(s) during the past 12 months (including today):	T	[<u> </u>	- 1		
71.	How often have the health workers allowed you to	1>>Q65	57 2		3	4	CO1
	explain your illness?						
72.	During each of those times you have been allowed to	1	2		3	4	CO2
	explain your illness, how often have the health						
	workers given you as much time to explain your illness						
70	as you would have liked to?				_		
/3.	During each of those times you have been allowed to	1	2		3	4	03
	explain your liness, now often have the health						
	worker(s) listened attentively while you explained						
74	your lilless?	1>>06			,	1	<u> </u>
74.	what they thought you were suffering from?	1>>Q0:	59 2		5	4	C04
75	During each of those times the health workers have	1			,	1	CO5
75.	ovalained to you what they thought you were		2			4	05
	suffering from how often have the health worker's						
	evaluation(c) enabled you to understand important						
	issues regarding your illness (such as the cause						
	treatment prevention and likely complications of						
	a cautient, prevention, and likely complications of	1					

	your illness)?						
76.	How often have you wanted to ask health workers	1>>Q66	1 2		3	4	CO6
	questions about your illness during the past 12						
	months?						
77.	During each of those times you have wanted to ask	1	2		3	4	CO7
	health workers questions, how often have the health						
	workers allowed or encouraged you to ask questions?						
78.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for how clear			Very	poor	1	RCO
	the health workers' communication(s) with you have				Poor	2	
	been during the past 12 months (including today)? By	Nei	ther poo	or nor	good	3	
	"clear" we mean, the health workers' communications				Good	4	
	enabled you to understand more about your illness.			Very	good	5	
	AUTONOMY. In the next series of questions, I would lik	e to ask y	ou abou	ıt whe	ther o	or not th	he health
	workers in this health facility have involved you in key	decisions	about y	our he	alth.		
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never: 2 = sometimes (rarely): 3 = most times (us	uallv): 4 =	alwavs		_		
In vour	visit(s) during the past 12 months (including today):						
79.	How often have you been given or prescribed	1>>066	5 2		3	4	ATN1
	treatment, such as drugs, dressings, surgery?				-		
80.	During each of those times you have been prescribed	1	2		3	4	ATN2
	or given treatment, how often have the health	_			5		
	worker(s) discussed with you or explained to you the						
	different treatment options for your illness?						
81.	During each of those times you have been prescribed	1	2		3	4	ATN3
01	or given treatment, how often have the health	_					
	workers involved you in making the decision on what						
	treatment you should receive?						
82.	How often have the health workers taken samples	1>>066	7 2		3	4	ATN4
	such as blood, stool, urine, sputum etc for laboratory				-		
	tests?						
83.	During each of those times health workers have taken	1	2		3	4	ATN5
	samples from you, how often have the health workers				-	-	
	discussed with you whether or not the samples should						
	be taken for laboratory investigations, as opposed to						
	iust telling vou?						
84.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for the way			/erv p	oor	1	RATN
	the health workers have involved you in making key			P	oor	2	
	decisions about your health during the past 12 months	Neith	ner poor	nor go	bod	3	
	(including today).			G	bod	4	
			、	/erv gr	bod	5	
	PRIVACY and CONFIDENTIALITY: In the next series of a	restions	would	like to	ask v		it whether
	or not the health workers in this health facility have en	sured that	t vou ar	e atte	nded	to in an	
	environment where people who have nothing to do with	th vour ill	ness do	not se	e or h	ear wh	at ages on
	between you and the health worker						it goes on
Use Cod	es: $1 = Never: 2 = sometimes (rarely): 3 = most times (us$	ually)· 4 =	always				
In your	visit(s) during the past 12 months (including today): how	often hav	e the he	alth y	vorke	rs:	
85	Attended to you in a room where you believe no one	1	2 110 110	2		4	PRC1
	except those directly involved in your care, could see		-	5		•	
I		1 1					1

	you with the health worker(s)?						
86.	Attended to you in a room where you believe	no one,	1	2	3	4	PRC2
	except those directly involved in your care, co	uld hear					
	your conversation with the health worker(s)?						
87.	Exposed your health information to other peo	ple who	1	2	3	4	PRC2
	are not concerned with your treatment (eithe	r by					
	talking to other people about your illness with	out your					
	permission or by storing your medical files in a	a way					
	that other people who are not concerned with	n your					
	treatment could look at them)?	,					
88.	Overall, how would you rate this facility for pr	ivacv		```	Very pool	r 1	RPRC
	and confidentiality they have accorded to you	during			Pool	r 2	_
	the past 12 months (including today)?	0	Neit	her noor	nor good	-	
			Nert		Good	х 5 Ч Л	
				、		, 4 , 5	
	HEALTH EDUCATION: In the part caries of an	actions lu	audd like	to ack	very good	•	
	whather or not the health workers in this hea	uth facility			hoalth ad	lucation	
	in your visits to this facility during the past 1	nin jucinity 2 months (including	today)	ileuitii eu	acation	
la contra	in your visits to this judnity during the past 12			have	Vee	NO	
In your V	nsit(s) to this facility during the past 12 months	s (incluaing	g toaay)	nave	res	NO	
you ever		<u>,</u>					
89.	Received health education about any disease	,			1	2	HED1
90.	Received health education about HIV/AIDS?				1	2	HED2
91.	Received health education about other sexual	ly transmit	tted infec	tions	1	2	HED3
	such as gonorrhea and syphilis?						
92.	Been encouraged to have a test for HIV?				1	2	HED4
93.	Received health education about high blood p	ressure, di	iabetes, o	or	1	2	HED5
-	cancer						
94.	Received health education about condom use	?			1	2	HED6
95.	Been asked by a health worker whether you w	ould like t	o have		1	2	HED7
	condoms						
96.	Received health education about violence aga	inst older	persons?		1	2	HED8
97.	Been asked whether you smoke cigarettes?				1	2	RISK1
98.	Been asked whether you drink alcohol?				1	2	RISK2
	COST OF TREATMENT: In the next series of qu	estions, I	would lik	e to ask	you abou	ut	
	whether or not you have incurred costs while	seeking h	ealth car	e from t	his healtl	h facility	
Use Cod	es: 1 = Never; 2 = sometimes (rarely); 3 = most	times (usu	ually); 4 =	always			
In your v	visit(s) during the past 12 months (including too	day); how	often ha	ve:			
99.	The health workers asked you to pay money		1	2	3	4	PAY1
100.	You paid money		1	2	3	4	PAY2
101.	You paid money where you got a receipt?		1	2	3	4	PAY3
102.	You paid money where you got no receipt (in	other	1	2	3	4	PAY4
	words, an "under the table" payment)?						
103.	Overall, how would you rate this health				Very po	or 1	RATF
	facility for all the services you received				ро	or 2	
	during the past 12 months, including the		Ne	ither poo	or nor go	od 3	
	way you were treated by members of the				Go	od 4	
	staff of this facility?				Very go	od 5	

104.	Overall, which of the following answers	Ver	y upset	1	FEELIN
	would you say best describes how you feel		upset	2	
	about the way you have been treated by	Neither happy no	or upset	3	
	the staff of the health facility during your		happy	4	
	visit in the past 12 months (including	Ver	y happy	5	
	today)?				
105.	Overall, how satisfied are you with all the	Very diss	atisfied	1	SATI
	health services you received from this	Diss	atisfied	2	
	health facility in the past 12 months	Neither dissatisfied nor s	atisfied	3	
	including today?	S	atisfied	4	
		Very S	atisfied	5	
106.	Given your experiences of attending healthca	re at this facility, would you	Yes	1	UTL1
	be happy to continue to come to this health f	acility?	No	2	
107.	Given your experiences of attending healthca	re at this facility, would you	Yes	1	UTL2
	recommend this health facility to other older	persons?	No	2	

108.	Interview end time		ENDH
		Hou	
			ENDM
		Minutes	

Thank you for your participation

9.5. Availability of services by urban/rural location and geographical zone

9.5.1. Proportion of primary care facilities (PCFs) that reported offering services and had items for offering services for non-communicable diseases and sexually transmitted infections by rural/urban location and geographical zone

	Total	Total %	Urban	Rural	p-	Northern	Eastern	Central	Western	p-	DEEE
	IN	[95%CI]	(%)	(%)	value	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	value	DEFF
				40							
Total surveyed n (%)	18	100	6 (12)	4Z (88)		12 (25)	12 (25)	12 (25)	12 (25)		
	40	100	0(13)	(88)		12 (23)	12 (23)	12 (23)	12 (23)		
Special geriatric services	0		0	0		0	0	0	0		
		NON-COM	1MUNICA	BLE DISE	ASES						
Had service for one or more NCDs	40	83 [67, 92]	67	84	0.42	71	89	93	76	0.49	1.18
Cardiovascular diseases											
Reported offering service	33	68 [53 <i>,</i> 80]	65	68	0.89	58	55	81	76	0.43	1.0
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	29	88 [72, 96]	100	87	0.44	86	100	100	73	0.09	0.96
*The guidelines seen in consultation area	26	94 [83, 98]	100	94	0.54	62	100	100	100	0.001	0.53
Reported stocking drugs	23	65 [47, 80]	76	64	0.61	64	88	58	56	0.43	1.03
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	22	92 [74, 98]	100	91	0.55	100	74	100	100	0.08	0.71
Reported having trained staff to offer service	1	3 [0,16]	0	3	n.a	0	0	11	0	n.a	0.77
Reported having stethoscope	32	94 [71, 99]	100	94	0.68	100	100	100	84	0.21	1.6
*A stethoscope seen in consultation area	32	100	100	100	n.a	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having Sphygmomanometer	30	87 [68, 95]	100	85	0.4	100	100	91	68	0.07	1.2
*Sphygmomanometer seen in consultation area	29	97 [82, 99]	100	96	0.68	100	100	88	100	0.23	0.8
*Reported having a weight scale	27	79 [59, 91]	100	77	0.28	82	88	91	64	0.33	1.2
*A weight scale seen in consultation area	24	87 [71, 95]	100	86	0.39	100	74	88	92	0.45	0.8
*Reported having a height scale	4	7 [3, 16]	22	5	0.07	7	9	0	10	0.55	0.44
*Height scale seen in consultation area	3	75 [20, 97]	100	63	0.4	100	100	n.a.	52	0.44	0.5
Reported having tape measure	9	28 [18, 42]	31	28	0.86	0	67	42	5	< 0.001	0.6
*Tape measure seen in consultation area	5	50 [24, 76]	100	44	0.13	n.a	48	62	0	0.56	0.66

	Total	Total %	Urban	Rural	p- value	Northern	Eastern	Central	Western	p- value	DEEE
	IN	[95/60]	(70)	(70)	value	(/0)	(/0)	(/0)	(70)	value	DLFF
Diabetes											
Reported offering service	30	58 [42.71]	69	56	0.6	50	59	54	63	0.93	1.07
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	24	83 [65,93]	94	81	0.22	79	82	79	88	0.95	0.90
*The guidelines seen in consultation area	22	97 [88,99]	100	96	0.59	79	100	100	97	0.05	0.33
Reported stocking drugs	10	19 [9,34]	35	17	0.24	38	26	8	10	0.29	0.66
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	7	72 [36,92]	83	69	0.54	23	100	59	100	0.04	0.58
Reported having trained staff to offer service	1	1 [0,9]	0	2	0.72	0	0	0	4	0.66	0.34
Reporting doing blood sugar	15	39 [23,57]	78	33	0.06	53	47	79	10	0.04	0.81
Reported doing urine sugar	20	64 [43,80]	78	62	0.5	75	47	79	67	0.61	1.0
Reported having stethoscope	29	93 [67,99]	100	93	0.64	100	100	100	81	0.21	1.6
Stethoscope seen in consultation area	29	100	100	100	n.a	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having Sphygmomanometer	28	87 [65,96]	100	85	0.42	100	100	100	61	0.02	1.3
*sphygmomanometer seen in consultation area	28	100	100	100	n.a	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
Reported having a weight scale	26	85 [66 <i>,</i> 95]	100	83	0.36	79	86	100	77	0.53	1.0
*A weight scale seen in consultation area	24	90 [74 <i>,</i> 97]	100	89	0.41	100	76	100	92	0.21	0.69
*Reported having a height scale	5	11 [5,22]	21	10	0.33	8	20	0	12	0.39	0.42
*Height scale seen in consultation area	4	82[32,98]	100	77	0.52	100	100	n.a.	52	0.28	0.49
Reported having tape measure	7	22[13,34]	30	21	0.61	0	52	22	6	0.01	0.45
*Tape measure seen in consultation area	4	47 [20, 76]	100	37	0.1	n.a	38	100	0	0.11	0.54
Cancer											
Reported offering service	13	25 [16,37]	19	26	0.6	31	45	2	19	0.04	0.72
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	9	73 [49,88]	100	71	0.35	41	83	100	79	0.32	0.60
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	8	87 [46,98]	100	85	0.63	100	100	100	50	0.17	0.93
Reported having trained staff to offer service	5	36 [17,60]	100	31	0.06	41	39	100	21	0.68	0.66
Mental illness (e.g. depression)											
Reported offering service	29	59 [45,71]	49	60	0.66	84	46	48	63	0.21	0.80
Among those offering the service:		_									
Reported having guidelines	23	83 [70,91]	100	82	0.37	65	100	79	88	0.15	0.57

	Total N	Total % [95%Cl]	Urban (%)	Rural (%)	p- value	Northern (%)	Eastern (%)	Central (%)	Western (%)	p- value	DEFF
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	19	90 [74,96]	29	97	< 0.001	85	100	59	100	0.03	0.65
Reported stocking drugs	22	72 [54,86]	100	70	0.24	60	72	79	80	0.78	0.93
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	20	86 [66,95]	100	84	0.42	75	62	100	100	0.09	0.79
Reported having trained staff to offer service	9	25 [13,43]	71	21	0.02	33	33	33	10	0.53	0.63
Hearing problems											
Reported offering service	19	40 [27,54]	15	43	0.07	75	18	32	45	0.04	0.91
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	17	92 [72,98]	100	92	0.72	86	100	100	91	0.71	0.77
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	14	89 [71,96]	100	88	0.64	65	100	100	100	0.06	0.58
Reported stocking drugs	19	100	100	100	n.a	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
*Had some or all of the drugs in stock	17	85 [57,96]	100	85	0.6	100	64	100	71	0.21	1.27
Reported having trained staff to offer service	2	15 [4,45]	0	16	0.62	17	0	0	27	0.55	1.37
Reported having otoscope	3	15 [5,35]	100	11	0.004	17	27	29	0	0.42	0.8
*Otoscope seen in consultation area	2	60 [13,94]	100	47	0.32	0	100	100	n.a.	0.03	0.81
Vision problems											
Reported offering service	26	54 [40,67	49	54	0.82	79	37	48	59	0.2	0.94
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	23	91 [76,97]	100	90	0.52	73	100	100	93	0.12	0.65
*Guideline seen in consultation area	19	93[81,98]	88	93	0.63	79	100	95	96	0.23	0.49
Reported stocking drugs	26	100	100	100	n.a	100	100	100	100	n.a	n.a
*Drugs seen in stock	23	88 [70,96]	100	87	0.49	90	53	100	100	0.01	0.89
Reported having trained staff to offer service	5	16 [6,34]	12	16	0.78	32	0	5	17	0.27	0.86
Reported having Ophthalmoscope	3	8 [3, 23]	29	6	0.09	0	34	0	4	0.02	0.67
*Ophthalmoscope seen in consultation area	1	17 [2,69]	0	26	0.54	n.a	0	n.a.	100	0.003	0.3
Reported having visual acuity chart	9	34 [19, 52]	41	33	0.76	24	34	5	58	0.1	0.82
*Visual acuity chart seen in consultation area	8	97 [84, 99]	71	100	0.003	100	100	0	100	0.002	
Quoroll for non-communicable diseases and cond	tions										
Had convices for all the six NCDs		14 [7 25]	15	14	0.02	22	10	0	10	0.20	0.01
Maan everall everal bility of convices offered		14 [7,25]	15	14	0.93	23	12	0	19	0.29	0.81
wiean overall availability of services offered	n.a	50 [41, 60]	44	51	0.67	63	43	44	54	0.4	

	Total N	Total % [95%CI]	Urban (%)	Rural (%)	p- value	Northern (%)	Eastern (%)	Central (%)	Western (%)	p- value	DEFF
Sexually transmitted infections (non-HIV											
Reported offering service	46	94 [77,98]	100	93	0.6	100	100	100	79	0.04	1.53
Among those offering the service:											
Reported having guidelines	43	95 [88,98]	100	94	0.49	73	100	100	100	< 0.001	0.45
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	38	92 [83,97]	100	91	0.41	69	100	93	95	0.02	0.57
Reported stocking drugs	44	97 [90,99]	100	96	0.6	84	100	100	100	0.004	0.52
*Drugs seen in stock	35	78 [64,88]	84	77	0.65	60	70	76	100	0.09	0.86
Reported having trained staff to offer service	19	34 [24,47]	51	32	0.33	4	55	61	8	0.001	0.67
Reported having laboratory tests for syphilis	20	43 [28 <i>,</i> 59]	24	45	0.23	50	45	28	44	0.84	1.0
Reported doing gram stain for gonorrhoea	14	23 [12,39]	24	23	0.93	24	14	22	33	0.71	1.0
Reported doing urine microscopy	23	52 [36, 67]	53	51	0.94	45	45	78	48	0.45	0.96
HIV services											
Reported offering at least one HIV service	40	81 [65 90]	85	80	0 79	79	79	76	87	0.91	1 16
HIV counselling and testing	40	01[05,50]	05	00	0.75	15	15	70	07	0.51	1.10
Reported offering the service	39	79 [63 89]	85	78	0.68	79	79	66	87	0 71	1 12
Among those offering the service:	35	, 5 [05,05]	00	70	0.00	75	15	00	07	0.71	1.12
Reported having guidelines	37	94 [81,99]	100	94	0.59	100	100	86	91	0.37	0.93
*Guidelines seen in consultation area	33	91 [78,96]	66	94	0.07	82	100	65	100	0.01	0.70
Reported trained staff to do HIV counselling	30	71 [55,83]	100	67	0.14	68	84	86	53	0.2	0.86
Reported having trained staff to do HIV testing	36	89 [71,97]	100	88	0.48	84	100	85	85	0.61	0.77
Reported stocking HIV test reagents	37	93 [78,98]	63	97	0.01	100	86	85	100	0.27	1.30
*Test reagents seen in stock	34	93 [80,98]	100	93	0.55	85	100	77	100	0.07	0.86
Life-long antiretroviral treatment	22	42 [20 57]	F 2	41	0 50	10		47	72	0.40	1.0
Among those offering the convice	22	42 [29,57]	55	41	0.59	42	55	47	27	0.49	1.0
Among those offering the service.	22	100	100	100		100	100	100	100		
*Cuidelines seen in consultation area	22	200 [67 07]	100	100	11.d	100	100	100	100	11.d	0.27
Benerted stocking antiratroviral drugs	20	89 [07,97] 52 [49 97]	100	6/ C9	0.40	75	100	72	100	0.27	0.27
*The drugs seen in stock	18		100	100	0.21	100	//	00 100	5Z 100	0.15	0.70
Departed baying trained staff to offer comise	1/	95 [85,99]	/3	100	0.01	100	00 77	100	100	0.08	0.52
Reported having trained start to other service	10	09 [47,85]	92	00	0.08	10	11	76	52	0.18	0.73
	1										
	Total N	Total % [95%CI]	Urban (%)	Rural (%)	p- value	Northern (%)	Eastern (%)	Central (%)	Western (%)	p- value	DEFF
---	------------	--------------------	--------------	--------------	-------------	-----------------	----------------	----------------	----------------	-------------	------
Overall for sexually transmitted infections											
Had all three specific STI services	22	42[29,57]	51	41	0.58	42	55	47	27	0.49	0.97
Mean overall availability of services offered	n.a	71 [62, 81]	79	71	0.43	74	78	71	65	0.79	
Overall for all the nine specific services (STIs + NC	Ds)										
Had all nine services (for NCDs and STIs)	5	9 [4, 21]	15	9	0.54	23	5	0	12	0.2	0.86
Had at least five of the services	31	61 [46,74]	53	62	0.71	71	61	50	63	0.81	1.0
Mean overall availability of services offered	n.a	57 [49, 66]	56	58	0.9	67	55	53	58	0.66	

9.5.2. Proportion of primary care facilities with privacy and comfort amenities

	Total N	Total % [95%Cl]	Urban	Rural	p-value	Northern	Eastern	Central	Western	p-value	DEFF
					•						
	48	100	6 (13)	42 (88)		12 (25)	12 (25)	12 (25)	12 (25)		
Had a protected waiting area	46	97 [89,99]	100	97	0.64	83	100	100	100	0.003	0.69
Had a functional toilet	47	98 [87,100]	100	97	0.71	87	100	100	100	0.03	0.92
Had a source of drinking water	32	68 [53,80]	61	69	0.71	56	63	66	82	0.56	1.01
Had enough seats in the waiting area	19	42 [29,57]	20	45	0.18	34	48	38	36	0.89	1.02
Had a ramp	14	30 [20,43]	56	27	0.18	8	57	4	36	0.004	0.76
Had all amenities asked about	5	9 [4,23]	0	11	0.45	8	10	0	16	0.55	1.13
Mean		67 [62, 72]	67	67	0.98	54	73	62	73	0.11	
Had auditory privacy	43	91 [81,96]	100	90	0.39	79	100	77	100	0.02	0.72
Had visual privacy	40	93 [75,93]	96	85	0.16	79	92	65	100	0.05	0.76
Had both visual & auditory privacy	40	86 [75,93]	96	85	0.16	79	92	65	100	0.05	0.76

Diseases	Unweighted %
Malaria	26.0
Respiratory tract infection (non-pneumonia)	12.3
Peptic ulcer disease (PUD)	7.2
Osteoarthritis	4.3
Cardiovascular diseases	4.1
Urinary tract infection	3.3
COPD (e.g. asthma & chronic bronchitis	3.1
HIV infection	3.0
Lumbago	3.0
Injury	2.8
Helminthiasis	2.8
Unknown or missing diagnosis	2.6
Peripheral neuropathy	1.8
Eye infection	1.8
Diarrhoeal diseases	1.7
Musculoskeletal pain	1.6
Orodental infections	1.6
Pneumonia	1.5
Wounds	1.2
Pelvic inflammatory diseases (PID)	1.1
Diabetes Mellitus	1.1
Abdominal pain	1.0
Sexually transmitted infection (STIs)	0.9
Abscess	0.9
Visual impairment	0.9
Tonsillitis	0.8
Headache	0.7
Ear infection	0.6
Brucellosis	0.6
Allergy	0.5
Assault	0.5
Epilepsy	0.5
Typhoid fever	0.4
Tuberculosis	0.4
Fatigue	0.4
Cellulitis	0.3
Hernia	0.3
Taenia infection	0.3
Dermatitis	0.2
Chest pain	0.2
Vaginal candidiasis	0.2
Renal disease	0.1

9.6. Prevalence of diseases diagnosed in older persons

Bindisitis0.1Hearing problem0.1Mental illness (depression, schizophrenia)0.1Anaemia0.1Lymphadenitis0.1Mastitis0.1Orchitis0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Appendicitis0.0
Mental illness (depression, schizophrenia)0.1Anaemia0.1Lymphadenitis0.1Mastitis0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Appendicitis0.0
Anaemia0.1Lymphadenitis0.1Mastitis0.1Orchitis0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Lymphadenitis0.1Lymphadenitis0.1Mastitis0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Ayniphisternits0.1Mastitis0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Nustris0.1Orchitis0.1Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Anxiety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Harlety0.1Herpes zoster0.1Chicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Number PosterOneChicken pox0.1Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Family planning0.1Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Liver cirrhosis0.1Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Constipation0.0Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Dehydration0.0Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Oral candidiasis0.0Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Urine retention0.0Appendicitis0.0
Appendicitis 0.0
Haemoptysis 0.0
Haemorrhoids 0.0
Insect bite 0.0
Oesophagitis 0.0
Pyrexia of unknown origin (PUO) 0.0
BPH 0.0
Epistaxis 0.0
Foreign body in eve 0.0
Herpes simplex 0.0
Leprosy 0.0
Lipoma 0.0
Osteomvelitis 0.0
Snake bite 0.0
Spondylitis 0.0
Anal fissure 0.0
Anorexia 0.0
Chest fibrosis 0.0
Foreign body in nose 0.0
Gangrene 0.0
Hi cup 0.0
Hydrocoele 0.0
Meningitis 0.0
Ovarian cyst 0.0
Splenomegaly 0.0
Varicose veins 0.0

Prevalence of diseases diagnosed among older persons in primary care facilities by level, urban/rural location and geographical

zone

Disease	Total	HC II	HC III	HC IV	Rural n =	Urban	Central	Eastern	Northern	Western
	(n = 10, 477)	(n =3,574)	(n=3 <i>,</i> 848)	(n = 3,055)	8,455 (80.7)	n=2,022	2,289 (21.9)	3,539 (33.8)	2,760 (26.3)	1,889 (18.0)
		(34%)	(37%)	(29%)		(19.3)				
overall n(%)	10,477(100)									
Malaria	2,719 (26.0)	839 (23.5)	1,208 (31.4)	672 (22)	1,985 (23.5)	734 (36.3)	785 (34.3)	1,184 (33.5)	585 (21.2)	165 (8.7)
Respiratory tract infection	1,293 (12.3)	462 (12.9)	601 (15.6)	230 (7.5)	1,114 (13.2)	179 (8.9)	225 (9.8)	365 (10.3)	409 (14.8)	294 (15.6)
(non-pneumonia)										
Peptic ulcer disease	753 (7.2)	317 (8.9)	257 (6.7)	179 (5.9)	661 (7.8)	92 (4.6)	108 (4.7)	222 (6.3)	264 (9.6)	159 (8.4)
Osteoarthritis	453 (4.3)	183 (5.1)	162 (4.2)	108 (3.5)	360 (4.3)	93 (4.6)	104 (4.5)	134 (3.8)	129 (4.7)	86 (4.6)
cardiovascular diseases	428 (4.1)	142 (4.0)	77 (2.0)	209 (6.8)	281 (3.3)	147 (7.3)	166 (7.3)	83 (2.4)	68 (2.5)	111 (5.9)
Urinary tract infection	350 (3.3)	138 (3.9)	101 (2.6)	111 (3.6)	266 (3.2)	84 (4.2)	39 (1.7)	223 (6.3)	49 (1.8)	39 (2.0)
COPD	327 (3.1)	138 (3.9)	93 (2.4)	96 (3.1)	323 (3.8)	4 (0.2)	31 (1.4)	97 (2.7)	110 (4.0)	89 (4.7)
HIV infection	314 (3.0)	76 (2.1)	50 (1.3)	188 (6.2)	219 (2.6)	95 (4.7)	110 (4.8)	61 (1.7)	29 (1.1)	114 (6.0)
Lumbago	313 (3.0)	70 (2.0)	152 (4.0)	91 (3.0)	286 (3.4)	27 (1.3)	63 (2.8)	111 (3.1)	105 (3.8)	34 (1.8)
Injury	292 (2.8)	119 (3.3)	101 (2.6)	72 (2.4)	241 (2.9)	51 (2.5)	29 (1.3)	121 (3.4)	99 (3.4)	43 (2.3)
Helminthiasis	289 (2.8)	103 (2.9)	103 (2.7)	83 (2.7)	275 (3.3)	14(0.7)	41 (1.8)	90 (2.5)	125 (4.5)	33 (1.8)
Peripheral neuropathy	193 (1.8)	83 (2.3)	29 (0.8)	81 (2.7)	124 (1.5)	69 (3.4)	72 (3.2)	44 (1.2)	69 (2.5)	8 (0.4)
Eye infection	183 (1.8)	58 (1.6)	87 (2.3)	38 (1.2)	170 (2.0)	13 (0.6)	30 (1.3)	32 (0.9)	45 (1.6)	76 (4.0)
Diarrhoeal diseases	173 (1.7)	55 (1.5)	86 (2.2)	32 (1.05)	151 (1.8)	22 (1.1)	33 (1.4)	25 (0.7)	44 (1.6)	71 (3.8)
Musculoskeletal pain	166 (1.6)	46 (1.3)	52 (1.4)	68 (2.2)	147 (1.7)	19 (0.9)	23 (1.0)	32 (0.9)	36 (1.3)	75 (4.0)
Orodental infections	163 (1.6)	23 (0.6)	24 (0.6)	116 (3.8)	139 (1.6)	24 (1.2)	36 (1.6)	100 (2.8)	23 (0.8)	4 (0.2)
Pneumonia	161 (1.5)	54 (1.5)	66 (1.7)	41 (1.3)	138 (1.6)	23 (1.1)	57 (2.5)	43 (1.2)	54 (2.0)	7 (0.4)
Wounds	120 (1.2)	48 (1.3)	50 (1.3)	22 (0.7)	95 (1.1)	25 (1.2)	33 (1.4)	37 (1.1)	40 (1.5)	10 (0.5)
Pelvic inflammatory disease	111 (1.1)	51 (1.4)	29 (0.8)	31 (1.0)	85 (1.0)	26 (1.3)	22 (1.0)	58 (1.6)	28 (1.0)	3 (0.2)
Diabetes Mellitus	110 (1.1)	7 (0.2)	48 (1.3)	55 (1.8)	96 (1.1)	14 (0.7)	12 (0.5)	10 (0.3)	4 (0.1)	84 (4.5)
Abdominal pain	107 (1.0)	17 (0.5)	53 (1.4)	37 (1.2)	94 (1.1)	13 (0.6)	18 (0.8)	19 (0.5)	6 (0.2)	64 (3.4)
STIs	98 (0.9)	44 (1.2)	24 (0.6)	30 (1.0)	81 (1.0)	17 (0.8)	19 (0.8)	39 (1.1)	19 (0.7)	21 (1.1)
Abscess	94 (0.9)	23 (0.6)	40 (1.0)	31 (1.0)	85 (1.0)	9 (0.5)	11 (0.5)	18 (0.5)	17 (0.6)	48 (2.5)
Visual impairment	89 (0.9)	12 (0.3)	15 (0.4)	62 (2.0)	89 (1.1)	0 (0)	1 (0.0)	9 (0.3)	4 (0.1)	75 (4.0)
Tonsillitis	85 (0.8)	30 (0.8)	35 (0.9)	20 (0.7)	79 (0.9)	6 (0.3)	18 (0.8)	13 (0.4)	14 (0.5)	40 (2.1)
Headache	77 (0.7)	18 (0.5)	33 (0.9)	26 (0.9)	64 (0.8)	13(0.6)	12 (0.5)	6 (0.2)	6 (0.22)	53 (2.8)
Ear infection	66 (0.6)	33 (0.9)	16 (0.4)	17 (0.6)	55 (0.7)	11 (0.5)	11 (0.5)	24 (0.7)	17 (0.6)	14 (0.7)
Brucellosis	65 (0.6)	10 (0.3)	3 (0.1)	52 (1.7)	13 (0.2)	52 (2.6)	2 (0.1)	56 (1.6)	3 (0.1)	4 (0.2)
Allergy	52 (0.5)	21 (0.6)	16 (0.4)	15 (0.5)	38 (0.5)	14 (0.7)	14 (0.6)	22 (0.6)	12 (0.4)	4 (0.2)
Assault	49 (0.5)	23 (0.6)	6 (0.2)	20 (0.7)	30 (0.4)	19 (0.9)	10 (0.4)	29 (0.8)	100.4)	0 (0)
Epilepsy	49 (0.5)	40 (1.1)	6 (0.2)	3 (0.1)	46 (0.5)	3 (0.1)	3 (0.1)	29 (0.8)	16 (0.6)	1 (0.1)

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted regression coefficient ² [95%CI]	Adjusted regression coefficient ³ [95%CI]	Adjusted regression coefficien ⁴ [95%CI]
Overall Mean overall score achieved	145	132 96.6 PC	F CHARACTERISTICS		
PCF level			p=0.03	p=0.03	p=0.99
IV	37	101.3	1	1	1
III	63	94.8	-6.52 [-11.3, -1.7]	-6.52 [-11.3, -1.7]	-9.76 [-15.5 <i>,</i> -4.0]
II	45	97.43	-3.90 [-9.5, 1.7]	-3.90 [-9.5, 1.7]	-6.86 [-13.5, -0.2]
PCF location			p=0.01	p=0.01	p=0.01
Urban	21	100.4	1	1	1
Rural	124	95.8	-4.61 [-8.0, -1.2]	-4.61 [-8.0, -1.2]	-2.41 [-7.9, 3.1]
Geographical zone			p=0.98	p=0.98	p=0.95
Northern Uganda	35	95.2	1	1	1
Eastern Uganda	35	96.7	1.5 [-7.4, 10.5]	1.5 [-7.4, 10.5]	1.19 [-5.9, 8.2]
Central Uganda	38	97.0	1.86 [–6.8, 10.6]	1.86 [-6.8, 10.6]	3.90 [-5.2, 13.0]
Western Uganda	37	96.8	1.64 [-7.1, 10.3]	1.64 [-7.1, 10.3]	0.93 [-6.3, 8.1]
caseload due to all patients			p=0.91	p=0.002	p=0.04
≤4000patients/month	103	96.3	1	1	1
>4000patients/month	38	96.7	0.38 [–6.6, 7.4]	-8.17 [-13.2, -3.2]	-0.50 [-6.1, 5.1]
Caseload due to OPs			p=0.77	p=0.24	
≤300 patients/month	94	96.7	1	1	
>300 patients/month	51	96.0	-0.66 [-5.4, 4.0]	-2.87 [-7.8, 2.0]	
AVAILABIL	ITY OF	SERVICES	, EQUIPMENT, GUIDE	LINES AND AMENITIES	
Availability of services			p=0.35	p=0.04	
Had 0-6 of the services	57	94.8	1	1	
Had 7-8 of the services	56	98.2	3.32 [–1.2, 7.9]	5.75 [1.0, 10.5]	
Had 9-10 of the services	32	96.2	1.32 [-5.3, 8.0]	1.57 [–4.1, 7.2]	
Guideline in consultation area			p=0.11	p=0.59	
Had 0-5 of the guidelines	92	96.1	1	1	
Had 6-7 of the guidelines	39	95.9	-0.27 [-5.1, 4.6]	1.57 [–4.1, 7.2]	
Had 8-9 of the guidelines	14	101.8	5.6 [-0.2, 11.5]	3.60 [-3.7, 10.9]	
Equipment in consultation area			p=0.41	p=0.001	
Had 0-4 of the equipment	82	97.6	1	1	
Had 5 of the equipment	31	94.1	-3.44 [-11.5, 4.6]	-6.5 [-13.0, 0.1]	
Had >5 of the equipment	32	94.5	-3.05 [-8.2, 2.1]	-6.48 [-9.7, -3.2]	
Laboratory services			p=0.21	P=0.06	
Available	132	97.1	5.9 [–3.4, 15.1]	9.87 [-0.4, 20.1]	
Auditory privacy			p=0.001	p=0.001	
Available	133	97.3	12.8 [5.9, 19.6]	13.9 [5.9, 21.9]	
Visual privacy			p<0.001	p<0.001	p<0.001
Available	121	97.7	10.26 [5.0, 15.6]	10.97 [6.4, 15.6]	13.06 [6.6, 19.5]

9.7. Association of factors with the mean overall score of positive responses given by HWs to questions related to how they treated older persons aged 50-59years

	N ¹	Mean ²	Unadjusted regression coefficient ² [95%CI]	Adjusted regression coefficient ³ [95%CI]	Adjusted regression coefficient [95%CI] ⁴					
Amenities we enquired about			p=0.75	p=0.22						
Had 0-2 of the basic amenities	32	95.6	1	1						
Had 3 of the basic amenities	56	97.6	2.0 [-4.4, 8.4]	3.36 [–2.7, 9.5]						
>3 of the amenities	57	96.0	0.36 [-6.3, 7.1]	-0.64 [-6.8, 5.5]						
HW CHARACTERISTICS										
Age-group	Age-group p=0.15 p=0									
<26 years	15	102.6	1	1	1					
26 – 35 years	84	94.6	–7.99 [–15.1, –0.9]	–9.72 [–16.8, –2.6]	–11.19 [–17.5, –4.9]					
36 – 45 years	31	97.7	-4.9 [-11.6, 1.7]	-6.51 [-14.2, 1.2]	-8.08 [-14.3, -1.9]					
>45years	15	94.6	-8.03 [-15.8, -0.3]	-10.41 [-18.7, -2.1]	–14.55 [–21.8, –7.3]					
Sex			p=0.08	p=0.06						
Male	49	93.4	1	1						
Female	96	98.0	4.67 [–0.6, 9.9]	5.03 [-0.1, 10.2]						
Qualification			p=0.05	p=0.005	p<0.001					
Clinicians	27	91.3	1	1	1					
Nurses	88	97.7	6.36 [0.6, 12.2]	8.66 [3.1, 14.2]	7.61 [3.4, 11.8]					
Nurse aids/assistants	30	98.9	7.60 [1.5, 13.7]	9.76 [4.0, 15.5]	11.26 [6.6, 16.0]					
Trained in care of OPs			p=0.28	p=0.28						
Yes	28	99.5	1	1						
No	117	95.9	–3.68 [–10.5, 3.1]	-3.65 [-10.4, 3.1]						
Knowledge of HWs			p=0.92	p=0.99						
Poor	46	96.3	1	1						
Satisfactory	88	96.8	0.50 [-3.4, 4.4]	-0.11 [-4.0, 3.8]						
Good	11	95.6	-0.71 [-7.4, 5.9]	-0.48 [-7.2, 6.2]						
Attitude of the HWs			p=0.41	p=0.18						
Each unit increase in attitude			-0.12 [-0.4, 0.2]	-0.17 [-0.4, 0.1]						

¹Unweighted N. ²Values only adjusted for the survey design. ³Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location, and geographical zone. ⁴Final model: Values adjusted for the survey design, PCF level, PCF location and geographical zone and their interaction, and all independent predictors of the mean overall score that were associated at P<0.10 at the preceding level of the conceptual framework.

	younger ad	OF	's ¹	
	Ν	%s	Ν	%s
Number surveyed in each group	96		244	
Distance from PCF				
<3km away	47	49.0	127	52.1
3-5km away	32	33.3	75	30.7
>5km away	17	17.7	42	17.2
Often sought health care from the PCF	92	95.8	225	92.2
Duration of use of the PCF				
<12 months	7	7.3	16	6.6
12-24 months	18	18.8	12	4.9
>24 months	71	74.0	216	88.5
Number of times care was sought in the past 12 months				
1-2 times	19	19.8	34	13.9
3-4 times	25	26.0	63	25.8
≥5 times	52	54.2	147	60.3
Reason(s) for preferring the PCF instead of others				
Ease of access (proximity)	72	75.0	190	77.9
PCF provides good care	66	68.8	188	77.1
Free services	67	69.8	196	80.3
Drugs availability	66	68.8	174	71.3
Relative works at PCF	1	1.0	7	2.9
Good HWs	50	52.1	132	54.1
Others	5	5.2	8	3.3
Sought health care from elsewhere in the past 12 months	50	52.1	98	40.2
Reason(s) for seeking health care from elsewhere**				
Harsh treatment by HWs during previous visit(s)	0	0.0	1	1.0
Didn't find HWs on duty during previous visit(s)	3	6.0	3	3.1
Didn't receive prompt attention during previous visit(s)	2	4.0	4	4.1
Long queues during previous visit(s)	2	4.0	5	5.1
Wasn't allowed to explain illness during previous visit(s)	2	4.0	0	0.0
Wasn't allowed to ask questions about his/her illness(s)	2	4.0	0	0.0
Wasn't examined during previous visit(s)	3	6.0	6	6.1
Wasn't thoroughly examined during previous visit(s)	4	8.0	3	3.1
Laboratory investigations were not done during previous visit(s)	4	8.0	3	3.1
Didn't receive treatment or drugs during previous visit(s)	10	20.0	17	17.4
Wasn't in the area when health care was needed	17	34.0	30	30.6
Was asked to pay money during previous visit(s)	0	0.0	1	1.0
Was told by colleagues that drugs were not available at the PCF	13	26.0	23	23.5
Other reasons	17	34.0	36	37.8
Among those who gave other reasons				
Official referral to another facility	5	10.0	24	66.7
Preferred a higher level facility (self-referral)	10	20.0	12	33.3
Preferred a traditional healer	0	0.0	1	0.0
Was given wrong prescription during a previous visit	1	2.0	0	0.0
Was told by colleagues that there were no HWs on duty	1	2.0	0	0.0
Needed health care in the past 12 months but didn't go to a PCF	36	37.5	91	37.3
Reason(s) for not going to a facility for treatment**				
Lacked transport	20	55.6	51	56.0
Was too sick to walk	19	52.8	62	68.1

9.8. Health care access and utilisation by the study participants

	¹ younger adults	¹ OPs		
	Ν	%s	Ν	%s
Reason(s) for not going to a facility for treatment (continued)	**			
Was told by colleagues that drugs were not available at the	13	36.1	13	14.3
facility				
Preferred a traditional healer	1	2.8	1	1.1
Preferred traditional herbs	1	2.8	2	2.2
Preferred buying drugs from the pharmacy	6	16.7	19	20.9
Other reasons (considered illness minor, and had no one with	2	5.6	6	6.6
whom they could the orphans they care for)				
Received treatment	95	99.0	233	95.5

¹Figures shown are unadjusted for the survey design. **=sub-category calculated among those answering yes to the previous item.